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Summary under the Cr:tl!ria, Final Determination, Cowlitz Indian Tribe 

INTRODUCTION 

Administrative History 

Administrative HistOlY of the Proposed Finding. The Bureau ofIndian Affairs (BIA or Bureau) 
received a request f.:>r Federal Acknowledgment from the Cowlitz Indian Tribe (CIT) on September 
17, 1975 (CIT Pet. 1975). The Bureau did not act upon the petition then because consideration was 
being given to the establishment of the Federal Acknowledgment Project, designed to deal with 
acknowledgment issues under a uniform set of regulations rather than on a case-by-case basis. 

The proposed finding for this case in favor of acknowledgment was published February 27, 1997. 
The administrative history of the petition to that date was presented in the Summary under the 
Criteria for the proposed finding (CIT PF, Summ. Crit.) and is summarized briefly in the technical 
report for the final determination. 

Administrative History Since the Proposed Finding. The I80-day comment period provided under 
the regulations ended August 26, 1997, but was extended to November 19, 1997, at the request of 
the Quinault Indhm Nation (Quinault). The administrative history of this case has been made 
complex first by lUI administrative appeal, and then by litigation, concerning a Freedom of 
Information Act (FOIA) request for the petitioner's file and records made by Quinault, a third party 
in the administrative: proceeding. 

Petitioner's Respome to Proposed Finding. On August 8, 1997, CIT advised the BIA that it would 
not submit a respons4~ to the proposed finding (Barnett to Reckord 8/811997), and did not submit one. 

Request for Extension of Comment Period. The FOIA administrative appeal and litigation have 
proceeded at the same time as the administrative acknowledgment process. The processing of the 
petition became linked to the FOIA request when, during mediation of the FOIA litigation, the 
Government agreed to reopen the third party comment period and the petitioner's response period. 
Quinault had already submitted substantial comments during the original comment period. As a 
result of a Stipulated Order entered on the docket in this litigation, the public comment period was 
reopened for 75 day s to allow Quinault time to submit additional comments, which they did. During 
this period, a formal meeting on the record was held as requested by Quinault. At this meeting, 
Quinault, petition4!r and other interested parties were afforded the opportunity to inquire into the 
reasoning, analyse:; and factual bases for the proposed finding. The BIA received additional 
comments from QJinault on December 12, 1998, and the CIT submitted its reply to them on 
February 9, 1999, th.re:e days before the response period was scheduled to close February 12, 1999. 
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Third Party Comments. Quinault Nation submitted documents with a cover letter from Richard 
Reich, Attorney for Quinault Indian Nation (Reich to Gover 11/17/1997). 

Petitioner's Response to First Set of Quinault Comments. The petitioner submitted a response to 
Quinault's 1997 comments on January 12, 1998 (CIT Response 1998). 

Quinault Comments, December 14, 1998. The cover letter to the second group of Quinault 
comments stated that:, "[t]his memorandum revises and supplements the memorandum in opposition 
dated November Hi, 1997 ... " (Reich to Gover, 12112/1998). 

Petitioner's Seconti RE~sponse to Third Party Comments. The BIA received the petitioner's response 
to Quinault's seco:nd set of comments (CIT Final Submission 1999) on February 9, 1999. 

Preparation of Final Determination. Under stipulation in the litigation, the BIA was required to 
assign a team to work on preparation ofthe technical report to the final determination by February 
19, 1999 (one wed: after expiration of the petitioner's regulatory 60-day response period for 
response to third-party comments). This was done. The final determination, according to the 60 
days allowed under thle 25 CFR Part 83 regulations, would have been due on April 20, 1999. The 
BIA asked the AS .. IA for a 120-day extension oftime to prepare the teclmical report for the final 
determination (Maddox to Gover 211911999). The AS-IA extended the period until August 18, 1999 
(Gover [approval handwritten on request memorandum] 2/2411999). The BIA notified CIT and 
Quinault of the extension on March 19, 1999 (Maddox to Barnett 3/1911999). 

BIA researchers were taken away from evaluating this petition in order to work on other litigation. 
The BIA also reqUt::sted items from the Cowlitz that they needed to complete and submit in order to 
finish a roll that could be used for organizational purposes should the Final Determination be 
positive. As a result, the final deadline was extended to November 17, 1999 (Tuell to Barnett, 
98/13/99) and then fUI11.ber extended to "the end of the month [November]" in order to complete the 
surnaming process (rudl to Barnett 11.19/99). Because certain offices in the surnaming process had 

no personnel available to review the final detennination, the deadline was extended to January, 2000. 
(Tuell to Barnett, 11/30/99). 

Prior Federal Acknowledgment under 25 CFR 83.8 

Overview of the Proposed Finding. The AS-IA determined in the Proposed Finding that the 
petitioner had previous unambiguous Federal acknowledgment through 1855. This date of previous 
Federal acknowledgrnc~nt was based on the presence of Cowlitz at the Chehalis River treaty 
negotiations. The proposed finding determined that: 1.) the Cowlitz present at the negotiations, 
specifically the Low(~r Cowlitz band, had refused to sign the proposed treaty, but the Federal 
government's willingness to negotiate with them constituted previous acknowledgment; 2.) the 
Cowlitz metis, or "half··bloods" were part of the Lower Cowlitz at the time of the negotiations; and 
3.) the Lower Cowlitz and another band, the Upper Cowlitz, amalgamated later in the century. This 
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determination enabled the petitioner to proceed under criteria 83.7(a)-(g) as modified by the 
provisions of 83.8 for previously acknowledged tribes. 

The proposed finding did not determine that Federal acknowledgment actually ceased in 1855. The 
1855 date was usee: solely for preparation of that finding (CIT PF 1997, Summ. Crit. 3). The BIA 
at that point in the process believed that it was unnecessary to detennine a post-1855 date of previous 
recognition becaust: 1the Cowlitz had received the advantage of a reduced burden of evidence allowed 
previously acknowkdged tribes based on the date of the treaty negotiations. 

Review Jor the Final Determination. Quinault challenged the BIA's determination of previous 
unambiguous Federal. acknowledgment for the Cowlitz petitioner on two points. First, they 
specifically questicned whether Cowlitz metis, or "half-bloods" were present at the 1855 treaty 
negotiations, and whether they were included in the 1855 treaty negotiations. These Cowlitz "half­
bloods" have been vi,ewed as distinct by many who wrote about them because they had French 
Canadian background and spoke French. Second, Quinault pointed out that the Upper Cowlitz, a 
band which the government administratively joined with the Lower Cowlitz two decades after the 
treaty negotiations <:LJ1d which amalgamated with them, had not been present at the treaty negotiations 
and had not been pcut of the Cowlitz entity involved in the negotiations. Quinault argued that the 
entire Cowlitz petit::oner, which includes Cowlitz metis and Upper Cowlitz descendants, could not 
proceed under the regulatory provisions for previously acknowledged tribes based on the 1855 treaty 
negotiations because the Cowlitz metis and the Upper Cowlitz had not been present. In short, they 
were arguing on DN'O fronts that only part of the present-day petitioner had been previously 
acknowledged, and therefore the petitioner was ineligible to proceed under 83.8. 

The documentation submitted by Quinault contained some new material dealing with OIA contacts 
with the Lower CO'wl itz and Upper Cowlitz bands between 1856 and 1880. Their submissions also 
included documents already in the record at the time of the proposed finding. These materials and 
others in the record had not been analyzed during the proposed finding to determine whether there 
was a date after 185:; when the amalgamated petitioner had been acknowledged or any date when 
the Upper Cowlitz had. been acknowledged. 

Quinault uses their :;ubmissions to argue that the metis were not involved in the treat negotiations 
in 1855. It is accurate that there is no documentation that any metis members of the Lower Cowlitz 
tribe were present at the Chehalis River Treaty Council. However, there is also no documentation 
that the Lower Cowlitz group present at the Chehalis River Treaty Council in 1855 did not include 
metis. Thus, the evidence is silent concerning the presence of Cowlitz metis at the Treaty Council. 

Quinault has not placed their argument in context. It is unrealistic to expect that the metis would 
have been part of the: lower Cowlitz leadership in 1855. The oldest known Cowlitz metis was born 
in 1827. Aside from the marriage which produced this child, Cowlitz-French Canadian marriages 
had only begun to ()C~cur in the 1830's. Even the oldest metis offspring would have been only 
teenagers and young adults in 1855. They would probably not have had sufficient seniority to act 
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as tribal spokesmen in 1855. More importantly, other evidence indicates that the metis were part of 
the historical tribe before the treaty negotiations and were part of the Cowlitz tribe that was present 
at the 1855 treaty nc!.~o1:iations. For example, Indian Agents before and after 1855 classified Cowlitz 
metis and "half-bloods" as Cowlitz. Quinault's analysis does not change the conclusions of the 
proposed finding that: Cowlitz metis were part of the Lower Cowlitz band beginning in the 1830's. 

Quinault also used the materials in their submissions to argue that the Upper Cowlitz had not been 
part of the entity that was previously acknowledged. The proposed finding found that through a 
gradual process, th€! government administratively joined the Lower Cowlitz and the Upper Cowlitz. 
By 1878-1880, tht! Bl[A was dealing with the two bands together, treating them as one tribe 
composed of two bands. 

ConciusionJor the Final Determination. In response to Quinault'S criticisms, the BIA reevaluated 
the evidence conceming previous recognition for the petitioner with particular focus on whether the 
Upper Cowlitz had bl!e:n federally acknowledged. Based on new analysis of all the evidence in the 
record, this determination now extends the date of previous Federal acknowledgment of the Lower 
Cowlitz Indians at least to 1878-1880 and determines that the Upper Cowlitz Indians also had 
previous unambiguous Federal acknowledgment until at least 187811880. 

The determination of previous Federal acknowledgment is based on the previous acknowledgment 
of two entities, the Lower and the Upper Cowlitz, which were administratively amalgamated by the 
Government in 18n-1880. Both entities were previously acknowledged. Quinault's argument that 
only part of the petidoner was previously acknowledged is not accurate. 

The administrative analysis of the two bands is demonstrated by the actions of Federal Indian agents, 
when they appoin1:(:d Atwin Stockum chief of the "Cowlitz Indians" in 1878. The OIA also 
enumerated both the: Lower Cowlitz and Upper Cowlitz bands in two OIA censuses taken in 1878 
and 1880. They compiled separate lists for each band, but then listed the two groups together in the 
statistical tabulation. Quinault's documentary submissions concerning the 1878 and 1880 Office of 
Indian Affairs (OIA) enumerations show that the Indian Office realized that both groups still did 
exist, as of 1878, and that they had headmen with whom the OIA communicated when they were 
required to research .and produce status reports. Although other Govenunent documents of the 
1860's and 1870's notc:d separate Cowlitz bands, they treated them in the same way, usually together, 
listing both bands under a common heading and making efforts to put both bands of the tribe on the 
Chehalis reservation. 

A distinction should bc= made between the administrative amalgamation of the Upper and Lower 
Cowlitz by the Fedc!ral government, which acknowledged them first separately and then dealt with 
them together, and the: amalgamation of the two bands' political processes. It is unclear whether the 
Upper and Lower Cowlitz were already acting together as one entity or acting as two separate entities 
as late as the 1870's.. The documentation indicates that the process of political amalgamation 
occurred over several decades, in part as a result of the administrative actions of the government 
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which treated them as amalgamated. Not until 1910-1912 was it clear that the Upper Cowlitz and 
Lower Cowlitz Indians were functioning as a single entity, although even at that date some cultural 
and linguistic distin;;tions remained. 

Conclusion: Both the Upper and Lower Bands were recognized separately by the Federal 
government and by 1878-80 were treated as one by the Federal government. The two Bands acted 
together by the 1870's and were fully amalgamated by 1910. The petitioner may proceed under 83.8 
as both of its parts ha.d unambiguous Federal recognition. 

Overview of the Proposed Finding 

Conclusions under .the Mandatory Criteria. The AS-IA found that the CIT met all seven criteria 
required for Federal acknowledgment (CIT PF 1997, Summ. Crit. 10). 

Under criterion 83.7(a) as modified by 83.8(d)(I), the petitioner had been identified as an American 
Indian entity on a sl'bstantially continuous basis since 1855, and the petitioner was the same group 
as the one previously fi~derally acknowledged. Identifications existed in Federal records, including 
identifications by the BIA, by local historians, anthropologists and ethnologists, and in local 
newspapers (CIT PF, Surnm. Crit.l 0-20). 

Under criterion 83.i'(b) as modified by 83.8(d)(2), the petitioner demonstrated that a predominant 
portion of its membership comprised a distinct community at the present (CIT PF, Surnm. Crit. 20-
31). 

Under criterion 83.7(1;) as modified by 83.8( d)(3), the proposed finding concluded that the petitioner 
had maintained a se~:lIence of named leaders identified by knowledgeable sources, along with at least 
one other form of e:vid,ence, for the period from March 2, 1855, to the present. This was based on 
the existence oftmditional chiefs prior to 1878, the appointment by the Office ofIndian Affairs 
(OIA) of chief for the Lower Cowlitz band in 1878, correspondence concerning the appointment of 
a chief for the Upper Cowlitz band and subsequent dealings with him as chief, the transfer of 
authority from these: still-living chiefs to an elected leadership in 1912, and an unbroken elected 
leadership since 1912. For each of these time periods, a variety of documents in the record, both 
external, including BIA records, and internal, including minutes and other records of the tribal 
organizations, showed the existence of political influence and authority at a level sufficient to meet 
the criterion (CIT PF 1997, Surnm Crit. 31-44). 

Under criterion 83.7(d), the petitioner submitted copies of its governing document, thus meeting the 
criterion (CIT PF, Summ. Crit. 44). 

Under criterion 83.7(e:), the BIA determined that all of the petitioner's members on the 1994 
membership list w<;:re: descended from the historical Cowlitz tribe. The definition of this historical 
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tribe allowed for regional patterns of inter-tribal marriages and for the association of non-Cowlitz 
families with the Cowlitz prior to March 2, 1855, the date of last unambiguous Federal 
acknowledgment USI::d in the proposed finding. The definition also took into consideration the 
consistent acceptanc:(: and identification of such associated families as Cowlitz by the tribe, the 
Federal Government, and the BIA (CIT PF, Swnm. Crit. 44-47). 

Under criterion 83.7(1),. the membership of the petitioner was found to be composed principally of 
persons who were not members of any acknowledged North American Indian tribe (CIT PF, Swnm. 
Crit. 47-48). 

Under criterion 83.7(g), neither the petitioner nor its members were the subject of congressional 
legislation that had I~x:pressly terminated or forbidden the Federal relationship (CIT PF, Swnm. Crit. 
48). 

Bases for the Final Determination 

This final determination is based upon all materials utilized for preparation of the proposed finding, 
third party comments submitted, the petitioner's response to the third-party comments, the on-the­
record meeting, the p(~titioner's submission of the final membership list, and research by BIA staff . 

. The final determination reaches factual conclusions based on a review and reanalysis of the existing 
record in light ofthc:: new evidence. The conclusions of the proposed finding are adopted for the final 
determination except as supplemented and modified based on this additional analysis and review. 

Abbreviations..:md/or Acronyms Used in the Final Determination and Technical Report 

AS-IA Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs 

BAR Branch of Acknowledgment and Research, Bureau ofIndian Affairs 

BIA Bun:au of Indian Affairs 

COlA Commissioner of Indian Affairs 

Ex. Exhibiit Submitted by the CIT or by the Quinault Indian Nation 

FD Final Dc::termination 

FR FEDERAL REGISTER 

OIA Offke of Indian Affairs, 19th-century title of the Bureau of Indian Affairs 
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PF Proposed Finding 

Quinault The Quinault Indian Nation 

Surnm. Crit. Swnrnary under the Criteria. 

Standardized Spellings 

When discussing Indian tribes and bands in the body of the narrative, the technical reports for the 
Proposed Finding and the technical report for the Final Determination use the current standardized 
spellings, for example" "Cowlitz." Where specific historical docwnents are quoted within the 
technical report, th(:~j~: names are spelled as found in the original. 

Several families uSle variant spellings of the same name, e.g. Cottonoire, Cottenoir, Cottonware. 
When discussing the hiistorical ancestor, the technical report uses a standardized spelling. When 
discussing individuals iin modem families, it uses the spelling utilized by that branch of the family. 
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SUMMARY CONCLUSIONS UNDER THE CRITERIA 

83.7(a) 

83.8(d) 

83.7(a-g) and 83.8(a-d) 

The petitioner has been identified as an American 
Indian entity on a substantially continuous basis 
since 1900. Evidence that the group's character as 
an Indian entity has from time to time been denied 
shall not be considered to be conclusive evidence 
that this criterion has not been met •.•. 

To be acknowledged, a petitioner that can 
dlemonstrate previous Federal acknowledgment 
must show that: (1) The group meets the 
requirements of the criterion in 83.7(a), except that 
such identification shall be demonstrated since the 
point oflast Federal acknowledgment. The group 
Ililust further have been identified by such sources 
as the same tribal entity that was previously 
acknowledged or as a portion that has evolved 
from that entity. 

(:5) If a petitioner which has demonstrated 
previous Federal acknowledgment cannot meet the 
requirements in paragraphs (d)(1) and (3), the 
petitioner may demonstrate alternatively that it 
meets the requirements of the criteria in 83.7(a) 
through (c) from last Federal acknowledgment 
ulntil the present. 

Under criterion 83. 7(a) as modified by 83.8( d)(l), the proposed finding concluded that the petitioner 
had been identified as :an American Indian entity on a substantially continuous basis since 1855, the 
date of last unambiguolls prior Federal acknowledgment used by the proposed finding, and that it 
was the same group as the one previously federally acknowledged. Such identifications existed in 
Federal records, wt,ere they had been made by the BIA, and in census records. Similar 
identifications had bt::en made by anthropologists and ethnologists, by local and regional historians, 
and by local newspapc:rs (CIT PF, Sunun. Crit.lO-20). 

Few of the third par1y comments appeared to be directed at criterion 83.7(a). On procedural rather 
than factual grounds, Quinault disputed the evidence used to demonstrate Cowlitz met criterion 
83.7(a) in the proposed finding. However, they confused the concepts of "recognition" and 
"identification." "R~~;;ognition" refers to an actual government-to-government relationship between 
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an Indian tribe and the Federal Government, and "identification," as required under 83.7(a) refers 
to naming the petitioner as an Indian entity, without analyzing the actual political, ancestral or social 
character of the entity or the political relationship that entity mayor may not maintain with the 
Federal government. In effect, Quinault held the petitioner to a higher standard -- Federal 
recognition rather than simple identification -- on criterion 83.7(a) than required by the regulations. 

Other portions of the Quinault comments were directed at the fact that many of the early 
identifications of the petitioner had not specifically identified the amalgamated tribe. The proposed 
finding determined that because of the wide dispersion of the Cowlitz population, most 
identifications were only of a part of the Upper Cowlitz or Lower Cowlitz and not the entire tribe. 
These identifications before 1910 were viewed as supporting evidence for criterion (a) and the 
government's identifi.cation of the two bands were accepted as evidence to meet criteria (a). After 
1878, the governme:nl had continued to identify both the Upper and Lower Cowlitz, but increasingly 
between 1880 and 1910 identified them together as an amalgamated entity. After 1910, most 
identifications refer to the single Cowlitz entity. Identification of the separate tribes before the 
amalgamation and during the process of amalgamation are acceptable under the regulations. 
Therefore, the separate identifications of the Upper and Lower Cowlitz entities between 1855 and 
1910 provide evidem;e that the petitioner meets criteria (a). 

Since the evidence evaluated during the proposed finding had already satisfied the requirements of 
identification of an Indian entity from the 1855 date of Federal acknowledgment used for the 
proposed finding, the extension of previous acknowledgment to the later date of 1878-1880 means 
that the years 1855-1880 no longer have to be analyzed under this criterion. The petitioner only 
needs to show that it: meets criterion (a) from 1880 to the present. This task was already 
accomplished during the proposed finding. The new documentation pertaining to criterion 83.7(a) 
submitted by the third party, such as the newspaper coverage of Upper Cowlitz meetings concerning 
fishing rights in the later 1920's, provided additional evidence which shows that the CIT meets 
criterion 83.7(a). 

Evidence in the record for the proposed finding, evidence submitted as comment and other evidence 
located by BIA res(!archers during the proposed finding evaluation demonstrates that the petitioner 
meets criteria 83.7(a) from 1878-1880 to the present. Therefore, the conclusion of the proposed 
finding that the petitioner meets criterion 83.7(a) as modified by 83.8(d)(I) is affirmed. 

83.7(b) A predominant portion of the petitioning group 
Icomprises a distinct community and has existed as 
:a community from historical times until the 
:present. 
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83.8(d)(2) The group meets the requirements of the criterion 
in section 83.7(b) to demonstrate that it comprises 
a distinct community at present. However, it need 
not provide evidence to demonstrate existence as a 
community historically. 

The regulations dejfJ ne "community" for the purposes of 83. 7(b) as follows: 

Community means any group of people which can demonstrate that consistent 
interactions. a:nd significant social relationships exist within its membership and that 
its members are differentiated from and identified as distinct from nonmembers. 
Community:~nust be understood in the context of the history, geography, culture and 
social organization of the group (25 CFR 83.1). 

Thus, under 83.8(<1)(.2), the regulations require that the Cowlitz demonstrate that they meet the 
criterion for community (83.7(b» only for the present day, or modem, community. They do not 
need to demonstrat,! that they meet the criterion for community from 1878-80, the last point of 
unambiguous Federal :acknowledgment, until the present. Under criterion 83.7(b) as modified by 
83.8(d)(2), the proposed finding concluded that the petitioner demonstrated that a predominant 
portion of its mem1bership comprised a distinct community at the present (CIT PF, Summ. Crit. ). 

Quinault criticized the Government's proposed finding for using pre-1981 evidence to demonstrate 
community for a later period. The proposed finding and final determination define the period for 
the Cowlitz modern ,community as 1981 to the present, starting some ten years before the 
documented petition and the response to the technical assistance letters were submitted. However, 
some discussion in both documents extends to the early 1970's when the Indian Claims Commission 
made the Cowlitzjudgment award and the Cowlitz modified their membership requirements. This 
material provides useful background for evaluating later evidence on community. Some of the issues 
from that period continue to resonate in CIT's community at present. These issues include the 111 6th 
blood requirement, the participation of certain individuals with Yakima background in the political 
organization, and ev€:n the traditional status of certain family lines and individuals. The pre-1981 
data did not in the proposed finding, and does not in this final determination, provide actual evidence 
for meeting 83.7(b) at present. 

Quinault commented ,extensively on the period between 1878 and 1978 and attempted to demonstrate 
that CIT did not mc~et the requirements of 83. 7(b) during this 100 years. They often compared the 
evidence utilized in other cases to the petitioner's evidence in an attempt to show that the criteria 
were applied arbitrarily. To evaluate the evidence submitted under 83.7(b) for all time periods as 
Quinault suggests !;hould have been done, would misapply the regulations as they pertain to 
previously acknowl,!dged tribes. Section 83.8(d)(2) specifically provides that the group need not 
provide evidence to d.emonstrate existence as a community historically. Therefore, this final 
determination finds that most of Quinault' s comments on 83. 7(b) are irrelevant because they discuss 
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evidence for community during time periods when the petitioner is not required to demonstrate that 
it meets criterion 83. 7(b). 

For the final determi::1ation, additional evidence contained in the petitioner's response showed that 
interaction by members in the community at present was extensive and involved people in all 
subgroups in propmtion to the subgroup's size in the overall CIT membership. This finding 
strengthens to some ext(~nt the evaluation of actual social interaction among the petitioner's members 
made in the proposed fi.nding. 

Quinault accused the cultural anthropologist assigned to the proposed finding of bias in favor of the 
petitioner. The evid(:nce presented to support this accusation included two small phrases uttered by 
the anthropologist in many hours offield interviews with Cowlitz members. These interviews were 
taped and some were 1Ilmscribed. In context, the two phrases were clearly meant only to encourage 
the person being intl~rviewed to cooperate with the government researcher. The BIA considered 
Quinault's complaint and found no evidence of bias in favor of the petitioner. 

BIA researchers pedc'nned quantitative analysis on the data submitted as comment and response or 
collected for the final determination. This analysis demonstrated that a significant proportion of 
members of CIT arc! documented as either actually participating in CIT affairs or closely related as 
a parent, child or sibl:ing to an individual who actually participated in CIT affairs. Participation in 
the context of this lUlaJysis did not include having one's name appear on a list of members or 
participating in activities limited to a particular subgroup. Activities counted in this analysis 
included participating in the council or executive committee, organizing at socia] events, serving on 
committees, relaying information about the tribe from one individual to another, providing food and 
other help to indig(!l1t ~md elderly tribal members who are not close family members, maintaining 
the community's property, representing the tribe to outsiders, and so forth. Because a significant 
proportion of the rne:mbership actually participates in formal and infonnal tribal activities, the 
proposed finding that: actual interaction occurs at a significant level is confirmed. 

Much of the evidence submitted by the petitioner for the proposed finding and in response to it 
concerns the political organization of the tribe. This evidence directly pertains to meeting criterion 
(c). However, political processes often generate communications and interactions, and can be used 
to describe social C:OJmections between the petitioner's members in order to demonstrate that the 
petitioner meets criterion (b). Additional field work by the BIA added to the infonnation utilized 
during the proposed finding to show that political arguments, issues and behind-the-scenes coalition 
building are widespre:ad, and that information relating to controversial or topical political issues are 
widely dispersed throughout the membership. This fieldwork also found that members hold strong 
opinions, and they base their political positions on knowledge they gain not only from formal 
meetings and CIT publications, but also from rumors they hear during informal discussions in 
everyday social situ.alions. News about tribal affairs is filtered through a lens of general knowledge 
which members have about each other. Such knowledge is gained through lifetimes of association. 
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The high level of knowledge of tribal activities gathered outside fonnal meetings and publications 
provides supporting evidence that the petitioner meets 83.7(b) at present. 

The petitioner presentc~d data pertaining to the period since the Proposed Finding, and limited 
additional data from the period 1981-1994. Little of this evidence was new. Some was 
documentation of events since the proposed finding. The third party comments presented no data 
pertaining to the petitioner's community at present. The evidence gathered in field interviews by the 
BIA anthropologist ,:lssigned to evaluate the petition for the final detennination was very similar to 
that collected by the ,mthropologist who worked on the proposed finding. The new evidence 
confinned the propc,sed fmding. 

The third party comments, which were procedural criticisms and were not new evidence, do no 
require a change to the proposed finding. The petitioner demonstrated community for the proposed 
finding. The petiti!Jnt!r has submitted more and updated evidence to show that they meet the 
requirements of criteJia (b) for the modem period. The BIA anthropologist on the final 
detennination madc! a field visit and gathered more and updated infonnation concerning the modem 
period. She also made some new analyses which confinned the conclusion at the proposed finding. 
This evidence is similar to that before the BIA evaluators for the proposed finding and confinns it. 

Therefore, the conclusion of the proposed finding that the petitioner meets criterion 83.7(b) as 
modified by 83.8(d.)(2) is affinned. 

83.7(c) 

83.8(d)(3) 

The petitioner has maintained political influence 
or authority over its members as an autonomous 
entity from historical times until the present .... 

The group meets the requirements of the criterion 
in section 83.7(c) to demonstrate that political 
influence or authority is exercised within the group 
at present. Sufficient evidence to meet the 
criterion in section 83.7(c) from the point of last 
Federal acknowledgment to the present may be 
provided by demonstration of substantially 
continuous historical identification, by 
authoritative, knowledgeable external sources, of 
leaders and/or a governing body who exercise 
political influence or authority, with 
demonstration of one form of evidence listed in 
section 83. 7 (c). 
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(5) If a petitioner which has demonstrated 
previous Federal acknowledgment cannot meet the 
Irequirements in paragraphs (d)(l) and (3), the 
I~etitioner may demonstrate alternatively that it 
meets the requirements of the criteria in 83.7(a) 
lthrough (c) from last Federal acknowledgment 
until the present. 

Under criterion 83 .7'~ (;) as modified by 83 .8( d)(3), the proposed finding concluded that the petitioner 
had maintained a sequence ofleadership identified by knowledgeable external sources for the period 
from 1855 to the present. 

Under 83 .8( d), the peltitioner needs to demonstrate that it meets the requirements of criterion 83. 7( c) 
only from the point of last Federal acknowledgment through the present, rather than from first 
sustained contact with non-Indians. It provides for a reduced burden of evidence to demonstrate that 
criterion 83. 7( c) is me:t from the date oflast unambiguous Federal acknowledgment until the present­
day community (83 .8{dl)(3». The burden is met if the group shows that authoritative, knowledgeable 
external authorities, such as state or Federal officials in close contact with the band, identified, on 
a substantially contLIluouS basis until the present, group leaders and/or a governing body which 
exercised political influence or authority, and one other form of evidence. The petitioner must also 
demonstrate that the group exercises political authority at present. 

The CIT meets the requirements of 83.7(c) as modified by 83.8(d) from 1880 to the present and 
demonstrates political authority at present. The proposed finding listed a sequence ofleaders of CIT 
and one form of othe:r evidence under 83. 7 (c) from the point oflast Federal acknowledgment (1855) 
to the present. This e:vidence demonstrated that the petitioner met this criteria as modified by 
83.8(d)(3). Becaus~: thJs determination now finds that the Cowlitz bands were acknowledged until 
roughly 1878-1880, the sequence of leaders must now be shown only from the latter date of 1878, 
when Atwin StockulTl was appointed chief of the Cowlitz tribe by an Indian agent, through 100 years, 
which included an l:neventful shift from traditional chiefs to an elected executive council in 1910-
1912, until the CWTent CIT chairman John Barnett. This demonstration has been made in the 
proposed finding. The other evidence required under 83.8(d)(3) is discussed in the response to 
Quinault's comment'). 

Quinault's criticism of these findings fall under two main categories: 1) the named leaders were only 
leaders of separate tribes or ethnic groups and not of a unified tribal entity in the 19th century; and 
even after they came together in the 20th century organization, the named leaders were only leaders 
within their subgroups and not part of an amalgamated tribal entity; and 2) the named leaders were 
only officials of a c:.aims organization not a tribe. 

The final determination evaluates Quinault'S comments in detail and finds that in respect to the first 
issue, unity is not required under the regulations before the group amalgamated. The proposed 
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finding demonstrated that the historical Upper and Lower Cowlitz bands had chiefs who were 
identified by knowledgeable outside sources until the late 1880's. After that, Federal documents 
show that the two entities amalgamated. Their individual band chiefs and leadership clearly acted 
together in the early 1900's. Significant data indicates that these subgroups and their leaders 
cooperated in filing claims in 1910-12 and in litigating fishing rights in 1927-34. During the period 
from 1912 to 1938,. th(~ Cowlitz leaders came from both the Upper and Lower Cowlitz Bands, 
including several of th(~ Lower Cowlitz metis families. The Cowlitz were careful to make their 
leadership representative and this alternation was purposeful. Since 1950, the leadership has not 
been dominated by a single subgrouping. Today, various historical subgroups which characterize 
the tribe are represeme:d in the leadership. Recent arguments concerning resources and land use, the 
current direction ofttl(: tribe, priorities, the acknowledgment petition, the membership requirements 
and elections clearly illustrate how people within one subgroup know who within another subgroup 
is an effective political contact. Politically active CIT members utilize this knowledge to advance 
their programs or points of view. This evidence demonstrates leadership in the amalgamated tribe. 
This sequence of leadership of the Cowlitz bands before 1910 and of a Cowlitz entity after 1910 
provide part of the e:vid,ence that the petitioner meets 83.7(c) as modified by 83.8(d)(3). 

Quinault's second is:me is that CIT and the formal predecessor organizations, the Cowlitz Tribal 
Organization (CTO) fi:om 1912 through 1950 and the Cowlitz Tribe of Indians (CTI) from 1950 to 
1974, have been merely claims organizations. Quinault refers to some previous acknowledgment 
findings which denied recognition to certain groups whose only purpose was to pursue land claims. 

The proposed finding fimnd that CIT and its predecessors were not merely claims organizations, 
although the CTO and CTI did pursue claims. First CIT's predecessor group, the CTO, did not 
develop in response to the push to enroll at Quinault, to Thomas Bishop's Northwestern Indian 
Federation's efforts to form claims organizations, to the compiling of the Roblin Roll or to other 
forces beyond the tribt:. The Cowlitz tribe existed before these events and operated independent of 
these external events. Second, Roblin only identified two unenrolled Indian "tribes" in his 1919 
Report. One was the Cowlitz. Third, for the period from 1912 through 1950, the existence of an 
externally named leadership, along with evidence for the continuation of structured political activity 
and influence demom:trated that the leaders ofCTO and CTI undertook activities in addition to these 
claims, such as fishing rights litigation and environmental preservation of natural spawning areas. 
These activities demonstrated a bilateral relationship between the leadership and the members. The 
minutes and other do,;;uments from this period demonstrate that non-claims issues were dealt with 
by the various Cowlii12 organizations. Such evidence provides another "form of evidence" that the 
petitioner meets 83.8(d)(3). The Cowlitz organization was not simply a claims organization. 

As a consequence of::he nature of the historical development of the Cowlitz entity, the interaction 
among the Cowlitz subgroups at the tribal level in recent years is primarily political in nature. These 
subgroupings trace to e:arlier geographical bands and social groupings. No evidence was submitted 
to show that these subgroups have separate fonnal leadership or decision making processes; 
however, the active communication and interaction among members of subgroups promotes infonnal 
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political activity wi1Jlin each group and supports participation of individuals from each subgroup in 
the larger political m'ena of the tribe. This final determination finds that subgroup activity is 
supporting evidenc€! for meeting 83.7(c). 

The analysis donebr the final determination revealed that the representation on the council is 
proportional to the representation of the subgroup in the tribe's population, which supports, albeit 
weakly, the proposed finding that individuals vote for those people who will represent their own 
subgroup on council. The subgroups form a single political system, and show no signs of breaking 
away from each other, despite the presence of conflicts among important and politically active 
segments of the tri1be, which are resolved by the group as a whole. Evidence of wide-ranging 
representation on the: <council and in the leadership since 1910 and of dispute resolution on a tribal 
level at present prov[des supporting evidence that the petitioner meets 83.7(c). 

The CIT has made a smooth transition from one leader to another without even minor breaks. A 
modem day exception occurred when the Tribal Council President and the Chairman of the 
Executive Council c:lashed. Clearly, the Cowlitz entities led by Atwin Stockum and Capt. Peter in 
the late 18001s is the same one that developed a democratically elected council in 1910-12, since both 
of the traditional chi,efs participated in the formation of the modernized organization. During the 
changes from a here,ditary chief, to an appointed chief, to a democratically elected council, the 
membership remaim:d unchanged in its basic character. 

The Cowlitz petitioner can trace an unbroken line of leaders identified by knowledgeable external 
sources and a relativ,ely unchanging set of families that have provided the core membership. This 
organization held meletings attended by a significant portion of the voting members of the tribe 
almost annually from 1912 through 1939, and from 1950 through the present. 

Quinault argued that the ten-year hiatus of meetings constituted a sigrlificant interruption of 
continuous tribal existence. Like other petitioners, Cowlitz activity during the war years was 
extremely low dm: in. part to gas rationing, war industry migration and military service. 
Nevertheless, at least three documents exist in the record to show that individuals continued to 
communicate and some leaders met at an individual's home. When regular meetings recommenced, 
the same general population attended as before the war and the same group of leaders presided. 
Analyses comparing lists of participants and of the leaders before 1938 and after 1950 shows 
continuity spanning the period of low activity for the tribe. Although evidence between 1938 and 
1950 is sparse, when considered in historical context under 83.6(e), it does show political activity 
at a level to demonstratle the group meets criterion 83.7(c). 

The introduction of residency requirements and dual enrollment prohibitions in Yakima enrollment 
procedures in the late 1940's and changes in CIT membership rules to prohibit dual enrollment and 
to establish a 1I16th blood-degree requirement in the 1970's have defined more strictly the tribe's 
boundaries during the! 20th century. These changes have not changed the distinct characteristics of 
the Cowlitz core population. Quinault questioned an apparent discrepancy between the 
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anthropologist's and historian's technical reports on the topic of the 1973-74 CIT enrollment 
changes. Language is added to the final detennination to clarify the proposed finding. This language 
explains that a few active individuals were removed from the CIT membership as a result of these 
changes, most notabl.y the Sareault family and the leader of the Yakima Cowlitz, Emma Mespli. The 
general membership was knowledgeable about the effect the vote of these controversial changes 
would have, but the Cowlitz maintained its stability. Many tribal members were distressed when 
they saw a few inc.i viduals who had low blood quanta, but who had maintained close social 
relationships with otht;!r Cowlitz, removed from the rolls. At the same time, the genealogical makeup 
of the tribe was not drastically altered by these changes; the membership still descended from the 
same historical groupings in roughly the same proportions. These clarifications in analysis did not 
require a change in the conclusion of the proposed finding that petitioners evolved from the 
previously acknowl~:dged Cowlitz Bands and meets criterion (c). 

The Quinault pres€:nted extensive specific arguments together with documentary and affidavit 
evidence to support the:ir fundamental argument that predecessor organizations, CTO and CTI, as 
well as CIT were OILly voluntary organizations fonned solely for the purposes of pursuing land and 
other claims against th(: Government. A careful review of their comments and evidence found that 
Quinault's attempt to base their argument in part on the content of the council minutes ignored other 
evidence concerning not only activities outside of council meetings but also the purpose and 
character of the minute:s themselves, which were not transcripts of everything that went on at the 
meetings but rather usually focused on actions taken. While the tribe was very involved in dealing 
with these claims a~:tivities, it also perfonned other welfare, economic, governmental and cultural 
functions that were significant to members. 

The proposed finding found that in 1967, an infonnally functioning executive committee which had 
developed under the 1950 constitution of the CIT was expanded by resolution of the general 
membership at the a:nnual meeting into a formal tribal council. The Tribal Council was then 
incorporated into the 1974 constitutional revision, which also was adopted by vote of the general 
membership. The annual membership, or General Council, meetings are not superficial or 
inconsequential political events. Decisions are made by the General Council, elections are held and 
controversies are discussed publicly. Supplementary meetings are sometimes held. 

There are political strains over the General Council's role vis-a-vis the Tribal Council and rivalries 
between the electedll~~adership of the General Council and that of the Tribal Council continue to 
reveal publicly large:r controversies within the tribe. Arguments continue between the so-called 
traditional sweat lodge grouping and John Barnett and his followers. Recently, the advancement of 
the Quinault allotteles' interests by the CIT is brought up as problematical by some members who 
are not allottees. Many question the priority placed on economic development at what they believe 
is the expense of we I fare matters. Membership issues continue to involve a predominant proportion 
of the tribe. These activities indicate that the general membership is well infonned and concerned 
about tribal business and is involved in the political processes of the tribe; they are evidence to 
demonstrate that CIT meets criteria (c) at present. 
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In addition, the proposed finding found that there was considerable evidence of informal leadership 
during the period 1950-1973 by community elders, but the final determination finds that 
increasingly, younger people are taking positions of leadership both in formal tribal venues and also 
in informal situations, as the elders become infirm or die. Increasingly, individuals in mid-life are 
opinion leaders within the tribe. The passing on of political leadership from one generation to the 
next indicates that ]political authority does not merely come from elderly individuals who depend for 
their authority on past customs and childhood relationships established at a time when the tribal 
members were not yet. acculturated. Rather, the political authority of the present leaders rests on 
modem-day interac:tions, relationships and activities of individuals. Evidence of the passage of 
leadership from one ge:neration to the next demonstrates that political organization meets criteria (c) 
at present. 

The 1973/1974 dec:isions concerning enrollment qualifications have continued to have political 
impact to the presert. Some family groups with Yakima-enrolled close relatives maintain that they 
remain active in the Tribal Council to protect their membership status. The 1116 Cowlitz blood­
quantum provision continues to provoke membership-eligibility disputes within the general 
membership and within the Tribal Council in this decade, as recently as this year when individuals 
stepped down from the tribal council because of problems they had meeting the membership 
requirements and pressures from the general membership to apply membership requirements equally. 

The Tribal and General Council have responded to demands from the general membership to 
broaden the focus of CIT activities, and to intervene in other matters of concern to the general 
membership. This process provides evidence, most clearly laid out in the oral interviews, for 
continuous functioning by leaders, leaders' influence on the membership, members' influence on the 
policies of the governing body, and acknowledgment ofleaders by followers under 83.8(d)(3). 

In summary, the petitioner submitted evidence that shows that leaders have been identified since the 
last point of Federal acknowledgment in 1878~ 1880 until the present. Evidence also demonstrates 
that since that time, the! Cowlitz have undertaken a variety of activities which demonstrate political 
authority. Singly, these forms of evidence are not sufficient to meet criterion 83.7(c). However, 
when these forms of t::vidence are combined, they provide evidence that the petitioner meets the 
criterion. 

Therefore, the condusion of the proposed finding that the petitioner meets criterion 83.7(c) as 
modified by 83.8(d) is affirmed. 

83.7(d) A copy ofthe group's present governing document, 
including its membership criteria. In the absence 
of a written document, the petitioner must provide 
a statement describing in full its membership 
criteria and current governing procedures. 
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Under criterion 83.7 (d), the proposed finding concluded that petitioner had submitted a copy of its 
present governing c\ol:::ument, thus meeting the criterion. Quinault's comments argued that CIT did 
not actually follow lh,:::ir constitution. The requirement of 83. 7( d) is to submit the present governing 
documents, including its membership criteria. The document submitted reflects the CIT's general 
governing and membership practices and demonstrates that CIT meets criterion (d). Quinault 
additionally mainta::ned that some statements within the preamble and body of the 1950 CTI 
constitution and thc~ Jl974 cn constitution indicated that the petitioner's tribal existence had not 
been continuous. Criticisms of general statements in constitutions have not been viewed as 
significant in past dc:terminations and are not viewed as significant here. 

No new evidence was submitted in connection with criterion 83.7(d). 

Therefore, the conclusion of the proposed finding that the petitioner meets criterion 83.7(d) is 
affmned. 

83.7(e) The petitioner's membership consists of 
individuals who descend from a historical Indian 
tribe or from historical Indian tribes which 
I:ombioed and functioned as a single autonomous 
political entity. 

Neither the third party nor the petitioner submitted new evidence in relation to criterion 83.7(e). 

Quinault's comments were procedural and challenged the proposed finding that the CIT membership 
descends from the historical Cowlitz tribe as it existed in 1855. Quinault's mixed the discussion of 
previous unambiguous Federal acknowledgment with the discussion of 83. 7( e). 

Quinault'S comments q[uestioned the inclusion of metis descendants in the tribe on two grounds. 
One ground was basled on a misinterpretation of the proposed finding: Quinault continually discussed 
the Cowlitz metis as if the proposed finding treated them as a separate Indian entity which 
amalgamated with the Lower Cowlitz and the Upper Cowlitz. The proposed finding explained that 
the Cowlitz metis w,;:re descendants of Lower Cowlitz Indians and French Canadians, such "half 
bloods" being often rdi:::rred to in documents as "metis." The proposed finding never stated that a 
separate metis entiry had amalgamated with the Lower Cowlitz. It stated that individual French 
Canadianlmetis had joined or married into the Lower Cowlitz before treaty times. 

The second argument presented by Quinault had already been considered in detail in the proposed 
finding. The "Cowlitz: metis" included the mixed-blood descendants of several Indian women from 
other tribes. These women and their children functioned as members of the Cowlitz tribe prior to 
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the latest date ofpn:vious unambiguous Federal acknowledgment. They had been incorporated into 
the historical tribe. Thus their offspring descend from the historical tribe. 

Virtually all CIT members have demonstrated that they descend from individuals who were part of 
the historical Cowlitz tribes which historically amalgamated. Of a total "green card" membership 
of 1,482, there are o:nly three individuals whose genealogy has not been traced to a member of the 
historical Cowlitz Indian tribe as defined in the paragraph above. 

Therefore, the condusion of the proposed finding that the petitioner meets criterion 83.7(e) is 
affirmed. 

83.7(f) Thle mtembership of the petitioning group is composed principally 
of persons who are not members of any acknowledged North 
Amm"ilcan Indian tribe. However, under certain conditions a 
petiltioning group may be acknowledged even if its membership 
is comlPosed principally of persons whose names have appeared 
on )'oills of, or who have been otherwise associated with, an 
ackJlowledged Indian tribe. The conditions are that the group 
must establish that it has functioned throughout history until the 
present as a separate and autonomous Indian tribal entity, that 
its rlJit~mbers do not maintain a bilateral political relationship with 
the .aclrnowledged tribe, and that its members have provided 
writhm confirmation of their membership in the petitioning 
groull', 

The proposed finding I:oncluded that the petitioner met criterion 83.7(f). 

No new evidence was submitted pertaining to dual enrollment by the petitioner's members. In the 
course of checking the final membership list, the BIA researcher determined that although CIT has 
a dual enrollment prohibition, there are approximately six "green card" holders (individuals of at 
least 1I16th Cowlitz blood) who are dually enrolled with the Lummi tribe. This small number, of 
the total membership (1,482), does not make the CIT "principally" composed of members of any 
acknowledged Nortll American Indian tribe. 

Therefore, the conclusion of the proposed finding that the petitioner meets criterion 83.7(f) is 
affirmed. 

83.7(g) Neither the petitioner nor its members are the 
subject of congressional legislation that has 
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expressly terminated or forbidden the Federal 
relationship. 

Under criterion 83.7(g), the Proposed Finding concluded that neither the petitioner nor its members 
were the subject of eo ngressional legisl at ion that had expressly terminated or forbidden the Federal 
relationship (CIT PF, Summ. Crit.). 

No comments were received or new evidence submitted in connection with criterion 83.7(g). 

Therefore, the condusion of the proposed finding that the petitioner meets criterion 83.7(g) is 
affur.ned. . 

AFFIRMATION OF PROPOSED FINDING 

Therefore, the proposed finding is affirmed except as modified above. 
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I. INTRODUCTION. 

This document is a !technical report to accompany the Final Oetennination (FO) for the Cowlitz 
Indian Tribe (CIT), a petitioner for Federal acknowledgment. This FO, including the technical 
report, is based on documentary and interview evidence which confirmed the Proposed Finding 
(PF) and new amllysis of the infonnation and argument received in response to the PF. 
Documentary matt~rlals and transcripts of field interviews in the case record for the PF were 
reviewed again in light of new information and arguments submitted during the comment periods 
by third parties a:ld the petitioner. 

A. AdministraltilYe History. 

1. Administrative History o/the Proposed Finding. The Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA or 
Bureau) received a request for Federal Acknowledgment from the Cowlitz Indian Tribe (CIT) on 
September 17, 1975 (CIT Pet. 1975).' The Bureau did not act upon the petition because 
consideration was then being given to the establishment of the Federal Acknowledgment Project, 
designed to deal with acknowledgment issues under a unifonn set of regulations rather than on a 
case-by-case basis. After the Federal Acknowledgment Project was established in 1978, and the 
CIT's petition was tJransferred to it, the petition was assigned priority number 16, based on its 
submission date. 

Under the 25 CFR Part 83, or acknowledgment, regulations, the CIF submitted a documented 
petition (CIT Pet. 1982) on February 1, 1983,2 and was sent an obvious deficiency (00) letter 
dated June 15, 1983 (Fritz to Cloquet 6/1511983). The group withdrew their 1983 petition and 
on February 10, J.987, submitted a second documented petition dated January 20, 1987, as a 
response to the OD (CIT Pet. 1987).3 The BIA reviewed the 1987 petition and sent the CIT a 
second 00 letter dated October 21, 1988 (Elbert to Barnett 10/2111988). The CIT submitted a 
response to the st:(:ond 00 dated January 29, 1994. The BlA received this response on February 
24, 1994 (CIT Rt:sponse 1994): with a cover letter stating that the petitioner considered the 
petition ready for ac:tive consideration (Barnett to Reckord 1129/1994). After reviewing this 
response, the BIA determined that the petition was ready for active consideration on April 4, 
1994. 

'See List Clf Sources for components of this submission. 

!See List clf Sources for components of this submission. 

)See List Clf Sources for components of this submission. 

4See List clf Sources for components of this submission. 
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The revised Federal acknowledgment regulations became effective March 28. 1994 and they 
included a provision at 83.8 which allowed petitioners who had been Federally acknowledged in 
the past to proceed llsing a reduced burden of proof. The BIA determined that the CIT were 
eligible to proceed under the provisions of section 83.8, and notified them of their eligibility by a 
letter dated May 1, 1. 995 (Roth to Barnett 5/3/1995). The petition was placed on active 
consideration Jul~1 11, 1995. The Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs (AS-fA) signed the CIT 
proposed finding February 2, 1997 (CIT PF 1997), to acknowledge the petitioner as a Federal 
Tribe because they met all seven mandatory criteria 83.7 (a)-(g). 

2. Administrative History Since the Proposed Finding. The administrative history of this case 
has been made complex first by an administrative appeal, and then by litigation. Both actions 
concerned a FOIA n~quest made by the Quinault Nation for the petitioner's files and records. 
The FOIA administrative appeal and litigation have proceeded at the same time as the 
administrative acknowledgment process. The processing of the petition became linked to the 
FOrA appeals whc~l1, during mediation on the FOIA litigation, the Government agreed to reopen 
the third party conment period and the petitioner's response period in the acknowledgment 
procedure. A chronological description of these events follows. 

a. Extensions am~fOIA Administrative Appeal. Notice of the CIT proposed finding was 
published in the FI:dc~ral Register on February 27, 1997 (62 FR 8983-8985), initiating the 
regulatory 180-dal~' period for the petitioner to respond to the proposed finding and for receipt of 
public comments. -nus comment period was scheduled to close August 26, 1997, but on August 
18, 1997, at the r~~qlJ~~st of Quinault Nation, the AS-IA extended the comment period 90 days 
"from date of this 1~~t1:er" (Deer to Capoeman-Baller 8/18/1997). 

Almost one year bdore the PF was published, on April 2, 1996, the Quinault Nation, a 
recognized Indian tribe located in western W~hington, submitted an extensive FOIA request 
which pertained to both the Chinook and Cowlitz petitions for Federal acknowledgment 
(Capoeman-Baller tQ Director, Office of Administration, Bureau of Indian Affairs 4/2/1996). In 
order to process th..is comprehensive request, the BIA answered the Quinault FOIA letter, 
generally describing the types of materials that would be released and would not be released, on 
June 11, 1996, and made a large number of documents available to them at the Department of the 
Interior. Consistent with existing policy, the BIA withheld materials were protected under the 
FOIA and Privacy Acts, including membership files, the petitioner'S rolls, membership lists and 
genealogies, and other information about individuals which was of a highly personal nature. The 
Quinault filed an administrative appeal to the June 11, 1996 FOIA response. 

By November 11, 1996, the DOl had responded to the Quinault Nation's administrative appeal of 
the FOIA and had upheld the BIA's withholding from release documents which held highly 
personal information a.bout Cowlitz members. 

On July 28, 1997, Quinault requested reconsideration of their appeal ofwithholdings in the 
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FOIA. The Quinault nation subsequently requested a 180-day extension to the comment period. 
On AU\2ust 18. 1997. the AS-IA granted a 90-day extension to the comment period, thus closing 
the comment peliod November 17, 1997 (Deer to Capoeman-Baller 8/18/1997). On September 
8, 1997. the Quinault requested a reconsideration of their request for an extension of their 
response time be:yond November 17. 

b. Litigation (Q~i.l1aU/t v. Gover). On October 7, 1997, Quinault sued the Department. the 
Cowlitz Indian Tribe, and the Chinook Indian Tribe, Inc., alleging four counts concerning the 
FOIA and the acknowledgment process. Two days later, on October 9, 1997, the AS-IA signed 
a letter to Quinault, denying their September request for a further extension (Deer to Reich 
10/9/97). A wed, later on October 21, 1997, Quinault filed a motion for a preliminary injunction 
to stop the final ce'tf:rminations ([get citeD, which the court denied December 3, 1997 ([get cite D. 

Quinault's first set of comments on the CIT proposed finding was received by the BIA on 
November 19, 1997, the closing date of the extended comment period. Under the 25 CFR Part 
83 regulations, the petitioner had 60 days to respond to the third party comments. The CIT 
response to the Quinault comments was received within the regulatory time frames by the BIA on 
January 12, 1998. 

On June 16, 1999, the BIA informed CIT that a team of researchers would be assigned to prepare 
the CIT final dewImination within the next 60 days (Maddox to Barnett 6/16/1998). Quinault 
objected. 

As part of a joint stipulation in the litigation, the BIA reopened the comment period for 75 days 
on September 28, 1998, to allow Quinault time to submit additional comments.~ On September 
18, 1998, the U.S. District Court addressed the records claim and upheld the Department's 
position that it did not have to turn over the list of members or the genealogies under the FOIA, 
the Privacy Act, .)r Ithe Federal acknowledgment regulations.6 Quinault appealed to the Ninth 
Circuit. Quinault submitted a second set of comments on the CIT proposed finding on December 
14, 1998. The 60-·day period for the petitioner to respond to third party comments ended 
February 12, 19'99. The CIT submitted its reply to the second set of CIT comments on February 
9, 1999.7 

c. On-the-Recot!i Technical Assistance Meeting (1/2311998), On November 12, 1998, 

~United Slatc~ District Court for the Western District of Washington at Tacoma No. C97-S62SRJB, 
Stipulation for Ord,er Dismissing Certain Claims; Order Thereon, September 28, 1998. 

6Transcript elf Hearing before the Honorable Robert J. Bryan, United States District Judge, Docket No. 
C97-S62SRJB, October 19, 1998. 

'For summ !Iic:s ofall these post-proposed finding submissions, see section I.C. of this report. 
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Quinault requestc:d a formal on-the-record technical assistance meeting in regard to the CrT 
petition (Reich to Gover and Fleming 11112/1998) as provided in 83.10 U)(2). This letter was 
accompanied by a proposed agenda (Quinault Proposed Agenda 11112/1998). The BIA arranged 
for the meeting to b~~ held November 23, 1998. On November 19, 1998, the BIA transmitted a 
copy of the approved agenda (BIA Agenda 1111911998) to CIT and Quinault (Roth to Reich 
11/19/1998). The: meeting was held as scheduled, and transcribed by a court reporter: 8 

Under stipulation in the litigation, the BIA was required to assign a team to work on preparation 
of the technical I'C~port to the final determination by February 19, 1999 (one week after expiration 
of the petitioner' s I~egulatory 60-day response period for response to third-party comments). 9 

This was done. The final determination, according to the 60 days allowed under the 25 CFR Part 
83 regulations, would have been due on April 20, 1999. The BIA asked the AS-IA for a 120-day 
extension of time! tD prepare the technical report for the final determination (Maddox to Gover 
2/19/1999). The AS-IA extended the period until August 18, 1999 (Gover [approval handwritten 
on request memorandum] 2/24/1999). The BrA notified CIT and Quinault of the extension on 
March 19, 1999 (Maddox to Barnett 3/19/1999). 

The BIA request<:d a second extension to respond to the many complicated legal issues raised by 
the petitioner and because the researchers working on the technical report had been drawn away 
from their case wmk to work on three separate appeals and litigation. The extension was granted 
by the AS-lA, and the petitioner was notified by an August 13, 1999 letter to the Chairman 
signed by the Direct<>r of the Office of Tribal Services. (Tuell to Barnett 8/13/1999). This 
extension closed c'n November 17, 1999. 

B. Overview oftille Proposed Finding 

1. Introduction: Rei£Jtionship of the Summary under the Criteria to the Technical Reports. 
Decisions on Fed,eral acknowledgment oflndian tribes are made by the AS-lA, who reports to the 
Secretary of the Intc:rior. The BIA or the BAR do not make the decision on acknowledgment. 
The ultimate responsibility of acknowledgment decisions lies with the AS-I A. These are 
Departmental, not Agency decisions, as implied by the petitioner and the comrnenters. 

a "Transcrlpt, On··the-Record Meeting Concerning the Proposed finding Cowlitz (ndian Tribe, Monday, 
November 23, \998" (COWlitz On-the-Record 1998). 

9"3. Federal defcmdants agree that within seven days of the close of the period afforded the Cowlitz 
petitioners to reply to lilly additional comments from plaintiff Quinault Indian Nation, but no earlier than January 
IS, 1999, federal defe'rtciaJ1ts will begin consideration of the written arguments and evidence submitted in response 
to the proposed finding, ~. provided in 2S C.F .R. 83.10(1), and the parties agree to waive any right they may have to 
additional consultation under 25 C.F .R. 83.10(1) concerning an equitable time frame for the initiation of such 
consideration" (Qui",,!ult v. Gover, No. 97·S62SRJB, Stipulation for Order Dismissing Certain Claims; Order 
Thereon, 3). 
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The Branch of Admowledgment and Research (BAR), which is located within the Office of 
Tribal Services (OTS) of the Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA), conducts a review of the 
documented petition and initiates research relative to analyzing the documented petition. then 
makes recommendalions to the Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs. The Summary Under the 
Criteria and Evi,knc:e for Proposed Finding (CIT PF 1997, Summ. Crit.), or recommended 
decision. was ac:companied by three technical reports prepared by BIA researchers. 10 These 
technical reports pre:sent the facts on the petitioner. The technical reports do not, however, 
constitute the decision making document. The reports analyze and discuss the supporting 
documentation and are much mor~ extensive than the Summary Under the Criteria. 

The Summary Unde:r the Criteria. which is the decision signed by the AS-lA, describes the 
primary evidence which the AS-IA relied upon for a decision and how that evidence was 
weighed. In most cases a decision is based on a substantial body of evidence, derived from a 
variety of source:s, r;ather than a single document. The Summary Under the Criteria does not 
specifically describe: every piece of evidence relied upon. 

Technical Reports also do not describe every piece of evidence that was considered. The fact 
that a particular document is cited, discussed, or described in a technical report shows that it was 
evidence which 'was considered but does not mean that it was evidence relied upon to support the 
decision. Conur.,e:nters in this case oftenmisstated how evidence in the record was evaluated or 
weighed by the Government by saying that the decision maker "relied upon" a single piece of 
evidence (as if it was sufficient in itself) to come to a specific conclusion, when in fact, the 
decision maker wC'ighed several, often numerous, pieces of evidence in combination to reach 
their conclusions, 

A finding considc:rs a broad variety of evidence that is presented in a petition. The BIA reviews 
and considers alll materials submitted by the petitioner and by third parties, as well as material 
obtained by BIA rc~earchers. The administrative record of a case includes all of the materials 
considered in readling a determination, whether specifically cited or not cited in a technical 
report or decisior." and whether in support or not of the decision itself. These practices are 
clarified here bel:ause the comments, tended to misstate how specific evidence was handled in 
the evaluation. 

Similarly, the lis,til1g of an item, whether an original, primary docwnent or a secondary source, in 
the bibliography <)r "'List of Sources" that accompanies a Proposed Finding and Final 
Determination dce:s not necessarily mean that the AS-IA "relied upon" that item to support his 
conclusion. The "List of Sources" provides citations for all items considered or reviewed in the 
technical reports, whether or not they were utilized for the Summary Under the Criteria and 

IOThese rel;'llrts, were the Historical Technical Report (HTR); Anthropological Technical Report (A TR); 
and Genealogical T~chI1lical Report (GTR). 
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whether or not th(~ statements made in the item were accepted by the AS-lA. The appearance of a 
book title or document in any bibliography mean necessarily that the author "relied upon" that 
document or book. but only that the author considered either the entire or some portion of that 
document or book. Every item discussed in the technical reports is included in the "List of 
Sources." even if:he item was specifically repudiated in the finding. 

2. Prior Federal Acknowledgment under 25 CFR 83.8. The AS-IA determined in the proposed 
finding that the petiitioner had previous unambiguous Federal acknowledgment through the date 
of March 2, 1855, thc~ end of the Chehalis River treaty negotiations (CIT PF 1997, Summ. erit. 
3). A finding of prc:vious recognition enabled the petitioner to proceed under criteria 83. 7(a)-1 g) 
as modified by the provisions of25 CFR 83.8. This finding was not a finding that Federal 
acknowledgment c:e:ased as of March 2,1855. The date was used solely for acknowledgment 
purposes during pre~paration of the proposed finding. 

3. Conclusions under the Manda/ory Criteria. The AS-IA found that the CIT met all seven 
criteria required f;:Jr Federal acknowledgment (CIT PF 1997, Surnm. Crit. 10). Readers should 
consult the Proposed Finding (PF) and the Summary Under the Criteria (Summ. Cnt.)contains 
more detail than that which is provided below. 

Under criterion 83.7(a) as modified by 83.8(d)(l), the petitioner had been identified as an 
American Indian t:::ltilty and as the same group as the one previously federally acknowledged on a 
substantially continuous basis since 1855. Such identifications existed in Federal records. and 
were made by the BlA, certain ethnographers, local historians, and local newspapers (CIT PF 
1997, Summ. Crit. 10-20). 

Under criterion 83.7(b) as modified by 83.8(d)(2), the petitioner demonstrated that a predominant 
portion of its mem.bership comprised a distinct community at the present. The proposed finding 
identified the exis1:c~nce of several social subgroups within the merged Cowlitz tribe and found 
that there was strong (:omrnWlity within the subgroups and a weaker, but still sufficient to meet 
the criterion, level olf(:ommunity within the petitioner as a whole. This conclusion was based 
both upon documentation submitted by the petitioner and on verification by BIA researchers 
(CIT PF 1997, SWllm. Crit. 20-31). 

Under criterion 83,7(c) as modified by 83.8(d)(3), the proposed finding concluded that the 
petitioner had mailltcUJ:1ed a sequence of named leaders identified by knowledgeable sources, 
along with at least cIne other fonn of evidence, for the period from March 2, 1855, to the present. 
This finding was b.ased on the existence of traditional chiefs prior to 1878, the appointment by 
the Office of Indian Alffairs (OIA) of chiefs for the Upper Cowlitz and Lower Cowlitz bands in 
1878, the transfer of authority from these still-living chiefs to an elected leadership in 1912, and 
an unbroken elected leadership since 1912. For each of these time periods, a variety of 
documents in the rc:c:ord, both external, including BIA records, and internal, including minutes 
and other records of the tribal organizations, showed the existence of political influence and 
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authoritv at a leve!, sufficient to meet the criterion (CIT PF 1997. Surnm Crit. 31-44). 

l'nder criterion 83.7(d), the petitioner submitted a copy of its governing document and 
membership requirc:ments, thus meeting the criterion (CIT PF 1997. Sumrn. Crit. 44). 

Cnder criterion 83.7(e), the BrA determined that all of the petitioner's members on the 1994 
membership list \lo'ere~ descended from the historical Cowlitz tribe. The definition of this 
historical tribe allowc~d for regional patterns of inter-tribal marriages and for the association of 
non-Cowlitz familic~s with the Cowlitz prior to March 2, 1855, the date of last unambiguous 
Federal acknowle'dgrnent used in the proposed finding. The definition also took into 
consideration the cOnlsistent acceptance and identification of such associated families as Cowlitz 
by the tribe, the Fc~deral Government, and the BIA (CIT PF 1997, Summ. Crit. 44-47). 

Under criterion 83.7(f), the membership of the petitioner was found to be composed principally 
of persons who we:re not members of any acknowledged North American Indian tribe, The 
petitioner's constitution contains a dual enrollment prohibition, which is enforced (CIT PF 1997, 
Surnm. Crit. 47-4~:). 

Under criterion 83.7(g), neither the petitioner nor its members were the subject of congressional 
legislation that ha.d expressly terminated or forbidden the Federal relationship (CIT PF 1997, 
Surnm. Crit. 48), 

C. New Materials Under Consideration for the Final Determination. The final 
determination takes into consideration all materials in the case file at the time of the proposed 
finding, the form~~, meeting proceedings, and all the materials submitted by the petitioner and 
third parties, and lo·cated by BIA researchers, since the issuance of the proposed finding. These 
latter materials cOllsist primarily of comments received during the public comment period from 
Quinault and the CIr s responses to the Quinault submissions. Individual CIT members also 
sent the BIA a few materials, which the BIA did not consider to be part of the official CIT 
submissions. Howe~ver. because these materials were submitted by members of the petitioner, 
they were also not c:l<lSsified as third-party comments. They were evaluated and are now part of 
the record. These: post proposed finding submissions are described in more detail below. 

1. Petitioner's Rj?sponse to Proposed Finding. On August 8, 1997, CIT advised the BIA that it 
would not submit 11 rc~sponse to the proposed finding (Barnett to Reckord 8/811997), and did not 
submit one. 

2. QUinault CommfmlS 1997. II Quinault Nation submitted documents with a cover letter from 
Richard Reich, Atlomey for Quinault Indian Nation (Reich to Gover 11/17/1997), They 

II See List of Sources for contents of this submission. 
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consisted primarily of three items: 

a. \-iemorandumjI)\ Opposition, signed by Quinault Nation Anorney Richard Reich .. dated 
~ovember 16. 1997: "Before the Bureau of Indian Affairs, United States Department of the 
Interior. In the V(at1er of the Proposed Determination for Federal Acknowledgment of the 
Cowlitz Indian Tlibe. Quinault Nation's Memorandum in Opposition to Proposed 
Determination" (Quinault Memorandum 1997); 

b. Affidavit of Prs:i~jice, signed by Richard Reich, Attorney for Quinault Indian Nation. dated 
November 14, 1997: "Before the Bureau of Indian Affairs, United States Department of the 
interior. In the ME.ner of the Proposed Determination for Federal Acknowledgment of The 
Cowlitz Indian Tri be. Affidavit of Prejudice" (Quinault Affidavit of Prejudice 1997); 

c. Nicklason Rep~2rt: "Nicklason Research Associates Historical Report concerning Proposed 
Finding Cowlitz Indian Tribe. November 1997" (Nicklason 1997). 

3. Petitioner's Res'{)onse to First Set o/Quinault Comments. The petitioner submitted a 
response to QuinalUlt's 1997 comments on January 12, 1998, through its counsel, Dennis J. 
Wbittlesey, "Befon: the Bureau of Indian Affairs, United States Department of the Interior. In 
the Maner of the Pmposed Determination for Federal Acknowledgment of the Cowlitz Indian 
Tribe. Cowlitz Response to Quinault Opposition to Proposed Determination" (CIT Response 
1998). The narrativc~ response was accompanied by documentary exhibits. 12 

-I. Quinault Comments. December 14. 1998. 13 A cover lener from Richard Reich, Reservation 
Attorney accompa.l1ic:dl Quinault's 1998 comments. It stated that, "[t]his memorandum revises 
and supplements the: memorandum in opposition dated November 16, 1997, which was filed with 
the Department on November 17,1997" (Reich to Gover. 12/12/1998). Their final comments 
consisted primarily of the following items: 

a. Revised Memor~Ddwn in Opposition, signed by Richard Reich, Attorney for Quinault Indian 
Nation, dated December 12, 1998: "Before the Bureau ofIndian Affairs, United States 
Department of the Interior. In the Maner of the Proposed Determination for Federal 
Acknowledgment of the Cowlitz Indian Tribe. Quinault Nation's Revised Memorandum in 
Opposition to ProJ)l)sed Determination" which was SIgned by Richard Reich, Attorney for 
Quinault Indian Natl.cm and dated December 12, 1998. (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998); 

b. Revised Nicklasgn.,Report: "Nicklason Research Associates Historical Report Concerning 

12See List of Sources for contents of this submission. 

I3See List of SI:lu:rces for contents of this submission. 
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Proposed Finding Cowlitz Indian Tribe December 1998" (Nicklason 1998),14 which was 
accompanied by~J,i() explanatory letters (Leutbecker to Gover 12/1211998; Leutbecker to 
Fleming 1211511998, enclosing page 178 of the report submitted December 12, 1998); 

c. Exhibits to th.L~icklason Report: Five boxes providing documentation for the citations in the 
report comprised thl~ exhibits. 15 

5. Petitioner's Second Response to Third Party Comments. The BIA received this material (CIT 
Final Submission 1999) on February 9, 1999. 16 It was supplemented by a letter from an 
anthropologist wtlo had studied the petitioner (Fitzpatrick to Fleming 2/5/1999), submitted by the 
CrTs counsel (Whittlesey to Fleming 211111999). 

D. Overview of Issues Raised by Quinault and CIT. Quinault sununarized its objections to 
the AS-IA 's propos1ed finding for Federal acknowledgment of the CIT by stating that: " ... the 
proposed Cowlit~ findings are not supported by the evidence, are based on misapplication of the 
acknowledgment regulations, and are tainted by bias" (Reich to Gover 1211211998, 1-2~ Quinault 
Revised Memorandum 1998,2; see also Quinault Memorandum 1997,34). Quinault also 
asserted that, "[t]he proposed findings improperly consider the Cowlitz petition under the 
provisions of 25 CFR 83.8. Moreover, the record does not demonstrate that the Cowlitz 
petitioner satisfies the requirements of25 CFR 83.7(a) - (c) and (e), whether or not modified by 
83.8" (Quinault R,evisedMemorandum 1998, 48~ Quinault Memorandum 1997,34). 

To reduce duplicative analysis and discussion, the technical report classified into analytical 
categories the spl~dfic issues raised by Quinault and CIT. Since Quinault's numbering of the 
issues in its 1997 and 1998 submissions was not consistent throughout, the technical report 
provides cross-refrerences. The historical reports submitted by Quinault (Nicklason 1997, 
Nicklason 1998) and supporting documentation (Quinault Ex.) sometimes contained material 
which was not spe:cifically referenced in Quinault'S formal comments. The technical report 
discusses any of the'se materials which are substantive. 

II. G1E:NERAL ISSUES: PROCEDURES AND RESEARCHER BIAS. 

The petitioner alod the interested party repeatedly raised some issues which did not so much 
address the histodca.l facts of the case as the fairness of the administrative procedures, the 

14For an executive summary of the repon's conclusions, see the introduction (NickJason 1998, [i]-iv). 

15For a sUI·ve:y of the record repositories reviewed, see the introduction (Nicklason 1998, iv-xii). 

16F or fulll:itle, see the List of Sources. 
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personal bias of individual researchers (not the arguments they made in the technical reports) and 
the veracity of assumptions made about 83.8. which reduces the burden of proof on petitioners 
proving continuous tribal existence if they show previous Federal acknowledgment. 

A. Procedural f SSlJles. 

1. CIT Assertions Concerning Quinault's Status as an Interested Parry in Ihe Proposed Finding. 
The CIT asserts that by participating as a third party in the Federal acknowledgment process, 
Quinault is trying to protect its claims to be the sole successor in interest to Cowlitz lands on 
Quinault Reservation (CIT Final Submission 1999, 1). In discussing this decades-long argument. 
CIT aims both to undennine Quinault's credibility and to question Quinault's interested party 
status which give:; them special standing during the administrative appeal process. 

a. CIT Position. CIT stated that: 

.... the Quinault opposition is unrelated to the facts of Cowlitz tribal existence, 
but rather is rooted in a desire to preserve its tenuous hold on claims to be the 
exclusive governing body of the Quinault Indian Reservation -- a federal reserve 
which was set aside for eight tribes of which Quinault was only one. Cowlitz was 
another (CIT Final Submission 1999, 1). 

It also allege that 1he: 

[Quinault tr:ibe} offered to Cowlitz tribal members some 16 months ago that the 
Quinault Tr:ibe would not oppose the Cowlitz Petition if the Cowlitz Tribe would 
cede to Quinault all of its claims and entitlements at the Quinault Indian 
reservation. That the Cowlitz rejected this modern version of a Modest Proposal 
is apparent fTom the fact that this Final Submission is even necessary (CIT Final 
Submission 1999, 2). 

b. BfA Analysis. lbis issue raised by CIT is not a valid objection to recognizing Quinault's 
interested party statwi, as the motivations of an interested party are relevant under 25 CFR Part 
83 only insofar as they establish "a legal, factual or property interest in an acknowledgment 
detennination" (2.5 CFR 83.1). If anything, CIT's statements would support the BIA' s 
detennination that the Quinault Nation is an interested party to this petition because the petitioner 
does acknowledge: "claims and entitlements at the Quinault reservation," which have been 
litigated in the past. (See definition of interested party in the acknowledgment regulations at 
83.1.). The conmwnts of Quinault are evaluated according to whether or not their statements are 
supported by evid~:nc(~ not whether or not the statements are made by individuals or entities with 
a vested interest in the: outcome. 

2. Quinault Issues Concerning FOIA (Quinault Issues 18, 17, and 13). Quinault 
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administratively appealed and then litigated its original FOIA request for all of the Cowlitz 
documents. It is now appealing the District Court's decision to protect from disclosure the 
Cowlitz rolls and :numerous documents with individuals' genealogical information 

a. Ouinault's A~~ertions Concerning Delayed and Limited FOIA Response. Quinault asserted 
that it has been prt:judiced by the BIA's failure to provide more than a fraction of the records 
which are not claimed to be exempt from disclosure (Quinault Memorandum 1997,33 (issue 18). 
The petitioner re:~lil:d (CIT Response 1998, 18-19). 

1. Quinault's Po~;ition. Quinault stated: 

... it appears that the Bureau has failed to produce more than 20,000 pages of 
nonexempt records. See accompanying letter. The failure of the Bureau to make 
availablE: to the Nation in a timely manner all of the records in its possession 
which arc: not claimed to be exempt from disclosure has significantly prejudiced 
the QuirllCLullt Nation's ability to effectively comment on the proposed findings 
(Quinault Memorandum 1997,33). 

A year later, Quinault referenced "approximately 12,000 pages of additional documents relating 
to the Cowlitz pdition obtained from the Department in connection with Quinault v. Gover" 
(Quinault Memorandum 1998, 1) and stated that: 

The revisions and supplemental materials contained herein are largely based on 
the approximately 12,000 pages of additional documents relating to the Cowlitz 
petition (,btained from the Department in connection with Quinault v. Gover, 
additional rc:search and analysis conducted by Nicklason Research Associates 
(NRA), and on an improved understanding of the proposed findings as the result 
ofa mee:til:lg on the record held November 23,1998 (Reich to Gover 12/12/1998). 

ii. CIT C<>m.mcmt, Originally, while stating that the Quinault claim that "some 20,000 pages of 
Cowlitz materiaJ have not been produced" was beyond their knowledge, CIT added that, "if there 
were 30,000 page.s of Cowlitz materials in the BAR files - as the Quinault assert - this is an 
impressive collc:l:tj()n of information about the tribe and further evidences tribal existence and the 
external acknowle:dgment of that fact" (CIT Response 1998, 18-19).17 

17 In 1999, CrT added: The lack of professionalism and discretion in the [Nicklason Research Associates] 
work product is unders,cored by examining the 12,000 pages of "new" materials which the Quinault attorney 
proclaims to have fu.rther undermined the Cowlitz case for acknowledgment. The best that can be said is that Ms. 
Killian has submitted thousands of pages previously produced by the Cowlitz Tribe, which pages bear marginal 
notations and page lIumbering affixed by the Cowlitz Petition Team; funher, much of the other "new" materials 
consists of extensiv,: rum of pages of data which surrounded relevant Cowlitz information presented by the Tribe in 
more succinct fommts :5uch as Dr. Verne Ray's Handbook of Cowlitz Indians (Cowlitz Appendices A-654-732). 
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CIT" s comment :1,,50 asserted that the 12,000 so-called new documents were already in the record 
or irrelevant: "Almost all of the 12.000 document 'treasure trove' consists of (1) copies of the 
Cowlitz materials submitted to BAR, (2) materials researched by BAR and furnished to 
~icklason Research Associates and (3) materials otherwise irrelevant to any issue discussed by 
the Quinault anom'~ys" (CIT Final Submission 1999,5-6). 

iii. BIA Analvsi~r All of the materials due to the Quinault under the FOIA, which are not 
protected by FOIA exemptions the Privacy Act, have been released, and the Quinault have been 
given an opportuniry to comment on them. The BIA agrees with Cowlitz that much of this 
material availabh! under FOIA has been provided at least two three times. Quinault's numbers of 
20,000 and 12.000 se~em to be based on early high estimates of the size of the Cowlitz file and do 
not take into consideration the duplication that occurred when the BIA reproduced the record a 
second time during the litigation. However, some documents have not been made available to 
Quinault because their release is prohibited by statutes that protect individual privacy. 
Documents are withheld under provisions of the Freedom ofInfonnation Act (FOIA) which 
allow discretionary withholding of documents the release of which would discourage the free 
exchange of ideas among decision-makers (see below). 

b. Withholding ofJ)ocurnents Protected by the Privacy Act. The Quinault state that "The ... 
Nation Has Been Prejudiced by the Bureau ofIndian Affairs' Refusal to Provide Copies of 
Membership Lists and Genealogical Information." (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998.47 
(issue 17); Quinault Memorandum 1997,33 (issue 17); Reich to Gover 11/17/1997,2-4). The 
petitioner replied (CIT Response 1998, 18). 

i. Quinault's Position. Quinault stated that, "The Bureau's refusal to make available copies of 
membership lists and genealogical infonnation has prevented the Quinault Nation from critically 
evaluating and effe~ctively commenting on the Genealogical Technical Report and related 
proposed findings'" (Quinault Memorandum 1997,33). They are requesting the release of the 
petitioner',s rolls b(~(:ause they believe that without rolls, they could not analyze the 1973 
membership changes which they believed were a central issue in the decision. Quinault Attorney 
Richard Reich qU(~:jli()ned the accuracy of the GTR's treatment of the 1973 changes in 
membership and the enforcement of the 1I16th Cowlitz blood rule in the constitution in 1974. 
He stated: "Signifil:llntly, the Quinault Nation has been prevented from conducting an 
independent evaluation of the tribal heritage of petitioner's membership and changes in 
membership that may have occurred because of the Bureau's refusal to release membership lists 
and genealogical il1iol1llation even though this infonnation is central to many of the proposed 
findings" (Quinauh Revised Memorandum 1998, 8nlO). 

11. CIT Comment. CIT noted that Quinault access to these materials was in litigation, which had 
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been "initially res'Jlved adversely to Quinault claims" (CIT Response 1998. 18). 

iii. BIA Analysis. These issues are currently in litigation on an appeal brought by Quinault. after 
materials they sou~.ht were denied to them in court (Quinault vs. Gover.) The best statement of 
the Government's most current position is found in the briefing submitted September II. 1998. 
Although the BW'eau has some discretion concerning infonnation that may be released under 
FOIA. the Privacy Act circumscribes by law release of much of the infonnation, including highly 
personal data such as ancestry, addresses, birth dates, marital statuses, adoption statuses, and 
blood degrees, that the Quinault response discusses. The Department's 1998 brief in support of 
summary judgme:nt. stated: 

. The information that the Quinault Nation seeks is of the most personal and 
intimate nature. In general, a genealogical record describes the essence of who are 
the listed i ndi.viduals: who are their parents, children, and spouses, how much of a 
certain ethnicity runs in their blood, who they have chosen to associate with, and 
what choices like divorce, marriage, re-marriage, or childbearing they have made. 
They are thc~ facts of an individual's life that show where and how he or she came 
to be. Together, these records create the road map that allows another individual 
to research the personal family history and intimate details of the private lives of 
the listed individuals. Among other things, these documents reveal marital status, 
illegitimal:Y, I~thnicity, age, incest, and child adoption (Quinault v. Gover, Federal 
Defendant!;' Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Opposition to Plaintiff's 
Motion for Summary Judgment and in Support of Federal Defendants' Cross­
Motion for Summary Judgment - 7-8, Sept. 11, 1998). 

The district court agreed that quinault had no right to obtain the documents which were withheld. 

c. Role of BIA vl~:.:a··vis Interested Parties. 

i. CIT Position. CIT asserted that Quinault questions do not displace the [Government's] role in 
detennining the n~asonable validity of the facts (CIT Final Submission 1999,40 (issue VIII». 
This assertion by the petitioner pertained to the controversy resulting from Quinault's desire to 
access the materi~~. that had been withheld in the FOIA response. Petitioner stated that "[t]he 
Quinault suggesticl[\ that it has been unlawfully hampered in its attempts to attack the Cowlitz 
Petition by not having access to federally-protected infonnation is simply without merit" (CIT 
Response 1998, 40). 

11. BIA Analysis. The government addressed this point during the FOIA litigation: 

... the role of interested parties is to submit information and arguments for the 
Department te, evaluate to reach an informed decision. On the other hand, it is 
not an interested party's right to review every scrap of information submitted by a 
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petitioner .n an effort to produce some kind of "dissenting-determination:' 
Rightly or "~longly. the Depanment is given the duty and responsibility by 
Congress to analyze and weigh the evidence presented and reach a decision. 
Interested 'J,anies do not have that duty. Hence, they do not need the same raw 
informatio1. such as membership lists or genealogies, to play their role in the 
process" (Quinault v. Gover, Federal Defendants' Memorandum of Points and 
Authoritic:s in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and in 
Support of Federal Defendants' Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment. - 18. 
Septembe:r II, 1998). 

The intent of providing the proposed finding for public comment is not so that the public can do 
all of the govemJTlt:l1t's analysis over again, but so that it has enough information before it to 
make knowledgea.ble criticisms. The Government's position during litigation was that the 
acknowledgment rl:ports and summaries, which were detailed and discuss how evidence was 
v,:eighted. allowed thc~ public to comment meaningfully on the findings and the decision. II 

d. Tapes of Anthr:f!nological Interviews. 

i. Quinault's Positkm. Quinault alleges that the BIA failed to provide copies of BIA Cultural 
Anthropologist Mark Schoepfle's interview tapes. Quinault asserted that it has been prejudiced 
by BlA' s failure to provide copies of interview tapes (Quinault Memorandum 1997, 22 (issue 
13). The petitioner replied (CIT Response 1998, 14). The Quinault complain that their 
difficulties responding adequately on the issue of researcher bias has been compounded by the 
fact that the BlA has not provided tapes of interviews in a timely manner (Quinault 
Memorandum 1997, 22). Specifically, the Quinault argue that "[o]n November 14, 1997, the 
Bureau for the firslt time provided the Quinault Nation with redacted copies of the tapes of seven 
interviews for which no transcripts were prepared." At the same time, they also complained that 
"the Bureau has not provided tapes of the other interviews, including those cited in this Affidavit 
despite a specific rl:qu1:st by the Quinault Nation for a complete set of interview tapes in July 
1997, and a Bureau response in August 1997, agreeing to do so as soon as the tapes could be 
redacted" (Quinault Affidavit of Prejudice 1997, 2-3n1). 

ii. CIT Comment. err commented that the issue was in litigation, adding that the Quinault 
argument was "spedo\:ls" (CIT Response 1998, 14). 

iii. BIA Analysis. lime has now cured this particular complaint; Quinault did receive redacted 
copies of all tapes and all transcripts in time to incorporate them into their 1998 comments. 

1'''With respect to technical reports, a gross analysis of membership is provided. The reports do not 
discuss the ancestry of speClific individuals" (Quinault v. Gover, Fed. Defendants' Memorandum of Points .... ·22. 
September II, 1998). 
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However. the Quinault have had either redacted \\Tinen transcriptions or copies of all interview 
tapes since shortly after November 13. 1997. 

Quinault received as part of the original April 2, 1996, FOIA response. redacted transcriptions of 
all but eight of thc~ interviews used by the BIA in evaluating the Cowlitz case. 

Quinault made a !;pecific request for copies of the actual tapes on July 28, 1997. On November 
13, 1997, redact~!d copies of the eight untranscribed tapes were sent to Quinault. The Quinault 
then had redacted copies of all Dr. Schoepfle' s field interviews in either transcribed wrinen form 
or on audio tape. Subsequent shipments of redacted copies of the already transcribed tapes were 
sent December 5, 1997, December 16, 1997, December 23, 1997, December 27, 1997, and finally 
February 10, 1998.. Therefore, the Quinault had redacted copies of all audio tapes made by the 
BIA anthropologist soon after February 10, 1998, when BIA made the last shipment. 

According to the:ourt stipulation, the period for additional third-party comments was extended 
to December 14, 1998, which gave Quinault more than ten months to analyze the interview 
materials in their entirety. 

3. Quinault's Adequacy of Time for Research. 

a. Ouinault's Po~iti!:m. Quinault asserted that the BIA did not grant sufficient extensions of time 
in this case, whe:n more liberal extensions had been granted in other cases (Reich to Gover 
1 111 7/1997). 

b. BIA Analysis. this concern was addressed why by court stipulation the third-party comment 
period was reope:nt!d: September 29, 1998, and closed December 14, 1998, it was followed by an 
additional 60-day period for the petitioner to respond to the third party comments, which closed 
February 12, 1999 (see section 1.A.2.a. of this report, above). The preparation of the final 
determination be~;an February 19, 1999, by stipulation of the court. 

The Quinault had th4~ standard 180 days of comment period, a three month extension, and a court 
stipulated reopenin:g of the comment period for 7S days. This is equal to more than 11 months 
during an overall 19··month period. The Quinault did not raise this concern again in their 1998 
response. 

B. Methodologi(:al Issues. Quinault asserted that the proposed finding which found that the 
Cowlitz constitutt: a distinct community is tainted by actual bias (Quinault Revised 
Memorandum 1998,33-34 (issue 12); Quinault Memorandum 1997,21-22 (issue 12); Reich to 
Gover 11117/1997, 1-2; Quinault Affidavit of Prejudice 1997). The petitioner replied (CIT 
Response 1998, 14). 

1. Quinault's Assertions Concerning Alleged Bias of BIA Anthropologist. 
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a. Quinault·s PO:iuk~. Quinault alleged that certain statements in interviews show bias in favor 
of acknowledgmt~:1t on the part of one of the BIA researchers. Quinault quoted a phrase spoken 
by Dr. Mark Schoeptle, BIA cultural anthropologist, in a field interview. Quinault rephrased his 
words: "working with the petitioner to 'strengthen the petition' ... [to make] 'a strong case 
against the v.Titten ,!vidence' which Dr. Schoepfle believed did not support the petitioner's 
claims" (Quinauli: A.ffidavit of Prejudice 1997,2). 

Quinault asserted that this alleged bias is critical because it would affect "weight given 
information from his interviews." In 1998, Quinault reiterated this position, stating that the 
proposed finding's "c:onclusions are not based on probative evidence in the record. Rather, this 
characterization of the membership change is based on the work of the Bureau's anthropologist 
which as set forth in tbe Affidavit of Prejudice is tainted by actual bias" (Quinault Revised 
~1emorandum 199~, 36). Quinault stated more extensively that: 

The analysis of modem community is based [on] petitioner's claims of significant 
social relationships between its members and significant social interaction broadly 
among the membership under 25 CFR 83.7(b)(1)(ii). SUCPF at 23. The 
conclusion that there is "weak," but sufficient social interaction to support a 
finding of ,:ommunity is based in large part on "extensive direct interviewing" of 
the petitionc~I"s members by the BIA anthropologist. SUCPF at 25; see also, 
SSUCPF at 31. In light of the personal bias expressed by the BlA anthropologist, 
Dr. Schoepfh~'s conclusions drawn from his work cannot be considered reliable 
evidence of what the findings concede is "weak" social community (Quinault 
Revised Mlemorandum 1998,33; see also Quinault Memorandum 1997, 21-22). 

b. BlA Analysis. EllA's goal is to formulate as accurate and complete an evaluation as possible. 
As quoted by Quinault, in this particular field interview, held July 25, 1995, Schoepfle's actual 
words as shown in a transcript of the tape produced by him were: 

"The whole :ol1sideration will ... will square things off against the written 
evidence. Th.at's why I have had to interview thoroughly and ask questions 
repeatedly." [14.09. I must make a strong case against the written evidence.] 
(Quinault A1fidavit of Prejudice 1997. 3). 

Quinault has extractl:d these few words and phrases to remove them from their context. 

The AnthropologiccLi T,echnical Report (ATR) and Dr. Schoepfle's interview transcripts 
demonstrate that he ,~xplained in considerable detail the purpose of the research to the petitioner 
and to the individWlls he interviewed during the field trip. The purpose of the field research was 
to use ethnographic methodology to characterize as fully as possible the modem Cowlitz 
community and politicaJ organization, primarily the mandatory criteria 25 CFR 83.7(b) and (c), 
respectively, . topics p,oorly documented in most petitions. 
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[n all cases, the init::)Imant(s) were free to answer the questions from evaluators any way he or she 
cL~r'lsidered appropriate. The researchers then phrased follow-up questions to elicit further detail 
on what the informant had already mentioned. Such follow-up questions were often in 
conversational form. Only after the interviewer determined that the informant had completed his 
or her answer (i.t~. had run out of things to say) did the interViewer ask particular questions about 
what another membe~r had mentioned. 

In the procedural::ontext, the BlA researchers do try to base the recommendations on the most 
complete set of data possible. The fact that the field worker pushes individuals for more data. 
does not mean that the answers will be viewed as evidence for or against acknowledgment. In 
other cases, the antluopologist's efforts to collect data have resulted only in collecting data which 
does not support acknowledgment, e.g, declarations by individuals that they do not know other 
members or inteI'l:Lc:t with them, that they only recently learned they had Indian ancestry, or that 
they have never v:>ted or attended an annual meeting. Actually, an example used in the Quinault 
affidavit to dOCWllC!nlt bias illustrates that the interviewer (RES) attempted to obtain more detail 
on what the individual being interviewed meant by certain colloquial terms denoting various 
aspects of social inte:raction. The italicized remarks were intended and taken as encouragement 
to describe what this person saw as the social organization of the Cowlitz from his own 
standpoint, not a rdlection of bias by the interviewer. 

RES this i~i entirely background. Would you feel more comfortable if we didn't talk about it? 

SA No, b,ec.allse of this controversy that seems to be developing in the tribe, (21,23) with 
Jerry Bow:h;ard and that crew. What their agenda is, I don't know. But they are 
anempting to develop a following where they can move in and take over the tribe, seems 
like to me, 'n1at's my perception. And it's kind of frightening to me, because the shit 
hasn't hit th,: fan yet. Wait until the government gives us eight million dollars, or 
whatever ,it is, or we're totally recognized. 

RES We 're h.~re to strengthen the petition, That's what we're here for. This is our 
golden opportunity. They don't get much better. We're all here at the same place, 
working in thE~ same area, thinking about the same things. But so, you're saying that the 
elders are d;ving off, and you're concerned thai they won't see the day things tum out 
well ... , 

Characterizing thc~ petitioner fully is crucial to accurate decision making. Interviews make it 
possible for the pc~t:itioner to provide evidence documenting their petition, and to insure that their 
position is as fully explained as possible. The fact that the burden to provide this information is 
on the petitioner. 

Because oftime li.rnitations for a petition's evaluation, ethnographic information on the modern 
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community is collt:cted primarily through interviews. These interviews tend to reflect the 
speaker' s knowll~dgl: and judgment. Such information is important to the body of evidence used 
in evaluating the oetition because it provides information that explains existing documentation 
and other inform2.tion that may be important in evaluating the petition. 

After Dr. Mark Schoepfle took a job with another Interior agency in 1998, a second cultural 
anthropologist. Holly Reckord, was assigned to work on the case, and as a part of that 
assignment, und~:)10ok ten days of fieldwork in western Washington. She held interviews with 
some of the same: Cowlitz members who had previously talked with Schoepfle. She also 
interviewed some! individuals he did not. In practice, BlA researchers rarely have the opportunity 
to revisit a researc h site. However, when new researchers have been assigned to a case in 
progress, they usually undertake new fieldwork to familiarize themselves with the case. The 
existence of a sec:oncl field session done by a different anthropologist, the evaluation afthe 
existing material for purposes of the final determination by a second anthropoogist, and the peer 
review within BAR that occurs on recommended decisions, minimize the effect of any person's 
alleged bias. 

, QUinault's Assertions Concerning Misrepresentation of Documentary Evidence. 

a. Quinault's PosiUQn. Quinault criticizes the anthropologist'S interpretation of the data, stating 
that the "A TR [Anthropology Technical Report] either glosses over or misrepresents 
documentary evidc:nce that is contrary to its thesis in a biased effort to make the strongest 
possible case for petitioner in the face of contrary evidence" (Quinault Affidavit of Prejudice 
1997,4). 

b. BlA Analvsis. A.l1 extended discussion of the separate evidentiary issues raised by Quinault 
will be addressed i:1 context in the body of this report, sections III, IV, and V. 

3. Quinault's Assertions that the 1973 CIT Membership Changes Are Treated Differently in the 
Genealogical and Amhropologica/ Technical Reports to the Proposed Finding (Quinault 
Revised Memorandum 1998, 36; Quinault 1997, 5·6; Quinault Affidavit of Prejudice 1997, 5·7). 

a. Quinault's Posili!m. Quinault argued that in discussing the 1973 exclusion from CTI/CIT 
membership eligibility of persons "enrolled in other Indian tribes and those with less than 1116 
blood guantum" (Quulault Affidavit of Prejudice 1997, 5 [emphasis added]), the A TR asserted 
"that these change:s 'affected only a small number of people.' A TR at 8" (Quinault Affidavit of 
Prejudice 1997,5).,19 The Quinault 1997 Affidavit of Prejudice states concerning the dual 

19This passage WIlS from the Summary of the Evidence for the ATR. The full paragraph reads: 

Also in 1973, the Tribal Council passed resolutions, approved by the General Council to exclude 
from the membe:rs~hip individuals who (I) were enrolled with other Indian tribes, and (2) had a 
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enrollment restri.c:tion and the blood quantum restriction: 

Citing the Genealogical Technical Report, also adopted by Assistant Secretary 
Deer. the: ATR contends that Yakima enrolled Cowlitz were a "very small 
proportion" of the Cowlitz general membership prior to 1973 and therefore the 
dual enrollment restriction simply made the membership boundaries of the 
petitioner more explicit by removing "more marginal families. ,,20 A TR at 97. 
Also citing the Genealogical Technical Report, the ATR contends that the blood 
quantum )"e!s'triction affected only a "few" individuals resulting in the elimination 
of "periph~!ral members. ,,21 ATR at 105 (Quinault Affidavit of Prejudice 1997, 5). 
[footnote!!! added] 

Quinault compa;red this to the GTR, stating that it called the removals "drarnatic"22 and involving 

blood quart1um of less than 1/16 Cowlitz Indian. Federal testimony about the fITSt decision in 
1974 showe'd that it divided the general membership, both within some family lines, and between 
family lines. While the decisions affected only a small number of people directly, interview 
infonnation fl'Clm 1989 and 1995 shows that these divisions still remain unreconciled, and have 
encouraged some extended family groups to remain active in the Tribal Council to protect their 
membersh ip status (CIT PF 1997 A TR. 8). [emphasis added] 

20The actual pSlSsage read: "The Genealogical Technical Report shows that the Yakima-enrolled Cowlitz 
were a very small PI"oportion of the Cowlitz general membership from the beginning of an official organization in 
1911 to 1973. Thw;, the! dual enrollment restriction simply made more defmitive the boundaries of the petitioner by 
removing more marginal families" (CIT PF 1997 A TR. 97). [emphasis added] 

21The actual passage read: "Again, the Genealogical Report shows that the quantum restriction affected 
few members direclly., made more explicit the boundaries of the petitioner'S group, and eliminated peripheral 
memben. In this case lhe peripberal memben were primarily those metis descendants who had married non­
Indians or non-metis tOI" several generations. However, it did affect the descendants of a few families who had been 
active politically. On.! e!xample concerns the descendants of James Sareault, .... " (CIT PF 1997 A TR. IDS). 
[emphasis added] 

22"Another aspect of the "metis" issue in analyzing the petitioner's membership through time is that until 
the constitutional churlges in 1974, many Cowlitz metis families that had continued to live in Lewis and Cowlitz 
Counties, Wasblnl:!on, remained consistently active in the Cowlitz tribal organization, even when their 
genealogical tie to the tribe came through a remote ancestress and all subsequent marriages in their family lines had 
been to non-Indians .. When the requirement for 1/16 Cowlitz blood quantum was adopted in 1974 and subsequently 
enforced in practice, the structure of Cowlitz membership changed significantly ~ discussion below). Several 
locally resident Lewi:s ~County, Washington, and Cowlitz County, Wasbington, ramily lines that had heretofore 
been active in the alflilir.; of the Cowlitz organization were no longer eligible for voting membership. The post-1974 
Cowlitz membership lisitS differ dramatically from the 1968 and prior lists not only because of the exclusion of the 
"Yakima Cowlitz" families by forbidding dual enrollment, but also because of the removal of many metis family 
lincs from voting membership (CIT PF 1997, GTR 13), [emphasis added] 
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"many families" ~ih.O had previously ·'unquestionably"Zj been active in the petitioner (Quinault 
A.ffidavit of Prejudice 1997, 5). [footnotes added] Quinault subsequently reiterated that: 

... the statement that only relatively few individuals who had been active were 
affectedi~; diirectly contradicted by the Genealogical Technical Report 
.... SigIlific:antly, where the Anthropological Technical Report offers the opinion 
that only a "few" persons who had been active in Cowlitz activities were affected, 
it cites the: Genealogical Technical Report. This is a gross mischaracterization of 
the opinions of the Bureau's genealogist who concluded that many previously 
active famili·es were removed from membership and who characterized the change 
in memb,ersh~p as "major," "significant,"24 and "dramatic" (Quinault Revised 
Memorandwn 1998, 36). [footnotes added] 

b. BIA Analvsis. The 1973174 actual situation was complex, but the GTR and ATR discussions 
of membership changes in those years made specific distinctions which may have been difficult 
for readers to understand. These distinctions were discussed at the formal meeting. The 
discussion below highlights some of the important distinctions that need to be made to fully 
understand the Im~mbership changes and clarifies the language used in the PF technical reports. 
The GTR generally ,malyzed the significance such changes had on tribal descent, asking whether 
the petitioner des,c:ended from the same group of ancestors in similar proportions before and after 
the enrollment limiUlltions had been put into effect. The A TR studied the significance the 
changes had for the: social and political community of the petitioner. Adding confusion, the 
Quinault argwnent'5 also tended to confuse what the two reports said about the effects the two 
changes -- one n:,ating to dual enrollment, the other to blood quanta -- had on two separate 
segments of the pre-1973 membership. These segments were the Yakima descendants for whom 
dual enrollment was the central issue and the metis descendants for whom the 111 6th blood 

2)"When thl~ • 1116 Cowlitz' blood quantum rule was adopted in the 1974 constitution and subsequently 
enforced. many 10(81:1), resident families who had heretofore been active in the Cowlitz Tribe of Indians 
organization no longer qualified for voting membership" (CIT PF 1997. OTR 84). [emphasis added] 

"Unquestionlbll,y. many of the persons in the • Yakima Cowlitz' group were enrolled in the Cowlitz Tribe 
of Indians during the I>c!riod 1950-1973. holding membership cards (Legal Services Office of the Colville 
Confederated Tribes til Sichlick, June 13, 1974) and panicipating actively" (CIT PF 1997. OTR 92-93). [emphasis 
added] 

24"The majolr fluctuation in the size and composition of the petitioner is the contrast between the CfTs 
pre-1973 and post-19'74 membership rolls. At the June 2, 1973. annual meeting. the CTI membership voted to 
exclude from receipt cf judgment fund awards those persons who had up to that time been CIT members. but who 
fell into the following cat,egories: (I) persons previously allotted land or receiving funds from other tribes; (2) 
persons currently enr,ollecl elsewhere (these applied primarily to the "Yakima Cowlitz"); and (3) Cowlitz 
descendants with less than 1116 blood quantum (because of provisions of Public Law 9358). These provisions were 
incorporated into the 1974 constitution, as discussed above. resulting in a significant change in the enrolled 
membership" (CIT PF 1997, OTR 39-40). [emphasis added] 
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requirement was most important. 

F or purposes of preparing both the proposed finding and the final determination, the B IA has had 
no access to the membership lists of the Yakima Cowlitz organization. However, on the basIs of 
statements by members of this organization during the 1970's, its membership is more than 
double that of the: p(:titioner. This number is considerably larger than that of the individuals 
unaccounted for in the current membership who appeared on the various claims lists prepared by 
the CTO and the: en between 1914 and 1969. The GTR pointed out that many so-called 
"Yakima Cowlit~:'" have no documentable Cowlitz ancestry (CIT PF 1997, GTR 93), and had 
never really been part of the Cowlitz. Although some had participated activiely in Cowlitz (GTR 
92-93), dropping thc:m from the so-called membership list had no impact on the genealogical 
continuity of the: Cowlitz. For example, the specific family lines affected by that requirement 
were large, comlPr:lsing numerous individuals. However, only a few persons from these family 
lines, not the entirle groups of descendants of these family lines, had been active in Cowlitz tribal 
matters. A better phraseology would have been, "a few politically active descendants of the 
affected family lines." 

Additionally, Qu:inault pulled specific words used in the GTR out of context, even though it 
quoted and cited the statements as a whole accurately (Quinault Memorandum 1997, S~ citing 
GTR 13,39-40,84). In one passage found on page 84 of the GTR, the word "significant" did not 
apply only, or eVI:n primarily, to the topic of 1973174 membership changes: rather, it occurred in 
a discussion of how descent from pre-treaty lineage configurations might impact three areas, 
specifically: 

( 1) understanding the structure of the Cowlitz tribe as it existed in 
1855 at the date being used for previous unambiguous Federal 
ac knowledgment for this proposed finding; . 
(2) clarifying the issue of"descendancy" from the Cowlitz tribe as 
it ::rlay impact the distribution of ICC judgment award funds to 
persons descended from the Cowlitz Tribe "as it was constituted in 
1863"; and 
(3) dlefming the effective meaning of the petitioner'S own 
constitutional requirement of 1/16 "Cowlitz" ancestry to qualify for 
v10ting membership (CIT PF 1997, GTR 84). 

In the context of 1973/1974, this part of the GTR was considering neither the specific 
membership char.,ges nor their impact, but attempting to define the concept that the petitioner had 
applied in order to put the changes into effect. 

i. Dual Enrollment. The full A TR statement in which the phrase "marginal families" appears is 
on page 97. It cl~~ady shows that the BIA anthropologist was, at this point, discussing the impact 
of the dual-enrollme:nt restriction on Yakima-enrolled Cowlitz families, rather than discussing 
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blood quantum issm~s. as implied by the Quinault 1997 Affidavit. It stated: "The GTR shows 
that the Yakima·c:n.rolled Cowlitz were a very small proportion of the Cowlitz general 
membership frorr. the beginning of an official organization in 1911 to 1973. Thus, the dual 
enrollment restriction simply made more definitive the boundaries ... :' (CIT PF 1997, A TR 
97). To accuratlely reflect the GTR in discussing the Yakima Cowlitz issue, the anthropologist 
should have wTItt1eJrl "a small proportion of the active membership" of the CIT, rather than a 
small proportion of the "general" membership. The A TR statement was made in the context of an 
analysis of the impact of the dual enrollment prohibition decision as causing dissension "between 
the families of c~:)tain subgroups, such as the Lower Cowlitz Iyalls and Wannassays, against 
other members" and "within some family lines" (CIT PF 1997 A TR, 97). This discussion in the 
A TR was not me,ll'lt as a statistical analysis, but focused on how the membership eligibility 
changes affected tbe overall character of the petitioner's core of active members. 

The GTR stressed lthat the Yakima Cowlitz who were separated from the petitioner membership 
after the 1973174 membership changes25 appeared to be, on the basis of evidence available, 
descended from only two major families: 

Within the limits of the material available to the BIA researcher, it appears that 
some persons whose names appeared on the 1974 Yakima Cowlitz petition 
descended from families which in the 19th and early 20th centuries were clearly 
among thi: hi:storical Cowlitz population, but which are now enrolled at Yakima 
(lyall, Cas~Lma. Satanas, Eyle, etc.) ... The majority, however, appear to belong to 
two other falluily lines: Katell descendants and Umtuchs26 descendants (CIT PF 
1997, GTR 91). [footnote added] 

The GTR then supports the ATR, in finding that although the 1973174 membership rule changes 
concerning dual e:ru'ollment directly affected only a few people (such as Emma Mespli) who had 
been active in the eTO or cn up to that date, other members who continued to be active in the 
CIT after 1973174 w~:re indirectly affected, in the sense that they had Yakima-enrolled relatives 
who were .impacti~d by the changes (for example, the Wannassay and Wilson families). Thus, the 
A TR' s findings thllt the 1973/1974 dual enrollment rule affected a group whic"h comprised only a 
small proportion of the active Cowlitz membership, while most of those excluded had been 
peripheral to the Cowlitz organization, is supported by a body of evidence provided also in the 
History Technical Report (HTR) and Genealogy Technical Report (GTR.) See the more detailed 

25"Since 19i'4, the relationship between the petitioner and the . Yakima Cowlitz' organization has been 
acrimonious. For discussion, see the Historical Technical Report and Anthropological Technical Report to this 
proposed fmding" (CIT PF 1997, GTR 93). 

260ne "large .:()ntponent of the 'Yakima Cowlitz'" ... "consists offamilies claiming descent from Chief 
Umtux of the Lewis Rivel' band, These individuals, descended through the Umtuchs and Charley families. have 
been enrolled at Yakinul for many years" (CIT PF 1997, GTR 92). 
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discussion in sections V. and VI.. below. 

ii. Blood Quantulll Requirements. The Quinault Affidavit presents the GTR's description of the 
"1973 changes in membership as ;drarnatic' and 'significant' involving 'many families' who had 
previously' unquestionably' been active in the petitioner"(Quinault Affidavit of Prej udice 1997, 
5). The Affidavit then quotes the GTR to support its position: 

\\!hen the! requirement for 1116 Cowlitz blood quantum was adopted in 1974 and 
subsequently enforced in practice, the structure of Cowlitz membership changed 
significantly (see discussion below). Several locally resident Lewis County, 
Washington, and Cowlitz County, Washington, family lines that had heretofore 
been acti .... e in the affairs of the Cowlitz organization were no longer eligible for 
voting membership. The post-1974 Cowlitz membership lists differ dramatically 
from the 1968 and prior lists not only because of the exclusion of the "Yakima 
Cowlitz" /('Imilies by forbidding dual enrollment, but also because of the removal 
of many me:tisfamily lines from voting membership (Quinault Affidavit of 
Prejudice: 1997,6; citing CIT PF 1997, GTR 14). [emphasis in Affidavit]. 

The language of the PF requires clarification. The GTR did not mean to imply that "many metis 
family lines" appJ ied to all of the descendants of any particular ancestress and that they were all 
excluded from voting membership. After 1973174, the CIT membership continued to contain 
descendants of all the major Cowlitz metis family lines. To further clarify, within the basic 
Cowlitz ancestral rn~:tis family lines (as a genealogical category), a nwnber of metis extended 
families, or subliI~~, but not entire descendancy lines, no longer met the 1/16 Cowlitz blood 
quantum requirement. Only a few of these "members" who were removed from voting eligibility 
in 1973174 had be:e~n active in tribal affairs (as a political and social category). Many names had 
appeared only oru:(: or twice on claims lists prepared in anticipation of a descendency-based 
distribution of the ICC judgment award (see below). By contrast, in the case of families that had 
been part of the tribe~ socially, several of these persons removed from voting membership in 
1973174, and their d4=scendants, still hold Cowlitz "Red Card" or non-voting membership, and 
continue to maintilln connections to the tribe socially (see also section VII). 

"Severallocally In:sident families" does not equate directly to "many families," a description used 
by the OTR in aIlot.her context,27 The Affidavit also fails to quote the sentence immediately 

27Quinault :n:rnc)Ved part of the ATR discussions out of the context in which they were written. At no point 
in discussing the imp;t(:t of the 1/16 blood quantum requirement did the BIA anthropologist write that "only 
relatively few individuals who had been active were affected ... " (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1999,36). 
Rather, the anthropol,)gist referred to "descendants ofa few families who had been active politically" (CIT PF 1997 
A TR, 105). The specitic family lines affected by that requirement (for example the Senn sub line of the Plamondon 
family and the Mora'vec subline of the Plamondon family) were large, comprising numerous individuals, the GTR 
focus. However, only a few persons from these family lines, not the entire groups of descendants of these family 
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preceding the quot,::, The GTR had been disc'. :ng the impact of the 1973174 removal from the 
"green card" membership list of some specific Lo\.', iitz metis families who. although 
genealogically sevc:ral generations removed from the Cowlitz ancestress, had because of their 
geographical location in the Cowlitz River region, retained political ties to the Cowlitz tribe: 

Another a.spc~ct of the "metis" issue in analyzing the petitioner's membership 
through tirr.,e~ is that until the constitutional changes in 1974, many Cowlitz metis 
families tllIIlt bad continued to live in Lewis and Cowlitz Counties, 
Washington, remained consistently active in the Cowlitz tribal organization, even 
when their genealogical tie to the tribe came through a remote ancestress and all 
subsequent marriages in their family lines had been to non-Indians (CIT PF 1997. 
GTR IS). 

The point the GTR was making was that unlike many of the other distantly descended metis 
families who had moved to other regions in Washington, or out of state, these specific family 
lines had not brokl::n their political ties to the Cowlitz tribe by the early 1970'S.21 Therefore, the 
blanket extension c f the 1116 blood quantum requirement to them, as well as to the truly 
peripheral Cowliu: m~:tis families, generated injured feelings among a significant proportion of 
the membership. For purposes of the preparation of the technical reports for the proposed 
finding, this phenCIIT.lenOn was particularly significant in the case of the Sareault family line and 
the consequent ina.c:c:essibility of the CTO and CTI documents kept by James E. Sareault after the 
expiration of his tC:ITnS as president and vice-president. 

iii. Summation. l11ese 1973174 membership changes did not affect the basic character of the 
petitioner or make it a totally different group. They merely defined the standards for membership 
eligibility. Most oflhe persons excluded had never been active in the CTO or CTI, but had filled 
out forms to have dld:r names included for claims purposes (see discussion in Section VI). 
While the ATR discussed the social and political implications of these changes, the GTR 

lines. had been active in C,owlitz tribal maners, the A TR focus. A bener phraseology would have been, "a few 
politically active desccmdants of the affected family lines." 

21 An example: would be Mary Senn, who was CTO secretary in the 1920's and 1930's, and whose 
grandchildren were excl\lded in 1973174 under the 1116 Cowlitz blood quantum provision. Other of the families 
whose genealogical di:slanc:e was equal had in fact distanced themselves socially. The removal of these few specific 
family lines that had rc:rnained right around Cowlitz Prairie and/or had continued to maintain social ties with the 
tribal core has continule.:i tel have repercussions for the CIT. The excluded families who had been active resented the 
blanket application of the: 1/16 blood quantum, while many other people who remained inside the membership 
eligibility boundaries ~t1scJ resented it because they knew these people well. 

In other words, these passages were talking about the exceptions to the rule. There was no indication that 
the exclusion of the large number of persons who were on the 1966/69 CIT list only for purpose of participation in 
the pending claim caus,cd internal dissension within the petitioner. although the affected individuals complained. 
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focused on the impact of the new eligibility provisions on the overall genealogical character of 
the group, and on thl~ size of the unofficial prior membership lists that it had maintained. Both 
the dual enrollmt:nt provision and the 1/16 blood quantum requirement did impact a few people 
who had been act.ve in organizational activities and who had either, or both, close social and 
kinship ties to pe'ople who remained inside the CIT. The A TR and GTR agreed that while 
numerous individuals, including a few active individuals, most notably James Sareault and 
Emma Mespli, were removed from the petitioner's membership lists after 1973, the changes had 
little effect on the overall nature and organization of the petitioner. 

-I. QUinault 's A~5'.!'e'rlions Concerning Selection of Interviewees. 

a. Quinault's Po~.i1.~)n. Quinault criticized the selection of those interviewed by the BIA 
anthropologist Dr. Schoepfle, arguing that the views of leaders (those most involved) were 
overrepresented, ilnd that those interviewed were not objective: 

Dr. Schol:pfle's work is also flawed (because t]he individuals which he selected 
for interviews are mostly, if not exclusively, "leaders" and other individuals active 
in the Cowlitz efforts to obtain recognition. No effort was made to select 
"average" Cowlitz members. Given the self-interest of Dr. Schoepfle's 
informant::; and the fact that the individuals selected for interview were 
undoubtedly aware that the Department had twice advised the Cowlitz in "obvious 
deficiency letters" that their petition materials lacked sufficient evidence of 
"commwlity,," uncorroborated statements by Dr. Schoepfle's interviewees should 
be viewed with healthy scepticism. Moreover, Dr. Schoepfle's "sample" was not 
representative of the "average" Cowlitz member, it is impossible to generalize 
regarding du: broader Cowlitz membership from the information gleaned by Dr. 
Schoepfll! from "leaders" even if it is credited at face value (Quinault Revised 
Memoraruhlln 1998, 34. )29 

b. CIT CommeI1J. CIT commented that when, "one has neither the law nor the facts, it is time to 
attack the messenger. Such an ad hominem attack is the Quinault response .... " (CIT Response 
1998, 14). 

c. BIA Analysis. 'This criticism from Quinault is based on the premise that the sample was 
unrepresentative ,uld that Cowlitz interviews are biased because the individuals are aware of the 
stakes. 

The BIA researchers have only limited time in the field. It is standard practice for them to 

29This issllt~ was not raised in the Quinault Affidavit of Prejudice 1997. 
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interview those pl:ople, whether petitioner members, officers, elders, or others, even non­
members, who an! most knowledgeable about the petitioner's activities. The BIA anthropologist 
never aimed to iIl':c:rview the "average" Cowlitz. Dr. Schoepfle collected and utilized qualitative 
data through direc:t observation in open-ended field interviews, often using knowledgeable or 
"key informants," sometimes not. This allowed him to validate information on a wide range of 
issues in a short period of time. Although the sample as such may be unrepresentative of the 
entire tribe, it do~!s not preclude its usefulness for these purposes. The use of "key informants" is 
standard anthropological methodology. 

It would be difficult for all of these individuals to fabricate a unified misrepresentation to Dr. 
Schoepfle or otht:r ,experienced field researchers and create the impression of wide-spread social 
interaction where none exists, even if they wanted to. Dr. Schoepfle and Holly Reckord after 
him, found that whHe: the petitioner'S members whom they interviewed disagreed on many issues 
central to their organization, their descriptions of activities, meetings, and undertakings of their 
group were usefu.l to understand the modern social and political organization of the petitioner. 
For example, in descl;ptions of the major arguments or the progression of events surrounding the 
BouchardIBarnen power struggle, individuals have at hand certain sets of facts, These personal 
sets overlap in part with the sets of other individuals, No single individual knew or remembered 
everything that occ:u.r:red. They only related what they saw and remember during their interviews. 
The interviews rardy contradicted one another, and they were corroborated by written materials 
such as meeting m:,nutes, correspondence and newsletters. As a whole, all of these sources 
tended to extend the description of events beyond what a single individual may remember. \\!hen 
contradictions did ill;se or the interviewer detected inconsistencies within an interview, the 
researcher asked others questions to determine as much as possible what had happened. 

5. CIT's Argumems Concerning the Qualifications o/Quinault Researchers. 

a. crT Position. The CIT presented allegations concerning inadequate qualifications of Quinault 
researchers (CIT Final Submission 1999,3-6 (issue I); CIT Response 1998,2-4), particularly in 
regard to their cOITljx.atence to testify as expert witnesses in "any competent jurisdiction" (CIT 
Final Submission 1 ~99, 2), arguing that by taking contract research which "clearly was not 
independent but rathe!' worked to satisfy the assignment outlined by the Quinault Tribe, the 
Quinaults then attempt to construct an argument of legal counsel to further justify the opposition 
articulated before 21l1Y of the research or analysis was even begun" (CIT Final Submission 1999, 
2). 

CIT indicated that one of the researchers, Mr. Mark R. Leutbecker, had "assignments" from the 
BAR (CIT Responst~ 1998, 4n2) on prior acknowledgment cases. 

b. BIA Analysis. It is the BIA's position that acknowledgment decisions are based on the 
evidence produced. Analysis and interpretations of this evidence are not accepted or rejected by 
BIA experts withou.t full evaluation. There is no requirement that petitioners hire "experts" in 
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any panicular field or in "acknowledgment" although some have. In a few cases. petitioners 
have produced proficient research for petitions or responses without utilizing paid consultants. 
(The Official Gu~;ielines to the Federal Acknowledgment Regulations 25 CFR 83, September. 
1997.) 

The BIA is not aware of any "assignments" that Mr. Mark Leutbecker has had on behalf of 
BAR. He has worke:d as a consultant on other Federal acknowledgment cases on behalf of 
petitioners or third parties. He has not consulted for the BIA on this issue. 

III. P1R£VIOUS UNAMBIGUOUS FEDERAL ACKNOWLEDGMENT. 

The majority of rJ1C~ issues below were raised by Quinault and CIT in the context of unambiguous 
previous Federal ld:.nowledgment of the Cowlitz Indians under 25 CFR Part 83. Since many of 
the arguments pre:sell1ted addressed both existence of historical facts and also the interpretation of 
those facts, the dislcussion of the facts has been grouped here, arranged in chronological order. 

Many of the issue's raised by CIT did not pertain directly to the acknowledgment criteria under 
83.7 as modified by 83.8. Rather, they focused on questions pertaining to rights of Cowlitz 
allottees on the Quinault Reservation. This report takes no position on matters pertaining to the 
use and government of the Quinault Reservation. CIT legal arguments pertaining to a later 
possible date of un.ambiguous previous Federal acknowledgment have been addressed only in so 
far as they impa<:t th.e acknowledgment criteria. 

A. Quinault's (;e'neral Challenge to 25 CFR 83.8's Modifications to 25 CFR 83.7. 

1. Quinault's Position. Quinault states: 

The Bure:au's improper application of25 CFR 83.8 to the Cowlitz petitioner is 
further evidenced by the Bureau's explanation in connection with the adoption of 
the 1994 regulations that while the burden of evidence is reduced for previously 
acknowh:d;gc:d groups under 25 CFR 83.8, "none of the changes made in ... the 
final regulati.ons will result in the a.cknowledgment of petitioners which would not 
have been admowledged under the previously effective acknowledgment 
regulatiolls.'" 59 FR 9380. The Bureau's proposed findings in favor 
acknowlc!dgment [sic] of the Cowlitz are inconsistent with this explanation 
(Quinault Rc:vised Memorandwn 1998,9; see also Quinault Memorandum 1997, 
5-6). 

Quinault supportc:d ·the above statement as follows: 
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Cnder the former regulations the petitioner would have been explicitly required to 
demonstral:e~ continuity of historic community. It would have been required to 
demonstrate: that the Cowlitz Tribal Organization, constituted [sic] a distinct 
community. Even though the petitioner prepared its petition under the fonner 
regulations. there is no evidence that Cowlitz Tribal Organization existed as a 
distinct tribal community or that identified leaders exercised the kind of political 
influence and authority required for acknowledgment. Thus the petitioner could 
not be ackII()wledged under the fonner regulations (Quinault Revised 
Memorandum 1998, 9; see also Quinault Memorandum 1997, 6). 

(O]iven the: m.anner in which the proposed findings seek to bootstrap prior federal 
acknowledgment of the petitioner on the development of a single merged tribal 
communit) that included the Lower Cowlitz proof of a historic merged 
community .is essential in this case, notwithstanding the provisions of 25 CFR 
83.8 (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 9nll; see also Quinault 
Memoranci'J:m. 1997, 6n4). 

2. BfA Analysis. Clearly, continuous existence is required even under 83.8, the previous 
acknowledgment provisions of the revised regulations. However, petitioners with previous 
recognition are entitle:d to a reduced burden of documentation under the revised regulations. The 
preamble to the regulations states: 

For petitioll.ers which were genuinely acknowledged previously as tribes, the 
revisions recognize that evidence concerning their continued existence may be 
entitled to ~;reater weight (Preamble to 25 CFR 83 2/2511994 Fed. Reg. 9282). 

Thus, the fact that leaders of a tribal entity have been continuously identified in the record 
byauthoritative SOllw:e:s is evidence which is entitled to greater weight than similar evidence for a 
petitioner without cl history of relations with the Federal government. Under the provisions of 
83.8, the named leaders must have exerted political authority. The requirement of continued 
existence under 83.7 remains under 83.8; the evidence, however, is weighed somewhat 
differently. 

In this case, by comparing various identifications of Cowlitz leaders by knowledgeable outside 
observers and assessmlg the evidence of their activities, the proposed finding concluded that the 
various leaders asSO<:illted with the Cowlitz tribe, including its component subgroups and its 
various fonnal orgaIl~z.ations. had continued to exert political authority or influence on a 
continuous basis. 1l1ese leaders had been consistently identified as Cowlitz. Lower Cowlitz, or 
Upper Cowlitz sine,: the treaty-era (1855). No chronological breaks in the transfer of authority 
from one identified set of leaders to the next occurred, and clear continuity characterized the 
major transitions SlJch as the appointment of new chiefs by the BIA in the 1870's, the 
establislunent of the: CTO in 1910-1914, and subsequent reorganizations. At the crucial juncture 
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of the establishmt::nt of the CTO. it was clear that the BIA-appointed leaders of both the Lower 
Cowlitz and Cppc:r Cowlitz bands participated in the establishment of the new organizational 
structure. 

The regulations sp'::dfically provide at 83.8 (d)(2) that for petitioners with unambiguous previous 
Federal acknowled gment, the evaluation of the evidence need discuss the requirement of under 
the provisions of 83.8 historical community (as contrasted with continuous political authority or 
influence). See tht: specific discussions in section V. below. 

B. Defining the hsue: Eligibility for Unambiguous Previous Federal Acknowledgment 
under 83.8. 

1. Quinault's Position. Specifically, Quinault puts forth several lines of reasoning, which argue 
that the petitioner do(:s not meet the requirements of 83.8, and (Quinault Revised Memorandum 
1998, 16-17 (issul: 4), 3-12 (issue 2); Quinault Memorandum 1997, 10-11 (issue 4)30), 
specifically to its earlier assertion that, "the Cowlitz petitioner does not meet the requirements of 
83.8(d) because it is neither the same group as previously acknowledged nor a portion of the 
previously acknowl1edged group" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 17; Quinault 
Memorandum 1997, II). 

2. CIT Comment. The petitioner replied (CIT Response 1998,4-6), also raising several new 
issues on this topic (CIT Final Submission 1999,6-38). 

3. BfA Analysis. ~:bt:: BIA's analysis will be presented under specific SUbtopics, below. 

C. InterpretatiolDS (lIf the 25 CFR Part 83 Regulations. 

1. Theoretical Discussion: Applicability of Prior Unambiguous Federal Acknowledgment of a 
Portion 0/ an Amalgamated Group to the Group as a Whole. 

a. Definition of Eligibility to Proceed under 83.8. 

1. Quinault's Positiml. Quinault stated: 

... 25 CFR 83.8, is only applicable to petitioners that are able to 
demonstrate that they are the "same tribal entity that was 
pre:viously acknowledged or ... a portion that has evolved from 

JOlt should be noted that Quinault's issue 4 contained two separate items from an analytical standpoint, 
which have been separated for the purposes of discussion. As this portion of Quinault's issue 4 was a subcategory 
of Quinault's issue 2, the items are here considered together. 
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that entity." See, 25 CFR 83.8(d)(l). By its terms 83.8 does not 
apply to amalgamated groups formed through the merger of 
previously acknowledged groups and groups which were not 
previously acknowledged. To qualify for treatment under 83.8 the 
petitioner must either be the previously acknowledged entity or a 
part of that entity. Petitioner is neither (Quinault Revised 
Memorandum 1998,4; see also Quinault Revised Memorandum 
1998, 17; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 2-3). [punctuation sic] 

ii. BIA Analysis. -rhe first issue concerns the PF's treatment of the Upper and Lower Cowlitz 
amalgamation. The: PF found that the Lower Cowlitz had been acknowledged during treaty 
negotiations (1855) and subsequently amalgamated with the Upper Cowlitz to form the modern 
petitioner. The Quinault argue that an amalgamation of a previously acknowledged tribe such as 
the Lower Cowlitz and another tribe which had never had a Federal relationship (which was 
Quinault's description of the Upper Cowlitz) is not "the same tribal entity" or "a portion that has 
evolved" from the: tribe that was formerly acknowledged. Therefore, Quinault reasons, the 
petitioner was not eligible to proceed under 83.8. 

The second issue concerns the PF's treatment of a social sub-grouping labeled "Cowlitz Metis." 
The Quinault error.e~ously argue that the PF treats this subgroup as a separate tribe, when the term 
merely refers to mi)l.ed blood Cowlitz, who were members of the Lower Cowlitz. This 
misinterpretation of the PF on the part of the Quinault led to numerous misinterpretations in the 
analysis they submil:ted as comment. 

Quinault's specific arguments have been mooted for purposes of the final determination by (1) 
the conclusion in this report that the Upper Cowlitz, as well as the Lower Cowlitz, had previous 
unambiguous Fedc:ml acknowledgment which extended at least to 1880 (see below) and (2) the 
confirmation of the JX,sition of the proposed finding that the Cowlitz metis did not constitute a 
separate band, but were a social subgroup of the Lower Cowlitz (see below). 

b. Reguirements f~:r Previous Unambiguous Federal Acknowledgment for Amalgamated Tribes. 

i. Quinault's Position. Quinault stated that in order for an amalgamated group to proceed under 
83.8, each of the gr')UI'S entering into the amalgamation must have prior Federal 
acknowledgment: 

... while till: rc~gulations permit recognition of groups that combined and have 
functioned as a. single autonomous political entity, each of the groups combining 
to form the amalgamated tribe, must be a historical Indian tribes [sic]. See, 25 
CFR 83.7 (Ie) (Quinault Memorandum 1997,3-4), [footnote added] 

Under this point, Quinault stated as a factual premise that at the Chehalis River Treaty 
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negotiations in 1855, the United States treated only with the Lower Cowlitz. and there was no 
evidence that the Upper Cowlitz (Tait-tin-a-pamslKlickitats) were present (Quinault Revised 
\-lemorandum 12, 1998. 3; Quinault Memorandum 1997,2). 

ii. CIT Comment. The CIT comment restated Clrs understanding of the Quinault argument 
under this topic. 

Quinault's argument is that the modem tribe is descended from a combination of 
three tribal groups - Lower Cowlitz, Upper Cowlitz and "Cowlitz metis" -
which did not come together until long after 1855, rendering the Chehalis River 
Treaty CouIlicil meaningless. The Quinault opposition then says that the actual 
tribal fomlilti()n came sometime during the 20111 Century, after which the tribal 
identification and interaction with the United States is tenuous (CIT Final 
Submission 1999,6). 

The CIT respond~:d by defending and explaining the PF. 

iii. BlA Analysis. The provision in criterion 83.7(e) cited by Quinault is unrelated to prior 
unambiguous Fedc:raJ, acknowledgment of amalgamated tribes; rather, it defines the issue of 
descent from the historical tribe. J\ Even if the Upper Cowlitz had not been found to have 
previous unambiguous Federal acknowledgment, this fact would not have signified that the 
Upper Cowlitz band was not a historical Indian tribe within the meaning of criterion 83.7(e).32 

Quinault's theoretical interpretation of the regulations, that the CIT is not eligible to proceed 
under 83.8 because: the Upper Cowlitz, one component of the Cowlitz amalgamation, was not 
previously acknowledged, has been made irrelevant by the new finding that both the Lower 
Cowlitz and the U:>pc:r Cowlitz (Taitinapam or Cowlitz Klickitats) had unambiguous Federal 
acknowledgment as late as 1880.33 

31Sy defmitioTl. the Cowlitz metis descended from the Cowlitz Indians, and thus from the historical 
Cowlitz tribe. For the issue of the association into the Lower Cowlitz tribe prior to 1855 of the descendants of 
certain non-Cowlitz '~omen (Quinault Memorandum 1997,4), see section IV. of this report. 

32Quinault &J:1~lClU'S to be adding to add to the regulations a requirement that they do not contain. A oibe 
can be "historical" without ever having been federally acknowledged. This is certainly the case with those tribes 
which came to terms with various colonial authorities before the establishment of the United States as an 
independent. autonornou!; political entity. Prior acknowledgment decisions have not include,d prior Federal 
acknowledgment as part ~:>fthe defmition of "historical" under criterion 83.7(e). Several tribes have proceeded 
successfully through thte :2S CFR Part 83 process without having been federally acknowledged in the past 
(Narragansett, Gayhc:~ldl Wampanoag, Mohegan) would have been precluded. 

J3However, Quirtault's interpretation of the regulations that argues that an amalgamated tribe would not be 
able to proceed under 83.8 if one of these historical tribes comprising the amalgamated tribe had not had a Federal 
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iv. BIA EvaluatJon of the Historical Documentation for the Period from 1855-1880. For the 
proposed finding, the BrA used the date of the 1855 Chehalis River treaty negotiations as the 
date of latest unambiguous Federal acknowledgment as a matter of convenience, stating 
specifically that 'his did not preclude a later date (CIT PF 1997, Summ. Crit. 3). In themselves. 
Quinault's docuDentary submissions concerning the 1878 and 1880 Office ofIndian Affairs 
(OIA) enumerations show that the Indian Office realized that both groups still did. as of 1878. 
exist, and that trtf!Y had headmen with whom the OIA communicated when they were required to 
research and produce status reports. This data resubmitted by Quinault (it was in the record for 
the proposed finding but not analyzed for purposes of determining a latest date of previous 
unambiguous Fe'dt:ral acknowledgment) accords with the BIA's conclusion, reached in this report 
and based on an t~xtl~nsion of the analysis done for the proposed finding, that unambiguous prior 
acknowledgment of both the Lower Cowlitz and Upper Cowlitz extended at least until 1880. 

In addition to resubrnission of the 1878 and 1880 material, the documentation submitted by 
Quinault containe'c1 some new material that was not in the record at the time of the proposed 
tinding dealing with OIA contacts with the Lower Cowlitz and Upper Cowlitz bands between 
1856 and 1880. 111e~ BIA's evaluation of the documentation for this period from the perspective 
of unambiguous previous Federal acknowledgment follows. 

v. Agents' Reports, 1856-1870. On October 10,1856, OIA Agent Sidney S. Ford Sr. submitted 
a lengthy report cl):n<:eming the previous year which indicated that on May IS, 1856, he had been 
notified that from that date, his district would include the Cowlitz Indians (Quinault Ex. 2: 1856-
36; Ford to Simm:ms 10/10/1856,9). Ford included a "Census of the Indians in the Chehalis and 
Coast District and nClW under my charge" (NARS M-5, Reel 16). The reference in Ford's report 
to the "Cowlitz Indians and Tai-tinipans," indicated that at this time, both the Lower and Upper 
Cowlitz were unclc~r the jurisdiction of the Government. 

1. Kwin .. ae-alts and Kwille-hates 
2. Loweli Chehalis 
3. U pp,eI' Chehalis 
4. Cowlitz Indians and Tai-tinipans 
(NARS M-S:, Reel 16). 

217 
216 

493 

240 - 1,166 

In subsequent letter-selated November 16, 1856, and November 26, 1856, Ford also referenced 
the Cowlitz Indialls (NARS M-5, Reel 16; Quinault Ex. 2: 1856-43). The February 13, 1857,. 
summary by Stevi:ns of activities for the prior year confirmed Ford's statement that the Cowlitz 
Indians were withi.n his jurisdiction (Quinault Ex. 3:1857-2; NARS M-234, Reel 907; Stevens to 
Manypenny 2/13/1857, 8). 

relationship should nol be viewed as a valid interpretation of the regulations, merely because the FD does not reach 
a conclusion on this argument because of the facts. 
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In a \fovember 9, 1857, letter from A.1. Cain. Special Agent, to J. W. Nesmith. Superintendent of 
Indian Affairs, Oregon and Washington Territories. from Vancouver, Washington, the agent 
described a meeting with the Cowlitz Indians on Monday. November 2. at a time set by the chief. 
Kish- Kock. the chi~:f who had been chief spokesman of the Cowlitz at the 1855 treaty 
negotiations (Cam to Nesmith 1119/1857; NARS M-5, Reel 16; also submitted as Quinault Ex. 
3: 1857-8). In 1857, the population ofHthe Cowlitz tribe or band of Indians, as near as an 
aggregate estimatt: I;:ould be made by the Chief and head men," was between 350 and 400, 
including womC:Il and children.J

• While distinguishing between the Lower Cowlitz and Upper 
Cowlitz. the ag~:ll1: nevertheless described them as a unit as he carne to recommend that they be 
paid compensation for all the claims they had submitted other than those ,for horses who had just 
happened to die dUling the course of the war: 

A small portion of this band (less than 100) are Cowlitz Indians proper, and are 
scattered along the Cowlitz. from Cowlitz landing to its mouth (30 miles) and 
subsist plincipally by Salmon fishing: the other portion are either part Clickitat or 
intennanit:c1 with that tribe, and range at the foot of the mountains near the head 
of the river and rely on game principally for their subsistence. All these Indians 
have bec:n assisted in gaining a subsistence by being employed by the whites ... 
(NARS M-5, Reel 16, Cain to Nesmith 1119/1857,6). 

In particular, Cam recommended that the Cowlitz be compensated: 

in consider~ltion of their necessities and the approach of winter and their good 
conduct during the war: they having rendered efficient aid in keeping up the 
commwllc:ation between the Sound and Colwnbia river by navigating the Cowlitz 
river wi'Ul Canoes; - and perfonned about 200 days work in the building of Fort 
Cowlitz ::'or the protection of the citizens for which they never received any 
compensation. This being done in addition to the payment for the guns would 

J4The ager,t nlJted that many had died within the last two years and predicted, "But few years will elapse 
ere the whole tribe willi be extinct" (NARS M-5, Reel 16, Cain to Nesmith 1119/1857,5). This number was, 
nonetheless. substlunially larger than Stevens' pre-war estimate, given below: 

Tribes widl whom Treaties have not been made 
LO'WIer' Chehalis 217 

Chehalis, CIJwlitz Ii Columbia River 
Uppc:rChehalis 216 
Cowlitz Ii Taitinapams 240 
Lowler Chinook 112 
Uppc:r Chenooks 330 
1< Iikiltats 400 

(Quinault Ex. 2: 1856-6, Stevens to Manypenny 515/1856; typescript from RG 279, ICC Docket 218, Box 
865, Folder #25; nnlluscript copy Quinault Ex. 2: 1856-7; NARS M-S. Reel 2). 
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ensure goed feeling :md have a happy moral effect upon many [ndians this side as 
well as th,e other side of the Cascade mountains, who are familiar with the 
circumstances connected with the loss of these guns (Cain to Nesmith 11/9/\857, 
6). 

The majority of the Quinault submissions for the 1860's through the end of the 19th century 
(Quinault Ex. 3, Quinault Ex. 4), such as the published COlA reports and the investigation which 
resulted from the c:omplaints of Congressman Orange Jacobs (NARS M-234, Reel 915), were 
already in the record at the time of the proposed finding. While a few provided some limited 
evidence of additi()na~ contacts between the Federal Government and the Lower Cowlitz and 
Upper Cowlitz Indians, these contacts were not different in nature from the data previously 
eval uated by the BIA. 3S Quinault's interpretations of these documents were found in the 
Nicklason Research Associates reports (Nicklason 1997, Nicklason 1998) and the fonnal 
cornments. 36 These interpretations are discussed below. 

One item of signiJfJcant interest (Quinault Ex. 4: 1870-1), in that it showed Atwin Stockum 
functioning in a It~ade:rship capacity before his 1878 OIA appointment, were instructions from 
Samuel Ross, Sup~~rlntendent, sent on March 10, 1870, to Benjamin S. Pardee, Chief Clerk, 
saying that he should:: 

JSSome of the Quinault submissions, such as those pertaining to a claim by Cascade Indians in Skamania 
County, Washington (Quinault Ex. 4: 1909-6 - 1909-9, 1909-14· 1909-21) did not appear pertinent to the petition. 
One possible connectIOn was that some of the persons associated with this claim, e.g. Frank Estabrook (Quinault Ex. 
4: 1909-\ 0, 2; RG75, Yakima 23414-19-311) had intennarried with Cowlitz Indians allotted on Yakima, although 
the document itself d()c~s not provide this infonnation. The Nicklason Research Associates report asserted that it 
was "of imponance that in all of the correspondence concerning this maner, no mention was made that these 
Stevenson area Cascade:; were considered to be part of a 'Cowlitz' social/political group" (Nicklason 1998, 68). 
Since in fact they were rlOit Cowlitz, had no identifiable Cowlitz ancestry, and never appeared on any Cowlitz lists, 
the maner was not of .iI.~:y lInponance at all. 

36"A late August 1860 statement from Washington Superintendent Edward Geary again grouped the 
Cowlitz and Tatinapall [sic] but listed them separately and reported a now familiar combined population figure of 
240. [1860-5, p. 5]" (NidJason 1998,33). 

Draft legislatio[l, written by Superintendent Geary, to regulate operations of the Indian Service in 
Oregon and Washington territories was discussed in a February 1861 letter to the Indian Office in 
Washington, D.C .. In a letter to Commissioner of Indian Affairs A. B. Greenwood, dated February 
27, 1861, Supc~rintendent Geary commented on his draft legislation noting that the proposed act 
placed one agent :It a new Squaxin Agency who would be in charge of the " ... Nesqually, 
Puyallup, SqllOlx.in and a Skokomish Reservations [sic1, and also the Upper Chehalis, Cowlitz and 
Tatainapanis .not treated with" ."." Section 7 of the proposed legislation also referred to the 
Cowlitz and Tilitnapams as separate entities [1861-1, p. 2, 9) (Nicklason 1998,33-34). 

The NRA report contirlUc~s a detailed discussion of the contacts between the OIA and the Cowlitz and Taitinapan 
(Upper Cowlitz) Indian:; in the 1860's (Nicklason 1998,34-38). 
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secure tb.! services of a Competent guide and go with him to the Cowlitz COWlt!)' 
and to the: Indians living at different points on the River and investigate the 
charges c f murder made by Chief Atwain against the Klick-i-tat Indian, She-an-a­
can now Confined in jail in this city. 

If ne'cessary examine witnesses in Portland. You will discharge guide at 
Monticello, and take Steamer for that City (NARS M-5, Roll 6). 

This indicates that Stockwn's 1878 appoinunent was not to be a govenunent chosen figurehead. 
but was a confinnaltion of his actual status in the tribe. 

On April 16, 1870, Ross instructed Pardee to go to the Cowlitz River and "ascertain the 
Character ofthc~ difficulty reported to exist between the Klickitat and Cowlitz Indians" (Quinault 
Ex. 1870-2; NAJ~S M-5, Reel 6). There was, however, no indication in these records that these 
difficulties were: between the Lower Cowlitz and the Upper Cowlitz. 

2. Discussion c{Quinault's Specific Points: Appropriateness o/the Proposed Finding's 
Determination that the CIT had Unambiguous Previous Federal Acknowledgment. 

a, "Extension" s~'Previous Unambiguous Federal Acknowledgment to the Cowlitz Metis. 

i. Inclusion of 111<: Cowlitz Metis under the 1855 Federal Acknowledgment of the Lower 
Cowlitz. 

a. Quinault's Pcsition. Quinault stated that, "[t]he 1855 Acknowledgment of the Lower 
Cowlitz Cannot Be Extended to the Upper Cowlitz or Metis, Nor Can It be Extended to the 
Cowlitz Petitioner '\\!bose Membership is Composed of Descendants of the Three Groups" 
(Quinault Revis(:d Memorandwn 1998,3). Quinault also stated that there is, "no evidence ... 
that either the Cowlitz Indians represented at the Treaty Council or the federal government [sic] 
viewed the metit!. as part of the Cowlitz Tribe or Band in 1855, or at any other time in the 
Nineteenth CentLlIY (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 6). 

Under this point, Quinault stated as a factual premise that at the Chehalis River Treaty 
negotiations in 1855, the United States treated only with the Lower Cowlitz. and there was no 
evidence that the: Cowlitz MetiS [defined by the Nicklason Research Associates reports as a group 
separate from th: Lower Cowlitz (Nicklason 1997,52; Nicklason 1998, ii)] were present 
(Quinault Revisc:d Memorandwn 12, 1998,3; Quinault Memorandwn 1997,2; Nicklason 1997, 
51-52). 

b. CIT Comment. In regard to the status of the metis in 1855, CIT stated: "Although the 
Cowlitz Metis ,uld their children were not wholebloods, they nonetheless were active 
participating m~:rnbers of the tribe and were never excluded by virtue of their non-Indian blood" 
(CIT Response 1998, 5). 
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c. B[A Anal~ sis. The B[A has presumed that in the above passages, Quinault was using the term 
"metis" to signif~ the "Cowlitz Yfetis:' the only group of metis37 discussed in detail in the CIT 
proposed finding. The tenn "Cowlitz metis" as used in the PF referred to the mixed blood 
members of the Lo\\"er Cowlitz Tribe and their descendants. The PF neither stated nor implied 
that the Cowlitz mletis were ever a separate tribe, entity, or band that had amalgamated wIth the 
lower Cowlitz. 

Quinault's historkal summation of the treaty negotiations, while in accord with the presentation 
in the proposed finding (CIT PF 1997, Summ. Crit. 4, 13), is incomplete. While there is no 
documentation that any metis members of the Lower Cowlitz tribe were present at the Chehalis 
River Treaty COLuteil (Nicklason 1998, 19), there is equally no documentation that the lower 
Cowlitz group present at the Chehalis River Treaty Council in 1855 did not include several of the 
older metis, although they would not have had sufficient seniority to act as spokesmen. J8 The 
evidence is silent I:onceming the presence of Cowlitz metis at the Treaty Council. 

There is no evide:nce that the Lower Cowlitz were not representing their mixed blood members. 
Indeed, earlier in the 1850's, a few years before the Treaty Council, Government agents 
apparently classifi.:d the mixed-blood children of Cowlitz women as Cowlitz Indians. As the 
Nicklason Research Associates report noted, "on February 3, 1851, Acting Sub-agent R. Shortep 
provided Oregon ~.uperintendent Anson Dart with a census of the Indians within his district. As 
to the Cowlitz, thc~ sub-agent reported they numbered about fifty including an undetermined 
number of half-breeds. [1851-1, p.2]" (Nicklason 1998, 11). This reference at least indicates the 
inclusion of metis individuals in the Cowlitz population counted by Superintendent Dart. Who 
they were and wh~:the:r they were at the Treaty Council is unknown. 

ii. Relation of the Cowlitz Metis to the Lower Cowlitz Tribe. 

a. Quinault's PosltJon. (iting BIA technical reports, Quinault argues that the Cowlitz metis 
were not part of the: Lower Cowlitz tribe in either 1855 or in subsequent years: 

... extension of the 1855 recognition of the Lower Cowlitz Tribe to the metis is 
precluded by the complete lack of evidence that either the Indians or the federal 
government (:onsidered the metis to be a part of the Lower Cowlitz Tribe 

37The word "lTIc,ti:s" is a general tenn for mixed blood (ndians who descend primarily from Indian tribes 
and French-Canadians (they may have: other ancestry too.) 

JIThe oldest C)wl.itz metis. the children of Simon Plamondon and Veronica. were born in the late 1820's 
and early 1830's. Only one: child of this marriage, Simon Plamondon Jr .• was male. He was born, according to his 
own affidavit, March 2(1, I:S30 (CIT Pet. 1987, Ex. A-S3). In 1855, he was not yet married. At the time of the 
treaty, the majority oflt,e first-generation Cowlitz metis were still children or young teenagers (see Cowlitz GTKY 
File. BAR). 
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(Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998.5). 

Quinault restated this aspect of its argument elsewhere, with elaboration (Quinault Revised 
\femorandum 1 S98, 13, 15; see also Quinault Memorandum 1997, 7-8,9), placing particular 
emphasis on data from a document created 23 years after the treaty negotiations. The historical 
report submitted by Quinault added: "Of equal importance is the fact that the 1878 census did 
not contain the name of Simon Plomondon, Jr., while his relative Atwin, was enumerated on that 
census" (Nickla:son 1997,54;39 Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,5). More generally, 
Quinault emphasized that the 1878 census contained no metis families: 

... the H:78 censuses of the Upper and Lower Cowlitz prepared by Milroy with 
the assistanc:e of the Cowlitz Chiefs do not list any metis as heads of households, 
even iliot;,gh metis individuals like Simon Plamondon, Jr. were close relatives ... 
(Quinault RI:vised Memorandum 1998,6; see also Nicklason 1997,54).40 

Quinault also characterized the statements of the BIA historian in the formal technical assistance 
meeting: 

... the BAR historian has since confirmed that there is no evidence indicating that 
govemrm:nt officials viewed the metis population as part of the Lower Cowlitz 
before 1900" See, Transcript of November 23, 1998 Meeting on the Record at 58. 
The BAR historian also acknowledged that there is no evidence which she has 
seen that Lower Cowlitz leaders exercised political influence or authority over the 
metis prior to 1900. Id. at 27 (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 6). 

b. CIT Comment. CIT responded to this argument by trying to c1a:rify the definition of metis 
Cowlitz: "the Cowlitz Tribe sees it appropriate to ela:rify the facts surrounding the Cowlitz metis 
[sic] and to com:;::t the continued attempt of the Quinault Tribe to mischaracterize the metis 

39The report is now addressing only the aspect of Quinault's arguments drawn from the 1878 censuses that 
impact the issue of previous unambiguous Federal acknowledgment. Quinault elsewhere used this data to argue a 
showing that there 'us 1110 historical community (criterion 83.7(b). While a showing of historical community is not 
necessary for petitic)I]cr.1 proceeding under 83.8, it should nevenheless be noted that the omission of Simon 
Plamondon Jr. frOD:1 the 1878 census is not adequate evidence that he did not interact with his uncle, Atwin 
Stockum, since Oth4:J' ,:vidence, both earlier and later than 1878, shows that he did, in fact associate with his uncle, a 
close relative. 

~OThe report is now addressing only the aspect of Quinault's arguments drawn from the 1878 censuses that 
impact the issue of prc:vious unambiguous Federal acknowledgment. Quinault elsewhere used this data to argue a 
showing that there was 110 historical community (criterion 83.7(b). While a showing of historical community is not 
necessary for petitiol1C:r.i proceeding under 83.8, it should nevertheless be noted that the omission of Simon 
Plamondon Jr. from the 1878 census is not adequate evidence that he did not associate with his uncle, Atwin 
Stockum, since othc:1' t:vidence, both earlier and later than 1878, shows that he did, in fact associate with his uncle. 
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status and \I,'ho tr.ose people actually were" (CIT Final Submission 1999.6-7) CIT also asserted 
that. " ... the me:tis [sic J people were Cowlitz Indians of mixed blood - not some other tribe 
seeking to join the Cowlitz to form a new tribe (CIT Final Submission 1999, 7). 

c. BIA Analysis. Quinault mischaracterized the proposed finding in this passage. The 
Department did not propose to "extend" previous unambiguous Federal acknowledgment "to the 
metis" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,6). Rather, the Department permitted the 
petitioner as a wt:.olc~ to proceed under the provisions of25 CFR 83.8 on the basis that the 
previous unambiguous Federal acknowledgment of the Lower Cowlitz was sufficient to pennit 
the petitioner as 2. whole (Lower Cowlitz and Upper Cowlitz) to be processed under 83.8. 

The proposed find:ing never described the Cowlitz metis as a separate tribe or band which merged 
with the Lower Cowlitz and Upper Cowlitz. Quinault misinterprets the proposed finding 
throughout on this point.41 Rather, the proposed finding defined the Cowlitz metis as mixed 
blood Cowlitz Indians who formed a social sub-grouping of the Lower Cowlitz Indians. as 
Quinault itself quoted in a footnote on the same page (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998. 
7n8; citing CIT PF 1997, Sumrn. Crit. 22). 

A Cowlitz womall who married a French-Canadian man in the 1840's or 1850's did not lose tribal 
membership as a c:orlsequence.42 Her children were not automatically alienated from the Cowlitz 

41Both NicicasCln Research Associates reports (Nicklason 1997, Nicklason 1998) persistently 
misinterpreted the proposed finding to the effect that the "Cowlitz metis" were in some way a separate band. "There 
is no evidence that a !;eparate 'Metis' Indian band or a 'Cowlitz-Metis' band ... ever existed at any time between 
1855·1903 .... the rc~c:Clrd fails to describe a 'Metis' Indian band, it also does not describe a . Metis' band 
consolidating with a flem·lndian group. Indeed, evidence in the record during the early years shows that non­
Indians in the area, w~.:> were not 'Bostons: viewed themselves as Canadians or French and non·Metis" (Nicklason 
1997, 52). Quinault '!; fomal comments (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, Quinault Memorandum 1997) base 
their argument on thi! misinterpretation of the proposed finding. BIA concurs that the Cowlitz metis were not a 
separate band. 

42No valid ~Lnalclgy exists between the membership customs of Indian tribes during this early period and 
later 19d1 century fedc:rallegislation which declared that American-born women lost US citizenship by marriage to 
an alien and that fore:ig:o-bom women gained US citizenship by marriage to a citizen. Such legislation was not 
retroactive. A specifi.: ac:t passed by Congress in 1888 declared that Indian women who married citizens would 
obtain citizenship by ~;lJIch a marriage (U.S. Statutes 1888). Commissioner of Indian Affairs D.M. Browning 
subsequently interprc~ted this act to mean that, because an Indian woman marrying a citizen "separates herself from 
her tribe," her childrc:n cCluld not "be deemed members of the tribe to which the mother belonged .... " (Browning 
9/14/1894, 65-66). See the general discussion (Duwamish PF, HTR 24, 41). Halbe,.t v. US. pointed out that "there 
is no incompatibilir:. :'etween tribal membership and United States citizenship" in cases where an Indian woman 
gained citizenship thl"Clllgn marriage to a citizen (Halbe,.t v. US., Quinault Ex. 7: 1931-8.8) and further stated 
specifically: 

As to marria@,es ,occurring before June 7, 1897. (as the marriages here did) between a white man 
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tribe by her maniage to a non-Indian, any more than they would have been if she married an 
Indian from another tribe -- a customary marriage pattern in the western Washington region. 
The on-going interactions among Cowlitz-descended metis and between them and both Lower 
Cowlitz and Cppe:r Cowlitz full-blood individuals throughout the second half of the 191h century 
indicated that tribal affiliation remained intact for many among the Cowlitz metis population and 
that the Lower (owlitz mothers and their metis children remained part of the treaty tribe of 
1855. 

In analyzing the: 1870 contacts between the OIA and the Cowlitz (Nicklason 1998, 38-39), the 
Quinault historic:al report described the October 18, 1870, census supplement of the non-treaty 
tribes (Quinault Ex. 1870-5), including: 

the .Cowliltz "Tribe" and the Klickitat "Tribe." Atwaine was listed as the "Chief' 
of both "'tJibes" whose combined population totaled 317 -- 90 men, 105 women, 
and 122 dlildren. [Ibid., p. 205] None of the children on this census were 
describe~c1 as mixed bloods, "metis" or "Cowlitz metis." (Nicklason 1998,39). 

The report's COl1unent was misleading in ascribing significance to the absence of certain 
descriptions for:he children on this census. None of the children on this census, whether Indian 
or metis, were c1c:scribed at all, but only enumerated. 

The proposed finding also never said or argued that the Cowlitz metis were a separate entity 
recognized' by the 1855 treaty or by any other Federal action and later merged with the Upper 
Cowlitz and Lower Cowlitz to form the CTO. The proposed finding concluded that the Lower 
Cowlitz tribe, which then and in subsequent years counted among its members certain Cowlitz 
metis, was recognized by treaty.43 

The two 1878 eUlmerations answer one specific question: did the OIA enumerate the Cowlitz 
metis as Cowlit2 Indians in 1878? Yes it did. They do not answer the broader question: were 

and an Indian 'woman, who was Indian by blood rather than adoption, - and who on June 7, 1897, 
or at the time ·of her death, was recognized by the tribe, - the children have the same right to share 
in the divlis it)n. or distribution of the property of the tribe of the mother as any other member of the 
tribe, but dlis is in virtue of the Act of June 7, 1897 (Halbert v. u.s., Quinault Ex. 7: 1931-8, 8). 

Actual tribal memll4:rship customs were not unifonn. Some tribes reckoned descent through maternal lines; others 
through paternal I i:n e:s; others bilaterally. Indians in western Washington often had an option for membership in 
several tribes and rn ight shift back and forth during their lifetimes. 

4JMany Indian tribes included mixed blood members during treaty negotiations. Others did not. There 
was no unifonn go .. emment-imposed policy. In some cases, there are government records which specifically 
indicate that metis wert: excluded (for example, the 1863 Chippewa treaty), but no such documentation exists for the 
1855 Chehalis River trl:aty negotiations. Each situation must be analyzed individually, 
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the Cowlitz meti:i considered to be Cowlitz Indians or to be part of the federally acknowledged 
Lower Cowlitz lIiltx: at that date, either by the Cowlitz full-bloods, by external observers, or by 
the Federal Govemment? Some insight can be gained by comparing the data to the 1880 Federal 
census. although it does not provide a definitive answer. since in Lewis County the Cowlitz metis 
were enumerated as white, while in Cowlitz County members of the same families were 
enwnerated as Indian.-44 (The 1870 Federal census of these counties had been somewhat more 
precise, using "1/\)(" as a designation for the Cowlitz metis.) Several of the Cowlitz metis 
families were also enumerated on the special Indian Population schedules of the 1900 Federal 
census in both Lewis County and Cowlitz County (see Cowlitz GTKY File, BAR).4s 

The BIA staff member did not state that there was "a complete lack of evidence that either the 
Indians or the federall government considered the metis to be a part of the Lower Cowlitz Tribe" 
(Quinault Revise:d Memorandum 1998,5). The question as posed by the Quinault attorney did 
not pertain either to the treaty negotiations or to views held by "the Indians." The much more 
narrow question a.I1ld reply, follow: 

MR REICH: One last question. Is there evidence that Federal officials 
viewed the: metis population before 1900 as being part of the Lower Cowlitz, one 
way or tlH! other? 

MS. DEMARCE: Not that I have seen in the record. Again, it might be 
necessary to go more deeply into the archives to answer that question (Cowlitz 
On-the-Recmd Meeting, November 23, 1998, Official Transcript, 58). (emphasis 
added1 

There is no docwTlt:nt in the record which addressed the views of Federal officials identifying the 
existence of a rnetis group as in any way distinct from, or within, the Cowlitz tribe. The response 

~Simon Plamondon Jr. and his wife, both metis, were enumerated as white (NARS T-9, 1880 U.S. Census, 
Lewis County. WashiJl!~l)n. 405r. #2431243). However, their son. Daniel A. Plamondon. was enumerated as Indian 
(NARS T-9. 1880 U.S. Census. Cowlitz County, Washington. 185. #83/86). John Baptiste Plamondon and his wife 
were enumerated as luilian (NARS T-9. 1880 U.S. Census, Cowlitz County, Washington. 189. #1661179). but 
Joseph St. Gennain's wife. nee Mary Ann Plamondon. was. like her husband. counted as white (NARS T-9. 1880 
U.S. Census, Lewis Cmmty, Washington, 391r, #2441243). Simon Gill and his wife were white (NARS T-9. I SSO 
U.S. Census, Lewis Cmmty, Washington. 406, #2451245), but their son, John GiIl, was Indian (NARS T-9. 1880 
U.S. Census. Cowlitz County, Washington, 1874. # 13111 37). David Cottonware (Cottonoire) and family were 
Indian (NARS r-9, 1880 U.S. Census, Cowlitz County, Washington, 1848, #71174), while his brother Edward 
Cottonoire, wife. and 1ldolpted daughter were white (NARS T-9, 1880 U.S. Census, Lewis County. Washington, 406, 
#247/247). 

4'ln 1900, the Cowlitz metis families enumerated on the regular population schedules were either "W" or 
"B", even when flrSt-dl~gn~e relatives were on the special Indian schedules. 

This Federal ,:en!;us material was reviewed for the proposed finding (CIT PF 1997. GTR 42-51), along 
with pertinent census data for several other Washington counties (CIT PF 1997, GTR 5 I-58). 
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must be read also in the context of the extensive discussion of the issue in the technical report to 
the proposed finding which includes evidence that the metis were included in Federal census and 
other relevant dOcLUnents along with the Lower Cowlitz. 

iii. Significance oflnclusion of Cowlitz Metis on Claims Rolls by Roblin and McChesney. 

a. Quinault's Pos:ition. Quinault stated: 

The fact that McChesney and Roblin later included Cowlitz metis descendants in 
claims rolls does not evidence federal recognition of the Cowlitz Metis as an 
Indian group ... (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,16-17, Quinault 
Memorandum 1997, 18) . 

b. CIT Comment.. CIT responded: 

The Quinault discussion on this point is confusing in that it appears to assume the 
existencle of a McChesney report of which the Cowlitz have no knowledge.46 The 
Quinault tt=~:t quotes Roblin's account of a past conversation with the then­
deceased M,cChesney about old membership lists of Cowlitz Indians. However, 
this accollnt does not reference or otherwise identify any other communication of 
McChesr,e:y which would constitute a report on the Cowlitz Tribe and. frankly, we 
know of 11() such further work (CIT Response 1998, 9). [footnote added] 

c. BIA Analysis. Quinault is apparently referring to certain lists which included Cowlitz metis 
as "claims rolls" all1d then argues that they should not be evidence of unambiguous federal 
acknowledgment. First, these lists, discussed below, are not claims rolls (in the sense of being 
tribal judgment 2:WcLrd rolls prepared by the OIA or BIA).·7 The BIA is not aware of an extant 
specific McChesney "claims roU" with Cowlitz metis descendants listed. In 1910 McChesney 
wrote a letter COIl(:erning one individual claim brought by Atwin Stockum and Simon 
Plamondon, Jr., il copy of which was included in the CIT petition (McChesney to COlA, 
4/20/1910; CIT »,=t. A-I 14).41 In 1915 or 1916, McChesney forwarded to the COlA at least one 

4~e 19 JC: McChesney letter was analyzed both in the proposed fmding (CIT PF 1997. HTR 108-109) and 
in the Niclclason RIe:SC:81rcb Associates report (Niclclason 1998. 70-71), both of which were available to CIT. 
Additionally, the C'ctwliitz included two copies of it in their petition (CIT Pet. 1987, Ex. A·114 • A·II S and CIT Pet. 
1987, Ex. A-9S 1 - A·9~)4). Quinault resubmitted this document (Quinault Ex. 1910-4). 

47The BIA hB.!. never prepued any descendancy roll in cOMection with the ICC aWard. and had not 
prepared any Cowli::2 rloll at any time before the ICC award. a fact clearly documented by frequent statements in the 
documentation submittled by Quinault. 

41The BIA an2Llysis has assumed that this 1910 letter was the otherwise unidentified "McChesney report" 
referenced by QuinmJIIt. It does not seem possible that Quinault was referencing McChesney's extensive 1906 
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of the lists prepared by Cowlitz claims representatives Peter Kalama and Frank Iyall (see 
discussion belo'.\' in Section Y.). A later lener wrinen by Roblin referred to these: 

The prese-nt representatives of this tribe are active in. the work of the Northwestern 
Federation of American Indians, and they have prepared lists of members, one of 
which was forwarded to your Office, I am informed, by the late Dr. McChesney. 
Supervisor .... ([Roblin to COlA 1/31/1919]; CIT Pet. Ex. A-959). 

For the proposed finding, the petitioner did not submit, and the BIA researcher did not locate 
these lists, which McChesney had sent to the COlA (CIT PF 1997, OTR 34_35).49 Quinault 
submitted the lists, which date to 1915-1916, and associated documents as part of its comment on 
the proposed finding. Any 1910 lists, if they exist, have not been submitted or located. The 
1915-1916 I yall Clnd Kalama lists do not constitute a "claims roll" compiled by McChesney, nor 
did the transmittal by McChesney indicate that he "included Cowlitz metis descendants in claims 
rolls" (Quinault Rt:vised Memorandum 1998, 16-17; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 18), any more 
than Roblin's list.ng of the unenrolled Indians of western Washington (Roblin 1919a) constituted 
a ;'cIaims roll" within the ordinary meaning of the tenn (see detailed discussion below under 
Section V.). 

There may be otl14:r difficulties in tile terminology used by Quinault at this point ("Federal 
recognition"), since: Ithe focus of the Quinault discussion was whether the Cowlitz metis (as a 
group which Quina.ult defined as separate from the Lower Cowlitz Indians) could be considered 
to have met separately criterion 83.7(a) as modified by criterion 83.8(d)(I) (Quinault Revised 
Memorandum 1998, 16). However, by using the terminology of "recognition" rather than that of 
identification by ,extc~maJ agencies, Quinault at least implied an intent to have its analysis 
considered in tilis context of recognition or Federal acknowledgment under 83.8, rather than 
identification unCle:r 83.7(a). The two concepts pertain to different sections of the regulations 
and should not be: confused with one another. 

Second, the propo:;cd finding did not, and the final detennination does not, conclude that the BIA 
considered tile Mt:Chesney letter (McChesney to COlA 4/20/1910), the Roblin Report (Roblin to 
COlA 1/3111919) <)r the Roblin Roll (Roblin 1919a) to constitute unambiguous previous Federal 
acknowledgment cf any portion of the petitioner. This fact is further evident since the proposed 
finding used the 1855 treaty date and did not further analyze possible later dates of prior 
unambiguous Federal acknowledgment of the Cowlitz. 

report on the Chinook, which did not include data on the Cowlitz. McChesney's 1915 transmittal of the IyalJ and/or 
Kalama lists was not ,It:(:ompanied by a report, but only a short letter (see discussion below, section V of this 
report). 

-I9This correct; the GTR. which in the absence of the documents. suggested that the list mentioned by 
Roblin in 1919 might r.avc: been compiled in connection with McChesney's investigation in 1910. 
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See a more extensive review of Quinault's interpretation of the development of the Cowlitz m~tis 
under section V.13 of this report. For a more extensive review of Quinault's allegations that the 
PF misinterpretl~d the ~1cChesney letter and Roblin report, see section V.H of this report. 

b. Allegation t[l£lt the Proposed Finding Contradicted § 83.8(d)(l ). 

1. Quinault's Position. Quinault stated: 

The De~a.rtment's proposal to extend previous federal acknowledgment to the 
metis basled on the 1855 Treaty Council between the United States and the Lower 
Cowlitz, without any evidence that the metis were considered part of the Lower 
Cowlitz in 1855, or at any other time in the Nineteenth Century, is in direct 
contradktion to the requirement of25 CFR §83(d)(1) [sic] (Quinault Revised 
Memor;andlwn 1998, 6_7).50 

ii. CIT Comment. CIT stated that: 

Although the Quinault opposition ostensibly is built on several issues, it actually 
boils down to the contention that the Cowlitz Tribe in its current fonn was fonned 
long after BAR's accepted date of last unambiguous prior federal recognition, 
with the: suggestion that the "new" tribe has no historical predecessor from which 
it can trace and no unambiguous prior recognition from which to trace (CIT 
Respon:Sle 1998, 6). 

111. BlA AnalYSts: The Quinault argument that the proposed finding contradicted the regulations 
was based on its misunderstanding of the proposed finding in cOIUlection with the relationship of 
the Lower Cowlitz to the Cowlitz metis. It is discussed in more detail below in the section on the 
metis. Howeve'r, there is evidence that the Cowlitz metis were considered part of the Lower 
Cowlitz in 1855. 

4. Acknowledgrner.rt of the Cowlitz after 1855. 

a. Federal Ackngwledgment of the Lower Cowlitz after 1855. 

i. Quinault's Pc)sition. Quinault did not deny that the Federal Government continued to 
acknowledge the: L()wer Cowlitz at least through the Milroy census of 1878 and the appointment 
of Atwin StoCklJDl ,as chief by the OIA the same year. The Nicklason Research Associates report 

50Paragrap~ 8:3.8(dXl) reads "The group meets the requirements of the criterion in 83.7 (a), except that 
such identification shall be demonstrated since the point of last Federal acknowledgment. The group must further 
have been identificcl by such sources as the same tribal entity that was previously acknowledged or as a portion that 
has evolved from thalt c:ntity." 
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submined as part ·)f the Quinault comments contained substantial documentation of Government 
contacts with the ;~ower Cowlitz through 1880, but it also asserted that at some time during the 
period from 1880 through 1910, this acknowledgment de facIO ceased (Nicklason 1998. 58-59). 

ii. CIT Comment CIT made no direct discussion of the Treaty of Olympia as it pertained to the 
Lower Cowlitz. 5 

I The CIT response on this issue asserted that until 1880 Agent Milroy was 
dealing with the Cowlitz and the Klickitat as bands and that both were under the supervision of 
the agency. The ~etitioner quoted him as saying: 

As at thetirne said Circular was received, 598 of the Indians belonging to this 
agency and under my supervision belonged to 8 different bands who had never 
resided upon reservations and were scattered over a region 130 by ISO miles in 
extent. And so at least half of the 1135 Indians belonging to the five reservations 
then under thl: supervision of this Agency, spent a large portion of their time off 
the reservatJions, working among & for the whites, fishing, hunting, gathering 
berries &c:. {Milroy 1880a, Ex. 3422-3436) (CIT Response 1998, 13). 

lll. BIA Analysis.. Federal acknowledgment of the Lower Cowlitz extended at least through the 
1878 appointment of Atwin Stockurn as chief and the 1878-1880 censuses of the Lower Cowlitz 
taken by a Federal Indian agent which included the Cowlitz metis. The vague ·statements cited by 
CIT to the effect dlllt various unnamed Indians are under the OIA's supervision are not accepted 
as evidence of prior unambiguous Federal acknowledgment of the Cowlitz. (See sections (b) and 
(c) below). 

b. Limitation of1~[!:vious Unambiguous Federal Acknowledgment to the Lower Cowlitz. 

1. Quinault's Position. Quinault further stated: 

Under 25 CFR 83.1 and 83.8, previous federal acknowledgment based on the 
aborted 185:5 Chehalis River treaty negotiations can only extend to the Lower 

51CIT elsewhere discusses the 1855 Treaty of Olympia as part of the history of allotments on the Quinault 
Reservation. but makes ni) specific allegations concerning its pertinence to the issue of previous unambiguous 
Federal acknowledgDl'=r1t for CIT (CIT Final Submission 1999.21-22 (issue IV.II.B). CIT argued that there were 
four "adjudicated prull:iples" to be considered "pursuant to the provisions of the Treaty of Olympia" which 
established the Quinault: Reservation (CIT Final Submission 1999, 16), arguing that, "the tribes listed in the 
foregOing paragrapb which were not signatory to the Treaty of Olympia are now fully affiliated with the signatory 
tribes as a maner of 1j~~. ,Ul affiliation which has been confIrmed by every federal court which has looked at the 
issue" (CIT Final Submis!iion 1999, 16-17). 

CIT's arguments on this issue did not pertain directly to the Federal acknowledgment criteria, since they 
were directed to the iswe of rights on the Quinault Reservation rather than to the issue of prior Federal 
acknowledgment oftll': Cowlitz tribe. They have therefore not been analyzed in this report and this report takes no 
position on them. 
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Cowlitz. -[lh~~ proposed findings at ~ acknowledge, "the Department cannot 
accord acknowledgment to petitioners claiming previous federal acknowledgment 
without a ~;howing that the group is the same one as recognized in the past." The 
petitioner is an alleged amalgamation of three separate populations, only one of 
which wa.<; the subject of prior federal acknowledgment is manifestly not the same 
group that was recognized in the past. Accordingly, the petitioner is not eligible 
for consi(kration under 25 CFR 83.8 (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 3-~). 

ll. CIT Comment. CIT stated: 

... even if the metis people somehow did constitute a separate tribe, their joining 
the Cowli12: -- with prior federal recognition by virtue of the 1855 treaty council, 
as weil as other subsequent events discussed later - meant only that they were 
ascending to the prior recognition of the group they were joining (CIT Final 
Submissicn 11999, 7-8). [emphasis in original] 

Ill. BIA Analysis. Ibe proposed finding did not conclude that the Lower Cowlitz Indians alone 
were the subject of prior unambiguous Federal acknowledgment. Rather, the proposed finding 
stated that the Marich 2, 1855, date of the end of the Chehalis River treaty negotiations was being 
used as a date of convenience for purposes of preparation of the proposed finding and did not 
constitute a finding that Federal acknowledgment of the Cowlitz Indians ceased as of that date 
(CIT PF 1997, S umm. Crit. 3). The proposed finding did not discuss a separate date of prior 
unambiguous Feder~u acknowledgment for the Upper Cowlitz even though the proposed finding 
evaluated the am,Jg;lll1ated entity under the prior Federal acknowledgment provisions of the 
regulations. 

Examination of th~: t~vidence undertaken for the preparation of the final detennination has 
indicated that bota the Lower Cowlitz and Upper Cowlitz were federally acknowledged as of 
1880, and confirms Ithat the metis were not a separate group (see the discussion above and the 
extensive discussion, which follows). Therefore, it is unnecessary to address the now theoretical 
argument raised by Quinault that an amalgamated group cannot proceed under § 83.8 unless each 
of its subgroups had prior Federal acknowledgment. 

c. Federal Ackng~vledgment of the UQper Cowlitz after 1855. 

I. Quinault's Position. Quinault stated: 

Under thle regulations previous acknowledgment of the Lower Cowlitz as a result 
of the 1855 Treaty Council cannot extend to the Upper Cowlitz or Cowlitz 
Klickitat who were clearly identified and viewed as a separate group from the 
Lower Cowlitz by the federal government at the time of the treaty negotiations 
(Quinault Re:vised Memorandum 1998,5). 
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ii. CIT Comment. lbe CIT argued that the reference by a Cowlitz chief. identified as Kish-kok. 
at the 1855 Chehalis River Treaty Council to the prospect that, "his people would have to 'come 
do\'.'n 'With the mountain people as far as the Satsop, '" suggested "the representation at 
Cosmopolis of Cowlitz Indians from other than the lower portion of the Cowlitz" (CIT Response 
1998.5). 

CIT also argued tblt: aIn the years 1878-80, the Bureau of Indian Affairs dealt directly with the 
Cowlitz Indian Tribe. These actions were initiated by the Commissioner of Indian Affairs with 
instructions to R. H. Milroy, Agent of the Puyallup-Consolidated Agency of Western 
Washington" (CIT Response 1998,8). 

iii. BIA Analysis: CIT's presentation concerning Chief Kisk-kok's statement overstated the 
case for Upper Cowlitz representation in 1855. \Vhile Kish-kok resided on the middle reaches of 
the Cowlitz River rather than near its mouth, there is no specific historical record which shows 
him as having exc:rc:ised any direct authority over the Upper Cowlitz (Tai tin a pans) in 1855, 
while Paul Kane's 1847 portrait of him with a flattened head indicates that he was himself Lower 
Cowlitz (Salish) ra.thc:r than Upper Cowlitz.52 Nevertheless. some relationship seems to have 
existed between the Upper Cowlitz and Kish-kok. As the Nicklason Research Associates report 
submitted by Quinaulit noted, just a year before, the Upper Cowlitz had complained to Sub-agent 
William Tappan that Kish-kok had failed to give them any aid (Nicklason 1998, 15). 

In different contexts, both Quinault (Nicklason 1998, 42; citing to Quinault Ex. 1878-2, 2) and 
CIT (CIT Respon:se 1998, 9-10) quoted Milroy's report to COlA Hayt on January 7, 1878, which 
first described the Lower Cowlitz and then separately characterized the Klickitat as "detached 
from their Tribe and settled on the Upper Cowlitz" and in a state of "deadly hostility" with the 
Lower Cowlitz. ll1is quotation was, however, part of a historical retrospective rather than a 
description of the situation at the time of the letter (Milroy to COlA 11711878), and is not as 
dependable as contemporary 1878 documentation. 

The Indian agent in 1878 indicated that the Upper Cowlitz and Lower Cowlitz were in 
comparable status,es: "The Cowlitz Indians and said band of Klickatats are non-treaty Indians in 
this region ofcowltIy .... " (Milroy to COlA 117/1878,3).53 The 1878 and 1880 censuses of the 
Upper Cowlitz band taken by a Federal Indian agent, indicated that Federal acknowledgment of 
the Upper Cowlit2: extended at least to 1880. During the same general time period, the request of 

s~Paul Kane, Canadian artist and explorer. wrote in 1847. "We landed at the Cowlitz farm, which belongs 
[0 [he Hudson's Bay Company. .. Here I remained until the Sth of April. and took the likeness of Kiscox. the chief 
of the Cowlitz Indians, a small tribe of about 200. They flatten their heads and speak a language very similar to the 
Chinooks" (Cowlitz Pet. Narr. 1987,6). See also Taylor and Hoaglin 1960, 9-\ O. 

SJ Although the: Government negotiated with the Cowlitz, an act which constitutes previous recognition. the 
Cowlitz refused to sig:n. 
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local settlers that the BIA appoint Captain Peter as chief of the Upper Cowlitz (Pumphrey to 
\-1ilroy 12/25/1877; NARS M-234 Roll 219, 103). The fact that subsequent Federal documents 
name Captain Peter as chief indicates that the Federal government may have acted on the senlers' 
request. or acted on their OV.TI, to acknowledge his leadership in the same general period. 

Since the Upper Cowlitz were also a federally acknowledged entity, Quinault's argument that the 
CIT was ineligible to proceed under 83.8 because the 1855 treaty negotiation acknowledgment of 
the Lower Cowlitz could not be extended to the Upper Cowlitz under the regulations becomes 
inapplicable. Quiinault's separate argument that the Upper Cowlitz and Lower Cowlitz cannot be 
considered as falling under the regulatory provisions for tribes that have amalgamated is 
considered below. 

The CIT comment was not directly pertinent to the issue of Federal acknowledgment of the 
Upper Cowlitz,ls it referred only to a "Cowlitz Indian Tribe," without distinguishing between 
the two bands a.t that date. 

d. Executive Order of 1873. 

i. CIT Position. CIT presents this Executive Order of 1873 as part of the history of allotments 
on the Quinault Reservation (CIT Final Submission 1999, 22-23 (issue IV.lI.C), also arguing its 
interpretation in Halbert v. United States (CIT Final Submission 1999, 26). 

When th: Quinault Indian Reservation was created by the Executive Order of 
Novemb':Jr 4, 1873, President Grant stated that he intended "to provide for other 
Indians in that locality' by withdrawing lands from the public domain 'for the use 
of the Quin;aielt, Quillehute, Quit, and other tribes of fish-eating Indians on the 
Pacific Coast." ... A total 220,000 acres was set aside for the Reservation (CIT 
Final Submission 1999, 22). 

The Cov .. litz Tribe was among the tribes specifically identified by federal officials 
as requinng special accommodation through an enlarged reservation during 
consideration of reservation expansion between 1863 and 1873 (CIT Final 
Submissicm 1999,23; citing to Halbert v. United States, supra, 283 U.S. at 757). 

ii. BIA AnalYSiH. 'This FD has concluded that the Federal acknowledgment of both the Upper 
Cowlitz and Lower Cowlitz extended at least through 1880 at which time the Ffederal 
government treatc~d the Cowlitz Tribe administratively as one entity made up of two bands. The 
Government's cu:lmowledgment of a Cowlitz tribe between 1863 and 1873 provides interim 
support for this conclusion. As raised by CIT. the meaning of the 1873 Executive Order pertains 
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to rights on the Quinault Reservation which since then have been litigated. 54 This Executive 
Order does not ne,:d to be addressed here. as the conclusion that there was Federal 
acknowledgment to 1880 is based on other information. Therefore. the Executive Order has not 
been addressed in this report as unambiguous prior Federal recognition. 

e. Federal Acknc~.vlc~dgment of an Amalgamated Cowlitz Tribe after 1855. 

i. QuinaUlt's Position. Quinault stated: "There Are No Federal Actions After 1855 Constituting 
Unambiguous Previous Federal Acknowledgment of the Amalgamated Cowlitz Petitioner" 
(Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 10). 

ii. CrT Position. Hie CIT responded that "There was Unambiguous Prior Federal Recognition of 
Cowlitz in 1878·80." (CIT Final Submission 1999,8·15 (issue III». After summarizing some of 
the documents in the historical record (CIT Final Submission 1999.9-13; see sections V.A and 
V.B of this report ::"or more detail), CIT states: "The labors of Agent Milroy in the years 1878-80 
confirm direct and unambiguous relations between the BIA and the Cowlitz Tribe" (CIT Final 
Submission 1999, 13). 

iii. BIA Analysis.. nle CIT comments do not show unambiguous prior Federal acknowledgment 
of an amalgamated Cowlitz tribe in 1878·1880, although administratively the two acknowledged 
bands were dealt , ... ith together. When both parts of the amalgamated entity have unambiguous 
prior Federal acknClw~edgment, there is no requirement under the regulations that the 
amalgamated entity as a single body also have separate unambiguous prior Federal 

54 In his lettl:r \:>f February 4. 1929. Assistant Secretary Finney. 001. noted that the District Court in 
Halbert appeared [0 ha'{I~ placed "great reliance": 

upon the Execu[i'{e Order of November 4, 1873. This authorized the enrollment and allotment of 
all fish-eating Indians on the Pacific coast from the south side ofNeah Bay Reservation to the 
mouth of the Colill11bia River. Were it not for the act of March 4, 1911. supra, there would not be 
any authority,10 exclude the Cowlitz and Chehalis who resided in the vicinity o( Shoalwater 
Bay from allOlments on the Quinaielt Reservation. However. they were clearly excluded by the 
language of tile al:t of 1911. These instructions. which the Solicitor decided should be followed, 
restricted entl'li~ICe into the Quinaielt Tribe to that by adoption only. The parents of the plaintiffs 
in the present !;uits were voted in by the tribe but tribal approval was rescinded before the 
Department t4»)1( !lction to either approve or deny them such rights under Section 463 U. S. R. S. 
(Finney to Att()rnl~y General 214/1929, 4). [emphasis added] 

BUI see, U.S. Sup. Ct. I ~31 Docket file 443-444 paraphrasing Roblin's testimony: 

[T)hat he does not concede that the Government has recognized, in allotting all those tribes on the 
Quinaielt reserv'ltiion. the tribes gathered at the Cosmopolis meeting; nor that they have been 
allotted without bt:ing adopted, with the possible exception of Cowlitz; that a great many of the 
other tribes w.: ;c: allotted before he came in there without the necessity of being adopted. 
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acknowledgment 

D. Statements in R.egard to a Post-1880 Latest Date of Unambiguous Previous Federal 
AcknowledgmelDt for the CIT. 

Both CIT and Quinault presented numerous arguments. These are summarized briefly below 
(CIT Final Submission 1999, 15-32 (issue IV)). 

In the introductio:1 to its Issue IV (CIT Final Submission 1999, 15-17), CIT stated: 

.This discl.:.ssion is prepared for the purposes of demonstrating the facts and law 
applicable to the Cowlitz Indian Tribe as they establish two essential elements 
which ar«: aggressively challenged in the Quinault tribe's final filing: (1) that 
there has bee'n unambiguous prior federal acknowledgment of the Tribe which 
must be ta.ken into account by BAR in making a final assessment of the Cowlitz 
Petition Clnd (2) that the Cowlitz Tribe qualifies for federal recognition under the 
facts and existing federal law (Quinault Final Submission 1999, 15-16). [emphasis 
in original] 

CIT argued that "'um~quivocal federal recognition of the Cowlitz Tribe has been expressed and 
manifested through federal services delivered to the Tribe as a direct product of its status as a 
tribe of the Quinau.1t Reservation with adjudicated and administratively-recognized rights at the 
reservation" (CIT Final Submission 1999, 16). 

The BIA analysis v,m be presented under the individual topics following. 

1. Evidentiary Significance o/Various Types 0/ Allotments. The following material does not all 
pertain to the issue of unambiguous previous Federal acknowledgment. Quinault conflated the 
issues of Federal acknowledgment and of continuance of tribal relations. Maintaining tribal 
relations differsfi'()m maintaining Federal acknowledgment. Tribes may exist and continue to 
maintain tribal rdaltions without being federally acknowledged.ss 

a. Allegation th,~;",the Summary under the Criteria Made Confusing Misstatements Regarding 
Indian Homeste~~; and Public Domain Allotments. 

1. Quinault's Po:sition. Quinault stated: 

The propcsed findings note that between 1880 and 1940s individual Cowlitz 

SSTo avoid duplication, all aspects of the allotment issue are analyzed together, even though this introduces 
some disjunction inw th'e organization of the technical report. 
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obtained Public Domain Allotments and Homesteads in the Cowlitz valley. 
SLTPF at 17. They then assert that the issuance of allotments on the public 
domain llnder §4 of the General Allotment Act is evidence of maintenance of 
tribal relations leaving the impression that there is evidence in support of Cowlitz 
tribal reiations based on Cowlitz Valley §4 allotments. SUCPF at 17. This 
discussion is misleading (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,25; see also 
Quinaul:t M~~morandum 1997, 17, which says "wholly misleading"). 

Quinault further slated: 

The HTR [Historical technical Report] notes that there were some §4 public 
domain alloltments to "Cowlitz Indians" within the jurisdiction of the Yakima 
Agency which are referenced in Appendix III of the Genealogical Technical 
Report. However, the petitioner submitted no evidence relative to these off­
reservation allotments. Jd, Appendix III to the GTR appears to list 8 off­
reservation allotments under the jurisdiction of the Yakima agency. Of these 8 
allotment; only 2 are listed as being to individuals identified on the allotment list 
from whic:h they are abstracted as 'Cowlitz,' one is listed as a 'Cowlitz-Klickitat,' 
one as a .. \Vishwn,' and four as 'Klickitat.' The issuance of a small nwnber of 
public domain allotments to persons identified as 'Cowlitz' west of the Cascades 
outside of the Upper and Cowlitz groups' historic territory is hardly strong 
evidence of federal recognition of a functioning Cowlitz tribal political entity, 
particularly when considered in light of the Indian homestead patents issued in the 
Cowlitz Rive:r Valley based on lack of tribal relations. The apparent reference to 
these §4 a.:.lotments in the swnmary and the suggestion that they are good 
evidence for the maintenance of tribal relations without any mention of the 
conclusions. in the HTR regarding the Cowlitz Valley Homesteads is troubling. It 
appears to retlect a pattern throughout the summary and Findings of drawing 
inferences favorable to the Cowlitz petitioner that lack evidentiary support, often 
in the facl! of contrary evidence which is either wholly ignored or glossed over" 
(Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 26-27). 

ii. BIA Analysis. Dnscussion of the above passages in this technical report for the final 
determination has been complicated by Quinault's failure to reference the precise statements in 
the decision-making document, the Summary under the Criteria, which it found "troubling." 
However, it appell:~; that Quinault is taking evidence that was mentioned under criterion 83.7(a) 
and discussing it as if the proposed finding cited it as usable evidence for another criterion, in 
this case for criterion 83.7(c). 

The Summary Unclc:r the Criteria states: 

Throughou·t the 1880's and 1890's, Chemawa Indian school and Puyallup Agency 
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land records referred to the Cowlitz Indians. as did Yakima allotment records 
between 1898 and 1914. Cushman Indian school correspondence in 1911 referred 
to the Cowlitz around Toledo. Olequa, and Randall. as members of the Cowlitz 
Tribe eligible for allotment at Quinault. and recommended that they be enrolled 
and allotted there. Also. from the 1880's through the 1940's approximately 40 
individua .. Cowlitz Indians (including Lower Cowlitz, Upper Cowlitz. and 
Cowlitz I1H!tis) obtained Indian homesteads and public domain land allotments in 
the Cowlitz River valley which were held in trust by the BIA. Under Section four 
of the Ge~nl!ral Allotment Act, public domain allotments were to have been limited 
to Indians maintaining tribal relations with a recognized tribe. (CIT PF 1997. 
Summ Crit.. 17). 

Quinault conside~ed this material out of context. In the Summary Under the Criteria, the AS-IA 
considers whether a petitioner meets each of the seven mandatory criteria. one at a time. At the 
point raised here' by Quinault as "misleading" (CIT PF 1997, Summ Crit. 17), the proposed 
finding was analyzing the evidence for criterion 83.7(a) as modified by 83.9(d)(1), external 
identification as ,Ul Indian entity. The paragraph quoted above was simply describing the kinds 
of identifications of Cowlitz Indians during a particular period, the 1880's and 1890's. It was not 
part of an evaluation of unambiguous previous Federal acknowledgment, of the maintenance of 
tribal relations, or of community, each of which was discussed elsewhere in the Summary Under 
the Criteria. Evidence acceptable for demonstrating one criterion may not be acceptable for 
demonstrating othler criteria. The discussion under criterion 83.7(a) mentioned that, "[u]nder 
Section four of tt.e: General Allotment Act, public domain allotments were to have been limited 
to Indians maintaining tribal relations with a recognized tribe" (CIT PF 1997, Summ. Crit. 17), 
but took no posit:.on as to whether such a limitation was enforced in this particular case. This 
correspondence i:l 1911 was not used to detennine a last date of unambiguous Federal 
acknowledgment because the number of such public domain allotments to the Cowlitz was too 
limited to draw such a conclusion. The issuance of these public domain allotments is 
corroborating ev idence of tribal relations. 

The BIA analysis of Quinault's allegations that the discussion in the proposed finding was 
misleading has bt:t:n additionally complicated by ambiguity as to whether the sentence: 

The iSSWJ;l·ec: of a small number of public domain allotments to persons identified 
as 'Cowli~~' west of the Cascades outside of the Upper and Cowlitz groups' 
historic territory is hardly strong evidence of federal recognition of a functioning 
Cowlitz 1Jlbll.l political entity, particularly when considered in light of the Indian 
homestead patents issued in the Cowlitz River Valley based on lack of tribal 
relations (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 26-27) 

was meant by Q1L1inault to be read as an argument concerning previous unambiguous F edera.l 
acknowledgment in the strict sense (as to whether these allotments provided evidence of Federal 
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recognition of a tribal entity· at the date they were issued) or whether Quinault's comments were 
directed at the cpestion of whether or not there was a continuing. if possibly not federally 
recognized, tribc:1 entity at the dates of their issuance (1892 - 1910 at the extreme range) (CIT PF 
1997. GTR 112. Appendix II1).56 The proposed finding did not mention this data in its 
detennination that I:he CIT was eligible to proceed under 83".8 (CIT PF 1997, Summ. Crit. 3-.. n. 
Quinault argues cha.t the issuance of Indian Homesteads is evidence that there are no tribal 
relations. See discussion in l(c) below. 

The HTR discussc~d the public domain allotments under Yakima jurisdiction (CIT PF 1997. HTR 
90-93) and noted that this material had not been submitted by the petitioner (CIT PF 1997. HTR 
93). Section 83.10(a) permits the BIA researchers to conduct research if necessary to verify and 
evaluate the petition as was done here. 

b. CIT's Assert:~l!1s Concerning the Dawes Act (General Allotment Act of 1887) as Amended. 

i. CIT Position. CIT presents their discussion on the Dawes Act as part of the history of 
allotments on th~: Quinault Reservation, including specific allegations concerning the 
significance of provisions under this Act for Federal acknowledgment of the Cowlitz Tribe 
between 1904 and 1934 {CIT Final Submission 1999, 18 .. 21 (issue IV.II.A). 

CIT states concerning the General Allotment Act of February 8, 1887, as amended by the Acts of 
February 28,189::., and June 25,1910: "Section 1 allotments are made to members of tribes and 
more than 10 perc ent of allotments at the Quinault Reservation went to Cowlitz members during 
the BlA's efforts W I;omply with the Halbert ruling" (CIT Response 1998, 12). [emphasis in 
original] This act, al;cording to CIT. says that ""the allotee must have been a member of a tribe or 
band and (2) the tribe or band must have been an existing Indian political entity with rights at the 
reservation at the ':ime of allotment" (CIT Final Submission 1999, 18). CIT cited nwnerous cases 
of this kind and also referred to prior use of the provisions of this Act in BlA evaluations. s7 CIT 
summarized by swting: "As the following discussion points out, the courts found that members 
of the Cowlitz TrU;l!~ were legally entitled to Dawes Act allotments at the Quinault Reservation 
and the issuance () f those allotments confirmed that the Cowlitz Tribe had lawful status as a 
recognized Indian tribe" (CIT Final Submission 1999, 21). 

n. BIA Analysis. TllJs determination uses 1880 as the date oflast unambiguous Federal 

S6-yne questilJrl of whether some of these allottees were here called "Klickitat" is not wholly relevant, since 
Mary LaQuash, Kiamtu:i, and Cutemas are otherwise identifiable as Cowlitz (Taitnapam) Indians (see Cowlitz 
GTKY File, BAR). 

57SpecificaU)'. CIT quotes the "written work of BAR's Senior Anthropologist Dr. George Roth in his recent 
working document entitled 'California Acknowledgment Working Paper· 9/23/96 Draft' .. (CIT Final Submission 
1999, 19). 
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recognition. As discussed above, 3(e), there is no need to determine a last, or later. date of 
Federal recognition. Since CIT's arguments under this heading pertained not to the issue of 
\\hether the CIT Ivas entitled to proceed under the provisions of 83.8 per se, but rather to a 
possible later dale: of unambiguous prior Federal acknowledgment than that utilized by the BIA 
for purposes of this decision. they have not been extensively analyzed in this report. This report 
does not take a pC1sition on the legal proposition espoused in CIT point 2 above. 

c. Indian Home5Jeads Granted to Cowlitz Indians in the Cowlitz River Valley. Quinault asserted 
that the Cowlitz "public domain allotments" are not evidence of maintenance of tribal relations 
(Quinault Revised \-1emorandum 1998,25-27 (issue 6); Quinault Memorandum 1997. 17-18 
(issue 6). The pe:titioner replied (CIT Response 1998, 8-9; CIT Final Submission 1999, 38-39). 

1. Quinault's Posltion. Quinault stated: 

The Historic.a! Technical report makes clear at pp. 89-91 that the Cowlitz 
"allotmerr:s" located in the Cowlitz River VaJley which are referenced in the 
Petition were: issued under the Indian Homestead Acts and consequently are not 
good evid·;:m:e for maintenance of tribal relations for the reason that only Indians 
who had sevc~red tribal relations were eligible for allotment under the 1875 Indian 
Homestead Act. If anything, these Cowlitz Valley Indian Homestead(s] are good 
evidence tha1: the United States understood that the Cowlitz no longer maintained 
tribal relati()Ils (Quinault Revised Memorandwn 1998,25; see also Quinault 
Memorandum 1997, 17-18). 

The Quinault Revise:d Memorandum at pages 26-27 referenced several specific examples to 
support their arg·un:u~nt. 58 

nConceming Indian homesteads, Quinault stated: 

For example:, S,illT\ Eyely, who lived near Toledo, Washington, applied for an Indian homestead 
at the Olympia Land Office under the act of March 30, 187S. In the sworn declaration that 
accompaniled hiis application Eyely stated that he was an Indian "formerly of the Cowlitz tribe" 
who had abllI1tdloned tribal relations and had pursued the "habits of civilized life." A second sworn 
declaration, signed by William Hays and Andrew Chambers of Thurston County also 
accompaniled tJlIe application stating that they knew Eyely well and that he had severed his tribal 
relations. September 26, 1891. NSE 1891-1. Similarly. on February S, 1891, in the Indian 
Homestead 1:2\S4~ of the Thomas Satanas, Robert Davis and Batise Kiona (of Randle, Washington), 
personally swol'e that they were " ... well acquainted with Thomas Satanas (Indian) and Know 
that he is of the Cowlitz Tribe that said Tribe has dissolved its Tribal Relations." Batise Kiona 
signed the !;latement with his mark. April 10, 1899. NSE 1899-1. Additional examples are 
discussed in the: NRA Report (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,26). [grammar, spacing, and 
punctuation sic] . 
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ii. CIT Commen:. CIT asserted that tribal members did not necessarily surrender tribal 
affiliation by taking land under the Indian Homestead Act (CIT Final Submission 1999.38-39 
(issue VII), which it cited as the "Appropriations Act of March 3,1875,18 Stat. 402,420 
(repealed 1976), fonnally codified at 43 U.S.C. Section 189 (1970)" (CIT Response 1998. 8n4). 

The Quinault argument is that the Indian Homestead Act required those receiving 
allotments under that law to surrender their tribal affiliation as a condition to 
secure the! land allotment. That does appear to be the statutory law, but there is a 
question as to whether the factual effect was consistent with that provision (CrT 
Final Submission 1998, 38-39). 

CIT further assertl~d that it was: 

... clear that some Cowlitz Indians did receive such allotments ... Exhibit 2 
identifies C'. number of Cowlitz full-bloods who secured their allotments, but 
certainly ,:ont:inued their tribal affiliations and relationships .... signing a paper 
handed to them by federal agents did not cause them to leave their tribe. All they 
knew is that the paper secured for them the return of some of their lands which 
had been Hlken only a few vears earlier. The Federal promise the .cowlitz 
understood was that some land would be returned, and signing the paper (perhaps 
with nothing more than an 'X') wrinen in English had little meaning to the 
Cowlitz Indi.ans barely removed (if at all) from their aboriginal existence (CIT 
Final Submission 1999, 39). [emphasis in original] 

Further, CIT stated.: 

... Moreover, the execution of the documents by tribal members did not effect a 
dissolution of the tribe itself, even if those members had abandoned their tribal 
reiationshi!=s (which, of course, they did not). A dissolution of tribal ties by some 
Indians dOles not cause a dissolution of the tribe itself, and the Quinault suggestion 
to the contJrary is simply devoid of historical fact or reasoned historical analysis 
(CIT Final Submission 1999,39). [emphasis in original] 

Ill. BIA Analysis. CIr submitted a list of the Indian homesteads in its petition (CIT Pet. Narr. 
1987,33; for map see CIT Pet. Narr. 1987, 181). The HTR analyzed their significance, including 
the issue of abandclIlJlllcnt of tribal relations under the 1875 and 1884 acts (CIT PF 1997, HTR 
89-91 ~ see also crr Response 1998, Land Records). 

The Quinault analysis did not address the context in which these particular Indian homesteads were issued. Similar 
declarations exist for ennll.\ed Nisqually (e.g. William Peterwow), Chehalis, and other Indians from currently 
federally acknowledged tribes which state that the applicants had severed aibal relations, although they 
subsequently continued tl) be carried on BIA reservation census rolls. 
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The Quinault argument that the signing of the necessary papers for obtaining an Indian 
homestead necessarily meant that an individual had renounced tribal relations has to be evaluated 
in context. The Si gning may have signified simply an intent of the particular individual to obtain 
land, while stiJl fe'tainin n the option of enrolling with a federally acknowledged tribe, as in 
Quinault's discus:;ion or Lyall Wahawa's move to Yakima (Nicklason 1998,53-54). As cited 
above, Sam Eyle .5igned such papers, but he also moved to the Yakima reservation and obtained 
an allotment there; his oldest son served as head of the Yakima tribe in the 1920's. 

Such \\!Tinen relinquishments do not have the effect of tenninating the existence of the tribal 
entity which the individual member purported to leave. A question remains as to whether the 
promised relinquishment is actually carried out. In many of the Cowlitz cases, the individuals 
continued to maintain tribal relations. Others did not. Vv'hile the relinquishments by individual 
members did not "effect a dissolution of the tribe itself," it is clear that some of the Cowlitz, 
particularly thost! who removed to Yakima and enrolled there, did indeed "abandon" their tribal 
relationship with the Cowlitz.59 However, many people, including those with allotments and 
those without them, remained connected, and their descendants currently belong to the Cowlitz 
petitioner. 

d. Allotments to S~owlitz Indians Made Directlv on the Yakima Reservation. 

i. Quinault's Position. Quinault addressed this issue under its issue 10 (Quinault Revised 
\1emorandum 1998, 31), which related to Halbert v. United States. 

Similarly, l.l!otments of "Cowlitz" on the Yakama Reservation do not constitute 
good evidence that a Cowlitz tribal political entity existed. See, HTR at 96-99. 
As set ford1 in the Historical Technical Report, allotments at Yakama were based 
on claims of either membership or descent from one of the 14 original tribes for 
whom the Y·akama Reservation was established under the Treaty with the 
Yakamas, 23 Stat. 951.60 (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 3l.) [footnote in 

S9For instanl:l~ a letter from the Acting COlA to the Secretary of the Interior re: Ayell Wa-ha-wa patent 
application. Re: HOlTlcstead entry 3641, May 4, 1880; Final ccnificate No. 2172 issued September 20, 1890, under 
Act of March 5, IS7!i; patent issued November 20, 1890, under the Act of January 18, 1881, containing a 20-year 
trust clause: 

[t appears from the petition that the Indian is fully competent to care for his own affairs; that he 
has adopted t~= habits and customs of white men, and as the members of his family are all allotted 
on the Yakima Indian Reservation, he wants to remove thereto as the climate there is more 
suitable to hi!: health (Quinault Ex. 4: 1907·3; RG 48,5-1, Cushman Patents). 

~ 6O"ln the abscnce: of contrary evidence it is reasonable to infer that the Yakama Public Domain Allotments 
issued to "Cowlitz Indian!i" were also issued based on claims of membership or descent from one of the Yakama 
groups with which th~: Cowlitz had historically intermarried" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998. 3InI9). 
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original) 

ii. BIA. .A.nalysis., The proposed finding mentioned the Yakima reservation allotments only 
under criterion 83.7(a). stating that. "[t]hroughout the 1880's and 1890's, Chemawa Indian school 
and Puyallup Ag(~ncy land records referred to the Cowlitz Indians, as did Yakima allotment 
records between :1898 and 1914" (CIT PF 1997. Sumrn. Crit. 16). It did not evaluate allotments 
on Yakima as e\idc~nce for either prior unambiguous Federal acknowledgment of the Cowlitz or 
under criteria 83.7(b) or (c), but merely as one form of existing external identification under 
criterion 83. 7( a) Quinault did not challenge the use of this evidence in the context of criterion 
83.7(a). However, allotments at Yakima and on the public domain were to go to tribal members 
and thus is corroborating evidence under criteria 83. 7(b) or (c) that allottees were maintaining 
tribal relations v.iIh an identified tribe. 

Quinault also misstated the cited passage from the HTR pertaining to Yakima,61 which read: 

In 1950, writing to the COlA, Darrell Fleming of the Yakima Indian Agency 
provided a succinct summary of the allotment procedure on the Yakima 
Reservation: 

Those allottees who received allotments before the year 1910 
wm"e for the most part descendants of the 14 Original Tribes,62 
but those who received allotments after 1910 and their descendants 
prc:sented a real problem to the enrollment comminee in 
d<:':e~nnining their degree of blood and the tribes and bands from 
wr.ich they were descended (CIT PF 1997, HTR 97-98). [footnote 
in ·)riginal} [emphasis added] 

Quinault omitted discussion of the remainder of Fleming's summary, which noted that after 
1910, in order to prevent the reservation from being thrown open to white senlement, the Yakima 
enrollment committee: 

... sent delt:gates to the neighboring tribes, especially on the west side of the 
Cascade MCluntains, who invited their relatives and friends to come upon the 
Yakima Rc:selrvation to obtain allotments. Indians from other tribes who had no 

611n general, ,:)(cept for the discussion of the 1973-1914 membership changes, the CIT petition provided 
only minimal infonnntic)n concerning historical Cowlitz interrelationships with Yakima. For the proposed fmding, 
BIA researchers obtaiIlcd enough data to pennit evaluation under the criteria. 

62The major exception consisted of the Cascade Indians from along the Columbia River, who in 1892 were 
classed as part of the Yakima Tribes and given allotments on the basis of a claims action (Fleming to COlA 
2/28/1950,2). 
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established :reservation and who could not obtain allotments on their own 
reservation because there was no longer any land remaining to be allotted. came 
upon the: Yakima Reservation and made application for allotments .... (Fleming 
(0 COlA 2/28/1950,2: quoted more extensively at CIT PF 1997, HTR 98). 

The ~icklason Res~:arch Associates report section on which the formal Quinault comment was 
apparently based did not discuss these Yakima Reservation allotments from the perspective of 
unambiguous pre·vious Federal acknowledgment as argued by Quinault, but presented arguments 
pertaining to the: issues of historical community and a continuously existing tribal entity. NRA 
understood that allotments went to tribal members and stated that the Cowlitz allotted on Yakima 
\\iere showing that, "[t]hese Cascade-Cowlitz descendants therefore identified with the Cascade 
Tribe, and not with a 'Cowlitz Tribe'" (Nicklason 1998,69) and also that this applied to those 
"Indians ofmixc~d Cascade-Cowlitz descent who previously had lived in the Cowlitz Valley 
region" (NicklasoJ1 1998,69). As can be clearly seen from Fleming's swnmary to the COlA, this 
position that the Cowlitz allotted on Yakima were actually Cascades was not necessarily the case. 
During the same: time period, as evidenced by the partial series of Yakima enrollment committee 
actions from 191:) through 1912 (Quinault Ex. 5: 1910-67, November 9, 1910; Quinault Ex. 
5: 1911-5, May 16., Il911; Quinault Ex. 1911-31, November 28, 1911; Quinault Ex. 5: 1912-45, 
November 19, 1 S 12) and Yakima allotment affidavits (Quinault Ex. 5: 1911-3B, 1911-6, 1911-
11. 1911-26; 1912-20. 1912-30,2012-32, 1912-39), submitted by Quinault, unallotted members 
of other federally recognized tribes in western Washington applied for Yakima allotments and, if 
their application were accepted, they would relinquishe their prior enrollment and would transfer 
to Yakima. These r,elinquishments did not signify a cessation of tribal relations for the Chehalis, 
the Nisqually, thi€: P'uyallup, or the other tribes of origin of these Yakima allotment applicants. 
Nor did they signify cessation of tribal relations for the Cowlitz. Written relinquishments do not 
have the effect of t:enninating the existence of the tribal entity which the individual member 
purported to lea'l': as implied by Quinault. 

The HTR provide:c1 a list of some Cowlitz and Yakima Cowlitz families known to have been 
allotted on Yakimll I[ CIT PF 1997, HTR 99). The list of names in the NRA report varied 
somewhat (Nickhson 1998,68), and included some, such as Jack (or Jake) Knighten, who were 
not Cowlitz. That re~port stated that, "[w]hile getting land may have been one motivation, of 
significance is the: f,let that all of these individuals, intimately acquainted With the Cowlitz 
region, and who should have been aware of a 'Cowlitz Tribe,' identified themselves with the 
Cascade Tribe at Yakima" (Nicldason 1998,69). The BIA compared the Nicldason Research 
Associates' report Vtith the names of the applicants in the Yakima documents and was unable to 
identify any actu~J Cascade ancestry for a number of these Cowlitz Valley area applicants who 
claimed it in their affidavits in 1910, 1911, and 1912 (Harry Phillip, James Suterlick, Charles 
LeClaire, Thom~l!i S;atanas, George Cheholtz, Lizzie (Rabbie) Cheholtz, Edward Lozier, Susan 
Whitefoot, etc. (:;,=,= Cowlitz GTKY File, BAR). The question of whether these individuals mis­
stated their anceslry on the applications in order to obtain allotments is not immediately relevant 
to the questions to be answered by this technical report. It implies, however, that they were 
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making statements which they believed would result in successful applications for Yakima 
allotments rather ':han providing any basis for an analysis of historical community or tribal 
relations of the C01,lilitz. 

Applications for :illotment at Yakima from 1910-1912 were from Indians of both reservation and 
non-reservation trbes. They provide no direct evidence concerning the issue of previous 
unambiguous Fedl!ral acknowledgment of the Cowlitz. However, the provisions of allotments on 
Yakima to Cowlit~ is supporting evidence for purposes of the evaluation under criteria 83J(b) or 
( c). 

e, 191 1 Allotment Act. CIT presented a legal retrospective on the topic of pre-Halben 
allotments on the Quinault Reservation. Although in theory presented as part of its discussion of 
previous unambiguous Federal acknowledgment of the Cowlitz tribe. many of the arguments 
pertained more dilrl!(:tly to the topic of land rights on the Quinault Reservation which are not 
addressed in this technical report. 

i. CIT Position, ''The 1911 Allotment Act Constituted Congressional Recognition of the 
Cowlitz" (CIT FimLI Submission 1999,37-38 (issue VI); CIT Response 1998, 12). CIT 
discussion of this ll!isue under its issue IV.II.D is also incorporated here (CIT Final Submission 
1999, 23-24). 

CIT says that allotmt:nts were being made on Quinault by 1907 pursuant to the provisions of the 
General Allotment Act and that the "tribes which were affiliated on the Reservation by the 
Executive Order" v· .. e'f(~ having "difficulty in obtaining allotments" (CIT Final Submission 1999, 
23). It quoted the ,A.llotment Act of March 4, 1911, as directing "the Secretary of the Interior to 
make Dawes Act allotments on Quinault Reservation -- 'to all members of the Hoh, Quileute, 
Ozette or other tribes of Indians in Washington who are affiliated with the Quinaielt and Quileute 
tribes in the treaty .... ", (CIT Final Submission 1999,23). 

CIT interpreted the 19111 Allotment Act at some length (CIT Final Submission 1999,24), stating 
elsewhere (and retr()s~:ctively) that "the Cowlitz Tribe was specifically found by the Supreme 
Coun in the Halbert litigation to have been one of the tribes specifically legislated by the 1911 
Allotment Act as entitled to Dawes Act allotments at Quinault Reservation" (CIT Final 
Submission 1999,37). 

CIT asserts that .. the BIA itself affinnatively opposed a further allotment act in 1913 naming the 
Cowlitz Tribe as entitled to those allotments with the formal assertion that the tribe was already 
covered by the 1911 Ac:t and no further legislation was necessary" (CIT Final Submission 1999, 
37; followed by a long direct quotation from Halbert v. United States cited as 238 U.S. at 759-
60). 

CIT summarizes its argument on this topic as follows: 
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It is beyond question that in 1911 the Cowlitz Tribe was unambiguously 
recognized by Congress - a recognition formally confirmed by the Department 
of the Interior in 1913. Given the adjudication in 1931 by the Supreme Court 
confirming the 1913 formal policy articulated for Congress by the Department of 
the Interic r through the BIA. it is clear that the 1911 Allotment Act recognized the 
Cowlitz Tnbe and affirmatively legislated the right of its membership to receive 
allotments under the Dawes Act (CIT Final Submission 1999, 38). 

ii. BIA Analysis. The Halbert case and this act do not establish unambiguous Federal 
acknowledgment. The situation is not as clear as asserted by CIT. which did not submit any of 
the underlying documentation that resulted in the passage of the 1911 Act. CIT bases most of its 
assertions on lat€:r legal interpretations of the meaning of the 1911 provisions. However. the 
presence of many of the Cowlitz who were alive in 1911 on the 1919 Roblin Roll suggests that 
the Cowlitz Indiam were not then Federally recognized as a tribe, although some individual 
Cowlitz may havt: taLken allotments on other reservations as allowed. 

From the historic:al perspective, the issue being discussed in 1913 was the question of whether 
the Cowlitz tribe ... ras one of the unnamed "tribes ofIndians ... affiliated with the Quinault and 
Quileute tribes in the: [1855] treaty" and thus its members had a right to allotments on Quinault 
under the 1911 At:t·· not whether there was a federally acknowledged Cowlitz tribe in existence 
in 1911 that held tribal rights on Quinault. This date, thus, has not been used for purposes of 
prior Federal recognition under § 83.8. There is no indication in the limited evidence in the 
record for this ca.!:e that the discussion from 1911 through 1913 ever addressed the nature of the 
then-current Cowlit2: tribal entity, but rather merely pointed out that the Cowlitz had not been 
named in the treaty: 

In view of the fact that the Clallams and Cowlitz bands apparently were not 
affiliated with the Quinaielt and Quileute IndianS in the treaty referred to, and 
seem not to be entitled to allotments on the Quinaielt Reservation except as 
individual Indians may be enrolled thereon, . .. (Second Assistant COlA Haucke 
to Cushman Superintendent H.H. Johnson 1/4/1912, indicating that while the 
Cowlitz had jnever affiliated with Quinault, they could still be allotted there as 
individual:s;; Quinault Ex. 5:1912-2, [2-3]). 

The Act elf March 4, 1911 (35 Stat. L., 1345), authorizes allotments on the 
Quinaielt Reservation to all members of the Hoh, Quileute, Ozette and other tribes 
ofIndiaru; in Washington who were affiliated with the Quinaielt and Quileute 
tribes in th.e: Treaty of July 1, 1855 and January 26, 1846. The Cowlitz Indians, 
however, were not party to such treaty by signatures of their chief or head men; 
and so far as can be ascertained, these Indians were apparently provided for at the 
time a resc:rv:iltion was created for the Chehalis Indians, although it seems that 
they refused to remove to the Chehalis Reservation. 
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IE ilt should be clearly proven that the Cowlitz Indians were not affiliated 
with the Quinaielt and Quileute Indians in the treaty of July I, 1855 and January 
26. 1856. th~~y would not be entitled. as a tribe or band, to allotment on the 
Quinaielt Reservation. Individual members of the Cowlitz band would still have 
the right t<) present their applications to the tribal council on the Quinaielt 
Reservation for enrollment thereon. If enrolled, and the enrollment should be 
approved jY the Department, they would then be entitled to take allotments on the 
Quinaielt Reservation the same as other [ndians now having rights thereon 
(Haucke 1:0 Hudson, Holt & Harmon 11911912; Quinault Ex. 5: 1912-4, RG75, 
Gen. Ser. 55826-09-260). 

The follow-up to this general policy as of 1912 was exemplified by a BIA letter to Eugene 
Cloquet of Carro1tCln, Washington, recommending that he submit an application for enrollment 
on Quinault if he wanted an allotment there (Haucke to Cloquet, 3/22/1917; Quinault Ex. 
5: 1912-18). The most extensive discussion of the policy is found in Haucke's March 26, 1912. 
lener to RH. Johnson, Superintendent, Cushman Indian School: 

The Officl~ cloes not believe, however, that the children of the various bands for· 
whom rese:~/a.tions were established and alloned, born since allotments were 
made on the reservation, ... can be considered as being entitled to allotments on 
the Quinaie It reservation under authority of Executive Order dated November 4, 
1873; or that: straggling bands or individual Indians, and their children, who have 
never lived on any reservation, are entitled to allotments on the Quinaielt 
reservation m~:rely upon application therefor; without the intention of going to the 
reservation and making pennanent homes thereon (Haucke to Johnson 3/2611912; 
Quinault E>I:. 5: 1912-21, 2_3).63 

The variOu.s unattached or individual Indians not parties to any treaty may, 
however, as outlined in Office letter of instructions approved by the Department, 
submit their individual applications through you to the Quinaielt tribe for 
enrollment therewith; .... (Haucke to Johnson 3/26/1912~ Quinault Ex. 5:1912· 
21,5-6). 

This position taken by the BIA resulted in the very extensive series of applications for adoptions 
on Quinault and thc~ hearings that resulted therefrom, with the summary Roblin reports thereon, 
covering the years :5'om 1911 through 1918 (NARS M-1344) and extensively cross-referenced in 
the files for the 1919 Roblin report on unenrolled Indians of western Washington (NARS M-

631t is not clear why, under the discussion of the Treaty of Medicine Creek, Haucke stated that the Chehalis 
and Cowlitz had been considered more closely affiliated with the Puyallup (Haucke to Johnson 3126/1912, 5), as 
there is no evidence of dial lin either set of treaty negotiations. 
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1343). 

On February 4. 1929, in connection with the District Court's decision in Halbert v. u.s.. the 
.-\ssistant Secretary, Department of the Interior, wrote an extensive letter to the U.S. Attorney 
General (Finney to .Auorney General 2/4/1929; Quinault Ex. 7: 1929·1). Finney wrote: 

Pages 3. 4. :; and 6 of the memorandum decision contains citations of cases. 
treaties. and acts of Congress which are supposed to bear upon the cases under 
discussioJ'l which were for allotments on the Quinaielt Indian Reservation, 
Washington. Without going into detail or analyzing any of the cases cited, whichl 
appear to have been cited principally for psychological reasons, it may be said that 
some of them are not in favor of the plaintiffs, some are not controlling, and some 
are not in point (Finney to Attorney General 2/4/1929. '[1 D. 

Pages 3-6 of this letter contained analysis of the March 4, 1911 Act (36 Stat. L., 1345). Finney 
commented: 

11lt~ court held on page 26 of the decision that these remnants of bands and 
tribes w(:re: (:ntitled to allotments at Quinaielt providing they were fish-eating 
Indians 0:: the Pacific coast, and referred to the recommendation of the 
Superint1end,ent of Indian Affairs for Washington, apparently giving it the same 
effect as an ,:lct passed by Congress. 

0:1 pages 27 and 28 the court appears to engage in some surmise when he 
says: "111(: words 'fish-eating Indians of the Pacific Coast' were probably omitted 
from the ,u;t of March 4, 1911, because of the contention that the Cowlitz and 
Upper Chehalis while 'fish-eating Indians' not being directly upon the coast were 
therefore: not' fish-eating Indians of the Pacific Coast'" (Finney 2/4/1929, [5]-6). 
[emphas:i~; in original] 

At the bottom of page 30 the court concludes that it is more reasonable to 
hold that the word '"treaty" in the act was used in the broader sense including the 
written tJrC:~l~y and the negotiations in the preceding February. Such construction 
might be pla.ced upon the act of March 4, 1911, were it not for the fact that the act 
says "treaty of July 1, 1855." ... Viewing the definition of treaty in the restricted 
sense as intended by the act of 1911, none of the plaintiffs are entitled to any 
rights upon the Quinaielt Indian Reservation, Washington. (Finney 2/4/1929, 7). 

The Supreme C(urt stated that: 

In 1913 Cl bil.l was introduced in Congress to amend the Act of 1911 by 
specifically including the Cowlitz and some other fish-eating tribes in 
southweslem Washington not before named in the act; and in a letter responding 
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to an inquiry about the need for the bill the Indian Bureau said: "It is believed that 
the Indi,ms :referred to in the pending bill may be alloned on the Quinaielt 
Reservation and that further legislation is unnecessary." The Solicitor for the 
Departmc~nt of the Interior so construed the treaty, executive order and Act of 
191 1 in a.rl opinion rendered to the Secretary of the Interior. and that opinion was 
accepted ,1S a guide in making further allotments (Halbert et ai. VS. United Stares 
5; Quinault Ex. 7:1931-8). 

The Supreme Court held that the Cowlitz tribe was one of the tribes of Indians affiliated with the 
Quinault and Quikute tribes in the 1855 treaty within the meaning of the 1911 Act. The court 
decisions in Ha1l2~r! did not hold that the Cowlitz was a Federally recognized tribe in 1911 or in 
1928, indeed Roblin's testimony is that they were not. (U.S. Sup. Ct. 1931, Docket file 443). 
Therefore. Halbe:n does not establish unambiguous Federal recognition. 

2, Significance o/the Supreme Court Decision in Halbert v. United States in Regard to Federal 
Recognition of a Cowlitz Tribe in 1931. 

a. Quinault's PO!i~k!Jl. Quinault stated that the Supreme Court decision in Halbert v. United 
States and issuance of allotments to "Cowlitz" on the Quinault and Yakama Reservation do not 
constitute Federal re(:ognition of a Cowlitz tribe (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 30-31 
(issue 1 O)~ Quina'uN Memorandum 1997,20 (issue 10». The petitioner replied (CIT Response 
1998.12; CIT Fin;lll Submission 1999,25-27 (issue IV.II.E»). 

Quinault stated: 

The issues before the Supreme Court in Halbert relate to the eligibility of 
individual Indians of Cowlitz, Chinook, and Chehalis ancestry to receive 
allotments on the Quinault Reservation under the 1911 Quinault Allotment Act. 
In light of the Department's recent proposed decision regarding the Chinook 
petitioner, reference in the decision to members of the Chinook and Cowlitz 
Tribes is not evidence of federal recognition (Quinault Revised Memorandum 
1998, 30-31). 

Quinault cited a statc:ment from BAR's peer review notes taken by Dr. Virginia DeMaree 
concerning the CIT PF, that "the Quinault allotments were specifically not because the Cowlitz 
were a recognized tribe" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,31.) 

b. CIT's Position (CIT Final Submission 1999,24-27). "It is beyond question that in 1931 the 
Cowlitz Tribe was unambiguously recognized as an Indian Tribe with federally-protected rights 
by the United State'~; Supreme Court in the Halbert Litigation" (CIT Final Submission 1999,27). 

The Quinault Tribe proposes to rewrite the Supreme Court's findings in the case 
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of HalbeI1..Y. United States, supra .... the court specifically found that Cowlitz ' 
was one () f the tribes for which the Reservation had been set aside and that 
members of the Cowlitz Indian Tribe were legally entitled to allotments within the 
Reservation (Cowlitz Response 1998, 12). [emphasis in original] 

In Halber!, the Supreme Court found that individual Indians who were members 
of the Chinook, Cowlitz and Chehalis Tribes had a right to Dawes Act allotments 
at the Quinault Reservation because, as a matter of law, those tribes were 
affiliated with the signatory tribes to the Treaty of Olympia (CIT Final 
Submission 1. 999,25). [emphasis in original] 

And with ':hat, the Supreme Court answered that ultimate question in favor of the 
Cowlitz Ir..dian Tribe and the entitlement of its members to Dawes Act section 1 
allotments: 

Our conclusion on the first question presented is that the 
Chehalis, Chinook and Cowlitz Tribes are among those whose 
m~I]:lbers are entitled to take allotments within the Ouinaielt 
R~~!rvation, if without allotments elsewhere .••• [Emphasis 
supplied.] (283 U.S. at 760.) 

It is beyond question that in 1931 the Cowlitz Tribe was unambiguously 
recognizee! as an Indian Tribe with federally-protected rights by the United States 
Supreme Court in the Halbert Litigation (CIT Final Submission 1999,27). 

c. BIA Analysis. Quinault submitted a copy of the Supreme Court decision in Halbert (Quinault 
Ex. 7: 1931-8). The district court and Ninth Circuit decisions were obtained through additional 
research to respond to these arguments, as was Roblin's testimony as inserted in the record before 
the Supreme Court. This discussion must be prefaced with a disclaimer. The discussion of 
Halbert is raised here: by CIT and Quinault as part as a long-running litigation concerning the 
implementation clf the Quinault Allotment Act of 1911. The BIA researchers do not believe that 
it would be appmpJ;ute to analyze many of these arguments for the following reasons. A date of 
previous recognition of 1880 has already allowed the Cowlitz petitioner to proceed through the 
25 CFR Part 83 prc~ess under 83.8 which allows for a reduced burden of proof. This reduced 
burden also makc::~; it unnecessary to analyze the meaning of the Halbert case and its 
implementation bc:<:ause other evidence is available which relates to the Cowlitz case under the 
criteria. Second, this: technical report is not a legal brief. Therefore. the following discussion is 
meant merely to layout what arguments were made by the commenters and the petitioner, the 
documentation submitted, and to correct some misstatements concerning BIA policies. 

The Supreme Court. defined the questions to be resolved as follows: 

The plaintiffs are all of Indian blood and descent, but none is a full-blood Indian. 
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Some are: me:mbers of the Chehalis. Chinook and Cowlitz tribes, and the question 
is presenwd whether these tribes are among those whose members are entitled to 
allotments from lands within the Quinaielt Reservation. Many do not personally 
reside on the reservation. and we are asked to decide whether this defeats their 
claims. Some are the issue, either children or grandchildren, of a marriage 
between ,01 Indian woman and a white man, and whether this is an obstacle to 
allowing tht!ir claims is a further question (Halbert et al. vs. United States 2; 

. Quinault ,E x. 7: 1931-8). 

The Supreme COUrI then affinned that the district court applied the correct rules for detennining 
eligibility for allotme:nts. 

The only plaintiffs in Halben who asserted that they were Cowlitz were the Provoes. 
Plaintiff Mary FrcUlds Provoe was alive at the time of the 1855 Treaty. U.S. Sup.Ct. 1931, 
Docket file at 367. The district court opinion stated that Roblin listed the Provoe family as 
belonging to the C)wiitz Tribe, and that Chief Mason of the Quinault said they were Cowlitz. 
U.S. Sup.Ct. 1931, Docket file at 366. The district court, however, specifically declined to rule 
whether the plaintiffs" children and grandchildren of Mary Francis (Chehalis) and David Provoe, 
(Cowlitz) were Upper Chehalis or Cowlitz. Id. at 367,375. Although noting that the Cowlitz 
had a tribal organization (U.S. Sup.Ct. 1931, Docket file at 337), and the Chehalis did not (U.S. 
Sup.Ct. 1931, Dockc~t file at 337, 362), the district court did not recognize a government-to­
government relationship between the Cowlitz and United States. 

The district court analysis of all plaintiffs in the case focused on whether they lived in 
Indian settlements <i.nd were associated and affiliated with other Indians, even though their tribe 
was scattered. In contrast, the Ninth Circuit required residence on a reservation to obtain an 
allotment and specillcally declined to discuss "the rights of the appellees based upon their Indian 
blood or tribal relations." Halben, 38 F.2d 795, 798 (9111 Cir. 1930). 

The SuprelTll: Court ruled that the "Chehalis, Chinook and Cowlitz tribes are among those 
whose members arc~ entitled to take allotments within the Quinault Reservation." Halbert, 283 
U.S. at 760. The Ccurt concluded that the district court applied the appropriate law in requiring 
membership for allotments on Quinault. The Supreme Court did not rule that there was a 
government-to-goven:unent relationship between the Cowlitz and the United States, nor did the 
Court rule that the Cowlitz were a tribe in 1911 or in 193 t. The Coun did not rule that any 
plaintiffs were members of the Cowlitz Tribe. Thus, the Supreme Court ruling does not establish 
a date of last unambiguous federal recognition. 

The Supreme Court concluded: 

... that the Chehalis, Chinook and Cowlitz tribes are among those whose 
members are Imtitled to take allotments within the Quinaielt Reservation, if 
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without allotments elsewhere. The Circuit Court of Appeals held otherwise in , 
some of thl= SIJits and in this we think it erred (Halbert et af. vs. C/nited Stales 5, 
Quinault Ex. 7:1931-8). 

The only issue thilt could be related to the Federal acknowledgment criteria (25 CFR Part 83) 15 

how these cases aJf,ected the actual on-the-ground implementation of the allotments and the 
actual governance of the Quinault Reservation, which will be discussed in the following section. 

3. Post-Halbert Land Allotment Activity on Quinaull Reservation (CIT Final Response I ~99. 27 
(issue IV.ILF); CIT' Final Response 1999,32-37 (issue V». 

a. CIT Position. CIT discussed Post-Halbert land allotments under two separate headings: 
under issue IV.II CIS "The Issuance of Allotments at Quinault to Cowlitz Members in the 1930s 
Constitutes Unambiguous Prior Federal Acknowledgment'~ (CIT Final Submission 1999, 17) 
and under the section "Post-Halbert Land Allotment Activity Constituted Federal Recognition of 
Cowlitz" (CIT Final Submission 1999, 32-36 (issue V». 

Most of the discw:s,jon under issue IV.II was a history of allotment policy and allotting on 
Quinault, rather tballl pertaining directly to the topic header.6s CIT assened that the historical 
overview in secticn IV.II, "demonstrates the significance to Cowlitz status as a recognized tribe 
through Cowlitz ailiotment issuance under federal law, and establishes unambiguous federal 
recognition in the: I 930s of Cowlitz as an Indian tribe" (CIT Final Submission 1999, 17). CIT 

64CIT Issue [V.ll consists primarily of a historical retrospective running from [887 through 1984 designed 
to show how CIT re:ldled its conclusions concerning Federal acknowledgment (CIT Final Submission 1999, 17-27). 
Very little of the content pertained to the topic in the header, post Halbert ([ 931) activities. This is exemplified by 
the flTSt sentence thalt 2lpIPeared following the header: "An undisputed fact is that dozens of Cowlitz tribal members 
are allotted at the QUlnault reservation and the federal issuance of allotments to those Cowlitz occurred between 
1907 and 1934" (CIT Fil1al Submission 1999. 17). 

6'a. AllotrTlJUlt.!i Under the Dawes Act (CIT Final Submission 1999. 18-20). See discussion above. in 
historical sequence. 

b. Treaty c~:.QJympia - 1 855(CIT Final Submission 1999, 16.21-22). See discussion above. in 
historical sequence. 

c. Executh:~t Order of 1873 (CIT Final Submission 1999, 22-23.) See discussion above. in historical 
sequence. 

d. Land A'UQ.bllent Laws and Practices (CIT Final Submission 1999.23-24). This subsection of Issue IV.lI 
contained a restatemc:nt of the provisions of the 1911 Allotment Act and is discussed there (see above). 

e. The Halt~rt Litigation (CIT Final Submission 1999, 24-27). The discussion of the actual Halbert v. 
United Stales case ccntained in this section (CIT issue IV.II.E) has been included with that topic (see above). 

This section (If the CIT Final Submission also contained some history of the cessation of allotment on 
Quinault by about 1916 and the case United Slates v. Payne. 264 U.S. 446. 449 (1924) (CIT Final Submission 1999, 
24-25). See above, b sc:quence. 
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states: 

During thc~ period following the Halbert decision until sometime in 1934, 
Reservation allotments were issued to dozens of Cowlitz pursuant to Section 1 of 
the General Allotment Act: the Cowlitz allonees were entitled to their trust 
patents by virtue of their membership in the Cowlitz Tribe and these patents were 
issued acc,xdingly. 

It is beyon:i question that the Cowlitz Tribe was unambiguously recognized by the 
Department of the Interior during 1931-34 through the issuance of Dawes Act 
Section 1 al10tments to Cowlitz tribal members on the basis of their membership 
in the Cowlit~ Tribe (CIT Final Submission 1999,27). 

Subsequent to that ruling, Cowlitz members were among the Indians given 
allotments within the Reservation pursuant to Section 1 of the General Allotment 
Act of February 8,1887 (24 Stat. 388) and the Allotment Act of March 4.1911 
(36 Stat. 1.345)" (CIT Response 1998, 12). 

Subsequent to the Supreme Coun ruling in Halbert v. United States, the BIA 
proceeded tl) allot land to members of tribes who were denominated as 
beneficiari~:s of the Executive Order of 1873. As both the General Allotment Act 
of 1887 and Dlr. George Roth have made clear, only members of federally­
recognized tribes could receive those allotments (CIT Final Submission 1999, 32). 

b. BIA Analysis. The BIA researchers did not have before them materials which would have 
allowed a competent analysis as to whether or not these statements are accurate. The question 
that would need to be: answered is whether the allotment applications and other materials show 
that individual Cowlit2: were awarded allotments on Quinault because they were members of a 
contemporary CowEtz entity. 

Most of the data prt::;(mted under CIT's issue V consisted of a list of 53 allottees on Quinault who 
were identified as Cowlitz, Chehalis-Cowlitz, Chinook-Cowlitz, or Quinaielt-Cowlitz (CIT Final 
Submission 1999, 3~:-37). Since these were genealogical ancestry cat~gories rather than tribal 
affiliation categorie:s, t.his list of individual allottees was not directly pertinent to the issue of 

. unambiguous Feder,al acknowledgment of a Cowlitz tribe in the 1930's. Thus, the actual results 
of. or activities follctwing, this litigation are not necessarily based on the existence of a 
contemporary Cow1:i12: tribe and thus did not show Federal acknowledgment of a Cowlitz tribal 
entity at that point. 

Cowlitz based much of1their argument on a 1995 draft report by BIA anthropologist George Roth 
concerning allotment policies in California. An evaluation of that draft report need not be made 
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here. Hewever, tilt! draft repert dees net previde that allotments go to members of "federally 
recegnized tribes," but that alletments gOo tOo "tribal members." We do not new hold that 
obtaining an alletment is an act of unambiguous federal acknowledgment of the tribe in which 
the allottee claims membership. but rather that it is evidence which we would evaluate in the 
context of criterion (b) and (c) of the regulations. But. if such allotments were tied to a particular 
tribe. and there was a consistent practice for the agency doing the allotting, it could be evidence 
of priot F ederal re~c:ognition. However. as was clear in the record of the Halbert decision. none of 
the courts involved. ruled on a Federal relationship with the Cowlitz tribe. Further, the district 
court and Supreme Court's reliance on the individual Indians being affiliated with the Quinault. 
militates against using the allotments to Cowlitz Indians on Quinault as unambiguous Federal 
recognition. This <:onclusion is consistent with the agency's implementation of the Halbert 
decision. discussed in the previous paragraph. 

oJ. Post-Halbert Case Law (CIT Final Submission 1999,27-32 (issue IV.II.F). 

a. The "Boundru:L Dispute" Litigation, 1945 and 1951 (CIT Final Submission 1999, 28-30). 

i. CIT Position. ':::'1'[ presented two cases concerning whether or not the Quinault Nation has 
exclusive jurisdiction over the Quinault Reservation, citing to Quinaieit Tribe of Indians v. 
United States, 102 Ct.Cl. 822 (1945), Finding of Fact No.3 (102 Ct.Cl. at 825), 102 C .CIs. at 
835 (CIT Final Submission 1999,28-29) and Quinaielt Tribe of Indians v. United Slates. 118 
Ct.Cl. 220 (CIT Final Submission 1999, 29). 

It is beyond question that in 1945 and 1951 the Cowlitz Tribe was unambiguously 
recognized as an Indian Tribe with federally-protected rights by the United States 
Claims Court in the Boundary Dispute Litigation (CIT Final Submission 1999, 
30). [emphasis in original] 

ii. BIA Analysis. Tbese decisions only relate to which tribes had an interest in the Quinault 
Reservation whi,ch would entitle them to participate in a money judgment for lands taken in an 
adjustment of th,e reservation's boundary. The decisions rely on Halbert for their conclusion that 
the Cowlitz tribe:: had an interest in the reservation when it was established. The decision add 
nothing to ~Jl. 

b. The Wahkialqun Fishina Riahts Litiaation. 1981 (CIT Final Submission 1999, 30). 

1. CIT Position. CIT cited Wahldakum Band o/Chinook Indians v. Bateman, et al. 

It is beyond question that in 1981 the Cowlitz Tribe was unambiguously 
recogniz,ed alS an Indian Tribe with federally-protected rights by the United States 
Court of AplPeals for the Ninth Circuit in the Wahkiakum Litigation" (CIT Final 
SubmissioJ:l 1999, 30). 
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ii. BIA Analysis. ~ost of the discussion appears to apply to Chinook. At most. Cowlitz may 
have intended 1:0 argue that Cowlitz was included by implication in the cited decision (655 F .2d 
at 179-80). Thi3 case has no relevance to whether the CIT meets the criteria for Federal 
acknowledgmer.t under 25 CFR Part 83. 

c. Williams v. (Iru3, 1984 (CIT Final Submission 1999, 31-32). 

i. CIT Position. CIT cites this as 742 F.2d 549 (9 th Cir. 1984), referencing the Quileute ,and 
issues of jurisdic:tion on the Quinault Reservation. 

It is beycnd question that in 1984 the affiliated tribes - including Cowlitz -'­
were unambiguously recognized as Indian tribes with federally-protected rights by 
the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit in Williams v. Clark (CIT 
Final Subrnl.ssion 1999,32). (emphasis in original] 

ii. BIA Analysis. This statement clearly misrepresents the findings in this case which involved 
only the right of ,! Quileute tribal member under Section 4 of the Indian Reorganization Act to 
devise his allotment. on the Quinault reservation. 

5. Quinault's SrC'tements Concerning the Acknowledgment Status o/the Cowlitz Tribe in J 975. 

a. Ouinault's Po~:i.ti!;m. Quinault quoted various 1975 statements made in connection with the 
Indian Claims Commission (ICC) award indicating that the Cowlitz were not a recognized tribe 
(Quinault Revised Memorandum, 1998,24). 

b. CIT Commen!. The CIT did not respond directly to this point. An implied CIT comment may 
exist in its discus~:iol1 of recent litigation (CIT Final Submission 1999, 30.32). 

c. BIA Analysis. -nle proposed finding did not conclude that the CIT was a federally 
acknowledged tribe in 1975. In fact, the Government has refused to disburse the ICC Cowlitz 
judgment award to the petitioner as a tribal award because the Cowlitz were not recognized. The 
payment is now in ,~s:crow until the conclusion of this case. If the Cowlitz are acknowledged, the 
award will be disltJibuted at least in part as a tribal payment. If the Cowlitz are not 
acknowledged, the: ,award will probably be distributed per capita. 

6. Comparability with AS-lA's Analysis 0/ Previous Unambiguous Federal Acknowledgment oj 
the Snoqualmie T",ib,rl Organization. 

a. Quinault's PosUiQll. Beyond the above quotations, the remainder of the Quinault comment 
compared the AS·IA's analysis of the issue of FederaI acknowledgment of the Snoqualmie Tribal 
Organization (STO) between 1934 and 1953 and how the BlA distinguished STO from purely 
claims organizatio-ns (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 10-11; citing STO FD Summ. Crit. 
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[no page numbers given]) to three specific mentions of Cowlitz Indians in BlA records' in 1878. 
1893. and 1904 (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998. 12). 

b. BlA A.nalvsi~. The Quinault commented on documents which were not comparable. The AS­
IA's analysis corlc:eming the Snoqualmie Tribal Organization specifically analyzed. at length. the 
issue of Federal acti.ons indicating acknowledgment of the Snoqualmie in the mid-20th century. 
The absence of s: milar kinds of documents for the Cowlitz from another historical period is not 
remarkable, and . n fact policy, administrative, and even technological changes mean ·that ·the 
character of docurm:nts created by the BIA during the late 19th and early 20th centuries differ 
significantly from those created in the mid-1950's. Such comparisons would be comparihg 
"apples and orangl~s." especially since this final detennination has not concluded that the Cowlitz 
Tribe was recogni:zed between 1934 and 1953. More extensive discussion of the nature of the 
Cowlitz Tribal organization (CTO). on the basis of the historical record, will be found below, in 
section V. 

E. The Latest Da.te of Unambiguous Previous Federal Acknowledgment. The BIA 
evaluation has declined to make a comprehensive analysis of the submissions and arguments 
from the petitiorll:r c:onceming litigation which the CIT argue would show that the Upper and 
Lower Cowlitz had been unambiguously recognized after 1878/80, and to the 1970's. It is 
unnecessary for the Department to address these arguments because prior Federal recognition 
has already been established to 1880, by using other means. Further, the Department has not 
interpreted those cases cited by CIT as recognizing the Cowlitz or their tribal status in the time 
period they· sugge·st. 

IV. COMMENTS CONCERNING INTERPRETATION 
OF THE 25 CFR PART 83 REGULATIONS. 

This section of th: r~~port addresses specific arguments raised by the comments, specifically those 
submitted by the Quinault Nation concerning the evaluation of the evidence. Section V 
addresses the evide!Dce in the record. 

A. Insufficient E:"idence and Evidentiary Standards. Quinault asserted that the BIA had 
reached conclusi,ons unsupported by the evidence in the record and had failed to apply the proper 
evidentiary stand~llds (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 2-3 (issue 1); Quinault 
Memorandum 1997,1-2 (issue 1». The petitioner replied (CIT Response 1998,2-4). 

/. QUinault's PosUion. "The Bureau Has Failed to Apply the Proper Evidentiary Standards and 
Burden of Proof in Reviewing the Record" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 2; see also 
Quinault Memora.ndum 1997, 1). Quinault stated: 
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As evideJ1ce~d by numerous examples discussed in this memorandum and the 
accompanying revised report prepared by Nicklason Research Associates (NRA), 
the propc sed findings repeatedly state conclusions for which there is no 
supporting c~vidence or which are contrary to the weight of available evidence 
(Quinau.ll R,evised Memorandum 1998.2; Quinault Memorandum 1997.2). 

Quinault also stawd: 

In ignoring and glossing over negative evidence the proposed findings misapply 
the applicable evidentiary standards ... set forth in 25 CFR 83.6(c) which 
provides that a petitioner may not be acknowledged if the available evidence 
demonstrates that it fails to meet one or more of the criteria.. or if there is 
insufficit::1t c:vidence that it meets one or more criteria. A criterion is met "if the 
available evidence establishes a reasonable likelihood of the validity of facts 
relating t(o that criterion" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 2; see also 
Quinault lY[emorandum 1997,2). 

2. CIT Comment. lbe CIT primarily defended the research efforts of BIA staff assigned to the 
case and critiqued the credentials of the Quinault researchers (CIT Response 1998,2-4). The 
CIT comment undc~r this heading was not pertinent to the issues raised by Quinault, as it did not 
address the issue .Jf ,evidentiary standards. 

J BIA AnalysiS. The 25 CFR Part 83 regulations do not utilize the concept of "negative 
evidence" as presl~l1ted by Quinault. The BIA has used the tenn "negative evidence" in some 
previous findings to refer to actual evidence which disproves that a petitioner meets a criterion.66 

The issue for each of the mandatory criteria is whether or not there is enough evidence to show 
that the petitioner rnl~ets the criterion under the reasonable likelihood of the validity of the facts 
standard. Under criterion 83,7(a), "Evidence that the group's character as an Indian entity has 
from time to tim~! been denied shall not be considered to be conclusive evidence that this 
criterion has not been met" (83.7(a». This provision reassures petitioners that past descriptions 
of their tribal character will not be used to deny acknowledgment if they have other evidence 

66For example~. 1l'acing the reputed Indian ancestors of one petitioner to ships' passenger lists of European 
immigrants has been ·,jewed as "negative evidence" for criterion (e), in that it clearly contradicts the petitioner'S 
claims. Or evidence that a petitioner's ancestors named Thomas lived in Virginia until a generation after their 
claimed tribe was rernovl~d to Oklahoma from Alabama, the petitioner'S current locale, contradicts their claims to 
descend from a "Thomas" who removed from Alabama to Oklahoma in 1842 and died there in 1850. This is the 
sense in which the te.nn "negative evidence" has been used by the Government in past decisions. A statement of 
opinion that a writer did not believe a group was tribal or Indians has not been used to deny a petitioner meets a 
criterion if other evidencl~ shows that group does meet the criteria. These are exactly the kinds of documents 
Quinault calls "negative c:videncc," and uses in isolated instances, that is, not informed by the historical context, to 
try to disprove the general position put forth in the PF. 
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indicating that the:y have continued to exist as a tribe. , 

In this section 0.1' j,ts comments which deals with burden of proof, Quinault neither listed the 
conclusions for which it asserted there was "no supporting evidence" nor those which it 
considered "contrary to the weight of available evidence" nor the specific points at which it 
believed that th~: proposed finding had {Tlisapplied the evidentiary standards. ~either did it refer 
to specific portie ns of the Nicklason Research Associates reports (Nicklason 1997, Nicklason 
1998). It is therefore impossible to respond with specificity to this particular criticism. Section 
V. of this techmcal report will address. in chronological order, particular issues and questions at 
the points they we:rl: raised elsewhere in the Quinault Revised Memorandum. 

The majority of1:he documents interpreted by Quinault as "negative evidence" as submitted in its 
exhibits (Quinault Ex.) were already in the record at the time of the proposed finding, as 
documented by thei.r containing stamps indicating that Quinault obtained them from the BlA 
through its Cowlitz FOIA. These documents showed that from 1880-1940, the Cowlitz Indians 
\Vere not a reserv21tion tribe under Federal jurisdiction or under direct Federal supervision. \Vhile 
such documents are applicable to the issue of detennining a latest date of unambiguous previous 
Federal acknowl,:dgment (see section III), they were not assessed by the AS-IA as "negative 
evidence" as to t.:-te existence of an unrecognized but continuously existing tribal entity. The lack 
of mention of a ~:roup in any type of record is not "negative evidence" but only an absence of a 
specific type of e vidence, which may be unimportant if other acceptable evidence identifying the 
group as an Indi'lIl c:ntity exist. 67 

B. Types of Evidence Acceptable as Demonstrating Tribal Existence. In the "Previous 
Federal Acknowie~gment" section of the preamble to the 1994 regulations, the Department 
stated that "[t]hc~ revisions ... still maintain the same requirements regarding the character of the 
petitioner." ThU!i, c:ontinuous existence remains a requirement under the 83.8 provisions for 
previously acknowledged tribes. The preamble states:' 

.. " the n:visions maintain the essential requirement that to be acknowledged a 
petitioner must be tribal in character and demonstrate historic continuity of tribal 
existence:, lous, petiticmers that were not recognized under the previous 
regulaticms would not be recognized by these revised regulations (59 Fed.Reg, 
9280,2125/94). 

However, the e\iidence required was streamlined because, as the preamble to the 1994 

67Quinault regularly conflates the evidence which would show the petitioner was previously recognized 
under 83.8 -- that i!: dClCuments showing Federal officials dealing with a tribe - and evidence which would show 
the petitioner was id.:ntiified as an Indian entity under 83.7(a) - which would include newspaper articles, diaries, 
travelers reports, an.cll:>ther kinds of documents. All those petitioners that have been recognized to date through the 
acknowledgment pl'clCe!;s could show documents to meet 83.7(a), but only a few can show evidence to meet 83.8. 
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regulations explained:' "For petitioners which were genuinely acknowledged previously as tnbes. 
the revisions recognize that evidence concerning their continued existence may be entitled to 
greater weight." (59 Fed.Reg. 9282,2/25/94) The revised regulations did not abrogate the 
requirement of continuous existence, which the preamble to the regulations say will be handled 
by the tribe's meetIng other criteria under the reduced burden of proof: 

The revisled Language requires the previously acknowledged petitioner as it exists 
today to meet the criteria for community (criterion 83. 7(b» and political influence 
(criterion ~:3. 7( c)). The demonstration of historical continuity of tribal existence.'­
since last Federal acknowledgment until the present, must meet three \ 
requirements. First, the petitioner must demonstrate that it has been continuously 
identified by lexternal sources as the same tribe as the tribe recognized previously. 
Second, continuity of political influence must be established by showing 
identification of leaders and/or a governing body exercising political influence on 
a substantially continuously basis from last acknowledgment until the present, if 
supported by demonstration of one fonn of evidence listed in §83.7(c) ... third, 
ancestry from the historic tribe must be shown. (59 Fed. Reg. 9282, 2/25/94). 

The Department did not remove the requirement of continuity of tribal existence. Rather, the fact 
that evidence submittl:d by previously acknowledged tribes is entitled to greater weight, means 
that the evidence submitted for criterion 83.7(a) and for criterion 83.7(c) cames the burden the 
petitioner has for d.emonstrating continuous existence, without the requirement that criterion 
83.7(b) also be dem()nstrated between the latest date of unambiguous previous Federal 
acknowledgment and the modem period. The regulations provide specifically in 83.8(d)(2) that 
criterion 83. 7(b) is met if the group is a distinct community at present, "it need not provide 
evidence to demomitrate existence as a community historically." In revising the regulations, the 
assumption was made that any difficulties a previously recognized group may have in meeting 
the requirement of continuous existence would be revealed by these two criteria, 83.7(a) and 
83.7(c), as modified .. 

The regulations state at 83.8(d)(3): 

The group mE~ts the requirements of the criterion in 83.7(c) to demonstrate that 
political influ·ence or authority is exercised within the group at present. Sufficient 
evidence to meet the criterion in §83.7(c) from the point oflast Federal . 
acknowledgment to the present may be provided by demonstration of substantially 
continuous Ihistlorical identification, by authoritative, knowledgeable external 
sources, of kalders and/or a governing body who exercise political influence or 
authority, togc:ther with demonstration of one form of evidence listed in §83.7(c) 
(83 .8( d)(3»" 

Under the definitiort:;, "'political influence or authority" means "a tribal council, leadership, 
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internal process or other mechanism. which the group has used as a means of influencing or 
controlling the behavior of its members in significant respects. and/or making decisions for the 
group which substantially affect its members, and/or representing the group in dealing with 
outsiders in mar~f~rs of consequence. This process is to be understood in the context of the 
history. culture ,mel social organization of the group" (25 CFR 83.1). 

Thus. the issue of c:ontinuity of tribal existence as defined by Quinault68 relates obliquely to 
criterion 83. 7( c) as modified by 83.8, in that the entity over which the identified leaders are 
shown to exert au.thority must be the same entity that was previously acknowledged and the same 
entity that is petitioning. Presumably, if this entity were not continuous from the point of last 
recognition to the modern day, it would not have leaders identified by knowledgeable sources on 
a substantially ont:inuous basis and other evidence under 83.7(c). 

What follows is an overview Quinault's criticisms of the use made by BIA evaluators of some of 
the evidence disl;lJssed in the PF technical reports. An attempt is made in this discussion to link 
Quinault's critidsms to specific criteria in the regulations at 83.7 (a)-(g), but this was not always 
possible. Some new analysis based on evidence submitted or collected and the field interviews 
by both Mark Sc hoepfle and Holly Reckord is also discussed. The treatment of the modern 
community is extlended and clarified from that appearing in the Proposed Finding A TR. 

r Holding of Annual Meetings. Quinault stated that reports of annual meetings of the Cowlitz 
Tribal Organiza.tion (CTO) are not evidence of tribal existence (Quinault Revised Memorandum 
1998.29-30 (isslJle 8); Quinault Memorandum 1997, 19-20 (issue 8». The petitioner replied 
(CIT Response 1998, 10-11). 

a. Quinault's PQ~i1i.Qn. Quinault stated: 

The proposc:d findings state that newspaper articles from 1912 through 1939 
reponing on annual meetings are evidence of the existence of a tribal entity, 
noting th.ii1t the articles mention various leaders and significant business discussed. 
Review cf dhe newspaper articles and available evidence indicates that the 
"signific:cLllt business considered at the meetings" was largely, if not exclusively, 
related tiD Clowlitz claims for compensation consistent with descriptions of the 
"Cowlitz Tribe" during this time as a claims group" (Quinault Revised 
MemorandulIIl 1998, 29; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 19-20; no citation to pages 

6'The issue as posed by Quinault and analyzed under this heading does not fall directly under anyone of 
the criteria for Fed~:I'lI11 ;!cknowledgment as found in 2S CFR Part 83. While continuity of tribal existence is 
fundamental for acknowledgment, parts of the Quinault comments are primarily applicable to 83.7(a), parts to 
83.7(b), and parts to 113.7(c), particularly as modified by 83.8. Specifically, Quinault has extracted parts of the 
evaluation of the ellidellce considered for criterion 83.7(a) in the Summary 'Under the Criteria and argued as if the 
AS-IA had been ap~lyilllg these parts to one of the other criteria. 
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in the PF6~). (footnote added] 

Earlier in its COnLTlent, Quinault had asserted: 

Throughout the period from 1912 through the mid-1930s the Cowlitz Tribal 
Organization appears to have held annual meetings. Following 1950, the 
reorganized Cowlitz Tribe of Indians resumed meeting. But, the reports of those 

, meetings make clear that business conducted was limited largely, if not 
exclusively, to claims matters. See, NRA and HTR generally. Significantly, both 
the record of these meetings and the descriptions of the Cowlitz by group 
members a!ld outside observers unambiguously demonstrate that the Cowlitz 
Tribal Organization and the later Cowlitz Tribe of Indians were voluntary claims 
organizations, nothing more or less (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,25; 
see also Quinault Memorandum 1997, 17). . 

b. CIT Comment. The CIT described Quinault's statement of this issue as "disingenuous" (CIT 
Response 1998, 10), 'emphasizing that contemporary newspaper reports are valid types of 
documentation, re:i'ening to other types of documents such as the provision of information to 
ethnographers by Cowlitz informants between 1927 and 1931, and stating that the Quinault 
comments ignored e:vidence of other business that took place at the tribal meetings (CIT 
Response 1998, 10-11). 

c. BIA Analvsis. For a discussion of the general adequacy of evidence under criterion 83.7(c), 
see below, section IV.D. This analysis is limited to the degree to which the holding of annual 
meetings may be n:garded as evidence for continuous tribal existence. The BIA has divided the 
above mixed argwllC~ntation concerning 83.7(a) and 83.7(c), which Quinault combined into a 
discussion of "triba.! continuity," into the nature of evidence acceptable under each of the criteria, 
as follows. 

i. Analysis ofPenineJ:lce of Quinault's Argumentation to Criterion 83.7(a). The regulations read 
at 83.8(d)(l): 

69nte referen'c~ would appear to be to CIT PF 1997, Summ. Cnt. 17-18, where the listing was of evidence 
considered for criterion 83 .. 7(a). The nature of evidence valid for a petitioner to meet 83.7(a) is to some extent 
different from the natuf'1= of' evidence necessary to show continuous existence and tribal entity under 83.7(b) and 
83.7(c). The AS·(A h;1! detennined that: 

Additionally, criterion 83.7(a) does not require that the identification as an Indian entity was 
factually aCCUr.lte on the part of the observer, or that the observer was a specialist in anthropology 
or ethnography. lberc is no requirement that the observer's assertions be documented or verified 
by historical evidence (RMI FD 1996, Summ. Crit. 12). 
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The group meets the requirement of the criterion in §83.7(a), except that such ' 
identification shall be demonstrated since the point oflast Federal 
acknowl~!dgrnent. The group must further have been identified by such sources ~ 
the same Jribal entity that was previouslv acknowledged or as a portion that has 
evolved fj:gm that entity (25 CFR 8J.8(d)(I». [emphasis added] 

Quinault has presented some material, such as some newspaper accounts, which the proposed 
tinding evaluated for criterion 83. 7( a) and asserted that the BIA utilized it invalidly as 'evidence 
for criterion 83.7(c) when in fact the BIA did not use the evidence cited by Quinault for showing 
83.7(c). Quinault's position that newspaper articles are not authoritative enough to be usel:i as 
evidence under 83.7(c) is therefore misplaced. At the same time, newspapers are considered 
evidence for demonstrating 83.7(a) for previously acknowledged tribes because there is no 
additional requiremc:nt in 8J.8(d) that identifications of an entity for purposes of criterion 83.7(a) 
be made by "knowle:dgeable" observers. Newspaper articles, as identification of a tribal entity by 
external observets, are considered evidence for 83.7(a), whether or not the petitioner is 
proceeding under 83.8. 

On the basis of the overall evidence, the CTO and cn as described in external identifications 
did, at a minimw11, c:ontinue to represent at least a portion of the Lower Cowlitz and Upper 
Cowlitz Indians who had previous unambiguous Federal acknowledgment. The reports, both by 
the lawyers and by BIA agents, of the signing of the earliest claims by the two surviving chiefs of 
these bands, Atwin Stockurn and Captain Peter, along with their association with the surviving 
older Indians ider..tified as Cowlitz throughout the latter 19th century, are adequate to show under 
83.8(d)( 1) that the! tribe holding meetings in the 1920's and 1930's was the same tribal entity that 
was previously n::ognized. 

ii. Analysis of Pertinence of Quinault's Argumentation to Criterion 83.7(c). Under 83.8, the 
correspondence of the BIA with the elected officers of CTO and eTI, definitely identified the 
existence of a continuous sequence of named leaders for the Cowlitz tribe. The accuracy of this 
identification by c:xtc~rna1 sources was corroborated by the holding of annual meetings by the 
CTO and CTI with reports of their elections, etc., and the BIA superintendents and agents 
constitute knowlc~dgc=able outside observers within the meaning of the regulations. 

While the argumenuLtion is not entirely clear, it appears that the focus of Quinault's argument is 
that the CTO and ell had named leaders, but they were not leaders of a tribe, only leaders of a 
claims organization. The reasoning in the reports (NickJason 1997, NickJason 1998) was very 
circular -- for e",llmple, Quinault maintained that since the CTO was by definition only a claims 
organization, it was jiust a convenience for the BIA to contact John Ike, as its head, about probate, 
school, census, 810d ()ther business concerning the Cowlitz Indians who lived in his vicinity 
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(~icklason 1997, 1·~9-150), 70 arguing that the data did not show the existence of political 
[nt1 uence or authority. However, these aspects of Quinault's comments went beyond the 
evidentiary valuf of annual meetings. For more extensive discussion of the nature of political 
activity and influence in the CTO and CTI, see section V. of this report . 

., Comparison ",)ith Duwamish Proposed Finding. 

a. Qujnault' s Pc~JtiQ!!. Quinault stated: "The description of the Duwamish annual meetings and 
activities found to be indicative of a voluntary claims organization precisely matches descriptions 
of the Cowlitz Tribal Organization set forth in the record for most of the 20th Century" (Quinault 
Revised Memonmdum 1998, 30; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 29). 

b. BIA Analvsis. As contrasted with the Cowlitz, a major component of the analysis in the 
Duwamish propo~;e:d finding was that there was no documented continuity between the 
leadership of the Duwamish settlements of the later 19th century, the Duwamish organization 
formed in 1915, (md the Duwamish organization formed in 1925. Additionally, the proposed 
tlnding concluded that the membership of the 1915 Duwamish organization was "substantially 
different from the' me~mbership of the organization formed in 1925" (Duwamish PF, Federal 
Register Notice), whc~reas the same family lines have continued to be members of the various 
formal Cowlitz organizations since the earliest lists available. 

In this context of a historical development quite different from that of the Cowlitz petitioner, the 
Duwamish minut(~~; were evidence that the Duwamish Tribal Organization formed in 1925 
showed that it was a. limited purpose organization that had little direct impact on the lives of its 
members. The PF Summary under the Criteria stated: 

The Duwamish Tribal Organization formed in 1925 did not function as a multi­
faceted political entity. Instead, it limited itself to pursuing claims against the 
United Staws 1br its dues-paying members. The organization's annual meetings 
generally consisted of a presentation by the chairman or chairwoman, a report by 
the group's :Iaims attorney, and motions only to elect officers, accept new 
members, OJ' endorse attorney contracts. No evidence indicates that members 
were involvc~d actively in making decisions for the group or resolving disputes 
among themselves. A decision to intervene in an important fishing rights case 
was made by a single individual, the chairman. and no members participated in 

70" ... During tilt: 1920's, 1930's and 1940's many documents in the record contain documents show 
correspondence prirnaJiily between the superintendent and others concerning individuallndians. There is no 
indication that these doclJJm,ents as a group indicate any agency relationship with a tribal entity, or that the nature of 
the correspondence WI.!; of c:oncern to the group as a whole .... While BAR claims some of these documents show a 
relationship with a triballl:ader, John Ike, but there is no evidence ofIke's influence on members of the group in 
response to those few agl:ncy letters" (Nicklason 1997, 149-150). 
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completing paperwork which would have allowed members to exercise fishing 
rights temporarily. Minutes of its annual meetings indicate that this organization 
played a v·;::ry limited role in the lives of its members. In addition. there was no 
evidence br the existence of infonnalleadership or the exercise of political 
influence within the group outside of the fonnal organization. Because the 
petitioner :las not maintained political influence or authority over its members. it 
has not me:t the requirements of criterion (c) (Duwamish PF, Summ. Crit. 14). 

C nder the regulati ons, the CIT only have to demonstrate they meet criterion 83.7 (b) during the 
modem period be:ause they are being evaluated as a previously acknowledged tribe. Therefore. 
the PF d.id not evaluate the Cowlitz under 83.7(b) "throughout most of the 2Dth century."' To the 
extent the QuinatJIt may mean to compare the evidence of Cowlitz community at the present to 
the above historical description of Duwamish. (See next paragraphs.) 

More specifically, in the context of criterion 83.7(c), the Duwamish proposed finding ~oncluded 
that the Duwamish petitioner differed in several respects from the modem day CIT, which may 
be characterized by numerous arguments, major sub-groupings which take political stances, vote­
taking, and other ways of making decisions on behalf of the tribe. In addition to the fonnal CIT 
organization, the Cowlitz show evidence. of infonnalleadership, particularly when individuals set 
agendas on issues of interest to themselves and make them tribal issues. Members have initiated 
actions to which the leadership of the fonnal groups responded. Long-running disagreements of 
wide interest to the: tribal members include membership issues, litigation, subsistence, historical 
preservation, grav~~s protection, religious orientation as it relates to the petitioner's activities, the 
use of tribal propt:rty, administration of elections, control of the petitioner's office, attorney 
contracts, and ace e:pting the judgment as a tribe or as a per capita payment, child welfare, a 
community garden, and Administration for Native American grants. 

Members of CIT arc: not content merely to come to meetings in order to hear reports. They 
actively accumulate knowledge and infonnation about tribal activities, and lobby for their 
positions behind !fIe scenes. There is evidence in the BIA field interviews of such maneuvering. 
Members often sc:e~k infonnation on their own and in groups (even traveling to Quinault to meet 
with that tribe's ll::ilclership) and then use this gathered infonnation to infonn their political 
positions in meetlDSis. 

The tribal minutes do tend to play down such disagreements. Evidence that arguments were not 
documented is !hilt interviews indicate that after 1950, some elderly individuals and others 
stopped going to mc::etings because they found the many arguments upsetting. A memorandum 
from an Indian a.gcmt who had attended a Cowlitz Quarterly meeting March 13, 1965, when the 
topic of the clairr..s alttomey was controversial, described the meeting: "the usual arguments 
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among tribal m<:lTIbers over Mr. McLeod flared up as at previous meetings. ·,71 By the 1970's 
factionalism resulted in the establishment of an organization called the Sovereign Cowlitz. an 
alternative tr1bai: organization. which temporarily broke from the main tribe over the tribe's 
position to accept the judgment payment, rather than actual land. Therefore, in the Cov,"litz case. 
evidence other than the meeting minutes themselves, draw a picture of tribal meetings which 
were somewhat more raucous than the official meeting minutes indicated. 

The Cowlitz minutes themselves tended to record outcomes rather than the entire course of an 
argument. The f.act that the minutes did not accurately reflect participation in meeting 
discussions is fw1he:r supported by making a comparison between the oral testimony of people 
involved in the 1990's leadership struggle between Jerry Bouchard and John Barnett and the 
minutes made during this period. The oral interviews tell how people became enraged, cried and 
the police were called. The minutes contain few details about the heated emotional arguments 
that apparently duu'acterized the meetings. 

The Quinault tend to evaluate each type of evidence, including the minutes, as if it stands in a 
historical vacuum. They ignore the context surrounding the creation of the document and 
relevant evidence that may exist. Comparing the nature of the Cowlitz minutes to the Duwamish 
minutes without looking at the complete record of evidence concerning each group's political 
behavior leads to false: comparisons. It also leads to false interpretation of the evidence in the 
record. For exarnpl(~, the BIA has received minutes from a number of petitioners and has found 
that minutes are often formal documents and are often not intended to be a transcription of what 
was said and what o(:c:urred at a meeting~ Generally, they are used only to document the actions 
taken at a meeting mid limited background which would justify those actions. Argumentation 
that does not suppo:rt the final position taken at the meeting is often left out of minutes. The 
Cowlitz minutes an: of this character. 

The BlA researcher:; do not assume that where no evidence exists in the minutes, a cross-section 
of members participated in discussions and decision-making, whether in the General Council 
Meeting or in the COImcil meetings. However, other evidence may draw a fuller picture of tribal 
meetings than the minutes do. Oral history, letters, memoranda of the BIA agents present, or 
videotapes or similar d~xuments may reveal that widespread participation and discussion 
occurred which werc~n()t recorded in the minutes. The Cowlitz petitioner submitted a variety of 
other evidence and 1:he: field interviews also provided evidence which supplemented the official 
minutes. 

In the case of the Du' ... ·amish, no other evidence was in the record that indicated full participation 
during decision maldng .. In contrast, in the case of the Cowlitz, not only do the minutes reveal 

-----------------------
71 Monday, Marl:i' 22, 1965, Report to Superintendent from TribarOperations Officer re: Cowlitz Quanerly 

Meeting. 
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that the Cowlitz cle~alt with a wide range of topics and issues. but also other documentary and oral 
interview evidence: indicates that participation was wide spread in meetings and that people 
discussed tribal j~;sues outside of meetings, even lobbying for specific positions with other 
members. Furthermore. the organization of the Cowlitz tribe, which had a number of leaders and 
active subgroups consisting of members with particular perspectives they wanted to advance. 
further indicates that members were actively involved in tribal issues and decision making. 

Finally, a tribe nlly pursue claims and discuss claims issues at their meetings. The mere mention 
of claims does not mean that a tribe is a claims organization and unrecognizable. Most 
recognized tribes have at some time developed claims cases. The problem under the regulktions 
arises if a petitione:r is only a claims organization. 

3. Csing Subgroup Activity as evidence under the Regulations. 

a. Quinault's Po~:iw;m. Quinault stated that, " ... evidence of 'subgroup' subsistence activities 
organized by the It:aders of • subgroups' is not probative evidence of the existence of a larger 
Cowlitz commw1ity, encompassing the 'subgroups'" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,32; 
Quinault Memon:Lfldum 1997, 21). More generally, Quinault asserted that: 

the propo!;(:d findings seek to bolster what is conceded to be "limited evidence for 
the continuation of structured political activity and influence under §83( d)(3)" 
referring to substantial evidence of informal leadership within subgroups. SUCPF 
at 38. Se:c:tion 83.8(d)(3) establishes a reduced evidentiary burden for previously 
acknowl(:dgc:d groups. The effort to use evidence of subgroup leadership to 
supplem<:Jllt t.he 'limited evidence' of substantially continuous leadership 
exercising political authority necessary to meet the reduced burden of 25 CFR 
§83.8(d)(]) misapplies the acknowledgment criteria. Nowhere do the regulations 
authorize the substitution of subgroup leadership for a demonstration of 
substantiall.y continuous leadership exercising political influence over the group as 
a whole (Quinault Revised Memorand~ 1998,43-44). 

b. BIA Analysis:. T~s comment from Quinault deals with the demonstration of83.8(d)(3) which 
reads: 

(3) the group meets the requirements of the criterion in 83.7(c) to demonstrate 
that politit=aJ influence or authority is exercised within the group at pre.sent. 
Sufficient c:vidence to meet the criterion in 83.7(c) from the point oflast Federal 
acknowlc:dgment to the present may be provided by demonstration of substantially 
continuous. historical identification, by authoritative, knowledgeable external 
sources, of lc:aders and lor a governing body who exercise political influence or 
authority. together with demonstration of one form of evidence listed in 83. 7( c). 
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Quinault· s comm,::nt is referring to the second half of this requirement, "together with 
demonstration of one fonn of evidence listed in 83. 7(e), stating their opinion that subgroup 
activity may no:: qualify as a fonn of evidence listed in 83.7(c). 

In response to dl'~ specific criticism of evidence of subgroups to demonstrate 83.7(c), other 
acknowledgment findings have utilized the existence of leadership in subgroups, for example the 
~ohegan womer.'s church-sponsored sewing circle (Mohegan FD. Summ. Crit. 30), to support 
other evidence D:::lr commUflity, political authority, and overall leadership. The issue is how are 
the subgroups til!j to each other. In the Snoqualmie finding, for example, the existence of family 
subgroups which discussed tribal politics and came to a decision that the subgroup would support 
in the larger tribl!. at annual meetings, or in the council through representatives of the family 
subgroup, was ac;:,epted as a form of evidence for political process as required Uflder 83.7(c). 
The guiding princ·ipl!e is that subgroup panicipation and leadership may be used as evidence of 
political jnfluenc:(~ when subgroup leaders also participate in tribal government and their 
leadership of subgroups contributes to their credibility and political power or informs their 
participation in the larger political grouping. 

Factions. political subgroups, kinship groupings, residential affiliations of all sorts crosscut the 
political processe~; of a tribe. The CIT proposed finding found that regionallkin SUb-groupings 
framed the politic:; of the Cowlitz tribe. Members elected a cOUflcil with representatives from a 
variety of backgrounds. Those thrust forward as leaders from a particular regionallkin grouping, 
took on a larger political function in the council or the tribe, but their power base remained with 
the group that originally put them forward and their credibility as a leader came from that base. 
The council and those who operate on a tribal basis as a governing body may demonstrate 
political authority together as a group. The regulations do not require that a single individual 
have influence over an entire group, although if that can be shown, it would be accepted as 
meeting the criterion. It is equally accepted that a group of influential individuals who are in 
contact and workir.g together, may demonstrate that they have political influence as a group. 

The CIT proposed filnding discussed at length the'relationship among the five Cowlitz sub­
groups. (CIT PF 1997, A TR 45-46, 2.1.6). There is evidence discussed in the proposed finding 
and also new evid.:ncl~ since the proposed finding that joint action was carried on by the 
subgroups. Family j'eunions have been held for years, have a political component and are closely 
associated with the annual meeting. Today, politics are discussed at the family reunions and 
lobbying among thc~ attendees occurs there too. Early intermarriages means that those attending 
family reunions are clttended by a large number of individuals, some outside the immediate 
family line. In recent years, the tribal leaders are invited to attend family reunions. Funerals of 
elders were attended by individuals from diverse subgroups if the deceased was active in the 
tribe's political life'. Religious movements cross sub-group boundaries. Leaders from the 
various sub-groups int,eracted to provide congressional testimony or appear at hearings 
concerning burial sitc:s and subsistence fishing in the 1950's. Subgroup leaders were generally 
and still are, known to members who are not part of their group. Since the early part of this 
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century, some of the:se subgroups were led by individ~als who were widely known outside their 
o\\-n subgroups and worked closely with leaders from other subgroups. The continuity and 
overlap of servic:f: is shown by the list below from the A TR: 

Among th~' Lrpper Cowlitz were Sarah Castarna [1873-1955], Mary Kiona [1869-
1970], and John Ike Kinswa [1874-1947]. Among the Lower Cowlitz were Frank 

'Wannassey [c.1873-1934], Maude Wannassay Snyder [b.1898], Jacqueline 
Wannassc.y Hill [b.1923], Frank Iyall [1873-1938], and Archie [yaH [1911-1993]. 
Among tr..e· metis were elected officials such as James Sareault [1895-1963] and 
Clifford Wilson [b.1912], and among the BoisfortlPeell were Charles Pete [1860-
1926] and Je:sse Pete, Sr. [b.1918]. Also, families such as the Cottonoire (or 
Cottonwart:) were married with Quinault, BoisfortlPeell, metis, and Yakima 
families (':::IT PF 1997, ATR 46). [dates added for clarification] 

An analysis of th~ s:igners of the 1934 fishing rights petition provides additional insight into 
subgroup leaders:,ip (CrT Pet. 1987, Ex. A-5 51; resubmitted as Quinault Ex. 7: 1934-15). This 
petition, containing 64 names, is discussed in context in section V. It is analyzed here only in the 
immediate context of subgroups and leadership. Of the 64 signers,72 nine had signed the Cowlitz 
claims attorneys' c:ontract in 1910: they may be considered old-timers. 73 Four of them were 
Upper Cowlitz; 1thl: other five represented three different metis lines, one of which was also 
intermarried with the Cascade Cowlitz subgroup. On the other hand, the petition was also signed 
by younger people: 22 lived to be included on the 1953/1963 membership list. 74 The signers 
included the past pn:sident, John Ike (Upper Cowlitz); the past tribal council chairman and Upper 
Cowlitz fishing r.ghts leader, Louis Castama (Upper Cowlitz); the current president, John B. 
Sareault (metis); and the future secretary, Maude Wannassay [Snyder] (Lower Cowlitz). The 
signers included past and future leaders, were drawn from a variety of the Cowlitz ancestral lines, 
and cut across the social subgroups.75 Additionally, they had close ties with other prominent 
Cowlitz: Louis Castarna's widow Sarah and Mary (Yoke) Kiona (niece of signer Jim Yoke and 

72Three signc:rs were spouses; the BIA researcher could not fmnly identify five signers. e.g. Mary Smith 
(not a hypothetical u;lmple, but an actual signer) when no further data, such as an address. was on the petition. 

73Peter Bemier', Louis Castama. Peter Duprey, Sam D. Eyle, Celeste (Duprey) Nelson, John Ike (Kinswa), 
John J. Plamondon, L'i)IJtise Virginia (Bernier) West. Jim Yoke. 

740f the 64 narnes on the 1934 petition, eight are still alive and on the 1998 CIT membership list. All of 
these youngest signe~; aliso had parents who were signers. 

7' Castarn a.. Eyle, Ike (Kinswa-Satanas), Kiona. Phillips-Lashwicht, Sater lick, Yoke (Upper Cowlitz); 
Cheholtz, Lewis, W2.hawallyall, Wannassay, Waterton-Thomas, White, Williams (Lower Cowlitz); Rabbie 
(Cascade); Cathier-Cc,tt,onoire, FinlaylBercierlBernier; FinlaylPlamondon. Lozier, Provoe. SkloutwoutlGerrand, 
ScanewaIPlamondon/Sareault (Cowlitz Metis). Because of the extensive intennaniage among the Cowlitz, many 
signers descended fr')Jn more than one of these lines. 
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mother of signer James Kiona). who did not themselves sign this petition, would testify on behalf 
of the Cowlitz in t.he: lawsuits of the 1950's, with signer Howard Ike serving as their interpreter 
(see above excerpt from the A TR). 

oJ. Provision ofS,~r1:ices 10 Individual Cowlitz Indians. Quinault stated that evidence of the 
provision of services to individual Cowlitz does not establish the existence of a "Cowlitz Tribe" 
(Quinault Revise:d Memorandum 1998, 30 (issue 9); Quinault Memorandum 1997. 20 (issue 9»). 
The petitioner replied (CIT Response 1998, 11·12). 

a. Quinault's Po~itlim. Quinault stated: 

The provi~;iol1 of services to individual members of unrecognized Indian groups 
was a common practice earlier this century. It is not evidence of federal 
recognition., See, 59 FR 9280,9283 (Quinault Memorandum 1997,20). 

Provision of services to individual Indians during the earlier part of this century 
was corrunon and is not evidence of the existence ofa tribal entity. Evidence that 
during the: 1920s and 19305 federal officials communicatc;d with leaders of the 
Cowlitz group to obtain information in connection with the provision of services 
to individlual Indians does not demonstrate the exercise of 'political influence or 
authority' as defined by the regulations for two reasons. First the services 
provided we:re not tribal in character, but individual relating to issues like 
education, me:dical care, and probate of trust and restricted lands owned by 
individuals (Quinault Memorandum 1997,29). 

b. CIT Comment. CIT argued that the "delivery of services through BIA was to Cowlitz tribal 
members, and not ,:0 "individual' Indians without any tribal affiliation" (CIT Response 1998, 11), 
stating that, "while the fact of federal services to Cowlitz tribal members does not establish tribal 
existence by itself, it is part of the overall picture of tribal existence ... " (CIT Response 1998, 
11 ). 

c. BIA Analysis. '~"'ule Quinault's presentation of the evidentiary value of the provision of 
services to individucu Indians is accurate, it is also irrelevant, since the CIT proposed finding did 
not utilize the provision of services to individual Indians as evidence of the existence of a 
Cowlitz tribal entiw, Ilor was it discussed as providing evidence of previous unambiguous 
Federal acknowledgment at the dates these services were being provided. 

Like many petitionl~rs, the CIT confused the provision of services to individuals as evidence of 
the existence of thl: tribe that person belonged to. This type of evidence has never been accepted 
by the BIA to show tribal existence. The proposed finding stated clearly that from the mid 1930's 
through the 1950's, tlh~~ BIA interacted primarily with Cowlitz Indians as individuals rather than 
with the CTO (CIT PF 1997, Summ. Crit. 15), and did not adduce this interaction as evidence 
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establishing tribal existence. 

The CIT Respon!.e~ attempted to draw more inferences from such services than warranted under 
the regulations. Th~: other point made by CrT under this heading, that "there is a substantial body 
of law which confinns that tribal existence is not exclusively' a function of formal federal 
recognition:' whi I,e accurate, is irrelevant to the topic as framed by Quinault. 

C. Is Each Su bi~J"O'UP of a Petitioner Required to Meet Criterion 83. 7( a) Separately?, 
Quinault asserted that the Cowlitz Metis subgroup does not meet the requirements of 83. 7,(a) 
(Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 16-17 (issue 4); Quinault Memorandum 1997, 10,11 
(issue 4)'6), conclud.ing that as a consequence, the petitioner as a whole does not meet the 
requirements of 83.7(a). The petitioner replied to this assertion (CIT Response 1998,6). 

1. Theoretical Discussion by Quinault. 

a. Quinault's Pq.~Won. Quinault stated: "The Cowlitz Metis Subgroup Does Not Meet the 
Requirements of 83.7(a) and the Petitioner Does Not Meet the Requirements of §83.8(d)(I)" 
(Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 16; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 10). 

b. BIA Analvsi~. Quinault here attempted to introduce a supposed requirement, stated nowhere 
in the regulatiort!i, which would require that when a petitioner contains more than one subgroup, 
each subgroup indlividually, as well as the petitioner as a whole, must document that it meets 
criterion 83.7(a) and, by implication, each of the other criteria. The regulations do not contain 
any such requirc:ment. 

2. Application (~( Quinault's Theoretical Position to the CIT Petition. 

a. Quinault's PIO~i.ti.Qn. Quinault stated (1) that, "[t]here is absolutely no evidence that the metis 
or Cowlitz metis Jx.pulation was ever considered an Indian tribe or band (Quinault Memorandum 
1997, 4); n and (2) 1hat, "the Cowlitz Metis were never identified as an American Indian entity. 

76It should be noted that Quinault's issue 4 contained two separate items, which have been separated for 
purposes of analytical discussion. 

n The his1elrica1 report submitted by Nicklason Research Associates addressed this issue in the context of a 
specifically deline<lled later chronological period, rather than in the context of "ever": "During the years between 
1904 and 1920, thel'e L'i no mention ofa separate 'Metis' Indian or "Cowlitz-Metis' Indian group in the record. 
Therefore, there is fie. c:vidence to support a detennination that the present day petitioner is an amalgamation of 
Lower Cowlitz, Uppc:r Cowlitz and Metis (or Cowlitz-Metis) into an [sic] sovereign social and political Cowlitz 
Tribe. To the extent that any amalgamation occurred. it took place among Cowlitz descendants within the context 
of a claims group. ::nl addition, evidence exists from internal document [sic] that group members continued to see a 
distinction between the Lower Cowlitz and the Upper Cowlitz as late as 1917. As a result. during the years between 
1904 and 1920. tht:l'c i!; no historical evidence to support a finding of prior unambiguous recognition" (Nicklason 
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They are not even recognized as a separate group, Indian or non-Indian, in federal documents. 
SUCPF at I I .. The Cowlitz Metis therefore do not' meet the requirements of83.7(a)" 
(Quinault Revise'cI Memorandum 1998, 16; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 10). 

b. CIT Comme!}!, The CIT responded that, "[t]he term 'Cowlitz Metis' is nothing more than a 
nice way of saying' half-breed,' a somewhat derogatory tenn commonly used in the IS'h and 19th 

centuries to desc:ribc~ children born of Indian and non-Indian parents" (CIT Response 1998, 6). It 
added:' 

This group of people was not a separate tribe as such, but merely a class of 
individuals who were not pure blood Indians but nonetheless active members of 
the Cowli tz Tribe. In fact, Congress recognized this population as well and 
extended the opportunity to mixed-blood men and women to secure land under 
Section 4 of the Oregon Donation Act of 1850, as amended (9 Stat. 496) (CIT 
Response' 1998, 6). [emphasis in original] 

BAR's Dr, Virginia DeMarce explained that the Quinault incorrectly have been 
attempting 1:0 portray the Cowlitz metis as a tribal group, missing the fact that the 
metis peopl,e were "Lower Cowlitz descendants" and not a separate tribe. (On-the­
Record M(~eting Transcript at p. 60, 11.10-13.) ... Dr. DeMarce further said that 
the signific:alIlce of the metis joining the Cowlitz Tribe at some later date is simply 
mischaracteri,zed by Quinault. She explained that the matter was addressed by the 
BAR in d<:veloping the applicable regulations: (CIT Final Submission 1999, 7; 
citing Tr. at p.59, 11.8-17). 

c. BlA Analysis. The regulations do not require that each subgroup of a petitioner meet the 
regulatory criteria. The regulations do not require that the metis, part of the Lower Cowlitz, be 
identified, as asse11ed by Quinault. Additionally Quinault conflated to some extent the issues of 
identification as an Indian entity by external observers (criterion 83.7(a» and prior unambiguous 
Federal acknowled;~ment (83.8). Quinault'S own statement that the Cowlitz metis were "not 
even recognized as al separate group" in Federal documents tends to substantiate the 
Government's conclusion in the PF that the metis were not distinguished from the remainder of 
the Lower Cowlit2: indians (see the much more extensive discussion in section V. below). 

It is possible, howc:'v1er, that Quinault here intended to use "recognized" in the technical sense of 
having prior unambiguous Federal acknowledgment. Federal acknowledgment. however, is not a 
prerequisite for identification as an Indian entity by external observers under criterion 83.7(a). 
Additionally, the r~~gulations do not require that a petitioner be identified as an Indian entity by 
Federal documents (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 16) in order to meet criterion 83.7(a), 

1997, 101-102). 
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but only that it be i.dentified by some type of external observer. 

The CIT comment was to some extent off point, in that it did not address Quinault's theoretical 
presumption thal eac:h subgroup of an amalgamated petitioner must separately meet criterion 
83.7(a). contenting itself with asserting that the Cowlitz metis were not a separate tribe or band. 
The proposed finding indicated that the Cowlitz metis were a portion of the Lower Cowlitz tribe. 
The regulations do not require that Cowlitz metis have been the subject of separate 
identifications by t:xternal observers, as distinguishable from the remainder of the tribe. 

D. General Adl~qu;acy of Evidence for 83.7(b). Quinault asserted that the proposed finding did 
not present a basi s fi)r finding the existence of a modern community (Quinault Revised 
Memorandum 1998. 34-38 (issue 13); Quinault Memorandum 1997,22-25 (issue 14). The 
petitioner replied (CIT Response 1998, 14-16). 

1. .Vo Evidence of Actual Social Interaction Showing Historical Community. 78 

a. Quinault' s Po~iW)n. Although the issue under the regulations was that of CIT modern 
community (see above), Quinault stated: 

The abse:nce of documentary evidence indicating "community" activities from the 
turn of thc: cc:ntury through the mid-1970s, other than annual claims group 
meetings bc::tween 1912 and 1930s and again following 1950, belies the claim that 
a joint Upper Cowlitz and Lower Cowlitz "community" formed between 1878 and 
1904 (Quin.ault Revised Memorandum 1998,32; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 
21 ). 

Quinault's resean:he:r (Nicklason 1997, Nicklason 1998) argued at length that there was no 
showing ofhistori<:al community for the CIT.79 

b. BIA Analysis. The proposed finding stated: 

71Some of the c:omments in the background report submitted by Quinault indicated unfamiliarity with the 
terminology used at 'f2lJ':iOUS historical periods - for instance, that in 1919, ''Nowhere in the Roblin narrative on the 
'Cowlitz Tribe' does he mention the word 'Cowlitz community'" (Nicklason 1998, 110). "Community" was not a 
term used in the conte:l(t of tribes in 1919. 

79''Nowhere in the record reviewed for this report is there a description of the 'Cowlitz tribe' as a social 
tribal entity ... no e'l'icience that the group's membership interacted socially ... , on a regular and consistent basis 
involving the wide breadth of the group's membership and kinship lines ... offamily reunions, shared gift giving, 
shared religious acti .. itic:s, cooperative hunting or other economic activities that involved a significant number of 
members of other kiliship lines ... that most of the peripheral individuals maintained social ties and interacted with a 
social core .... of th,c cxiistence of organizations in which ceremonies or other activities could be practiced by the 
entire group .... beycnd 1:he matter of claims, there is no evidence of any group activities" (Nicklason \997, 102). 
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After 1863, Federal government policies combined the Upper and Lower Cowlitz 
for administrative purposes. and during the 1860's attempted to place the two on 
the Chehal is Reservation. By 1878, the Indian agent reported that prior hostilities 
between t1,e two bands had ended and that they were begiMing to intennarry. An 
actual com:munity and political or tribal merger occurred gradually throughout the 
second half of the 19th century. Both groups have been part of the fonnal tribal 
organization since its founding in 1912 (CIT PF 1997, Swnrn. Crit. 4). 

This statement ol:cwTed in the context of detennining previous unambiguous Federal 
acknowledgment. so Because the regulations provide that petitioners proceeding under 83'r8 do 
not need to show historic community, the technical reports did not evaluate evidence concerning 
it nor was the issue included in the discussion under criterion 83.7(b) as modified by 83.8(d)(2) 
in the Summary Cnder the Criteria (CIT PF 1997, Swnm. Crit. 20-31), which pointed out: 

When the petitioner is proceeding under 83.8(d)(2), the BIA may examine 
evidence pertaining to criterion 83. 7(b) for earlier periods. This does not 
constitute a rc:quirement that the petitioner demonstrate historical community. 
Rather. the dElta may be used both to provide context for the development of the 
observed contemporary situation under 83.8(d)(2), and to contribute to the 
discussion of criterion 83.7(c) under provision 83.7(c)(3), ... (CIT PF 1997, 
Summ. Cdt. 20-21). 

Much of the critiqu<: ()f the proposed finding presented by the Nicklason Research Associates 
reports (Nicklason 1997, Nicklason 1998) related to the issue ofhistoricaI community. Having 
presented 'the hyp()thc:sis that the petitioner did not qualify to proceed under the provisions of 25 
CFR 83.8 (see above), Quinault then objected that the proposed finding did not address issues 
which the modificcltiCin of the regulations for 83.8 petitioners do not require to be addressed. 

The Cowlitz PF did not evaluate historical community. It evaluated only the modern community, 
as required under tlll~ provision for previously acknowledged tribes in the 1994 regulations which 
state under 83.8(d)f2Jthat to be acknowledged a petitioner must show that: 

The group rnec~ts the requirements of the criterion in §83.7(b) to demonstrate that 
it comprise~: ;a distinct community at present. However, it need not provide 
evidence to d.emonstrate existence as a community historically (83.8(d)(2)). 

The anthropological r~:port. once previous acknowledgment was detennined for the Cowlitz, 

SOUnder 83.7(11), the statement was: "Between 1878 and \904, the Upper Cowlitz and Lower Cowlitz 
bands nOI only merged i:>t)(:itically as a consequence of Federal policy, but also to some extent socially •... " (CIT PF 
1997. Summ. Crit. 22) 
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was not tasked with evaluating evidence for historical community. Its basic task was \() 
evaluate the evidl~nc:e pertaining to the petitioner's modem community under criterion 83.7(b) 
and modem political influence and leadership under criterion 83.7(c). The following 
discussion deals '~'ith some of the statements made by Quinault concerning whether or not 
Cowlitz met criterion 83.7(b) before the present. Because it is not a requirement, the 
Department need not respond to specific issues related to evaluation of historical community 
that Quinault raises. 

However, some cf Quinault's misstatements concerning how the regulations are applied ,and 
erroneous interpretation of precedent are discussed generally in the following sections. This is 
not an exhaustive analysis of the issues raised by Quinault. Rather. it is merely to cl~fy the 
Department's pO~iition on this issue as it was presented in the proposed finding, so that there 
will not be confU5i~on in the public's minds about what the Department's position actually is. 81 

2. Quinault 's Sp,~ctfic Arguments Concerning Historical Community at Various Time. Periods. 

a. Quinault's Sl)~~:ific Arguments Concerning Historical Community 1878-1904. 

i. Quinault's Position. Quinault stated: " ... in 1893, another agent reported that the Cowlitz 
Indians were scattc:red, lived on small farms, and are 'so much absorbed into the settlements 
that they hardly form a distinct class anymore.' NRA 1893-1" (Quinault Revised 
Memorandum 1998, 12). Several statements in the Nicklason Research Associates reports 
(Nicklason 1997, Nicklason 1998) repeated these hypotheses in various ways,&2 summarizing 
that: 

81 The fact t:,at the Department does not discuss in this repon something raised by the Quinault which is not 

required under the rcgullations, does not indicate the Deparonent agrees with their critique or their evaluation of an 
issue. 

&2,'No evid.ence: of significant differences between the Cowlitz and their non-Indian neighbors ... 
concerning discriminati,on or relationships with non-Indians that would discourage interaction between the two 
groups ... of infomml n:lationships (friendships) occurring outside the fonnal claims group meetings ... concerning 
family reunions, wc:ddulg5 and the like that would have involved a Significant number of individuals from a 
significant number ofkiinship lines" (Nicklason 1997, 103). 

"Evidence c:ollToborating the disappearance of Cowlitz community is also found, as early as 1860, in 
reports characterizing the 'Cowlitz,' particularly the Lower Cowlitz, as scattered, living near, or on the lands of the 
non-Indian settlers. B:~ 1870, they were reported to be adopting the habits of 'civilization.' These descriptions 
continued in the recclrd through the 1880's. By 189S, the 'Cowlitz' were not only reported as scattered, but also 
losing their identity, ab!iorbed into the surrounding settlements and mingling mQre with the non-Indians than with 
their own race. Indeed, after 1886, they were no longer described as a cohesive tribe, not even in the statistical 
tables of the AMual RelPorts of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs ..... indicated by the dramatic decline in the 
number of referencle:; to them in Federal documents after 1881 ... " (Nicklason 1997, 53). 
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The data pn~sented by the BAR technical reports from the 1880 and 1900 
censuses do not show the existence of a distinct Cowlitz community. In 
addition, I:h(~re is no evidence in the record reviewed for this report to support a 
conclusion that a Cowlitz social community existed at the turn of the century 
(Nicklason 1997,54-55). 

ii. BIA Analysis. As noted above, the proposed finding under 83.7(b) did not address 
extensively the issue of whether there was a joint Upper Cowlitz and Lower Cowlitz 
"community" between 1878 and 1904 because it was not required to do this under the 
regulations. It referred to an administrative merger of the two groups for political purposes, 
e.g., " ... the consolidation of the Lower Cowlitz and Upper Cowlitz by OIA policy, ' . ," (CIT 
PF 1997, Swnm. Crit. 46). 

There were other documents from the late 19th century which provided external identifications. 
On June 8, 1894, Acting COlA Frank C. Anthony replied to a letter he has received from a 
resident of Kelso, O:>wlitz County, Washington, who requested "to be advised as to the rights 
of the Cowlitz Riv(:r Indians, numbering some one hundred, and living off the reservation" 
(Anthony to Losey 6/811894; Wannassay Papers (BAR Files}.1l 

Presumably, the Ni:klason Research Associates report meant that the 1880 and 1900 Federal 
census did not show that the Cowlitz lived in a compact residential community, since that is the 
primary data that could be extracted from census records. The 25 CFR Part 83 regulations do 
not require the existe:nce of a geographical community (see further discussion in subsection 3. 
below). The propmie:d finding addressed the traditionally dispersed residential pattern of the 
Cowlitz Indians (CIT PF 1997, Swnm. Crit. 13). 

In any case, the statl~ments quoted by Quinault were ambiguous. On the one hand, the agents 
clearly were aware of the existence of Cowlitz Indians and appeared to be tracking their 
activities and geneml well-being. The statement that they "hardly constitute a distinct class 
anymore," on its face, indicates, although weakly, that in this agent's point of view the Cowlitz 
in 1895 still constittled a distinct class. On the other hand, these kinds of statements have 
often been applied to petitioners, many of whom have been recognized in past decisions, when 
the tribe did not live on a reservation and had taken on many cultural characteristics of non­
Indian society. Nothing in this type of evidence would have immediately led the BIA 

13The writer had stated concerns about the taxability of the lands purchased by the Indians, and asked, 
"whether the Indians to whom you refer have a right to homes in severalty on an Indian reservation" (Anthony to 
Losey 6/8/1894, [t D. 111e~ OIA reply indicated various legal provisions, indicating that their applicability would 
depend on "further infol,nation as to who these Indians are, where they belong, whether they ever occupied a 
reservation, when they left: the same, how many, if any, have had the benefits of the public land laws, to be 
ascertained, and reported by some Agent of this Department designated for that purpose" (Anthony to Losey 
6/8/1894, [2-3J). 
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researchers to question the continuous existence ofth~ tribe's community if the petitioner had 
been proceeding tUldier the unmodified provisions of 83. 7(b). 84 

b. Quinault·s Sp~cific Arguments Concerning Historical Community and Social Interaction. 
1920-1949. 

i. Quinault's Position. Quinault's two formal comments did not specifically address 
community in thi~; time period (Quinault Memorandum 1997; Quinault Revised Memorandum 
1998), but did disl:1i.1sS it generally. Several passages in the Quinault historical repons 
(Nicklason 1997, Nil::klason 1998) again assumed that the petitioner should have been required 
to make a showing of historical community for this time period.85 

ii. BIA Analysis. Some of the "evidence" listed in ,the Nicklason Research Associates repon 
submitted by Qumault in support of its hypothesis cannot be regarded as in any way conclusive. 
For example. in regard to a 1933 letter of enquiry, the report maintained that members wrote to 
the BrA for inforr::lation because they no longer maintained ties to the community or the leaders 
whom they believe should be answering the questions. The Nicklason Research Associates 
report states: 'That an interested party to the Cowlitz claim did not seek information from the 
'Cowlitz Tribe,' but from the Indian Office in Washington, D.C., indicates a lack of social 
communication and I::ommunity" (Nicklason 1998, 154; see also Nicklason 1998, 161). The 

8"Such statements must. in particular. be evaluated in the cultural context of the period. In 1893. the COlA 
report contained statements that in western Washington. many reservation Indians were "working for whites" 
(Quinaielt Reservatio1., COlA Report 1893.329); the "unfortunate effects of citizenship," (Puyallup Reservation. 
COlA Report 1893,329); and "many Indians fonnerly on reservations and within agency control and enumeration 
have gone away into I)utltying regions" (COlA Report 1893, 385). 

85"A review of the record between 1921-1949, reveals no examples of the "Cowlitz Tribe" as a social 
community or entity ... no evidence that the group's membership interacted socially ...• on a regular and consistent 
basis. Also. there is no evidence of social community involving the wide breadth of the group's membership and 
kinship lines. For elC.2.rllple, there is no evidence of family reunions, shared gift-giving, shared religious activities, 
cooperative hunting or 01her economic activities involving a significant number of members of other kinship lines ... 
no evidence of the eXLsle:nce of organizations in which group ceremonies were practiced by the entire group or a 
significant part of it. Ttic:re is no evidence of a community mobilizing resources to help those in need. Indeed. with 
the exception of the Co,wlitz claim, there is no other evidence of group activities" (Nicklason 1997, 143; see also 
Nicklason 1998, 176-1'77). 

"During the yc:a:rs between 1921 and 1949, there is no evidence of significant differences between the 
Cowlitz and their nOln-lndian neighbors. For example, there is no evidence in the record concerning discrimination 
or relationships with non-Indians that would discourage interaction between the two groups. Indeed, the two groups 
are described as inteliningled and the Indians often described as 'citizens'" (Nicklason 1997, 143). 

"During the yean between 1921-1949, there is also no evidence ofinfonnal relationships, such as 
friendships, occurring outside the fonnal claims group meetings. Also, there is no significant evidence that 
substantial numbers I)f group members, including significant number of kinship lines, attended binhdays, funerals, 
weddings or other kindsl)fmainly infonnal gatherings" (Nicklason 1997, 143). 

89 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement CTI-V001-D007 Page 125 of 243 



existence of sud:. letters neither demonstrates community nor lack of community, un~ess their 
contents discuss the topic directly. Even as of 1999, the BIA frequently receives inquiries on a 
wide variety of matters from members of federally acknowledged tribes and petitioners alike 
who direct their letters and phone calls to agencies, area offices, and the central office rather 
than to their OV.11 tribal offices.56 

c. Quinault's Sp.!~:ific Arguments Concerning Historical Community, 1950-1973. 

i. Quinault's Positi()n. Numerous passages in the Quinault researcher's report (Nicklaspn 
1997) addressed the issue of historical community 1950-1973.1' (See also Quinault Rev\ised 
\1emorandum 199.g, 21) and other statements may have been intended to discuss historical 
community between 1950-1973. Some statements appeared to reference 83.7(b), but seemed to 
pertain either to (!videntiary standards or to criterion 83. 7( c) (Quinault Affidavit of Prejudice 
1997,4). 

ii. BIA Analysis. Nicklason's extensive critique on the issue of historical community, or 
"social communi~/' during this period was applicable only under Quinault's prior assumption 
that the petitioner did not qualify to proceed under previous unambiguous Federal 

86See also Quimlult's argumentation concerning the applicability of the direct correspondence of interested 
parties to the Cowlit2: cJaims with the BIA and its applicability to issues of political leadership and authority in the 
more detailed discus!iion of this period in section V.E of this report, below. 

87"The 1950 I:()nstitution of the Cowlitz Indian Tribe was a clear statement acknowledging the group's 
previous lack of social (:ommunity" (Nicklason 1997, 197) . 

.. A review of the record between 1950-1973, compiled for this report, reveals no examples of the 'Cow litz 
Tribe as a social community or entity. There is no evidence that the group's membership interacted socially 
(beyond claims organi.wtional and formal claims meetings), on a regular and consistent basis. There is also no 
evidence of social invC<i'Vement that included the wide breadth of the group's membership and kinship lines. For 
example, there is no e, idence of family reunions, shared 8ift giving, shared religious activities, cooperative hunting 
or other economic acti'lities involving a significant number of members of other kinship lines. In addition, there is 
no evidence of the existence of organizations in which group ceremonies could be practiced by the entire group. 
Furthermore, there is 110 e'vidence of a community mobilizing resources to help those in need. Beyond the claim, 
there is no other evidcr,'ce of group activities" (Nicklason 1997, 195). 

"There is no !sItC)wing the most of the peripheral individuals maintained social ties and interacted with a 
social core, an essential J'et~uirement of showing social community" (Nicklason 1997. 197). 

"During the yc:ars between 1950 and 1973, there is no evidence of significant differences between the 
Cowlitz and their non-Indian neighbors. For example, there is no evidence in the record concerning discrimination 
or relationships with non-Indians that would discourage interaction between the two groups. Indeed, the two groups 
are described as intenningled with the non-Indians, living with the general population of various non-Indians [sic] 
communities scattered th.roughout Washington State and elsewhere" (Nicklason 1997, 195). 

" ... during the years between 1950-1979, there is also no evidence of informal relationships, such as 
friendships occurring (Illtside the fonnal claims group meetings. There is no significant evidence that substantial 
numbers of the group's. CTlclmbers together attended birthdays, funerals, weddings and other kinds of mainly informal 
gatherings" (Nicklason 1997, 196). 
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acknowledgment. For a more detailed discussion. see section V.F of this repon, below., Based 
on the finding that the CIT had prior federal recognition. the Department need not respond to 
these arguments advanced by Quinault. 

3. Quinault Arguments in Regard to Geographical Distribution. 

a. Quinault's USs~Dfthe "Cohen Criteria." The background repon submitted by Quinault 
made the general slatement: "As to geographic community -- cenainly a requirement for a 
presumption of se,e:ial community -- there is no evidence showing that a substantial ponion of 
the Cowlitz inhabited a specific area or lived in a community viewed as distinct from all qther 
populations in the ;area" (Nicklason 1998, 118, 177).81 In addition to the substantial amount of 
space devoted to the issue of geographic dispersion in the technical repons, Quinault cited 
other references, e.g.: "Evelyn Bashor, the group's Secretary Treasurer testified that the 
group's members:1ip was 'scattered all over in every state in the Union.' id. at 38" (Quinault 
Revised Memorandum 1998,23; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 16). [before I.C.C.] 

b. BfA Analysis. Quinault's arguments on this issue to go back to the "Cohen criteria" on the 
issue of geographica.l dispersion. By so doing, Quinault attempts to evade the criteria for 
Federal acknowl,edgment as stated in 25 CFR Part 83, which do not require the existence of a 

S8The issue :,f geographical dispersion is presumably the reason for quoting the statement of Taholah 
Agency in 1943 thai: the George Spearchachen Indian homestead was "not within an Indian reservation or within 
close proximity of any Indian land center" (Nicklason 1993, 167). 

The Nicklason Research Associates reports repeated substantially the same words for each chronological 
period analyzed: "Ellidc:nce substantiating a conclusion that a functioning sociaVpolitical Cowlitz tribe or 
community had ceasc:d to exit [sic] in the last decades of the 19'" century is found in reports characterizing the 
'Cowlitz,' paniculal'ly the Lower Cowlitz, as scattered, living near or on the lands of the non-Indian settlers" 
(Nicklason 1998.57). . 

"There is no c:vidence that a substantial portion of the Cowlitz inhabited a specific area or lived in a 
community viewed as American Indian and distinct from other populations in the area. All of the evidence in the 
record reviewed for the purpose of this report shows a group so geographically scattered that not even a 
presumption of social cc,mmunity exists. In addition, the evidence in the record reviewed for this report clearly 
showed that the Cowlitz descendants living in non-Indian communities. Indeed, during this period the group's 
membership is not e:ve:n defined" (Nicklason 1997, 103). 

"There is nc, c:vidence that a substantial portion of the Cowlitz inhabited a specific area or lived in a 
community viewed as American Indian and distinct from other populations in the area. All of the evidence in the 
record compiled for this report shows a group so geographically scattered that not even a presumption of social 
community can be made:. In addition, the evidence clearly showed that the Cowlitz descendants lived within the 
non-Indian commwlitie~j" (Nicklason 1997, 144), 

See also: '''AU 'of the evidence in the record compiled for this report shows a group so geographically 
scattered that not even a presumption of social community can be made. In addition, the evidence clearly showed 
that the Cowlitz descenclants lived within the non-Indian communities of Washington State and elsewhere" 
(Nicklason 1997, 196). 
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geographical community (25 CFR 83. 7(b)( I )89 in the past or at present. 

Of course. the crr. because they were previously acknowledged, do not have to meet 83.7 (b) 
before the present. However, some response to Quinault's misapplication of the regulations is 
called for. The 1994 revisions include a provision that allow a "presumption" of social 
community in casl~s where members live in a "geographical area exclusively or almost 
exclusively composed of members of the group" inhabited by more than 50 percent of the 
petitioner, with thl~ r€~maining members maintaining consistent interaction with some members 
of the community. Such as a geographical settlement is sufficient evidence in itself to show the 
existence of COnllTlllJ1.ity (25 CFR 83.7(b)(2)(i). This concentrated population distribution 
pattern is not requ: red if there is other evidence of community. This population concentration 
is an optional form of evidence, as are several other fonns of evidence which are sufficient in 
themselves to meet cliterion 83.7(b)(2). These fonns of evidence were not used by the CIT 
petition or the BlA in evaluating that petition, and the fact that any petitioner may not meet this 
standard does not mean that they can not meet the regulations combining other evidence for 
community. 

-I. Quinault Challenge to Two-Tiered Concept o/Social Relationships. Quinault took a three­
pronged approach Oil this issue. 

a. Use of Evidenc~Jrom Subgroups. 

i. Quinault's Position" Quinault argued that the use of evidence from subgroups was not 
permissible under tht: regulations and the BIA analyzed this point. § IV.A.3. 

ii. BIA Analysis. 

b. Applicability oCiubgroup Evidence to the Petitioner as a Whole. 

i. Quinault's Position. Quinault argued that: " ... evidence of 'subgroups' is not probative 
evidence of the existe:nce of a larger Cowlitz community, encompassing the 'subgroups'" 
(Quinault Revised Mt~r:norandum 1998,32). 

ii. BIA Analysis. QUinault's statement of the proposed finding's conclusions is not entirely 
accurate; the proposc~d finding did not conclude that the evidence of subgroups was evidence of 

89For a more ex'tco!iive commentary on the basis of this provision of the regulations, sec the comments to 
the 1994 regulations (59 FR 9286-9287, February 25, 1994), which pointed out that the revision of criterion 83.7(b) 
"omitted an apparently ifllpliied requirement that a group live in a geographical community in order to demonstrate 
that this criterion was met" (59 FR 9286), and that, "{tJhe omission of a geographical requirement reflects current 
practices in interpreting tl'\l~ regulations and recognizes that tribal social relations may be maintained even though 
members arc not in close geographical proximity" (59 FR 9287). Compare 83.7(b)(2)(i). 
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the existence of a larger Cowlitz community encompassing the subgroups. Rather. it 
concluded that there:: was evidence of interaction within each subgroup constituting "strong 
social communi1y" and "weak but demonstrable" community. still adequate to meet criterion 
83. 7(b). among th(~ subgroups, i.e .. for the petitioner as a whole (CIT PF 1997, Summ. Crit. 25: 
see also CIT PF 1997. Summ. Crit. 27). 

c. Validity ofth~ Depiction in the Proposed Finding. 

i. Quinault's Position. Quinault argued that the depiction of the Cowlitz subgroups in the 
proposed finding was not valid: 

... the proposed description of a two tiered Cowlitz community with strong 
social inte:ra(:tion among members of certain identified subgroups and weak but 
sufficient interaction between members of the subgroups is not supported by the 
evidence, The record made available to the Quinault Nation, including redacted 
portions of Dr. Schoepfle' s interviews, the Irwin Affidavits, and associated 
material,s imply do not describe the subgroups which the Department identifies 
as the cOIlitituent components of the modem Cowlitz community or the 
membershilP of these alleged subgroups. More importantly, there is no 
probative ,:vidence that demonstrates significant social interaction across 
kinship lirle::s among a majority of the Cowlitz membership necessary under the 
regulatiolH., As discussed below, the alleged evidence of "weak" social 
interactior, dc~scribed by the proposed findings simply does not meet the 
acknowledgment criteria (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 34). 

ii. BIA Analysis. The proposed finding concluded: 

Viewed in thl~ light of the requirement in 83.1 that the criterion for community 
be "understlDod in the contest of the history, geography, culture, and social 
organization ·ofthe group," we find that the historical development of the 
Cowlitz Indi~1ll Tribe (CIT) has resulted in a two-level community structure, in 
which comrmmity is stronger at the level of the subgroup and looser, but still 
consistently c:xtent, at the level of the tribe as a whole. Therefore, the petitioner 
meets criterioln 83.7(b) as modified by criterion 83.8(d)(2) (CIT PF 1997, 
Swnm. Crit. 31). 

The issue here is a difference between the Government and the Quinault in their interpretation 
of the significmce of the evidence in the record. In the proposed finding, the AS-IA concluded 
that the evidence demonstrated that the petitioner did meet the criterion for modem community. 
The technical report for the final detennination provides immediately following, and also in 
section V., a morc: c:xtensive analysis of the evidence in the record and its significance for 
criterion 83.7(b), as modified by 83.8. 
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5 CfT Commenl: Fit:patrick Supports Cowlitz Community. 

a. CIT Commen1. A. recent researcher who had published concerning the Cowlitz wrote to the 
BlA stating: 

1 understar.c! that certain portions of my 1986 dissertation on the Cowlitz, 
. entitled \\J~AIe Cowlitz: Traditional and Emergent Ethnicity, is being used 
against thl! Cowlitz.90 I suppose almost anything can be used against almost 
anyone, bllt I consider my dissertation to strongly support the Cowlitz as a 
community and a tribe of Indian people. But, it could be the case that the reader' 
would have;: to know how to use the information and understand what that \ 
information means (Fitzpatrick to Fleming 2/5/1999). [footnote added] 

Fitzpatrick supported the existence of a modern Cowlitz community, stating that her research 
had found that kinship was especially strong: 

Chapters llu'e,e and six are where I present the data for and my conclusions that 
the Cowlitz are a community and a tribe of Indian people. They are especially 
strong in UlI:i.r genealogical, family, and kinship network connections. For 
instance, S(:t: pages 207, 213, 214, 220 [of We Are Cowlitz] and the kinship 
charts whic:h show lineal descent, and kinship networks, and clusterings of 
families wh'J are related to one another, continue to work together on the 
Cowlitz behalf: and visit one another frequently, informally, so that their 
relationship is more than official. Additional statements can be found on pages 
233 and 235 lof We Are Cowlitz] (Fitzpatrick to Fleming 2/5/1999). 

She also responded to specific issues raised by Quinault: 

I was directed to pages 94 and 108 [of We Are Cowlitz] as selections which the 
Quinault Tribe have misused to critique the Cowlitz. If the quote from page 94 
is completed •. , . then it clearly is supportive of the Cowlitz as a tribe. Page 108 
strikes me as a trivial issue since it is difficult for anyone to find something 
contemporary tiD read on the Cowlitz, and they may not be interested in legends, 
I interpreted the: embarrassment I noticed, in the Cowlitz leaders, to his request 
to mean that thc:y wished there was something recent for people to read, not that 
they were igllorant of reading sources (Fitzpatrick to Fleming 2/5/1999). 

b. BIA Analysis. 111t~ material submitted by CIT in this comment was directed primarily at 

9Opossibly a reft!rertce to the analysis of Fitzpatrick's dissenation in the Nicklason Research Associates 
report (Nicklason 1998, 274-275). 
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Quinault·s interpn:~:altions of Dr. Fitzpatrick's research. presenting no new data on the issue of 
modem community, and no criticism of the BIA proposed finding in this regard. 

6. Quinault's Specij1c Issues Concerning .\1odern Community. 

a. 1955 Lawsuit. Quinault stated that it was inappropriate for the BIA to use litigation 
concerning grave sites and subsistence fishing in the 1950's as evidence for modem community 
(Quinault Revised :\-1e~morandum 1998,34-35; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 22-23). 

\. Quinault's Posicion. Quinault stated: 

... this lawsuit predates the time frame the Bureau has chosen as appropriate for 
showing m()de~rn community. It is inappropriate to exclude the 1950s from the 
period desi.gnalted necessary for a showing of modem community and then 
suggest that .a single isolated action during this earlier period is evidence of 
community ~lt a later date (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,34-35; see 
also Quinault :Memorandum 1997,23). 

II. BIA Analysis. Under criterion 83.7(b). the Summary Under the Criteria stated: 

In 1955 the! Gc:neral Council leadership sued the City of Tacoma to protect the 
grave sites and subsistence fishing of families affected by the danuning of the 
Cowlitz riv':lr. Elderly Upper Cowlitz witnesses provided testimony about both 
their own and also Lower Cowlitz family sites, indicating familiarity with the 
activities of Cowlitz settlements that crossed subgroup lines and individual 
geographic:al concentrations .... The 1955 lawsuit is important because it shows 
that the Tribial Council intervened to protect the grave sites and subsistence 
fishing right, of their membership affected by the proposed darns (CIT PF 1997, 
Summ. Crit. 27-28). 

This passage contained no apparent suggestion that "a single isolated action during this earlier 
period is evidence:>f Icommunity at a later date" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 35), 
but rather defined the importance of the event as pertaining to another criterion, 83.7(c), 
providing one fonn of evidence listed in criterion 83.7(c) as required at 83.8(d)(3) for 
previously acknowledged petitioners. 

b. Disputes over Lj:e of Group Property. This item raised by Quinault pertained to the 
construction of a sweat lodge on CIT -owned property (Quinault Revised Memorandwn 1998, 
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35: Quinault Miemorandum 1997,23-24).91 

i. Quinault' 5 PO!iition. Quinault approached the construction of the sweat lodge in a matter 
involving two crit,eria, stating: Religious Disputes Over the Use of Group Property show a 
Lack of Community and Political Influence" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998. 35). In 
regard to the issue under criterion 83.7(b), Quinault asserted that, "[t]he actions of a self­
selected faction ()f the petitioner in constructing improvements on group property and 
establishing rules for the use of the property without consultation with the group's 'leaders' or 
other authorization by the group as a whole. demonstrates a lack of broad social community .. 
. " (Quinault Revisf:d Memorandum 1998.35). 

ii. CIT Comment. The CIT response on this topic may be found in the discussion under 
criterion 83.7(c), ,LS it was more pertinent to the issue of political influence or authority. 

iii. BfA Analysis. At this point, Quinault did not specify how it believed that the presence of 
internal disputes ',vi thin the CIT indicated a "lack of broad social community." Many federally 
recognized tribes d() not consistently function on the principle that members always agree on 
issues. The BIA evaluations have generally held the opposite position: that arguments and 
differing opinions about issues of importance to a large portion of the community tend to show 
that a community e:xists. Such arguments can not occur among individuals who are not in 
contact, do not know one another and do not care deeply about issues of concern to the tribe. 
In this case, the disputes over religion and the sweat lodge are a shorthand way of discussing 
the overall purpose and intention of the petitioner. The members are asking: Is the tribe a 
business and development oriented entity composed of a well acculturated membership or a 
cultural and welfare: entity composed of individuals who are culturally "Indian?" Many of the 
discussions about rdigion are actually discussions about the overall direction the tribe should 
take, rather than about imposing specific religious ideology on members. The fact that a 
majority of the members participate in this discussion indicates that members share a cultural 
idiom which allows them to discuss this issue on shared tenns. 

In fact, the case of 1:hc~ sweat lodge shows widespread interest in tribal affairs. contrary to 
Quinault's argumen1s aibove. Virtually everyone interviewed knows about the sweat lodge 
controversy. They kn,ow the issues, the players and the social fault lines. Many steps have 
been taken to avoid hc:a.d-on conflict in several ways: 

1. They tend to minimize the importance of religion. Those interviewed denied that the 
dispute involved religion and played that aspect down. People were reluctant to criticize 
others' religious practice and were anxious to make clear to the BIA anthropologists that the 

---------------------
91 Quinault discu:;sed the same issue under the category of political authority and/or influence (Quinault 

Revised Memorandum 1998,46; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 32). 
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argument did nN involve criticism of religious practice. 

2. The trib;al council discussed insurance and liability on the property. Some worried 
about the safety of children who ran free on the river's edge while parents were in the sweat. 
The property was posted. The rules established have come predominantly from the tribal 
council and deal with safety and liability issues, not religious doctrine. 

3. There was a strong feeling among most that anyone who wanted to attend should be 
allowed to attend. a sweat. A few believed that inclusiveness, although well intentioned. should 
have some limits :f amother person's religious sensibilities would be offended by the actions of 
others in the sweat lodge. They were concerned that some people may invent or insert actions. 
words or music i:n a sweat, including Christian or Plains Indian elements, that would offend 
others who follo"" ,a prescribed procedure or ritual that they believe to be more authentic of 
Cowlitz or Northwest coast traditional practices. One person objected to non-Indians attending 
a sweat. The issue se'ems to be handled at present by having both widely advertized sweats and 
more private sweas. 

The political asPC!I:lts of this issue are discussed below in section IV.E. 

c. Quinault's St:!S~:ific Arguments Concerning the 1973 Changes in Membership Eligibility. 

i. Quinault's Position. Quinault states; "The 1973 Revision of Enrollment Qualifications 
Does Not Reflect the Pre-Existing Social Boundaries of the Cowlitz Petitioner." (Quinault 
Revised Memorandum 1998,35; Quinault Memorandum 1997,24-25). Quinault states that: 
"Prior to 1973 me! rnbership in the Cowlitz group was open to any person of Cowlitz descent" 
(Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,35; see also Affidavit of Prejudice 1997, 5), adding a 
footnote that, "Dtis fact itself [is] evidence of the claims nature of the organization" (Quinault 
Revised Memora:ndum 1998, 35n24). 

Quinault summarized the proposed finding as follows: . 

The propose:d findings assert based on the opinion expressed in the 
Anthropological Technical Report that this change adjusted the membership 
requirements to reflect the known social community and affected relatively few 
individuab who had previously been active in Cowlitz activities. SUCPF at 30 
(Quinault Rtevised Memorandum 1998, 36). 

Q~inau1t objected. te> the above conclusions, arguing that they were not "based on probative 
evidence in the recclrd" and "there is no showing that a "social community" existed in the early 
70's or before" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 36), with a footnote reading: "This is a 
further example of lUll effort to rely upon the existence of historic social community which is 

97 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement CTI-V001-D007 Page 133 of 243 



never demonstrated" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998. 36n25).9Z Quinault mainfained 
that: 

.... the conWxt of the decision belies the claim that change in membership 
ret1ects a desire to limit membership to a socially active core group. The record 
indicates that the membership change was a direct response to the settlement of 
the group's daim before the Indian Claims Commission and the desire to 
prevent dilution of the award. Concern was expressed that individuals who 
were enrolled with other tribes had already obtained benefits not received by 
other Cowlttz members. No contemporaneous records indicate that the change 
was an effiJr1: to exclude those who had not previously been active in the group 
(Quinault Re:vised Memorandum 1998, 36-37). 

ii. CIT Comment. CIT replied that, "[i]t is axiomatic that a tribe has an unfettered right to 
establish criteria fo r membership" (CIT Response, 1998, 16). CIT contended that the 1973 
actions: (1) ;<established a blood quantum requirement for membership similar to that adopted 
by many tribes, inc: uding the Quinault," (2) prohibited dual enrollment, "similar to 
requirements of mitny tribes and all federally recognized tribes, including the Quinault," and 
(3) while they may have excluded some people from membership, they did not permit the 
inclusion of individuals otherwise not entitled to membership (CIT Response 1998, 16). CIT 
added that, aof part.icu.lar significance is that the genealogical continuity and integrity of the 
current membership is unquestioned" (CIT Response 1998, 16). 

iii. BIA Analysis. To a considerable extent, Quinault takes an inconsistent position and 
defines the "Cowlit2: group" (used as an alternative tenn for the formal organizations of the 
CTO. CTI. and CIT sequence) as equivalent to the Cowlitz Indians or the Cowlitz tribe. The 
report submitted by Quinault asserted that an August 24, 1933, letter from E.O. Potter of 
Puyallup, Washington,'13 to the COlA concerning the progress of the Cowlitz claims bill 

92Quinault reitle:"alte:d at this point that the BIA anthropologist's conclusions were tainted by actual bias 
(Quinault Revised MemcIBndwn 1998,36). For discussion of this allegation, see above in the section concerning 
methodological and procedural issues. 

Quinault reitemt:ed at this point its statements concerning "contradictions" between the CIT. PF. ATR and 
GTR. For discussions of tni.s matter, see above in the section concerning methodological and procedural issues. 

93The BIA has id~:ndtied the cOlTespondent as Everett Potter. b. 19 January 1891, Puyallup, WA (Roblin 
Rollp.15.I/SCowlitz, 191~'res.Aberdeen, WA)(seeNicklason 1998,159-160.164). Theinfonnationthat 
enabled this identification. 'NIlS provided to Quinault as part of the FOrA (COWlitz GTKY File, BAR). Comments by 
Quinault counsel at the OI1··the-Record Meeting, November 23, 1998. indicated that he had not yet utilized this 
material (Transcript, On··th,e-Record Meeting, November 23, 1998, 147-150). 

Potter was not, in fact, cOMectcd to Cowlitz events: on June 3, 1 ~29, he had written to Superintendent 
W.B. Sams of the Tahohlli'l Al~ency stating: I just received a letter today stating you were at the head of the 
Cow lititz [sic) Tribe and ( wCluld like to hear from you by return mail. .. I all so fmd that the cowlitz [sic] tribe has 
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"indicates a lack of social communication and community" (Nicklason 1998. 154; see fUrther 
~icklason 1998. 1 :;5). However. elsewhere. Quinault argues that the decision by the CIT in 
1973 to exclude su:h remotely-descended persons. most of whom did not reside along the 
Cowlitz River. from membership did not indicate that the tribe knew its own social boundaries 
(Quinault Revised ~vf~:morandum 1998. 36). 

Evidence in the record indicates that the petitioner was clearly aware of the distinction between 
tribal membership a:nd possible eligibility to share in a judgment award. The CTI attorney; on 
\1ay 7. 1968, wrow: 

It is our un.d~:r:standing that officials of the Cowlitz Council have prepared a 
form whereby persons claiming Cowlitz descent may apply for registration with 
the Tribe and that the Council has been accepting a small fee from each 
applicant fc r r1egistration. It is further our understanding that the officials of the 
Council consider that the acceptance of the application and the small fee is not 
to be construed as a recognition by the Council that any particular applicant is of 
Cowlitz descelr1t or as a commitment that such applicant will be entitled to share 
in any award or the benefits of any award which may be recovered on behalf of 
the Cowlitz Tribe in Docket No. 218. We are also informed that some concern 
has arisen til connection with the foregoing procedure because a substantial 
number of p~:rsons presently enrolled with the Yakima Tribe of the Yakima 
Reservation are applying to register with the Cowlitz Tribe (Weissbrodt and 
Weissbrodt to McNichols 51711968; Wannasay Papers, BAR Files.) 

Minutes and correspolrl.dence and other documents make it clear that at the time the 197311974 
decision was mad~:, members were very well informed as to the results. They knew who would 
be in and who wou.lcl be out once the line was drawn at 1I16th. But the petitioner was 

not been organized full but just a few of them on record" (Potter to Sams 6/3/1929; Quinault Ex. 7: 1929·10). Sam 
replied that all papers rei',afing to the claim were "evidently in the hands of the attorney or of the Business 
Committee of the Cowli1;Z Indians" (Sams to Potter 6/5/1929; Quinault Ex. 7: 1929-11). 

Everett Potte:r'S nlother(nee Millie Nix, b. 25 February 1870, Roblin Roll p. 15,1/4 Cowlitz, 1919 res. 
Centralia, W A) had slllcces;sively married two non-Indians; he himself had also married a non-Indian. This family 
cannot be classified &!, pi~t of the Cowlitz metis social group, since none of the non-Indian marriage partners after 
the first generation we,re French-Canadian/Cowlitz. Neither did the family reside in the Cowlitz River Valley. 

Early 20" cerllury testimony stated concerning this family's ancestress: "The father ofClockomolt the 
elder was one named W~Ij}:tie. a hyas tyee. who was part Cowlitz and part Black river with some Snohomish 
relation." (Quinaielt Aclopltion Case No.5). Her daughter, Clockomolt the younger, married Charles Forrest, who 
died in 18S I. Their d:Ull~ter, Mary Jane Forrest, was living at Steilacoom in Pierce County as early as 1855. where 
she married Ronmous Hiix .. As a descendant, E.G. Potter had a right to be interested in the progress of the claim. 
This did not mean thaI 1e was socially pan oCthe tribal entity, which may be one reason why that in regard to him. 
"no tribal community 'or p()litical leadership existed at this time to mobilize economic resources to help to take care 
of their poor" (Nickl&!;ol1l 1998, 160). 
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nevertheless able to hold the vote and enforce it. 

For the last statement in CIrs comment, see the discussion under "Descent from the Historic 
Tribe,"' section IV.G of this report, since Quinault did raise questions concerning the issue of 
descent. 

d. Quinault's "Th:H~e Examples in 40 Years" Argument. 

i. Quinault's Position. "The Presentation of Three Examples of Purportedly Significant Social 
Interaction Spanning a Period of More than Forty Years Does Not Demonstrate the Existence 
of a Modem Community" (Quinault Memorandum 1997,25). More specifically, Quinilult 
stated that: 

... the petitioner must demonstrate significant rates of social interaction which 
extend broadly among members of the group as a whole .... The lack of 
probative evidc:nce of continuing significant social interaction across the group 
as a whole i;, underscored by the fact that two of three examples presented can 
readily be e~}(plained as claims related (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 
37). 

ii. BIA Analysis. Quinault did not list which three examples it was discussing in this passage. 
Quinault did not s~~c:ify to which 40 year time span its argument referred. For a petitioner 
which has establish.~:cl previous Federal acknowledgment, the regulations only require that the 
petitioner demonstrate that it comprises a distinct community at present. 
83.8 (d)(l). In this <:~lSe, the BIA's analysis of the petitioner'S present community has focused 
upon the period spaluung 1981 (some ten years before the documented petition was submitted) 
to the present. Nor di.d Quinault specify which two of the three undefined examples it 
considered to be clslims-related. Therefore, consult generally section V. of this report for a 
discussion of the rec:orcl. 

e. Assumption of L~:Etdership Roles by New Members. 

i. Quinault's Position. "The Lack of a Strong Modem Community is Demonstrated by the 
Relative Ease With Which New Members Assume Leadership Positions in the Cowlitz 
Petitioner" (QuinauJt Revised Memorandum 1998, 37), Quinault stated: "The ease with which 
Marsha Williams anel her cousin Sonny Aalvik assumed leadership positions shortly after. 
discovering their 'Cowlitz roots' demonstrates a lack of a true community among the members 
of the petitioner" (Qllinault Revised Memorandum 1998,37), and provided a somewhat more 
extensive commentary (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 37-38). 

ii. BIA Analysis. The: record shows that the extended families of these "new members" had 
been involved with Cowlitz activities for generations. While the Cowlitz connection of their 
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families may hav~: come as news to the individuals at s~me point in their young adulthood 
because of their oVr'llearly connections to Yakima, the broader family lines from which they 
came had been inwrac:ting with the Cowlitz, as noted by a substantial number (16 of 64) of 
SkloutwoutlGerrancl descendants who signed the 1934 petition for Cowlitz fishing rights (see 
above). 

While the technical re:ports ordinarily avoid presenting genealogical data concerning living 
individuals, the following is stated because all of the persons have served as CIT officers, and 
are thus publicly icle~ntified as Cowlitz. The common grandmother of Marsha Williams and 
Sonny Aalvik was an only child. Abby (Gerrand/WeaserIStooquin) Reynolds Estabrook was 
enrolled and allot1:t~d at Yakima in right of her mother. Neither she nor her children were 
members of the CTO or CT!. Her descendants after 1946 were determined ineligible for 
Yakima enrollment when that tIibe changed its membership requirements to require residency 
in or near the Yaki.rna Reservation. Marsha Williams first joined the CIT at some time between 
the 1966/69 list and the 1978 list, roughly the same time that many of the duly enrolled Cowlitz 
at Yakima were barred from CIT membership. However, though new members, Williams and 
Aalvik were not stJangers to the established CIT leadership: for example, CIT chairman Roy 
Wilson, born on Yakima, was also a descendant of the SkoutwoutlGerrand line, and a second 
cousin of the motlll~rs of Aalvik and Williams. In this context, their assumption of leadership 
roles should not ble interpreted as showing an absence of community within the petitioner. 
What is illustrated by their and others' life stories is the combined results of establishing 
discrete boundaries )not only for the Cowlitz in 1973 but also for the Yakima in the 1940's. 

E. General Adequlu:y of Evidence for 83.7(c). Quinault stated that the evidence does not 
support a finding that the petitioner has maintained substantially continuous political influence 
or authority over i~; members from historic times to the present through identified leaders or 
otherwise (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,39-46 (issue 14); Quinault Memorandum 
1997,25-32 (issue: 15). The petitioner replied (CIT Response 1998, 16-18). 

Throughout the ba.c:kground report submitted by Quinault (Nicklason 1998), the documentation 
cited is basically that which was considered by the BIA for the proposed finding. Quinault's 
interpretation ofthc~ significance of that documentary record does not agree with the 
interpretation accepted by the AS-IA in the proposed finding. The general standard imposed by 
25 CFR Part 83 is thalt there should be a reasonable likelihood of the validity of the facts - not 
that iliere must be c.onclusive proof (see 25 CFR 83.6(d» (Quinault revised Memorandum 
1998,31). 

Certain of Quinault's .arguments which to some extent pertained to this topic have been 
discussed above w1der section IV.D., Types of Evidence Acceptable as Demonstrating Tribal 
Existence. 

1. Quinault's General Hypothesis. 
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a. Quinault's Position: Without Conununity. No Political Authority. Quinault asserts the 
general hypothesis that the Cowlitz organization was a claims organization. and there was no 
community (as the word is defined and used in 25 CFR Part 83) over which the organization's 
leaders exerted any sort of influence (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 45-46; Quinault 
Memorandum 1997,26). A substantial portion of the background reports submitted by 
Quinault (NicklasoTl 1997, Nicklason 1998) was devoted to this argument. 94 

The proposed findings recognize the fact that a group may have had leaders is 
not sufficil:nt to demonstrate the existence of political influence and authority 
required by 25 CFR §83.7(c) whether modified by §83.8(d)(3) or not. Even as 
revised the~ r':brulations "maintain the essential requirement that to be 
acknowledg<:d a petitioner must be tribal in character and demonstrate historic 
continuity of tribal existence." SUCPF at 32. "[P]olitical authority cannot be 
demonstrated without a showing that there is a community within which 
political influe:nce is exercised." 59 FR 9287 (Quinault Revised Memorandum 
1998, 3 9; s~:e: also Quinault Memorandum 1997, 25-26). 

b. CIT Comment. "There is a continuity of the Cowlitz tribal organization without break from 
the early 20111 Century, a continuity which could not be matched with documentation by many 
currently-recogniz1ed tribes - including Quinault - if they were required to do so" (CIT 
Response 1998, 16:,. The comment continued by mentioning scattered activities including 
voting by Cowlitz Indians in the 1935 IRA election for the Quinault Reservation (CIT 
Response 1998, 17), and by attacking the Quinault Nation's constitution (CIT Response 1998, 
17). 

c. BIA Analvsis. Quinault's argument is an effort to repudiate the modified evidentiary 
standards for criteria 83.7(b) and 83.7(c) in 25 CFR 83.8, presumably on the basis ofits 
arguments advanced ehsewhere that the BIA improperly permitted CIT to proceed under the 
provisions of83.8. The language quoted by Quinault from the comments to the 1994 
regulations, that ,,~, ]olitical authority cannot be demonstrated without showing that there is a 
community within which political influence is exercised" (59 Fed.Reg. 9287, 2123/94), 
pertained specifically to the issue of demonstrating historical community under the unmodified 
provisions of criter:ic)J[l 83.7. 

The CIT was mistaken in its interpretation of participation by Cowlitz Indians in the 1935 

94"Because thc;re is no evidence of social community, there can be no existence of political influence and 
authority .... Put another way, the existence of an active formal organization, particularly one that only dealt with 
claims, does not in itself demonstrate that the group was exercising tribal political authority, especially if the 
members do not form a (:(Immunity or maintain political relationships" (Nicklason 1997, 147). 

"Because there: is no evidence of social community, there can be no existence of political influence and 
authority" (Nicklason 1997, 104). 
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Quinault IRA ele·:tion. "Cowlitz Indians" as such did not participate, but only such CQwlitz 
descendants who we:re Quinault allottees (see 1935 Quinault Voters' List). CIT's comment in 
regard to the Quinault constitution is irrelevant to evaluation of CIT under 25 CFR Part 83. 

2. Quinault's Spec~fic Issues. 

a. Evidence ofl::;jbal Character. Quinault stated: "The Evidence Does Not Establish that the 
Petitioner is Tribal in Character or that It Has Maintained Historic Continuity of Tribal . 
Existence Essential to Maintenance of Political Influence or Authority" (Quinault Revised 
Memorandum 1998,.39). Quinault did not present any new data in this section, but refer~ced 
"the evidence dis';1Jssed above" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,39). For extensive 
discussion of the: entire issue, see sections IV.B., IV.D., and V. of this report. 

b. Lower Cowli'~~ Leaders as Political Leaders of the Cowlitz Metis. (Quinault Revised 
Memorandum 19~8, 39-40; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 26). See detailed discussion below 
under section V. D of this report. 

c. Evidence Cor!!:t~r:ning Cowlitz Leaders Exercising Political Influence or Authority during the 
1880's and 1890'~. (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,40-41). See detailed discussion 
below under section V.C of this report. 

d. Non-Claims I~2.1iticaJ Leadership 1904-1950 (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 41-44; 
Quinault Memora.ndum 1997,28-29). See detailed discussion below, under the nature of the 
CTO, section V.E of this report. 

e. Political Influ~:rtce 1950-1974 (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 45-46; Quinault 
Memorandum 1997,31-32).95 For detailed discussion of Quinault's points under this heading, 
see below in section V.F. of this report. 

f. Political Influ~ncc::, 1980's and 1990's. 

i. Quinault's Pos:ttion. Quinault stated: "Evidence for the 19805 and 1990s indicates that the 
Group through 11:5, LI::aders or Otherwise Does Not Exercise Sufficient Political Influence or 
Authority to Control the Use of Group Resources by lls Members" (Quinault Revised 

95Quinault also addressed this point as an issue of evidence and evidentiary standards: 

Significantly. the A TR, neglects to discuss the Cowlitz group's own characterization of its nature 
in the 1950 Constitution and bylaws. That self-characterization is inconsistent with the Bureau's 
proposed fir,dlirllg that the Cowlitz organization was something more than a voluntary association 
of Cowlitz descendants fonned for the purpose of pursuing claims (Quinault Affidavit of 
Prejudice I S'9'7, 4). 
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Memorandum 1998, 46; Quinault Memorandum 1997,32).96 For detailed discussion of 
Quinault's points lmdc:r this topic, see below in section V.H of this report. 

F. Descent from a Historical Tribe. Quinault asserted that the petitioner's membership does 
not consist of individuals who descend from a historic Indian tribe or tribes which combined 
and functioned as a single autonomous entity as required under criterion 83.7(e) (Quinault 
Revised,Memorandum 1998,47 (issue 16); Quinault Memorandum 1997,32-33 (issue 16); 
Quinault Memorandum 1997, 4). The petitioner replied (CIT Response 1998, 18). 

1, Definition of DE'scent from a Historical Tribe, 

a. Quinault's PositiQn" Quinault presented two direct arguments which, if accepted would 
modify the definition of "descent from a historic tribe" under criterion 83.7(e). Quinault also, 
by implication, ques,tioned the descent of the Cowlitz metis from the Lower Cowlitz Indians. 
Quinault stated: 

The Cowlit~ petitioner does not meet the requirements of §83.7(e) for two 
reasons. First,:ag discussed above, the metis were never considered Indian97 

prior to their alleged amalgamation into the petitioner. Second, as discussed 
previously the: c:vidence does not support a finding that the Upper Cowlitz, 
Lower Cowb.tz, and Cowlitz metis groups historically combined to form a 
single autonomous political entity (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 47; 
Quinault Mc~::rlOtrandum 1997,32-33). [footnote added] 

Similarly, the: proposed findings seek to extend the umbrella of previous federal 
acknowledgment to the Cowlitz metis as a consequence of their alleged direct 
descent from and continuing ties with the Lower Cowlitz before 1855 .... 
(Quinault Rc!vised Memorandum 1998,4). 

h. CIT Response. The CIT based its response on the findings of Dr. Verne Ray (no citation) 
and restated that, "the Cowlitz Metis [sic] was never a tribe as such, but rather constituted the 
Cowlitz mixed blooe:, population which otherwise was part of the tribe" (CIT Response 1998, 

96Quinault disc\;.ssed the same issue under the topic of modem community (Quinault Revised 
Memorandum 1998,35;. Quinault Memorandum 1997,23-24). 

97Quinault did not ~lddress the issue of why children of the Cowlitz metis families were sent to Indian 
schools prior to the establishment of the CTO (for examples, see CIT PF, GTR 13, 57, 68, 114-116), presumably the 
date meant by the phrase: "their alleged amalgamation into the petitioner" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 
47). Neither did Quinault address the inclusion of some Cowlitz metis on the special Indian population census 
schedules in 1900, also plioI' to formation of the CTO. Both these facts indicate that the Cowlitz metis were 
considered Indian and pal1 of the Cowlitz prior to the formation of the CTO. 

104 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement CTI-V001-D007 Page 140 of 243 



18). 

c. BIA Analvsis. Tbe Quinault comments indicate several significant misunderstandings of the 
provisions of crite:liol1 83.7(e). 

First, criterion 83.:'(e) does not state that the petitioner's members must descend from a group 
"consid,ered Indian," but requires rather that they descend from a historic tribe .- one which 
existed at the time: of earliest sustained contact with non-Indian settlers in a region. There is no 
historical question that both the Upper Cowlitz and Lower Cowlitz tribes existed at the time of 
first sustained contact.98 The 25 CFR Part 83 regulations do not prohibit that descent may 
come through intenmunage of members of the historic tribe( s) with persons of any other racial 
group -- in this instance, through the Lower Cowlitz marriages with French Canadians and 
their children, the Cowlitz metis, or mixed blood Cowlitz. The Cowlitz metis may be 
distinguished from other mixed blood descendants of Indians only in that they descend from a 
specific set of marriages: those of Lower Cowlitz Indian women to French-Canadian men, or 
of non-Cowlitz Indian women who were married to French-Canadian men and who had come 
to be associated ""rith the Cowlitz Tribe in pre-treaty times. 

The Quinault issue of whether or not the Upper Cowlitz and Lower Cowlitz Indians merged 
politically in the se,cond half of the 19th century is discussed in detail below, section V.B of this 
report. The Quinault issue of the nature of the Cowlitz metis and the subgroup's relationship to 
the Lower Cowlitz Indians is discussed in detail below, section V.C. of this report. The 
proposed finding did not classify the "Cowlitz metis" as a third distinct band, as implied by 
Quinault. 

As for the "alleged direct descent" of the metis from the Lower Cowlitz Indians (Quinault 
Revised Memoraruh.u:n 1998, 4), Quinault itself showed in other portions of its submission that 
it was aware of the "genealogical connection" when remarking that in 1878 the Lower Cowlitz 
chief Atwin StockmD and Simon Plamondon Jr. were "close relatives" (Quinault Revised 
Memorandum 199:~" 6). Quinault did not provide evidence disputing the ancestry delineated in 
the GTR. 

2. 35% of Petitioner "s Ancestry Comes from Non-Cowlitz Women. 

a. Quinault's POSUiQll. Quinault stated: "Fully 35% of petitioner's current membership traces 
itself to non-Cowlit~ .ancestresses of these French-Canadian employees. GTR at 3" (Quinault 
Revised Memorandum 1998, 13). 

9&The Offici.! I GlJidelines summarize that "historic" or "historical" tribes are "tribes that existed when non­
Indians settled in thepeltitioner's immediate territory - or parts of these tribes, or combinations of them" (Official 
Guidelines 1997,52). 
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b. BIA Analvsis. Thi.s 35% of the petitioner's current membership traces to ancestresses, who 
were non-Cowlitz I:ndian wives of French-Canadian Hudson's Bay Company employees. 

To a considerable I!xtent, Quinault's comment in this matter rests upon its assertion that the 
petitioner did not qualify to proceed under 83.8 discussed above. The petitioner did indeed 
have previous unaJnbiguous Federal acknowledgment. The proposed finding emphasized the 
importance of the n~ct that the association of these ancestresses with the Lower Cowlitz took 
place in pre-treaty times (before 1855), prior to the last date of prior federal recognition. Since 
the Federal govenUTlent recognized the Lower Cowlitz which include these ancestresses, under 
83.7 (c) as modifi(!d by 83.8, the petitioner traces to the entity which existed at the latest date of 
previous unambiguous Federal acknowledgment, however, it came to be. It is not necessary 
under the acknowledment regulations to analyze how that entity came to be or the elements 
which composed it Tbe historical tribe from which the petitioner must descend is the one 
which was acknowledged by the Federal Government. The petitioner meets this criterion. The 
proposed finding empihasized that these associations occurred in pre-treaty times (CIT PF 1997, 
Sumrn. Crit. 46; crr PF 1997, GTR 76-84). See also the Supremem Court docket file in 
Halbert v. U.S., at 366, where the District Court quotes the testimony of Roblin: 

David Provoe's mother was a Stikine Indian, that is, from the 
Stikin district of south Alaska ... She had been brought down into 
this c:ournty and had been tribally adopted under the old customs 
of the: Cowlitz tribe and had been amalgamated and become a 
member of the Cowlitz tribe and david Provoe had been born 
from a, marriage contracted at that time in the Cowlitz country 
and was always considered and recognized as a Cowlitz Indiian .. 
. the F'rovoe family .. .I listed them as belonging to the Cowlitz 
tribe." Chief William Mason of the Quinault tribe of Indians 
statec: that Mary Francis Provoe and her children were "members 
of the Cowlitz tribe." 99 

Most of the federalI} ;ac:knowledged reservation tribes of western Washington -- Nisqually, 
Puyallup, Quinault itself - have many members who descend from "other Indians" who moved 
onto and became ass<)<Ciated with the reservations at some point in the second half of the 19th 

century or who were a:dopted by the reservation tribe at some point (as in the case of the 1911-
1912 Quinault alloam:nts)}OO Such developing historical associations are not prohibitive of 
Federal acknowledgment. In 1892, much of the argumentation presented by "A Boston 

------------------------------
99 Id. at 609. 

100 At the On-thle·Rccord Meeting, November 23, 1998, the BIA researcher offered to do a study of 
ancestral lineage origins for Ihe Quinault enrolled membership to provide a basis for comparison. Quinault did not 
accept the offer. 

106 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement CTI-V001-D007 Page 142 of 243 



Tillicum" in his book about the Puyallup Reservation was that many of the allottees weren't 
"natural born" Puya.llup, but had just been placed on the reservation by the government and 
should not have had a right to any land allotments. The Department did not then accept this 
argument and does not now accept it. 

The proposed finding explained in full the circumstances under which, prior to the 1855 date of 
unambiguous previous Federal acknowledgment, the non-Cowlitz women in question came to 
be associated with tlh~: Cowlitz Indians (CIT PF 1997, Swnm. Crit. 35-36; CIT PF 1997, GTR 
76-83). 

A concrete example of the durability of these associations was given in the August 3, 1908, 
deposition of Edwcu'd Cottonaire, the son of one such woman who became affiliated with the 
Cowlitz. He described himself as "a member of the Makah tribe oflndians," (other records 
identified his mother as Quinault, Ketse, or Chinook) who, "being first duly sworn deposes and 
says that he has lived with the Cowlitz tribe oflndians for seventy years, that he has known 
Simon Plomondon Jr. since said Plomondon was eight years of age" (CIT Response 1998). 
Contemporary primary documents showed the presence of Edward Cottonoire and his parents 
on Cowlitz Prairie: in the 1830's (Warner and Munnick 1972, 38/39).101 These long-standing 
relationships conti.nue: to be effective to the present day, as testified by a long-term officer of 
the CIT: "My mothler's mother, Elizabeth Gervais Plamondon, died when my mother was born, 
and Edward Cottonware (Cottenoir) and his wife raised my mother, so we always called him 
Grandpa Edward" (Evelyn St. Gennain Bashor Byrnes Affidavit 1989, CIT Pet. A-2359). 

Edward Cottonoire's older brother, Michel, had married Cowlitz metis Sophie Plamondon 
already in 1842, prior to the treaty. The marriages between the first-generation "Cowlitz by 
blood" metis with the first-generation children of these "associated" ancestresses indicated the 
social integration of the families descended from the "associated" women. For example, the 
1900 Federal Census' special Indian Population schedule of Olequa Precinct, Cowlitz County, 
identified both parc:nts of Simon Cottonware, son of Michel Cottonoire and Sophie Plamondon, 
as "white and Cow.lit2:" (1900 U.S. Census, Olequa Precinct, Cowlitz County, Washington, 
84A, Special Schecl1.l14: - Indian Population, #717), although the father descended from an 
"associated" ancestrless and the mother from Cowlitz Chief Scanewa. 

The most important point is that this category of the petitioner'S ancestresses were Indian 
women who were Lacorporated socially and politically into the Cowlitz tribe, as were their 
descendants. Wha.tev4:r their origins, this made them Cowlitz (as tribal membership is a 

IOIManiage #:19: The 8 April 1839 ... Michel Cognoir, fanner of this place, fonnerly of Saint Cuthbert 
district of Montreal. Canada, and Marie, Ketse by nation ... wits. Augustin Rochon and Simon Plamondon (Warner 
and Munnick 1972, 3~1). " ... before whom the said spouses have recognized as their legitimate children Edouard 
aged 7 years, David agl~d :1 years; and the groom recognizes as his legitimate children by another woman now dead, 
Michel aged 18 years and Lisette aged 17 years" (Warner and Munnick 1972, 38/39). 
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socio/political designation, comparable to citizenship at the Federal level). The incorporation 
of these ancestresses into the Cowlitz tribe, prior to the latest date of unambiguous previous 
Federal acknowledgment, resulted in a change in tribal membership, just as the enrollment of 
persons of Cowlitz. anc:estry on Chehalis, Nisqually, Quinault, or Yakima resulted in a change 
in tribal membership status. The descendants of these women are Cowlitz by virtue of their 
ancestor's incorporation into the tribe, although not by their ancestor's birth. This was 
specifically recogni:l\~d by Halbert v. u.s. when it designated the Provoe family as Cowlitz for 
purpose's of allotrn(!l1t on Quinault, although the facts indicated that the specific ancestress had 
been a Stikeen woman incorporated into the Cowlitz tribe. 

3. Significance of J 973 Membership Changes for Descent. 

a. Quinault's Positi!2J\1. Quinault stated: 

The Genealogical Technical Report, hereafter GTR, presents substantial 
evidence that as. the result of major changes in its membership in the early 
1970s, the petitioner is not the same as Cowlitz Tribal Organization that was 
formed as th~: re:sult of the merger of the Lower Cowlitz, Upper Cowlitz, and 
Cowlitz meti.s ill 1912 102 (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 8; see also 
Quinault Mc:morandum 1997, 4). (footnote in original] 

b. CIT Comment. Th.e CIT's general comment concerning the 1973 membership eligibility 
changes (CIT Responsc~ 1998, 16) did not directly address this issue. 

c. BIA Analysis. This is not an issue properly raised under criterion 83.7(e), and would appear 
on the face ofit to apply to criterion 83.7(b), community, or, possibly, to the issue of tribal 
continuity from the prc:viously recognized entity under 83.8 (see section III). However, 
Quinault's footnote iilldicated that the intention was to raise the issue as one of genealogical 
descent. 

The modification of a petitioner's membership requirements does not contradict descent from 
the historical tribe wl.d,er 83.7(e) because the members who remain in the petitioning group 
show descent from tb: historic Cowlitz. The regulations require that the petitioner be the same 
as that previously recognized or a portion thereof. CIT meets this requirement. As analyzed 
under criterion (b) ami «:), the changes in membership requirements did not impact the tribal 
continuity of the petit:cmer. 

I02The Quinault Niltion notes that it has been prevented from conducting an independent evaluation of the 
tribal heritage of petitioner'!; membership and changes in membership that may have occurred because it does not 
have membership lists and genealogical information (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 8nlO). 
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V. FACTUAL ISSUES AND INTERPRETATION OF DATA IN THE RECORD. 

This section oftht technical report addresses the evidence and data in the record. 
Interpretations of the meaning of the regulations and the applicability of certain types of 
evidence under th: n:gulations have been addressed in section IV, above. 

A. Historical Dat:l Not in the Record at the Time of the Proposed Finding. 

1. Sources of New Documentation Used. 

a. New Docume:Q!!3.tion Located by BIA Researchers and Solicitor's Office. New historical 
documentation p1entinent to the CIT petition was l,ocated by BIA researchers as follows: 

i. 1922 Letter. A letter to the Chairman, Committee on Indian Affairs, United States Senate, 
concerning Court of Claims jurisdiction and referencing the Cowlitz as "without any tribal 
organization" (FiIUlC:y to Spencer 4/19/1922), located in another petition in BAR files; 

ii. 1951 Letter fh))n COlA. A letter from the COlA to a member of the House of 
Representatives I:om:erning the removal of the BIA office from Hoquiam to Everett and listing 
the Cowlitz as among the tribes (members unenrolled) to which the agency extended services 
(Myer to Mack 1 './16/1951), located in another petition in BAR files; 

iii. Documents pl:Jrtaining to 1855-56. A series of docurpents pertaining to the Cowlitz Indians 
in the period 1855··1856 which had not been submitted by the petitioner at the time the 
proposed finding W~LS issued on NARA Microfilm Series M-5, Reel 16. A BIA staff member 
identified these in August 1997, while researching another petition; and 

iv. Excerpts from Supreme Court docket file in Halbert v. U.S., including excerpts from 
district court dec:ision and Roblin's testimony. 

b. New Documl~:rtation Submitted by CIT. In its 1998 Response to the first set of Quinault 
comments (CIT Response 1998), CIT included a certain amount of additional historical 
documentation, as il1lventoried in the List of Sources of this report (other items duplicated 
material already :tIllhe record). Additionally, members of the CIT Wannassay family 
independently submitted additional docwnentation during the comment period (Wannassay 
Papers). 

c. New Docum~[lta.tion Submitted by Quinault. Some of the materials submitted as exhibits by 
Quinault in December 1998 (Nicklason Exhibits 1998; see inventory in the List of Sources of 
this report) were: not and had not been in the record at the time the proposed fmding was issued. 
Other items duplkated material already in the record. 
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2. Principles of Usage for New Documentation. Regardless of source, the new documentation 
will be analyzed topic:ally in this technical report rather than according to who located or 
submitted the material, or to what date it was located or submitted. 

B. Corrections alld Additions to Topics Discussed in the Proposed Finding. ,o3 

1. In Regard to the 1855-1856 Indian War. For the final determination, the BIA received 
additional documentation which corrects the historical technical report for the proposed 
finding. 

a. HTR Statement_C:onceming Confiscation of Cowlitz Guns. The HTR summarized petition 
statements concerning confiscation of fireanns belonging to the "Cowlitz Tribe" by Captain 
Edward D. Warbass on May 12, 1856 (CIT Pet. 1987, Narr. 12-13) and stated: "The 
petitioner's own do.;;umentary exhibits (CIT Pet. Ex. A-47, A-48 - A-59), dated May through 
July, 1856, do not d~a:rly support the interpretation that the weapons taken at this time were the 
property of the Cowlitz tribe" (CIT PF 1997, HTR 49). 

b. Additional DOCldtI1e~ntation. Subsequent to issuance of the proposed finding, a BIA 
researcher identified additional documents concerning the Cowlitz Indians during the period 
from 1855 through I S57 intermixed with documentation concerning the Medicine Creek treaty 
tribes (NARS M-5, Reel 16). These documents were also submitted in evidence by Quinault 
(Quinault Ex. 2, Ex:. 3). 

c. Additions and C~~n~ctions HTR. In a report on the setting up of the Cowlitz Reservation, 
October 1855, Agent John Cain indicated that he had "assembled all", about 450 in number, 
and had induced thC::TI to give up their guns and ammunition and go to a temporary reservation 
(NARA M-5, Reel 16). Subsequent to the war, Cain submitted a list of the names of owners of 
the gUns and ammurition, and the value -- a total of44 guns. Several of the owners 100l bore the 
same names as persons who also appeared as Cowlitz on such later documents as the 1870 
Federal census and the 1878 Milroy censuses (see CIT PF 1997, GTR; see also below). 

I03Quinauit sub11litted considerable documentation penaining to the pre-treaty period (Quinault Ex. 
1: 1822·1 through I 854-~.; Quinault Ex. 2: 1854-5 through 1855-5). Since the fmal detennination has found no 
reason to alter the decision that the petitioner should proceed under §83.8, these documents have not been analyzed 
in detail in the technicall'C·p>rt. Much of the documentation submitted by Quinault concerning the treaty 
negotiations was in the n:co .. d for the proposed fmding and constituted resubmissions (Quinault Ex. 2: 1855-7). This 
material has been noted. 

I04YaJc-e_nah, K'l till, WaJ-eeh, WaJ-i-qui-is, Tal-u-yah, Wy-ee-noo. Shuc-wal-ah, Wah-a-wah. SiI-u-yan, 
Kas-tom-ie. Qual-i-an, K!y-;lcen, Wats-how-ish, K[blotJ-i-tom-ie. Tal-i-kish. Eel-shan-um; Tasb-u-ick, Ky-ap-ut, Ti­
ky-an, Wal-a-hee, Lah-quels, Qui-tom-ah, Tstal-pat-tie (NARS M-5, Reel 16; submitted as Quinault Ex. 3: 1857-8, 
3). 
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2. In Regard to BIA Contact with the Cowlitz, 1856-1912. For the final determination, the 
BIA has received data providing additional material on topics discussed for the propose'd 
finding and addre:ss,ing some topics not discussed for the proposed finding. The BIA has taken 
these new submis!;iol1s into consideration in preparing the technical report for the final 
determination, evm though each individual item may not be cited. 

a. Material Pertabing to BIA Contacts with the Cowlitz Between 1856 and 1880. This has 
been discussed above: in Section III of this report, under the topic of previous unambi~uous 
Federal acknowledgment. 

b. Indian Homesl~:ad Affidavits. Quinault submitted, in addition to the list of Cowlitz Indians' 
homesteads in thc~ Cowlitz River Valley, which was available for the proposed finding, copies 
of selected affidavits made to obtain these homesteads, with some related documents. These 
have been discuss,~d and evaluated in section III of this report, under the topic of previous 
unambiguous Fed::Jral acknowledgment. 

c. Yakima Allotln~:nt Applications. Quinault submitted extensive portions of Reports of 
Action of the committee on applications for enrollment and allotment on the Yakima 
reservation from 1910 through 1912. Quinault's use of these was in relation to the impact of 
the application for and acceptance of such allotments on maintenance of tribal relations by the 
tribe from which the Yakima applicant was relinquishing membership. They have been 
discussed in section III above. 

d. BIA Correspo!~k~. Most of this material pertained to the early years of the Cowlitz 
Indians' claims initiative. Some items (Quinault Ex. 4: 1904-1; Acting COlA Tonner to Hon. 
Francis W. Cushman. 10/24/1904 re: Cowlitz claim) were basically just a sununation of COlA 
reports over the yc:ars. These reports were in the record at the time of the proposed finding. 
Other of this documc:ntation represented additions to the record, lOS and has been discussed 
below under the applropriate topics in this report. 

3. Since 15)12. Fc)I~ the final determination, the BIA has received data providing additional 
material on topics discussed for the proposed finding and addressing some topics not discussed 
for the proposed finding. The BIA has taken these new submissions into consideration in 
preparing the techIl~(:al report for the final determination, even though each individual item 
may not be cited. 

IOSSirnon Pliun()ndon Jr. affidavit. July 6, 1909 (RG7S, GenSer 55826-09-260; Quinault Ex. 4:1909-11). 
Follow-up document!; {Quinault Ex. 4:1909-25, 1909-26; Quinault Ex. S:1910-2 - 1910-63; COlA to U.E. Harmon, 
November 9, 1910, Quinault Ex. S: 1910-68). Also pertaining to possible allotments of Cowlitz Indians on Quinault, 
1911, were: (Quinault Ex. S: 1911-8 - 1911-9, 1911-12, 1911-14, 1911-17, 1911-18, 1911-19, 1911-20, 1911-21, 
1911-22,1911-23, 1911··25, 1911-27, 1911-28, 1911-30, 1911-34). 
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a. BIA Corresponfls~~. The majority of the addition~ correspondence from the early years 
continued to pertain to the topics of possible allotments for Cowlitz Indians on the Quinault 
Reservation (Quinault Ex. 5: 1912-2,1912-4,1912-6,1912-8,1912-18,1912-21,1912-23, 
1912-24,1912-27,,1912-29,1912-40,1912-46,1913-1, 1913-2,1913-9, 1913-9B). The 
majority of the Qu.inault submissions ofBIA correspondence 'for the period from the 1920's 
through the 1940's consisted of correspondence from individuals pertaining to the Cowlitz 
claims initiative, as did the Quinault submissions for the period from 1950-1973 (see Section 
V, below). There was little new BIA correspondence pertaining to the period from 1974 to the 
present. 

b. Claims Documc~[!ts and Membership Lists. Quinault submitted a substantial number of 
additional Cowlitz lists of varying types. For description and analysis of these lists, see 
sections V.E. and VI. of this report. 

c. Documents Pertictning to Legislation to Enable a Cowlitz Claim. 1912-1940'5. Much of this 
material overlapped with the category of BIA correspondence. It has been discussed under the 
appropriate topics within this report. 

d. Documents fromJmd Pertaining to ICC Docket 218. Chronologically, the additional 
submissions from this source ranged widely in date, not all pertaining to the period since the 
ICC claim was initiated in the 1950's. These documents have been discussed under the 
appropriate topics. 

e. Internal Cowlitz_~locuments. The overall contents of the submission are listed in the List of 
Sources for the tecltlical report. The most important were the records obtained from heirs of 
James Elias SareauIt, which do not constitute the entirety of his papers pertaining to the eTO 
and CTI, and some modem affidavits. 

C. Associa~on of the Lower Cowlitz and Upper Cowlitz. 

1. Amalgamation althe Lower Cowlilz and Upper Cowlitz. Quinault maintained that there is 
no probative evidem:e: supporting the proposed finding that the Upper Cowlitz and Lower 
Cowlitz Bands merged politically and socially between 1878 and 1904 (Quinault Revised 
Memorandum 1998,31-32 (issue 11); Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 12-13 (issue 3); 
Quinault Memorandum 1997,20-21 (issue 11)). The petitioner replied (CIT Response 1998, 
13-14). 

a. Quinault's Positi~!!l. In discussing whether or not the CIT was qualified to proceed under 25 
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CFR 83.8,106 Quir:.a.ult stated: "The proposed findings attempt to address this problem by 
claiming that the Upper Cowlitz and Lower Cowlitz were amalgamated and gradually merged 
through the second half of the 19th century. Summary Under the Criteria for Proposed Finding, 
hereafter SUCPF ,i1t 4" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,4). Quinault denied that such a 
merger or amalgcunation occurred (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 12) and sununarized 
its view of the proposed finding's statements in regard to this topic under issue 3 at points A), 
B), and, C), which pertained to this topic rather than to the role of the metis (Quinault Revised 
Memorandum 1998, 12-13; Quinault Memorandum 1997,6; both citing CIT PF 1997, Summ. 
Crit., 4). 

i. Quinault summarized its own perspective as follows: "There is no probative evidence to 
support this concbsion and the evidence that does exist is overwhelmingly to the contrary" 
(Quinault Revised M:emorandurn 1998, 31), and by stating that the accompanying Nicklason 
Research Associ,lte:s Report: 107 

demonstrat~!s the lack of support for the conclusion that the Lower Cowlitz and 
Upper Cowlitz underwent a gradual process of merger during the latter part of 
the 19th Cf!l11:Ury. While at times the agents may have referred to the groups 
collectively by the generic term "Cowlitz Tribe" or "Cowlitz Indians,"lo8 the 
reports consistently describe the existence of two separate groups the Lower 
Cowlitz al1di the Upper Cowlitz (also sometimes referred to as the Tait-tin-a­
pam or Cowliitz Klickatats). For example, in his 1876 Annual Report the 
Commissionc:r ofIndian Affairs described the Tait-tin-a-pam as a separate group 
who remained apart from the Cowlitz (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 
14; see also Quinault Memorandum 1997,8). [footnote in original] 

I06For disclIlssion of the issue of previous unambiguous Federal acknowledgment, see above, section III of 
this report. 

107This was !,tated more elaborately in the Nicklason Research Associates report: "There is no evidence to 
support a conclusion that the Lower and Upper Cowlitz tribes amalgamated between 1855 and 1903. For example, 
the historical record r.:vie:wed for this report consistently described two separate tribes residing in and around the 
Cowlitz River Valley, the Lower Cowlitz tribe and the Upper C\Jwlitz Tribe (also know [sic] as the Tait-tin-a-pam, 
or Cowlitz-Klickatats). In addition, other published descriptions of the Cowlitz consistently described two distinct 
tribal entities (the Lowt:r Cowlitz and the Upper Cowlitz), in the area of the Cowlitz river Valley). Although the 
Lower and Upper Cowlitz were sometimes grouped together under the generic tenn 'Cowlitz,' within that grouping, 
they were consistendy Il'Cferred to separately as the Lower Cowlitz and the Upper Cowlitz tribes" (Nicklason 1997, 
52). 

10a"The use ofdle collective term 'Cowlitz Tribe' or 'Cowlitz Indians' can hardly be viewed as evidence of 
merger when many (,rthe: reports that use this term refer the [sic] 'Cowlitz' as on the decline and scattered among 
the whites" (Quinault Reyised Memorandum 1998, 14nI2). 
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11. Quinault also stated: 

Notably, the: government's effort to relocate the Upper and Lower Cowlitz, the 
end of activ~ hostility between the two groups, evidence of intermarriage, and 
the occasiomd lumping of the two groups together for administrative purpose, 
which are c:lairned as evidence of a process of merger all predate the late 1870s 
[sic], a tim~= when it is clear that there had been no merger (Quinault Revised 
Memorandum 1998, 15n I 3 [no citation to specific pages in the CIT PF 1997]); 

The local agent's statement during this period [1860's- 1870's] that the Upper 
Cowlitz and Lower Cowlitz groups were now at peace after a long period of 
hostility and h~ld intennarried to some unknown extent hardly demonstrates 
merger in light of the widespread practice of intermarriage among neighboring 
tribal group~; (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 14-15; Quinault 
Memorandu::rl 1997, 8). 

\11. Quinault stated:hirdly: 

Even more compelling evidence of the lack of merger of the three groups is the 
letter written by the Lower Cowlitz leader Atwin Stockum to agent Milroy in 
1877 which i.s discussed in the HTR at 83-84. In his letter Stockum advises 
Milroy that he: will look out for his own people "but will not have a thing to do 
with the click a tat." Id. Stockum's reluctance to take responsibility for the 
Upper Cowlitz was apparently known to the local settlers who about the same 
time asked that Milroy appoint Captain Peter as Chief of the Klickatats. HTR at 
84; see also, SUCPF at 33 (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,15; Quinault 
Memorandum 1997. 9). 

b. CIT Comment.ll1e CIT basically defended the practices of anthropologists and 
ethnohistorians as ming "resources which might not rise to the level of 'documentation' which 
nonprofessionals mil~t otherwise seek," particularly citing to the work of Dr. Verne Ray 
produced for the ICC (CIT Response 1998, 13), which concluded that the CIT which he 
represented was ''the )x)litical continuation of. and successor to, the aboriginal Cowlitz Tribe" 
(CIT Response 1998, 14). CIT also referred to some other contemporary statements: 

Milroy conver.led the Cowlitz tribe through the leadership of their chief, Atwin 
Stockum, for a (:ouncil on December 13, 1878. He wrote: "I requested Chief 
Atwin to assemble his people in council the next day together with all the 
Klickatats in tha~t vicinity which he did." Milroy met with the Cowlitz tribe in 
this council. Milroy explained to Hayt that the Klickatats acquiesced in the 
leadership of Ch~ef Atwin Stockum: "The few Klickatats present agreed to 
abide by whu1: At-win said. Most of the Klickatats reside on the upper Cowlitx" 
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(Milroy H,78a, Ex. 3373) (CIT Response 1998, 11). 

CIT also cited other mentions that the Klickitat were with Atwin Stockum: 

"Their chi4:f At-win (preferably Antoine) (See Report Corns. Ind. Affs. for 
1870, p. 18), is considered a reliable and trustworthy man. His people and said 
pand of Klid:atats made peace some ten years ago and are intermarried and 
bands oflht:m live with At-win on Mr. [H.D.] Huntington's land" (Milroy 
1878a, E,,:. 3372) (CIT Response 1998, 10). 

c. BIA Analvsis. Under the regulations, the issue is whether there is enough evidence to show 
that the petitioner me~ets each of the mandatory criteria under the standard of reasonable 
likelihood of the validity of the facts. Under the provisions of 83.8, the proposed fmding did 
not have to address a. merger of these communities between 1878 and 1904. Excluding this 
issue leaves the following discussion of the political situation, as it was analyzed under 
criterion 83.7(c), dearer. 

The proposed find iog did not question that there were still two distinct bands as of 1878. Some 
evidence clearly indicates a distinction of the two groups as of 1878, such as the Pumphrey 
letter. On December 25, 1877, William Pumphrey, a resident ofthe Cowlitz watershed, wrote 
to Milroy requesling that the BIA Agent "make Captain Peter Chief of the Clickatat Indians" 
(Pumphrey to Milroy 12/25/1887; NARA M-234 Roll 219, 103). The 1878 census of the two 
bands is discussed b(:low. No official document appointing Captain Peter has been located. 
Federal agents, howc:~ver, later dealt with him as a chief. 

While the Nicklason Research Associates reports (Nicklason 1997, Nicklason 1998) argued 
that there was no mnalgamation between the Lower Cowlitz and the Upper Cowlitz, they and 
the associated e",hibits submitted by Quinault provided ~ significant amount of new 
documentation of association between the two bands, much of it pre-dating 1878. For 
example, in a series of 1854 suggestions concerning proposed treaty reservations, William H. 
Tappan, Sub-agent for the Southern District of Washington, suggested that the Cowlitz 
"probably could be ' ... induced to go with the Tie tin a pans '" (Nicklason 1998, 18). Quinault 
does not agree wiith the BIA's interpretation of the data cited. The disputes revolve, to some 
extent, around the issue of whether the regular OIA grouping of the Cowlitz and the Taitnapam 
together, while still listing both of the names, should be interpreted as indicating association or 
lack of association (Nicklason 1998,24,27,29,33,34,38,59-60). The Department interprets 
the group as one c.f' association. 

As the CIT refere:nce:s and other sources indicate, the two groups were intermarried and 
interacted. Although Stockurn may have had reservations, the proposed finding concluded that 
in the end they were joined by the Federal goverrunent agents, which dealt with them as a unit. 
These people and. their descendants who remained within the Cowlitz Tribe, joined by this 
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action, have continued since then to act together in various contexts. 

2. Specific Topics 

a. Pre-I878 CowU.tz Decline. 

1. Quinault's Position. Quinault stated: 

"Cowlitz" decline, due to contact with non-Indians, was identified as early as 
1857. By 1863, the Cowlitz were described as few in number. As early as 
1865, the "Cowlitz" were referred to as a remnant or remnant tribe,l09 a 
characteri2:lltion that continued to appear when they were mentioned in the 
Historical record throughout the early years. IIO The combined BAR Technical 
Report on t~e Duwamish Tribal organization stated that when observers used 
the word "remnant," it indicated that a historical tribe was losing its 
distinctiveness. (BAR Technical Reports, Duwamish Tribal Organization, p. 
26, para.l) In 1878, the agent reported that the Upper Cowlitz were still in a 
state of decline (Nicklason 1997,52-53). [footnotes added] 

11. BIA Analysis. This argument can not be accepted. 

First, Quinault misquoted the passage from the Duwamish HTR, which was focusing on the 

I09The Nickla:;on Research Associates report indicated that in a general sense, as early as 1854, Sub-agent 
William H. Tappan of the Southern District of Washington Territory referred to the Indians of his jurisdiction as 
"remnants" of "tribes 1,\ ho at one time had been numerous and powerful but were then degraded and few in number" 
(Nicklason 1998, 16). The: "remnants" in this generic sense would include a number of tribes which are now 
federally acknowledge:". 

The specific I S6S; reference would seem to be to a September 7, 1865, letter from Chehalis Reservation 
Farmer Joseph Hubbard to Agent A.R. Elder: "There is but a remnant of the Cowlitz tribe left" (Nicklason 1998, 
360). Generally, the N.cklason Research Associates report equated some degree of acculturation with a dissolution 
of tribal relations: "By 1870, they were reported to be adopting the habits of 'civilization'" (Nicklason 1997,53) 

The adoption of "civilization" by the Indians was news that the COlA wanted to hear from field agents, as 
in the 1893 report from the: Neah Bay Agency: " ... it is gratifying to me to report a great deal of good 
accomplished for the bc:ttelmlent of these Indians tending towards their civilization, much more than I dared hope 
for at the commencement ()f my term of office; .... " (COlA Report 1893, 325). 

IIOSee for example the 1869 COlA report, which described as "remnants of tribes" the Chehalis, 
Shoalwater Bay, Chinool" Cowlitz, Clatsop, and others" (Nicklason 1998,38); the 1872 COlA report which 
referred to all the non-treaty tribes, including Cowlitz, as "remnants of tribes" (Nicklason 1998, 40). (But see, 
Docket - Supreme Court at 337, 348-49, where the District Court states that the Cowlitz tribe had a tribal 
organization, unlike th,e Chehalis and Chinook. This description cannot be regarded as detenninative that such 
groups no longer main'tllinc:d tribal relations, since the Federal Government assigned Chehalis a Federal reservation 
and Chehalis has contil'luledl in acknowledged status until the present. 
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loss of distinctive:ness among the historical Puget Sound tribes after they were consolidated . 
onto joint reservations: 

Some obst!J"vers thought that historical tribes, like the Duwamish, were losing 
their distiru;tiveness. The first Handbook of American Indians, published in 
1907, statt:d that the "remnant" of the Duwamish band was "incorporated with 
the Snohomish and others under the Tulalip" agency (Hodge 1907, 1 :407). This 
observation was repeated in 1916 by local historian Clarence Bagley (Bagley 
1916, 77). When asked in 1913 to indicate the tribal populations on each 
reservation, the superintendent at the Tulalip Agency claimed that "it is not 
possible to draw distinct tribal lines" because the treaty tribes had intermarried 
so extensively .... (U.S. BIA Tulalip [1913], 1) (Duwamish PF, HTR 26). . 

Second, the plain language of "remnant" or of descriptions of tribe as being in a "state of 
decline" is identif)'ing a group which retains some distinctiveness even if it may not be as 
strong and easily i,j,entified as in previous years. 

Third, the evaluation of the evidence done by the BIA for the proposed finding and for this 
final detennination indicates that both the Lower Cowlitz (including their metis relatives) and 
the Upper Cowlitz still existed and still had unambiguous previous Federal acknowledgment as 
late as 1880 (see above, Section III). 

b. Prediction of <:gwlitz' Continued DeCline in the 1878 Agent's Report. 

i. Quinault's Position. Quinault repeatedly stated that by the second half of the 19th century, 
the Cowlitz no lor..ger constituted a viable tribal entity. Several of these statements were based 
on a single report by Milroy: " ... by 1878 government reports indicated that the Upper and 
Lower Cowlitz Wf:re rapidly diminishing and stated the two groups would 'dwindle out of 
existence which tbey will in less than one generation'" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 
12; see also Quinal.:llt Revised Memorandum 1998, 16; citing NRA 1878-2; Quinault 
Memorandum 1997, 9).111 

ii. BIA Analysis.. Agent Milroy's 1878 statements, along with the census records he compiled 
(see below) docurllient that both the Lower Cowlitz and Upper Cowlitz were in existence at the 
1878 date ofms fC:pOrt, and that the Federal Government then regarded itself as having 
responsibility for them. His prediction that they would "dwindle out of existence," however, 
did not come to PIl!iS, as documented by the evidence relied upon in this decision. 

IIIGeorge Gibbs had made a similar prediction some 24 years earlier (Nicklason 1998, 13-14). Gibbs' 
prognostication had not been realized within the next generation; there is no reason to assume without further 
documentation that Miln:>y's prognostication would be realized within the generation following 1878. 
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3. ,\1erger of the Lower Cowlitz and Upper Cowlitz after 1878. 

a. Quinault's PO~L!ll;~. Quinault stated: "Available Evidence for the Latter Quarter of the 19th 
Century Indicates a Dissolution of the Tribal Structure Not Merger" (Quinault Revised 
Memorandum 1998, 16; see also Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 47; Quinault 
Memorandum 1997, 9)112 and "There is No Probative Evidence Supporting the proposed 
Finding that the Upp:r Cowlitz and Lower Cowlitz Bands Merged Politically and Socially 
Between 1878 and 1904" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 31; Quinault Memorandum 
1997, 20). Quinault stated: 

In his repo11s for 1880 and 1881, Milroy reported the Lower Cowlitz and Upper 
Cowlitz we:re scattered among the whites and where they were continuing to 
suffer decay. NRA 1880-1; 1881-3. In 1886, the Chehalis Bee Nugget reported 
that some Cowlitz families remained in the area of Toledo, "but they too, like 
the old setfe:rs of that date are passing away." Seven years later Agent Eels 
reported that the Cowlitz Indians were scattered, lived on small fanns, and are 
"so much absorbed into the settlements that they hardly fonn a distinct class 
anymore." NRA 1893-1.113 (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 16; Quinault 
MemorandlUn 1997, 9-10). (footnote in original] 

b. BIA Analysis. The OIA reports for 1880 and 1881 included the reports from Superintendent 
R.H. Milroy, focusing primarily on his attempts to get valid census figures for the bands, and 
provided little additional data (see CIT PF 1997, HTR 87-89). The reports for this period 
indicated that the Cowlitz were perceived to be under the jurisdiction of the agencies (Puyallup, 
Nisqually, and Ch~:hal.is Agency in 1881; the Nisqually, S'Kokomish, and Tulalip Agency in 
1883 (CIT PF 1997, HTR 88-89)). 

In the 1893 report, Agent Edwin Eells of the Puyallup Agency (Consolidated) reported on the 
following reservatioJls: Puyallup, Chehalis, S'Kokomish, Quinaielt, Nisqually, Squaxin, and 
Georgetown (COlA Report 1893,328-330). The reservations were followed by a description 
which began, "[b]c:~;idc:s the Indians living on these seven reservations, the S'Jdallam tribe, ... " 
mentioning two villages and that, "[t]he other Indians of this tribe are very much scattered, 
some living on horne:steads and some near towns, ... " (COlA Report 1893, 330). This was 

112"These descriptions continued in the record through the 1880's. By 1895, the 'Cowlitz' were not only 
reported as scanered, bllt aliso losing their identity, absorbed into the surrounding senlements and mingling more 
with the non-Indians tI1Wlll with their own race." (Nicklason 1997,53. See also op. ciL, 16). 

113Efforts to di:;(:ount Agent Eell [sic] fU'St hand observations by suggesting that he was simply reflecting 
assimilationist policy of the: time fail to take into account the fact that Agent Eells [sic] observation is part of a 
consistent historic record describing the assimilation of the Cowlitz and the loss of their tribal entity (Quinault 
Revised Memorandum 199:8, 16nI4). 
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followed by the de:,c:ription of the "Cowlitz Indians" q\.Joted by Quinault, and then the 
statement: "Thes~!, with some other scattered bands of smaller size, make up the Indians 
connected with tltl~i agency. Fully two-thirds of them are citizens of the United States and of 
this State, and very g~:nerally exercise the right of suffrage, and a few hold office" (COlA 
Report 1893, 330}. In the proposed finding, the AS-IA did not regard this as evidence that the 
Cowlitz Tribe had :Ieased to exist as a continuing political entity as of 1893. This position is 
consistent with the Department's position on the Jamestown S~K.1allam, also mentioned in this 
passage and also ell group that has been acknowledged through 25 CFR Part 83. 

The 1886 newspaper :artic1e did not mention the "Cowlitz families" in the area of Toledo, 
Washington, in the context of extinction as a tribal entity, but rather as part of a historical 
retrospective indkating that the generation of people who had taken an active part in the Indian 
wars of 1855-1856 was no longer young, and was passing from the scene. The statement 
cannot be taken as describing the decline of a Cowlitz tribal entity any more than it can be 
taken as implying that the governmental structures of the non-Indian settlers of Washington 
Territory were vanishing as a result of the deaths of the pioneers. 

4. Cowlitz Leadership during the 1880's and 1890's. 

a. Ouinault's POSlUQ.I!l. "The Evidence Does Not Establish the Existence of Cowlitz Leaders 
Exercising Politic21 Influence or Authority During the 18805 and 18905" [sic] (Quinault 
Revised Memorandwn 1998, 40~ Quinault Memorandum 1997, 27).114 Quinault argued that 
evidence from kinship ties and Shaker Church activities was inadequate and that, " ... there is 
no evidence ofpolitic:a1 influence being exercised during this period by the chiefs appointed by 
the government in the 1870s [sic]" (Quinault Memorandum 1997,27). 

While Cowlitz leaders were identified in the record between 1880 and 1904 -­
Atwin Stockum and Captain Peter -- a social/political entity is not described in 
the historical record reviewed for this report. As a result, there are no examples 
showing that these individuals exercised pOlitical influence and authority over 
the Cowlit~ This is particularly true in the case of Atwin Stockum for the years 
between 1877 and 1903 (Nicklason 1998, 60). 

b. BIA Analysis. FOir a discussion of continuing kinship ties within the Cowlitz group in the 

II~e histo,ric:all report for Quinault focused for this period almost entirely upon the COlA reports: 
"Indeed, after 1886. the~y were no longer described as a cohesive tribe. not even in the statistical tables of the Annual 
Reports of the Comm issioner ofIndian Affain .... indicated by the dramatic decline in the number of references to 
them in Federal documer1lts after 1881. ... " (Nicklason 1997.53; see also 16). 

All of this COlA report material was reviewed in the HTR for the proposed fmding. The Proposed 
Finding, as does this Finnl Detennination, concludes that the COlA report material was entitiled to less weight than 
the other evidence. 
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second half of the 19th century, see the following subsections. 

Quinault appears to have directed its more extensive arguments concerning Shaker leadership 
not to criterion 83.7((:), but rather to 83.7(b), as shown by its use of "community" terminology: 

Evidence that some Upper Cowlitz and Lower Cowlitz families may have 
participated in the 1890s together with other Indians in the pan-Indian Shaker 
religious mov,ement is not evidence of a broad merger of the two groups, givert 
the religious diversity of Upper Cowlitz and Lower Cowlitz descendants. The 
fact that Shaker ceremonies may have involved mobilization of economic 
resources i~ levidence of the existence of a religious community of Shaker 
adherents. h is not evidence of a broader umbrella Cowlitz community in light 
of the religious diversity of the Cowlitz group (Quinault Revised Memorandwn 
1998, 32; sec~ also Quinault Memorandum 1997,20·21; Quinault Revised 
MemorandlUn 1998, 40-41; see also Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 
41n). 

The pan-Indian nat .lre: of Shakerism does not prevent it from being a vehicle for exertion of 
local leadership. In olner instances (Poarch Creek, Mohegan, HPI, MBPI), the AS-IA has 
found that churche:~: of mainstream denominations were used by the local Indian leadership as a 
vehicle for exerting itnfluence over the tribal membership. The evidence in the record, which 
shows that not only Atwin Stockum and Iyall Wahawa but also Henry Cheholtz, the son of Kis­
kox (QuinauIi Ex. 1962-8) all served as Shaker leaders, plus the continuing practice of 
Shakerism in som€: components of the Cowlitz membership to the present, indicates that in the 
1890's and early 1900's, the movement did provide an important focus for some of the Cowlitz 
Indians' continuing interactions. 

D. Role of the Cowlitz Metis. 

I. Relationship of the Cowlitz Metis to the Lower Cowlitz Indians and Upper Cowlitz Indians. 
Quinault stated that thle assertion in the proposed finding that the Lower Cowlitz, Upper 
Cowlitz, and Cowl i1:z metis merged in the late 19'" and early 20th century to form a single 
community is not supported by the available evidence (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 
12-16 (issue 3); Quinault Memorandum 1997,6-10 (issue 3)), restated as: "The factual 
premise that Lower Cowlitz, Upper Cowlitz, and Cowlitz metis groups underwent a process of 
gradual merger in tb:: latter part of the 19th century is not supported by the evidence" (Quinault 
Revised MemoranduJm 1998, 7; Quinault Memorandum 1997,4). Quinault also addressed the 
role of the Cowlitz metis at several other loci (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 5-7 (issue 
2); Quinault Memorandum 1997, 3-4,26,32-33). The petitioner replied (CIT Response 1998, 
6). 

a. Quinault's Threc~::1)()int Summary of Its Position. 
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i. Quinault's Pobt 1. 

Quinault's Statemc:nt. Quinault summarized its view of the proposed finding as follows: 

The proposed findings further contend that the Cowlitz metis were directly 
descended from the Cowlitz, maintained a continuing close interaction with the 
Lower Cowlitz bands [sic] and like the Upper Cowlitz have been part of the 
Cowlitz Tri hal Organization since its formation in 1912 (Quinault Revised 
Memora.n:iwn 1998, 13; see also Quinault Memorandum 1997,7). 

BIA Analysis. Tllere is no serious challenge in the more detailed Quinault comments eiier to 
the proposed finding's conclusion that "the Cowlitz metis were directly descended from the 
Cowlitz" (see section IV.G of this report) or to the finding that the Metis "have been part of the 
Cowlitz Tribal Ckganization since its formation in 1912" (see section V.E of this report). 
Quinault's arguments focus primarily on whether or not there was "a continuing close 
interaction with tlle Lower Cowlitz bands [sic]" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 13). 
This will be analyzed in detail below. 

ii. Quinault's Po::nt 2. 

Quinault's Statemc:I1lt. Quinault restated its hypothesis that: 

... the Cowlitz metis population from which petitioner claims partial descent 
was not considered either a separate Indian tribe or band or a part of the Upper 
or Lower Cowlitz Tribes in the 19111 century (Quinault Revised Memorandum 
1998,47l . 

CIT Comment: en stated: 

The best infonnation available indicates that the Cowlitz Tribe of 1855 
representc:c1 and included all of the Indians of the Cowlitz. The suggestion that 
Cowlitz l\fletis [sic] somehow formed a separate tribal organization without ties 
to, and ind':pendent of, the Cowlitz Tribe itself is simply wrong, .... (CIT 
Response 19'98, 6). 

BIA Analysis. As explained above, this point represents a recurring misinterpretation by 
Quinault of the d.~scriptions of the historical development of the 19th century Cowlitz in the 
proposed finding and its accompanying technical reports. These did not at any point analyze 
the metis as a separate Indian tribe or band. Rather, they discussed the metis as an identifiable 
subgroup which" during the second half of the 19th century, emerged from within the Lower 
Cowlitz Indians as they had existed in 18SS. 
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iii. Quinault's POlllt 3. This is an extension and elaboration of Point 2. 

Quinault's Statement. 

... discuss] ons and enumerations of the Cowlitz Indians in the latter half of the 
19th centur.y do not include the Cowlitz metis families among the Cowlitz 
lndians. Evidc:nce from this period indicates that metis identified themselves as 
Canadian, nct Indian. See NRA 1856-15. In sum there is no evidence that the 
metis population was considered part of the historic lower Cowlitz Tribe or 
Band, or m~:rg,ed with the Lower Cowlitz or Upper Cowlitz, until the 
descendants of all three groups formed the Cowlitz Tribal Organization, claims 
organization after the' tum of the century (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 
14; see also Quinault Memorandum 1997, 7-~). 

BIA Analysis. For s·elf-identification of the Cowlitz metis as "Canadian," Quinault referred to 
a single incident _ .. :the inclusion of Simon Plamondon Jr. in the meeting of "Canadian 
residents" on Cowlitz Prairie on May 19, 1856 (Nicklason 1998,25). The accompanying 
exhibit (Quinault E:c.. ll856-15) does not so much show the self-identification of the Cowlitz 
metis as "Canadian" as it shows the Canadian residents at Cowlitz Prairie as supporters of the 
Americans during 1:he: 1855-1856 Indian War. The meeting did show that Simon Plamondon's 
metis son was included in the meeting. Other data, including the much later recollections of 
Simon's sister Mary Ann (Plamondon) St. Germain, also showed that the family feared attacks 
by the hostile Indians during the war (St. Germain 1925). 

However, this identific:ation was not universal, or even consistent. Five years earlier, George 
Gibbs' 1850 propos,ll concerning reservations for the Indian tribes of west em Washington, 
summarized in the Quinault submissions, suggested that the governor, "settle the tribes and 
... exclude non-Indians, with the exception of those, with proper character, who were married 

to Indian women. Those individuals would be allowed to remain within the reservation as long 
as they obeyed the tc~rr:itorial laws, .... " (Nicklason 1998, 10). This at least implies that Gibbs 
viewed the Indian whrc:s of non-Indian men as retaining their tribal affiliation. Five years after 
the 1855 meeting on Cowlitz Prairie, the 1860 Federal census of Lewis County, Washington. 
listed many of the me:tis offspring of French-Canadian fathers and Indian mothers as "Indian," 
whether in their own hl)useholds or still living in the households of their fathers."~ The fact 

I uSee, for exarllp1e: 
1860 U.S. Census, Lewis Co .• WA,#455: Catnose, Edw. (Indian), 28, farmer, b. WT; Camose, Eliza, Ind, 

26, f, b. WT; 
1860 U.S. Census, Cowlitz Twp., Lewis Co., WA, #6711671: Simon Plumondo, 67 [627], m. trapper, 

$18,000/$750, b. Canad~l; HeMeth, 56, f, Ind. b. WA; Moayse, 19, m, Ind, laborer, b. WA; Battise, 16, m, Ind, 
laborer, b. WA; Urtin[?I: II, m, Ind, b. WA; Jarome, 6, m, Ind, b. WA; Battice Attwine, 27, m, Laborer. b. WA; 
Jane, Attwine, 20, f, lncl, b. WA; Mary Atwine, 4/12, f, Ind, b. WA. 
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that Plamondon, Jr .. did not attend the 1856 meeting, does not overturn other evidence in 1850 
and 1860 that the: me:tis were considered Indians. 

The "enumerations" of the Cowlitz appear to be primarily the 1878 Milroy censuses (see 
Nicklason 1998, 45-46), as none of the other censuses or discussions reported included 
individual names (see Nicklason 1998, 46·50, 51-52). 

b. Origins ofthe~~owlitz Metis. 

I. Quinault's Position. Quinault stated: 

The Cowlitz metis population was a French speaking Catholic group of 
individuals composed of the descendants offonner Hudson Bay Company 
employee:~; .and their Indian spouses, many of whom were not even Cowlitz 
(Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 7). 

The Cowlitz Metis population traces itself to the families of Hudson Bay 
Company fium employees. Many of these French-Canadian employees brought 
with them Indian wives from a wide variety of tribes. Others married Cowlitz 
women. Fully 35% of petitioner'S current membership traces itself to non­
Cowlitz aJl(:estresses of these French-Canadian employees. GTR at 3 (Quinault 
Revised M(~morandum 1998, 13; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 7). 

ii. BIA Analysis: The proposed finding did not indicate that all metis families of Hudson's 
Bay employees stationed on Cowlitz Prairie were to be categorized as "Cowlitz metis." The 
term was used for lhose metis families associated with the predecessor groups of the CIT 
petitioner -- it did not include the descendants of Hudson's Bay employees whose wives were 
neither Cowlitz nor associated with the Cowlitz over a significant period of time, beginning 
prior to the 1855 lIellty date. 

c. "Separation" 12f. the Cowlitz Metis and the Cowlitz. 

i. QUinault's Pos:.ticln. Quinault stated: "The Evidence Demonstrates that the Lower Cowlitz, 
Upper Cowlitz, and Cowlitz Metis Remained Separate Through the 18705 (Quinault Revised 
Memorandum 1 ~~~:8, 13; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 7). Quinault elaborated upon this 
hypothesis with SI='VC~ral different arguments: 

Similarly, th~:re is no evidence despite their genealogical connection that the 
Cowlitz Indians viewed the metis as part of a "Cowlitz" community prior to 
1900. F OJ' I:):ample, the 1878 censuses of the Upper and Lower Cowlitz 
prepared by Milroy with the assistance of the Cowlitz Chiefs do not list any 
metis as he;acis of householcls, even though metis individuals like Simon 
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Plamondon, Jr. were close relatives (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 6). I 

The proposed findings themselves later note, the [sic] metis population 
remained s(:parate from the Lower Cowlitz and Upper Cowlitz. As the GTR 
also indicates, from 1855 to 1920, the vast majority of metis marriages were to 
non-Indiam or other metis descendants, with only a handful of marriages 
between mc:tis and Upper or Lower Cowlitz (Quinault Revised Memorandum 
1998, 13; citing to CIT PF 1997, Summ. Crit., 22; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 
7116). 

ii. BIA Analysis. Quinault's argument that the Cowlitz metis "remained" separate is based on 
its a priori hypothesis that they were ever separate or distinct from the Lower Cowlitz. The 
proposed finding didl not "note" that the "metis popUlation remained separate" as stated by 
Quinault. The passagc~s read: 

Socially, th~: metis emerged as a distinct subgroup as the consequence of their 
use of the Frtmch language as the primary language within their households, 
their commitment to Roman Catholicism, their association, in many cases, with 
the Cowlitz Prairie Mission, and their resultant extensive intermarriage with one 
another (CIT PF 1997, Summ. Crit. 22). 

The Lower Cowlitz metis living along the Cowlitz river Valley were distinct 
from the Lo'.\'e:r Cowlitz band ~ during the period 1855-1880 in the limited 
sense that they resided in French-speaking households ... As the first­
generation Cowlitz metis matured during the 1870's and 1880's, and came into 
leadership positions in the early 20th century, they did not form a political 
subgroup that was clearly distinct from the Lower Cowlitz, but remained closely 
associated wi1th the BIA-appointed Lower Cowlitz leaders (CIT PF 1997. 
Swnm. Crit. 33-34). 

There is a clear analytkal distinction between the concepts of "remaining separate" and 
"emerging as." The selective quotations on the part of Quinault ascribed to the PF conclusions 
diametrically opposc~d to those which it actually reached that the Cowlitz metis did not form a 
political subgroup th2Lt was clearly distinct from the Lower Cowlitz, but "remained closely 
associated" with the Lower Cowlitz leaders. 

d. The Issue ofLanJl~.wnership. 

116The 1997 phrziSing was slightly different: "The proposed fmdings themselves later note, the metis 
population remained separa1te from the Lower Cowlitz and Upper Cowlitz ... SUCPF at 22; see also SUCPF at 33-
34" (Quinault MemoranduJTl 1997, 7). 
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1. Quinault's Position. Quinault stated: 

Because t~e:iI' French-Canadian fathers had entered into Donation Act Claims, 
the mixed blood metis children took title to their land in fee. Consequently, 
they were 101: considered wards of the government and had little contact with 
the Indian ag~~nts (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 14; Quinault 
Memorandum 1997, 7). 

ii. BIA Analysis.. "nle "mixed blood metis children" of Cowlitz women were not considered 
wards of the gOV~!J'Tlinent, but this was not a direct consequence of their having inherited ~ee 
simple title to their fathers' land, nor was it so explained in the proposed finding (CIT PF 1997, 
Surnrn. Crit. 18; CIT PF 1997, GTR 58-60). It was because the Cowlitz were not, at the time, a 
federally acknowl,~dged reservation tribe. Cowlitz full bloods were also not "wards" in the first 
half of the 20th century, because the Cowlitz were not a reservation tribe. 

The ownership of land in fee simple, either by current members of a group or by their 
ancestors, was not in the 19th century and is not now a disqualification for membership in a 
federally acknowll~dged tribe (for example, in the late 19th and early 20th centuries, many 
members of the PuyaLllup Tribe owned off-reservation land in fee simple). Neither is it a 
disqualification f;)r Federal acknowledgment under 25 CFR Part 83. Neither do the Federal 
acknowledgment re:gulations require contact with Indian agents. Many of the eastern tribes 
which have been 2.c:knowledged through the process had no contact with Federal Indian agents 
from the date of the: ~!stablishment of the Federal government to the date ofacknowledgrnent. 

Additionally, how the metis obtained or held their land does not distinguish the metis from 
other mixed blood Xndians. Cowlitz metis children of French-Canadian fathers, like other 
mixed-blood Indi,JlS, inherited fee simple title to their non-Indian father'S donation land claim. 
Also, American rnixc~d-blood Indians were eligible to apply for donation land claims in their 
own right. Michd Cotto noire, for example, held a donation land claim; one of the heirs was 
his mixed-blood son" Edward (NARS M-815, Roll 97, Frames 954-982).117 Edward also 
applied for land in his own right (McNeill and Lyden 1978, 1: 13).111 

11701ympia, W:T. Donation Certificate No. 380, Michael Cottonaire. Heirs at law of Michael Cottonaire 
Sen., deceased, Lewils Co., WT. His sealement commenced 10 October 1834. He d. 30 August 1851. He was a 
naturalized U.S. Citiz.e:lll, declaration 18 April 1849, Lewis Co., W A. Heirs at law are Michel Cottinear Jr., age 37; 
Edward Cottinear, .2~5, Dilvid Cottinear, 19; Mary Cottinar, age IS. He was born in Macas Co., Canady [sic], 1795. 
m. Mary, 13 September 1182[7]5, Louis Co., WA. Sworn 3 November 1853. Frame 971 says he arrived on Oregon, 
2 October 1815 (NAF$ M-815, Roll 97, Frames 954-982). 

1lSBce - Fri. - Sept. 18, 188S. HOMESTEAD APPLICATION: Edward Cottonware App. #3130 for W Y2 
ofSE 1/4 &; add'!. App. ~I 3243 for E V, ofSE 114 of Sec. 34, Tp. 11 N., R 2 West Oct 3, 1886 (McNeill and Lyden 
1978,1:13). 
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Conversely, mixed··blood children were not excluded from inheriting Indian homesteads in 
trust. The metis ci1.ildren of Kittie Tillikish inherited her Indian homestead trust land (BlA 
Taholah Agency Probate 20315-39), which continued to be administered for them in trust by 
the BIA under provisions of the 1885 act. This was less common because comparatively few 
Indian women quaLified for homesteads as heads of household. 

e. The Issue of Ci:;i~nship. 

i. Quinault's PositioIl. Quinault argued that, " ... federal agents during the 19th century 
viewed the metis as 'citizens'" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 7), citing that: "The 
record further indic:ates that BAR staff noted during the April 23, 1996, 'Peer Review' of the 
Cowlitz petition that in the 19th Century federal agents 'were treating the metis as citizens and 
the others as 'tribe!:;.' See attached notes of April 1996 BAR Peer Review Meeting" (Quinault 
Revised Memorandum 1998, 6). 

Quinault returned to at discussion of the citizenship issue in relation to the 1920 congressional 
hearing on its claims legislation, in which Congressman Sloan, "stated his understanding ' ... 
that the Cowlitz llltdians have practically no organization as a tribe but as individual 
Indians are exercising the rights of franchise and citizenship and maintaining themselves 
... ' ld. at 21. (Emphasis added.)" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,20) [emphasis in 
QRM]. Quinault flllther quoted a statement of Assistant COlA Merritt in 1927 to the effect 
that, "[t]he affairs c,f the Cowlitz Tribe have long been disposed of and the various members of 
this band unattached at the various agencies of Washington and Oregon have long been 
considered citizens of the United States" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1988,20; citing 
NRA 1927-37). 

ii. BIA Analysis. Fc~deral agents in Washington did not only "view" the Cowlitz metis as 
citizens, but plainly stated that the majority of all Indians in southern Puget Sound were, under 
the law, citizens, having been so detennined by state courts (COlA Report 1893,335). Later in 
the same document, 1these same Indians were described as "under the Dawes bill of 1887" 
(COlA Report 1893,389). Quinault itself noted that on August 15, 1896, the superintendent of 
the Puyallup Agen.::y stated that, "[a]11 of the Indians of this agency with the exception of the 
Georgetowns and Quinaielts are citizens" (Nicklason 1998, 52).119 As the Puyallup Agency 
included several other federally acknowledged tribes under its jurisdiction (the Nisqually, the 
Puyallups, the Chehalis), the later 19th century descriptions of Cowlitz as citizens cannot be 
regarded as having c~videntiary value supporting Quinault's arguments concerning the 
"dissolution" ofth€! Cowlitz tribal structure during that period (Quinault Revised Memorandum 

119The Supreme Court's United States v. Nice decision in 1916,241 U.S. 591, 598 (1916), held 
"citizenship is not incompatible with tribal existence or continued guardianship." See also, the general discussion in 
Duwamish PF, HTR 24. 
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1998, 16). Citizc~l1shjp and tribal membership status are not inconsistent l20 

f. Political Leadl~G;hip of the Cowlitz Metis Families. 1855-1880. 

i. Quinault's Position. Quinault stated: "The Evidence Does Not Establish That Lower 
Cowlitz Leaders \Vere Considered Political Leaders of the Cowlitz Metis" (Quinault Revised 
Memorandum 1998,39; Quinault Memorandum 1997,26). 

, 

The proposc~d findings acknowledge that the Cowlitz metis households during 
the period 1855-1880 were headed by French-Canadian fathers who acted as the 
patrons of thc~ metis population in dealings with both local authorities and the 
federal gO\fc:rnrnent. SUCPF at 33-34. The findings then make the 
contradictoJry statement that there is no evidence that this group was regarded as 
having any political leadership other than that provided by the chiefs of the 
Lower C()'~'litz band. SUCPF at 34. Certainly this was not true during the 
1855-1880 time frame. And, there is simply no evidence that "Lower Cowlitz 
chiefs" full(:tioned or were recognized by the government as political leaders of 
the Cowlitz metis, or that the Cowlitz metis population was considered part of 
the Lower Cowlitz 'band' during the latter quarter of the 19th century. See §§ 2 
- 4, supra (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 40; see also Quinault 
Memoranchmn 1997,26). 

ii. BIA Analysis. 'The situation did not remain static throughout this 2S-year period defined by 
Quinault. In 185:;, almost all of the households containing Cowlitz metis members were 
headed by French-Canadian men who had taken Indian wives and had metis children born 
between the late 18:20's and the treaty date. Only a few of the mixed-blood children were yet 
old enough to head their own households (see 1850 and 1860 Federal census, generally). On 
the other hand, by 1880 most of the households containing Cowlitz metis members were well 
into the second generation and the majority were headed by adults who were themselves metis, 
a situation which would continue into the 20111 century.121 

l20All American Indians have long since been granted the right to vote and are citizens of the United States 
(43 Stat. 253, Act of .Jlme 2, 1924). Exercise of the franchise by members ofa petitioning group, whether in the 
past or in the present, is Inot interpreted under current Federal Indian law as indicating a dissolution of tribal 
relations, nor is it a disqualification for Federal acknowledgment under 25 CFR Part 83. 

l21Chiidren were born at an approximately SO/SO male/female gender ratio. The Cowlitz metis men who 
mamed then becaml: he~lds of households containing Cowlitz metis members. A very high proportion of the flJ'St­
generation Cowlitz rneti!; women married Cowlitz metis men, so their children were in metis-headed households. 
Therefore, the only sc:c:OIild-generation households containing Cowlitz metis members whose heads were not 
themselves Cowlitz mc:tis were those in which a Cowlitz metis woman married out of the tribe, whether to a Cowlitz 
full-blood, to. an Indian (Ir metis of another tribe, or to a white man. 
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The concept of "pau'on" as used to describe the situation in the later 1870's and 1880's' 
(Quinault Revised M~:morandum 1998, 40), is not synonymous with the concept of political 
authority andlor inJ1uc~nce as used by the regulations under criterion 83.7(c). A group which 
has its own internet. leadership ,and bilateral political relationships may, nonetheless, rely on 
external patrons as i:ntennediaries in dealing with outside authorities. 

2. Level of Known Data Concerning Social Contact Between "Cowlitz Indians" and "Cowlitz 
Metis Families" as d~fined by Quinault. ' 

a. Quinault's Posili!m. Quinault stated: 

While inter· marriage between Indian women and non-Indians (French 
Canadians or half-bloods) occurred to some undetermined extent during this 
period, the record do not reveal if they associated with the "Cowlitz" prior to its 
disappearance from the primary historical record, or if they associated with the 
non-Indians to whom they were married and who surrounded them. The 
evidence in the: record would suggest the latter ... (Nick.1ason 1997,54). 

b. CIT Comment. CIT pointed out that the 1878 Pumphrey letter opposing removal of the 
Lower Cowlitz band was accompanied by a petition signed by several men who were either 
Cowlitz metis or who had married Cowlitz women and whose children were Cowlitz metis. 
(CIT Response 1998, 12). 

c. BIA Analysis. Hie period under consideration in the above passage is presumed to be from 
1855 through an wlt:iet.ennined date in the later 19th century, some time after 1880. Under the 
25 CFR Part 83 reg1JIations, a "half-blood" is not a "non Indian" as it is defmed by Nicklason 
in the quoted passage: (Nick.1ason 1997, 54).122 The Nicklason Research Associates report, 
having previously made the assumption that the "Cowlitz" had undergone a "disappearance 
from the primary hi.storical record," then builds upon this assumption to state that the record 
does not reveal whethc:r or not the women who made such marriages associated with Cowlitz 
Indians or with the "non-Indians" to whom they were married and who surrounded them. 

The Cowlitz Indiarui, whether full blood or half blood, did not disappear from the historical 
record during the sc,:olld half of the 1 ~ century. In the period following 1880, the number of 
mentions of the Cowlitz as an organized entity in official BIA records was sharply reduced, an 

122Nor does thc~ lBlA impose any blood quantum standard, either on petitioners or on federally 
acknowledged tribes. Th,e decisions pertaining to enrollment eligibility are made by the tribes themselves. Some 
federally acknowledged tribes use only the criterion of descent from certain rolls, but their enrolled members, no 
matter what the blood q1JlUltum, are "Indians" rather than the Nicklason Research Associates report's dermition of 
the half-bloods as "non-Indians." 

128 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement CTI-V001-D007 Page 164 of 243 



aspect of the recNd strongly emphasized by Quinault. 123 However, the evidence in the 'record 
for the proposed finding consisted of much more than COlA reports and OIA correspondence. 
It included the Federal census records, county vital records, ethnographic studies, and a variety 
of other documentation, including the recollections of local residents (see generally the HTR 
and GTR), all mmtioning the Cowlitz Indians. 

There is very little e:vidence in the record that Cowlitz full-blood women continued to marry 
French Canadial15 in the post-treaty period. The few new marriages of this nature after 1855 
were the remarriages of widows, often to the widower of another Cowlitz woman. In all but a 
few cases, the spouses were too old to produce additional children. \ 

There is a great deall of evidence in the record that the first-generation Cowlitz metis married 
one another very e:xtensively (see Cowlitz GTKY File, BAR). Thus, the record lacks evidence 
concerning associations among the Cowlitz only if one accepts Quinault's definition of the 
Cowlitz metis (ha.lf.·bloods) as non-Indian, which the Department does not accept. The number 
of marriages betwle(:n Cowlitz full-bloods and Cowlitz metis in the post-treaty period was 
limited, but sev(:rau did occur, such as Cheholtz-Rabbie, Pete-St. Germain, and Pete-Cottenoire 
(see Cowlitz G1KY File, BAR), while other Cowlitz metis also married full-blood Indians of 
other tribes or, i:n a few cases, metis of other tribes. To put this pattern in context, it should be 
noted that the Cowlitz full-bloods also continued the traditional pattern of inter-tribal marriage 
during the second half of the 19'" century, many continuing to take spouses who were 
Nisqually, Chehdis, Yakima, etc., just as there were continuing intermarriages among Indians 
of those federally admowledged tribes. 

The first generation Cowlitz metis children (who, with their own children, evolved into the 
identifiable Cowlit2: metis social subgroup as it existed from the treaty period through at least 
the 1920's) were~ born from the late 1820's through the 1850's; there was no significant number 
of new marriage~; bc~tween Cowlitz Indian women and French Canadians after 1855.124 CIT is 
accurate in stating that the 19'" century records often referred to these individuals as "half-

\23 As stated by Nicklason Research Associates: 

The disintegration of the "Cowlitz" tribe is perhaps best indicated by the dramatic decline in 
the number of references to them in Federal documents after 1881. For example, the "Cowlitz" 
are mentioned in the record only once in 1882. The same record makes no mention of the 
Cowlitz. l.()w~:r Cowlitz, or Upper Cowlitz in the historical record between 1883 and 1892. The 
Cowlitz al"c: mentioned only one time in that record in 1893, 1894 and 1895 and then only in 
relation to their assimilated condition. No mention of the Cowlitz, the Lower Cowlitz or the 
Upper Cowliu: exists in the record between 1896 and 1903 (Nicklason 1998,58). 

124The CowlitzlFrench-Canadian marriages which book place after 1855 were remarriages of widows and 
widowers. No new French-Canadian immigrants are known to have come to the Cowlitz in post-treaty times (see 
Cowlitz GTKY File, BAR). 
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breeds," both in the Federal census125 and in the donation land claims files (NARS M-81S).126 

During the second half of the 19th century, some of the Cowlitz metis, both men and women, 
also married whites (see CIT GTKY File, BAR).127 Whether or not these marriages drew the 
Indian spouse out of the tribal community cannot be an a priori assumption, either negative or 
positive, but has to be determined on an individual basis, by analysis of the families. 

3. CIT Comment Rt~garding Quinault's Understanding of the Relationship between the Metis 
and the Cowlitz Tribe (CIT Final Submission 1999, 6-8, Issue II). 

a. CIT Comment. 

Although tbe: Quinault opposition ostensibly is built on several issues, it actually 
boils down to the contention that the Cowlitz Tribe in its current form was 
fonned long after BAR's accepted date of last unambiguous prior federal 
recognition, with the suggestion that the "new" tribe has no historical 
predecessor fr()m which it can trace and no unambiguous prior recognition from 
which to ttace (CIT Response 1998, 6). 

J25For examph:: 1860 U.S. Census, Lewis Co., OT, #466: Provo, Battise, white, 55, m, farmer, b. Canada; 
Matilda, Indian, 12, b. WT; David, 9, HB, b. WT (Moyer 1931-32, 106); 1880 U.S. Census, Pierce Co., WA, p. 470, 
#1121117: Corcoran, Dominick. W, m, 57, b.lreland; Josephine, HB, f, 36, wife, b. WT; Mary, QB, F, 18, dau; 
Mark, QB, M, 16, son; '::atherine, QB, F, 14, dau; John. QB, m. 12. son; Elizabeth, QB, f, 10, dau; Bartho1emew, 
QB, m, 6, son; Maggie, QB, f, 4, dau.; 1900 U.S. Census, Marion Co., OR, ED 183, Sheet 8, North Salem Precinct, 
Chemawa United State:s Indian Training School, Indian Population. Joseph Wiggins, Chinook, father white, mother 
HB, b. 1887, WA, age 13. Depending on the county, the precise identification varied: the 1870 Federal census of 
Lewis County and Cow litt County used "I/W" rather than "HB.·· Many other instances of identification as mixed­
blood Indians appear t1U·CIUghout the notes in the Cowlitz. GTKY (BAR Files). The Wiggins family had both 
Chinook and Cowlitz. a.r.ce!otry. 

12~ARS M-81S, Roll 108, Oregon and Washington Donation Land Files 1851-1903, Washington, 
Vancouver Land Office, Demation Certificate No. 306, Frames 000422-000618. John B. LaPartree and wife. 
Contested 1887 by Jam.c:s H. Adams. Patent 1895. John B. LaPartree of Lewis Co., arr. 14 May 1843; Declaration 
of intent tiled 15 December 18S3. b. Canada, 1810. m. Philimion his wife 30 January 1849. aka LaPatrie; frame 
456 says naturalized as LaBenree. 

Frame 453: Philemon St. Cyr - nee- LaPatree the wife of the Donee herein; Bonaparte Plomundon, 
Edward Cottonoir and l\;(r'S. Pike are half breeds with the exception of Mrs. St. Cyr who is a full blooded indian [sic] 
and all of whom cannotrc:ad or write ..• 

Frame 463, John Ei. Sareault, grantee. 
Frame 471. About 1852, John B. Lapartree. a French Canadian, married an Indian girl that had been 

brought up at the Missic) [1 .• 

I27There is no evidence that Cowlitz full bloods again began to intennarry with whites prior to the 1920's. 
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b. BIA Analysis. Tbe CIT's response neither adduced new evidence nor reinterpreted 
evidence already in the record, but consisted merely of its summation of Quinault's argument. 
It does not, there:foTt~, require analysis. 

E. Nature of tht~ Cowlitz Tribal Organization (eTO) 1912-1950 as Predecessor 
Organization of thle Cowlitz Indian Tribe (CIT). 

Quinault describ~~c11:he nature of the "umbrella Cowlitz group" as a claims organization, not a 
tribal social and political entity (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 17-25 (issue 5); 
Quinault Memonmdlum 1997, 11-17 (issue 5); see also Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 
12 (issue 2); Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 47-48). The petitioner replied (CIT 
Response 1998, 7-8). 

Quinault additior..aJly submitted documentary exhibits, including several lists of signers of 
Cowlitz petitions ~lI1d attorney contracts from the period between 1910 and 1920, 
correspondence to and from the legal firms representing the Cowlitz claims action, and BIA 
central office and agency correspondence (Quinault Ex. 5; Quinault Ex. 6). While much of this 
material was in t:v:idence at the time of the proposed finding, the Quinault submission added 
new documentati<Jn. 

I. QUinault's Description of the eTa. 

a. Quinault's POlJtion. Quinault stated: "The Historic Record Contains Repeated Descriptions 
of the Cowlitz Umbrella Group that Formed in the early part of the 20th Century As a Claims 
Group, Not a Tribal Social and Political Entity: (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 17; 
Quinault Memorandum 1997, 11).121 In connection with this point, Quinault restated its 
assertion that th~: Lower Cowlitz, Upper Cowlitz, Cowlitz metis descendants did not constitute 
a single tribe in dlC: I:arly 20th century. 129 

b. BIA Analysi5f. The nature of the three Cowlitz subgroups and their interrelationships in the 
later 19111 century have already been discussed above. The pursuit of claims during the fust 

I28"When the Cowlitz descendants of each of three subgroups do join together in the early pan of the 20· 
century it is to fonn ,I claims organization, not a social and political community" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 
1998, 16). 

12911 
••• the c:"jdence is overwhelming that the three groups were considered separate into the beginning of 

the 20th century when their descendants established a claims organization, called the Cowlitz Tribal Organization, 
which never constituted a distinct tribal community" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 7). 

Elsewhere, :lC)WeVer, Quinault asserted that the metis "were not even recognized as a separate group" in 
Federal documents priOI' to the fonnation of the CTO (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 16). The Quinault 
comments did not rc~!;ol"e this inconsistency. 
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quarter of the 20111 c e.ntury is not an activity which invalidates the existence of an Indian tribal 
entity. For example, the Nicklason Research Associates report described the activities of Peter 
Kalama as an agen1 OIl behalf of the Cowlitz claim, referring only casually that, "[I]ater in the 
letter, Peter Kalama indicated that he was also working on the Nisqually\3O claim" (Nicklason 
1998,95; see Kalama to Sells 1113/1916, Quinault Ex. 6,1916-3). 

This letter is also supporting evidence that the CTO was a tribe. Kalama included one 
statement which indicated that in 1916, the CTO was not merely a descendancy group~ 
discussing instance:) where individual Cowlitz had relinquished tribal relations for various 
reasons, such as the move of Iyall Wahawa to Yakima cited by Quinault (Nicklason 1998) 53-
54), were known to the group as a whole: 

After these ulPper and lower [sic] Cowlitz Indians had signed the last petition ... 
131 Then I was instructed by these Indians that I am representing to contest any 
claim of the: upper and lower Cowlitz Indians, that had relinquished [sic] their 
rights from die Cowlitz tribe and were adopted in various reservations and were 
given allotmc:nts, annuities and protection from the government, in various ways 
(Kalama to Sells 1113/1916, 1; Quinault Ex. 6:1916-3). [footnote added] 

Kalama stated that he: was enclosing lists containing both the names of those which had never 
received any "compensation or assistance" and, separately, of those "that have been adopted on 
various reservatiom'" (Kalama to Sells 1/13/1916,1; Quinault Ex. 6:1916-3).132 Kalama 
continued with a di~;c:ussion of compensation, reiterating the point that Cowlitz descendants 
who had been adopted or allotted on reservations should not be eligible for any claims award, 
specifically distinguishing between the unallotted Cowlitz Indians he was representing and the 

13~isqually Wa!! cUld is a federally acknowledged tribe. 

I3\"The above n:a.mes were passed by the commitee [sic], (Mrs. Mary Longfred, Mrs. Ann Hyton and Mrs. 
Frances Northover) as CClwlitz Indians and had signed my petition, that was submitted by Hon. C. E. McChesney" 
(Kalama 1113/1916, note tCI "List of names of the upper and lower [sic] Cowlitz Indians, that were adopted and 
received allottnents on various reservations" (Quinault Ex. 6:1916-3). All three of these elderly full-blood women 
who had served on the eTO genealogical eligibility committee were themselves among the "adopted and allotted" 
(Longfred on Nisqually; lHyton on Puyallup; Northover on Yakima). 

132There were fowr relevant items, starting with a handwritten cover sheet: "Lists of Names of both allotted 
and unallotted Cowlitz Indians (Upper and Lower) Kalama." The list of unallotted Cowlitz Indians (item 1) 
contained 197 names; it was followed by (item 2) a list of 103 unallotted Nisqually; then (by number) a list (item 3) 
indicating that 43 of the "wlallotted" Cowlitz had been adopted and allotted (including the reservation upon which 
this had occurred); then by a list (ite~ 4) of known Cowlitz descendants who had not signed Kalama's claims 
petition because they wc:re :allotted. A note on item 4 added that there were "many more at Yakima that I was not 
able to get their names as l'vlr. Iyall refused to furnish me the list of those he is representing that were adopted at 
Yakima reservation" (Quinllult Ex. 6: 1916-3). 
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Yakima reservation group, represented by Frank. Iyall (who were by this time advocating a 
different type of':::owlitz claims settlement based on descendancy alone).13J . 

2. Quinault's AlI'egations of Misinterpretations in the Proposed Finding. 

a. The McChesll~Y and Roblin Reports. Quinault stated that the proposed finding 
misrepresented th~: reports of McChesney and Roblin (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 
27-29 (issue 7); Quinault Memorandum 1997, 18-19 (issue 7». The petitioner replied (CIT 
Response 1998, 9·10). 

i. Quinault's Position. Quinault stated: "The proposed fmdings suggest the McChesney1and 
Roblin reports support the existence of a functioning tribal community. SUCPF at 17. They do 
not" (Quinault Rc~vised Memorandum 1998,27; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 18). "The 
Roblin and McCh(~sney Reports are consistent with the descriptions of the Cowlitz entity that 
emerged in the early 20th century as a claims group" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 
29). 

Quinault presente:cl (~xtensive direct quotations from the Roblin report (Roblin to COlA 
113111919; citing to CIT Pet. A-956, 958-959) (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,27-28; 
Quinault Memorandlum 1997, 18-19), but no references to or quotations from the 1910 
McChesney letter (McChesney to COlA 4/20/1910; CIT Pet. A-114). 

Quinault stated: 

The statement in the summary that Roblin's final report reprinted in the HTR at 
117-119, "Ildentified the Cowlitz as a single group, still maintaining a 

133This latm' dbrision or opinion as to whether or not the claims eligibility should be based strictly on 
descendancy was refle,cted in Mary Longfred's 1917 letter, in which she associated herself with Charlie Peter, Sam 
Wallison, Mrs. Joe ~[\ClJ1hover, Mrs. AMie Haylon [sic, Hyton). as the "Executive Committee" with Frank Iyall as 
the group's Washingt()n DC delegate (Longfred to Sells 1119/1917; Quinault Ex. 6: 1917-1). 

See for the context or Iyal\'s activities in the 1920's, the letter of the Yakima superintendent "with reference to what 
is to come to the per.iC1ruS who have been fmancing the so-called representatives of the Cowlitz Indians in 
Washington" (ESleF' tel COlA 2/26/1927; Quinault Ex. 7: 1927-9), the Assistant COlA's reply directing the 
superintendent to in .. estigate those who had been collecting money for the purpose (Meritt to Estep, 3/8/1927; 
Quinault Ex. 7: 1927·11), and the Assistant COlA's subsequent conclusion to the effect that: 

Any Indian!; .:>(Cowlitz blood who have received allotments at Yakima arc now Yakima Indians 
and it is bel:.evc:d that they should not be entitled to participate in any funds which may be 
recovered Ifor the Cowlitz Indians unless they relinquish all their rights including their rights in 
land at Yakima and other reservations on which they have accepted benefits (Meritt to Estepp 
7/8/1927; Quinault Ex. 7:1927-33). 
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community and described these Indians as the blue blood of Western 
Washingtclll" .is untrue. Roblin describes the Cowlitz he is enumerating as the 
descendant; of the Cowlitz Indians who are scattered throughout Washington 
and OTegor.. His description says nothing about an existing Cowlitz social 
community in 1919 and the reference to the Cowlitz being considered "blue­
bloods" is dearly a reference to the past (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 

,28). 

Neither McChesney nor Roblin's Report, describe the existence of a functioning 
Cowlitz tribal community. The difficulty that Roblin describes in getting 
accurate infe:mnation on the scattered Cowlitz membership, is telling evidence of 
a lack of comrnunity.134 The Roblin and McChesney Reports are consistent with 
the descriptions of the Cowlitz entity that emerged in the early 20m century as a 
claims group (Quinault Memorandum 1997, 19). [footnote in original] 
[punctuatioll sic] 

ii. CIT Comment. See Section IV.B.2.iii, above. The CIT Response also indicated that by 
going beyond Roblin's sununary report (Roblin to COlA 1131/1919), and utilizing the 
applications for enrollment and allotment of Washington Indians, the data "clearly reflects that 
he and the Tribe we:re able to identify both the members and where they resided" (CIT 
Response 1998, ] 0:,. 

iii. BIA Analysis. lbe Sununary under the Criteria for the proposed rmding contained the 
following sentence: 

In 1919, Spc:dal Agent Charles E. Roblin's final report provided a list of 891 
unenrolled Cowlitz. In his report summary he identified the Cowlitz as a single 
group, still maiintaining a community, and described these Indians as 
constituting thc~ "blue blood of Western Washington" (CIT PF 1997, Swnm. 
erit. 14). 

QuinaUlt's analysis was correct in pointing out that the "blue blood" phrase applied specifically 
to the past, as can b~ seen from the passage as quoted in the technical report (CIT PF 1997, 
HTR 118). m It is lequally clear that Roblin was, in the next sentence, tying his analysis of the 

134"McChesney did not independently estimate Cowlitz numbers as is suggested. His report states that in 
the absence of an accurute ,census of the Cowlitz, he was given an estimate by the individuals with whom he met" 
(Quinault MemorandwTI 1997, 19nIO). 

The Cowlitz tribe was a powerful tribe, and in the early days constituted the 
"blue b.lood" of west em Washington. They were independent, fearless and 
aggrc!,sive; and they refused to subordinate themselves to the white man by 
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circa 1918 "present." into that past: "Their descendants have the same qualities which placed 
their ancestors in the position ofleaders" (Roblin to COlA 1/3111919; CIT Pet. Ex. A-958). 

Quinault argues that Roblin had difficulty in getting names and addresses which indicates a 
lack of communily. However, most names and addresses were on prior eTa lists and on 
Roblin's own Quinault adoption applications, not to mention on the affidavits. Because of the 
followi,ng passage in the Roblin letter of 113111919, it is unclear that he was writing about 
addresses: 

It is very diffiicult to get accurate or dependable information about the 
membersh:.p of this tribe. The prospect of a fat payment has brought forth a 
horde of claimants, many of whom have been allotted or are enrolled at some of 
the Washington agencies, but who can probably establish the possession of 
some Cowlitz blood. I have tried to eliminate all those from the schedule 
submitted, as well as I could (Roblin to COlA 113111919; CIT Pet. Ex. A-959). 

Roblin appears to be referencing the problem of distinguishing the Cowlitz tribe as a 
social/political wd from distant Cowlitz descendants interested in a claims payment. 

b. Comparison tqJ)ther Findings under 25 CFR Part 83. 

1. Quinault's Position. Quinault stated: 

With the j~))1nation of the Cowlitz Tribal Organization in 1912 hardly a decade 
passed without one or more statements by federal officials and other observers 
describing thl~ Cowlitz group in a manner consistent with a voluntary claims 
organization, rather than a tribal political and social entity. The descriptions and 
treatment of the Cowlitz by the government resemble descriptions of the 
Duwamish and Chinook, rather than the Snoqualmie (Quinault Revised 
Memoranc.llIll 1998, 12; see more discussion of STO formation at Quinault 
Revised M e:nlorandum 1998, 18). 

en'Wring into a treaty with him. Their descendants have the same qualities 
which placed their ancestors in the position of leaders. They have been 
prC)~re!SSive and industrious, and there are very few of the present 
rel'res~~ntatives of the tribe who are not in good circumstances. They have 
hOnll~steaded lands, made good homes, raised families much above the average, 
arc: in good standing in the communities in which they live, and are far from 
"h,omeless" or "indigent" (Roblin to COlA 1/31/1919; CIT Pet. Ex. A-9S8). 

As quoted, CIT PF 1997, HTR 118-119). 
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ii. BIA Analysis: Quinault presented the above comment in connection with its issue 2 (prior 
unambiguous Federal acknowledgment), but did not pursue it at that point, nor did it describe 
any specific ways J n which it appeared to the commenter that the unidentified statements by 
Federal officials were: "consistent with a voluntary claims organization rather than a tribal 
political and social (~ntity" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 12). As this comment went 
to the nature ofth~ ~mtity being described by Federal officials rather than to the specific issue 
of prior acknowledgment, it is placed under this heading. Because the Quinault argwnent does 
not cite specific statternents, a detailed response is not possible. However, the evidence on 
Cowlitz demonstnm:s that they are a tribe within the meaning of the regulations. 

c. Quinault's AlleUltion that the Proposed Finding Ignored Negative Evidence. 

1. Quinault's Posilion. Quinault stated: 

The propose'd findings assert that few of the external observers referred to the 
overall Cowliitz community, SUCPF at 13, and that references to the Cowlitz 
following the turn of the century refer to the Cowlitz Tribe or to individuals as 
members of a Cowlitz Tribe without describing the entity itself. SUCPF at 14. 
Nonetheless the proposed findings infer that these reference [sic] must refer to a 
tribal political and social entity. SUCPF at 14-15 

This inference ignores repeated descriptions of the umbrella Cowlitz 
group as a c:1airns group, i.e., a voluntary association of individuals of various 
degrees of Cowlitz descent formed for the purpose of seeking monetary 
compensation for wrongs done to the historic Lower Cowlitz and Upper Cowlitz 
tribal groups (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 17; see also Quinault 
Memorandum 1997, 11). 

ii. BIA Analysis. The proposed finding's Summary under the Criteria made no reference to 
"overall tribal community" (Clr PF 1997, Summ. Crit. 13). Rather, in connection with 
criterion 83.7(a), thte statement read: 

External ide:nt:ifications of the Cowlitz Indians as an entity in non-Federal 
records were: complicated by the nature of Cowlitz history. The bands ancestral 
to the modem petitioner were never, from the earliest historical records, in one 
village. Instead, they were scattered for a distance of some 80 miles along the 
length of the (:owlitz river. As a result, most external observers in the second 
half of the 19 11 century and first half of the 20th century did not see the complete 
"Cowlitz enti1:Y". Rather, external observers identified Cowlitz who happened 
to live in the vicinity of Kelso or Olequa, or Cowlitz Indians who had contact 
with their own particular organization, or Cowlitz Indians who were known to 
their immediatt: neighbors. 
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Extended el(ternal identifications of individuals known generically as Cowlitz 
Indians, of families known similarly as Cowlitz Indian, and of the component 
Cowlitz settlements which were part of the Cowlitz Tribal Organization and its 
successors, w~:re frequent. However, other than the BIA records discussed 
above, few of these external observers referred to the.whole of which the 
component!; were a part (CIT PF 1997 Summ. Crit. 13). 

The proposed finding was not, in these passages, analyzing the nature of the CTO or djscussing 
descriptions of the: CTO, whether as a claims organization or not. Rather, it was addressing the 
issue of the nature i)f~~xternal descriptions of the Cowlitz Indians, or individual settlemen,s of 
Cowlitz Indians, as an entity under criterion 83.7(a) as modified by 83.8(d)(1). The Summary 
Under the Criteria at: this point specifically pointed out that 20th century ethnographic studies 
from 1907 through 1934 "did not focus on the political or social organization of the Cowlitz 
tribe of that era ... " and " ... provided no systematic examination of the Cowlitz as an 
organized social entity" for purposes of 83.7(b) and (c) (CIT PF 1997, Summ. Crit. 14-15). 
The Summary und.~:r the Criteria discussed elsewhere the development and nature of the CTO 
under criterion 83.~'(c) as modified by 83.8(d)(3) (CIT PF 1997, Summ. Crit. 35-37). 

Generally, the Nicklason Research Associates report appeared to lack a clear understanding of 
the nature of evidenc:e acceptable for criterion 83.7(a). At one point, it stated: 

The BAR Summary argument [sic] that the "paucity of descriptions of the full 
entity is cor.siclered to be a consequence of the historically dispersed residential 
pattern oft~e groups in the Cowlitz River Valley," is flawed. For example, after 
their return from the Bosque Redondo in 1868, individual Navajos and their 
clans were dispersed on a reservation containing 2,000,000 acres. In addition, 
thousands of others occupied millions of additional acres of public domain 
lands. Des~ile this tremendous dispersion, the Navajos were consistently 
identified b~' local residents, local officials, Federal officials and published 
works as bc~:(mging to the Navajo Tribe. The same is true of the Sioux, 
Chippewa a;}d other plains tribes during this period (Nicklason 1997, 53-54). 

These comparisoru; cited by the Nicklason Research Associates report would be, in fact, close 
parallels to the way the BIA evaluated the evidence for the Cowlitz. The records for the period 
(local residents, loca.l officials, Federal officials, and published works) did quite consistently 
identify individuals living in a dispersed residential pattern both as Cowlitz Indians and as 
members of the Cowlitz Tribe. They did not, however, describe the tribe per se, its social 
organization, or its ::><olitical structure. Similarly, identifications of widely dispersed individuals 
as members of the navajo, Sioux, or Chippewa tribes would not be considered as "descriptions 
of the full entity" iln the context of criterion 83. 7( a). 

Additionally, the analysis in the Nicklason Research Associates reports is inconsistent. In 
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another locus, Nicklason Research Associates wrote for the period 1921-1941, "All of the 
evidence in the record compiled for this report shows a group so geographically scattered that 
not even a presumption of social community can be made" (Nicklason 1997, (44). 
Presumably, Quinault is not proposing to argue that the Navajo, Sioux, and. Chippewa were not 
Indian tribes because their members lived in dispersed geographical patterns (Nicklason 1997, 
53-54), however, they so argue in regards to the Cowlitz. The evidence, however, 
demonstrates that the: Cowlitz established by the reasonable likelihood of the validity of the 
facts, criteria 83.7(b) and 83.7(c). 

d. Quinault's AsseItion that the Proposed Findings Did Not Take CTO/CTI/CIT Meeting 
Minutes SufficienttL into Account. 

1. Quinault's Position. Quinault stated: 

In attempting to build a case for substantially continuous existence of leaders 
exercising political influence, the proposed findings largely ignore the minutes 
and other reports of the meetings of the Cowlitz group during the period from 
1912 through 1950. The minutes of these meetings are remarkable in the 
absence of political activity unrelated to claims issues. Repeatedly, these reports 
indicate that thc~ only matters considered were issues such as election of group 
officers, reports on the status of claims, and claims attorney contracts. The 
minutes of Cowlitz meetings and other existing reports demonstrate the group's 
almost total',ack of activity political or otherwise unrelated to claims activities 
(Quinault Re:vised Memorandum 1998, 44; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 30). 

Elsewhere, Quinault claimed that the records of the meetings of the CTO and CTI from 1912 
through the mid-1930's: and following 1950, ''unambiguously demonstrate that the Cowlitz 
Tribal Organization and the later Cowlitz Tribe ofIndians were voluntary claims organizations, 
nothing more or less" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,25). 

ii. BIA Analysis. The BIA did consider the CTO minutes for this period (CIT PF 1997, HTR 
128, 130, 135-136,141), and stated that, "[mlost of the surviving records of the Cowlitz tribal 
organization pertain t,o the claims initiative" (CIT PF 1997, HTR, 127; see also CIT PF 1997, 
HTR 141-142). The Anthropological Technical Report focused on modem community as 
required under 83.8md did not specifically address the period from 1910-1950. 

The minutes of the eTO organization were not the sole source of information or the only form 
of evidence availablc~ concerning Cowlitz political activity and influence from 1912 through 
1950. On the basis of analysis by BIA staff, the AS-IA concluded in the Summary under the 
Criteria that, ''the political influence of the named Cowlitz leaders extended well beyond 
'claims' issues as uS'.lally defined" (CIr PF 1997, Summ. Crit. 37). This issue is a difference 
in interpretation of dlC~ significance of the evidence between the AS-IA and Quinault; not a 
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result of the Deprutment's having failed to consider the ,evidence in the record. 

On the basis of an evaluation of the full body of evidence, the AS-IA concluded in the 
proposed finding that the CTO's claims activities represented only one aspect of the political 
leadership and political processes of the Cowlitz tribe as a whole. 

3. Specific Quimlult Assertions Concerning Content of the Historical Record 

a. Organization c!l1!:i Early Years of the CTO. through 1920. 

i. Events in 1910. 

Quinault's Position. Quinault stated: 

After year:> of no mention in the primary Historical record as a cohesive Indian 
tribe,136 the! 'Cowlitz Tribe" re-emerged after 1904. While they referred to 
themselvc::> as the 'Cowlitz Tribe,' the documents reviewed for this report, 
consistently characterized the Cowlitz tribe as a claims group that sought 
monetary I;ornpensation from the Federal Government for lost lands l37 

(Nicklason 1997, 10 1). (footnotes added] 

Quinault argued th;at in 1910, two years prior to the organization of the CTO, lawyers working 
on a Cowlit+ claim a.ction described the Cowlitz Indians as not in tribal relations: 

In 1910, 1111! ~aw firm of Harmon and Hull, which had been working with the 
Cowlitz descendants on their claim for five years, wrote ... "[The Cowlitz] 
have not maintained any strictly tribal relations for a good many years, and the 
tribes ofl11<! upper and lower Cowlitz Indians do not exist as an organized body 
at this time. They have their assemblies now and then, but there is no attempt to 
keep up the:ir tribal relations. They have married and intermarried with the 
whites, but all of the people we represent in this proceeding are direct 
descendar.:ts from these old tribes." NRA 1910-55 (Quinault Revised 

l36-ynis statc:n~ent refers to the characterizations in BIA reports from 1893-1902 discussed in the Nicklason 
Research Associate:; report (Nicklason 1998,51-56). This data was in the record at the time of the proposed 
fmding. It was sumr.larized and discussed in the evaluation of the evidence (CIT PF 1997, HTR 95-96). 

Il7"Beyond claims, there is no adequate description of historical political processes between 1904 and 1920 
... limited activity of pursuit of land claims .... no other politicaJ issues or leaders with other political agendas ... 
. enrollment . was descr:ibed in the record as necessary for the purpose of detennining individuals who were eligible 
to participate in clair:l!; award ... hunting and fishing rights only involved individuals or were clearly tied to the 
group's claim .... " O-licldason 1997, 104). 
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Memorand\un 1998, 18; see also Quinault Memorandum 1997, 11-12, 28). 

Additionally, the N icklason Research Associates report stated: 

That the contract was made with the "Upper and Lower Cowlitz River Indians," 
illustrates tJw continued historic separateness of the two entities in 1910. 
Indeed, two signers, Sam Williams, and Lewis Gerard, purposefully identified 
themselves as Upper Cowlitz. The historical evidence only shows lineal 
Cowlitz descendants coming together for the sole purpose of filing a land claim I 

against the United States. Even their own attorney acknowledged that the group 
had lost its tribal (political and social) cohesiveness (Nicklason 1998, 75). 

BIA Analysis. Th~: long statement quoted by Quinault was from a September 22, 1910, letter 
from Harmon & HIJI to the COlA (Quinault Ex. 5:1910-55). It followed a description of the 
"old Indians" and lhc~ sentence ending "descendants from these old tribes" above did not end in 
the original, but continued as: "descendants from these old tribes, and some of the old men and 
women still are living, although they are comparatively few in number" (Harmon and Hull to 
COlA 9/2211910; Quinault Ex. 5:1910-55). In a follow-up letter of October 18, 1910, the same 
firm submitted the proposed contracts and said: 

The old chiefs now living have for the most part signed the agreements, in fact 
all of them who could be seen, and in addition to this we have had the Indians 
themselves sign from time to time as we have been able to get them. They are 
widely scat1:c:red and they signed up as they happened to go to Chehalis or 
Tacoma (Ha.rmon & Hull to COlA 10/1811910; Quinault Ex. 5: 1910-63). 

The attorneys' statements were, in fact, consistent with the legal status of the Cowlitz Indians in 
1910. The proposec. finding did not at any time conclude that "the tribes of the upper and 
lower Cowlitz Indictls'" existed as an organized body in 1910, in the sense of having a 
reservation and the ~tatus of Federal wards, or "tribal relations," as interpreted under the law at 
the time. The same dOI:ument described the Cowlitz Indians as having chiefs and assemblies 
"now and again," which presumably referred to the years preceding the 1910 letter and is 
evidence of a political system. The fact that Cowlitz descendants on Indian reservations signed 
the contract does not preclude a finding that the CTO was a tribe. 

The two signers spc:dfied in the Nicklason Research Associates report, Sam Williams and 
Lewis Gerrand [not Gerard], were neither residents of the Cowlitz River Valley nor Upper 
Cowlitz Indians. WilIiams lived at Celilo on the Columbia River and was later allotted on 
Yakima; Gerrand was a metis descendant of Lucy Skloutwout, a Lower Cowlitz Indian woman, 
and resided on the Warm Springs reservation in Oregon (see Cowlitz GTKY File, BAR). 

11. Participation in Cowlitz Activities, 1912-1920. 
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Quinault's Positi0!1. Quinault stated: 

In 1912 whc:n Cowlitz descendants established the fonnal Cowlitz Tribal 
Organization, the reports of the meeting indicate that only business discussed 
related to prosecution of the group's claim. The reports further indicate that an 
eight man ,:orrunittee was appointed with power to act on behalf of the group 
because it '..,'ould "make it unnecessary to assemble again at any time soon, to 
the great inc:onvenience and expense of many of them who came from distant 
parts of the: state." NRA 1912-33 131 (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,18; \ 
Quinault MI~rnorandum 1997, 12). [footnote added] 

Quinault also sta1:(:ci in relation to the 1912 organizational meeting of the eTO that, "[t]he 
attendance list indicates that fully two-thirds of those in attendance resided on various Indian 
reservations and pTl~sumably were part of the reservation communities where they lived" 
(Quinault Revised M,emorandum 1998, 18; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 12; references NRA 
report, no page citation). 

BIA Analysis. In connection with the fonnation of the eTO and its development from 1910 
through 1920, Quinault submitted a significant amount of material which supplemented the 
data available tO~11: BIA at the time of the proposed fmding. This material included the names 
of the signers ofdlC~ 1910 attorney's contracts (Quinault Ex. 5:1910-63), the names of those 
Cowlitz who in 19111 petitioned for allotments on the Quinault Reservation (Quinault Ex. 
5:1911-20), the nmm:s of the persons (not all Cowlitz) present at the June 3, 1912, meeting 
(Quinault Ex. 5:1912-32A), the signers of the 1912 attorney's contracts (Quinault Ex. 5:1912-
2), a list (probably a partial copy) submitted by Peter Kalama in 1915 and transmitted to the 
COlA by Charles M,cChesney (Quinault Ex. 5: 1915-7), a list submitted by Frank Iyall in 1915 
and transmitted to ithe COlA by Charles McChesney (Quinault Ex. 5: 1915-9), and Peter 
Kalama's 1916 modification of and comment on his 1915 list (Quinault Ex. 6: 1916-3). 

The eight .. person:ommittee elected at the 1912 meeting was, according to the minutes, elected 
for a specific purpose. They were chosen "as trustees to act for the tribe in all matters 
pertaining to the presentation of the demands of the Cowlitz Indians before the Department of 
Indian Affairs, thc~ Secretary of the Interior and the Congress of the United States and to enter 
into contract with the attorneys for services rendered and to be rendered" (CTO Minutes 

I3IThe exhibit upon which Quinault based this analysis was a newspaper article from the Chehalis Bee­
Nugget, June 6,1912, reproduced from the CIT petition (A-841) (Quinault Ex. 5:1912-33). However, Quinault also 
submitted two page~; oh typescript of the minutes of this meeting, with typed signatures of Frank Thomas as 
President and Willie Frank as Secretary, which phrased the purpose in a more limited fashion: "Then when said 
contract is entered uncI by said trustees that it shall be as the act of the tribe of Cowlitz Indians, this action being 
taken for convenience and to avoid the necessity of individual signatures by people living remote from each other" 
(Quinault Ex. S:1912-:32:A [5-6J). 
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6/3/1912; Quinault Ex. 5: 1912-32A (6]). Three of the elected "trustees" were spouses of 
Cowlitz women (Kalama., Eynard, Meyers); one was a 'Cowlitz allotted on Yakima (Iyall); two 
were metis (Plamondon and Sareault); two were unallotted full-bloods (Suterlick and Kiona). 

Quinault provided only minimal analysis of the material submitted. The BIA entered each list 
into the historical membership data base of the Cowlitz and analyzed them comparatively, with 
one another, with tle 1915/1917 contributors list compiled by J.F. Spencer (cited in PF as 
Spencer 1917; resubmitted as Quinault Ex. 10:NSE1917-2), and with the 1919 Roblin Roll 
(cited in PF as Roblin 1919a; resubmitted as Quinault Ex. 6:1919-1). However, the 
conclusions that could be drawn were limited in that no list in the series purported to be either a 
census of the Cowl itz tribe or a membership list of the Cowlitz Tribal Organization. Each one 
was drawn up under different circumstances and for different reasons. 

The list of signers (,fthe 1910 attorney's contracts (Quinault Ex. 5:1910-63) contained 85 total 
names, including thO'S4= of both Atwin Stockum and Captain Peter, the chiefs of the Lower 
Cowlitz and Upper Cowlitz bands appointed by the OIA in 1878. Additional signers were from 
the family lines of Castama, Cathier/Cottonoire, Cheholtz, Eyle, Farron, FinlaylBercier, 
FinlaylPlamondon" Kimphus, Kinswa, LaQuash, Lozier, Phillips, Provoe, Quatanna, Satanas, 
Saterlick, ScanewalPlamondon, SkJoutwoutiGerrand, SkoutwoutlWeiser, WahawaILaDue, 
Waterton!1bomas, White, and Yoke. An additional signer, Mrs. Annie Hayden [Hiten, Hyton, 
Highton] was a Nisqually with Cowlitz ancestry. Two signers were Chehalis spouses of 
Cowlitz women (George Jack and Perry Youckton). "Three signers could not be identified by 
ancestral line (Mrs. Mary Heck, Katherine Kuskie, Lee Parsons). 

The 58 persons who petitioned in 1911 that the Cowlitz claim be resolved through allotments 
on the Quinault res4=r~cltion (Quinault Ex. 5:1911-20) contained the names of at least four 
spouses (Mrs. Margaret lyall, George Jack, Johnnie Johnson, Mrs. Susie Williams), and three 
persons whose lineag1e could not be determined (Fred McKenzie, Lee Parsons, Joseph Riddle) 
(BAR, Historian's File). The remainder represented the families of Cathie riC otto noire, 
Cheholtz, FinlaylBc~l'c:i4~r, FinlaylPlamondon, Kimphus, Lozier, Moxloch, Provoe, 
Quatanna/Farron, S,canewaIPlamondon, SkJoutwoutiGerrand, Wahawa/lyall, WahawaILaDue, 
Waterton!1bomas, 1~rhite, and Williams (BAR, Historian's File). The 1912 meeting repudiated 
Quinault allotments 'lS ii! satisfactory settlement of Cowlitz claims (see CIT PF 1997, HTR 
113). 

The list for those atte'nding the 1912 meeting was headed as follows: 

MEETING OF THE COWLITZ INDIANS AT CHEHALIS WASHINGTON 
JUNE 3rd, 1912. 

A meetin.g of the Cowlitz River Indians having been called to meet at 
Chehalis Washington on the 3d day of June, 1912, for the purpose of 
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considering pending legislation in the Congress of the United States for the 
relief of said Indians and for the purpose of entering into contract for services 
rendered during the past seven years and to be rendered as required in their 
behalf by Hudson, Holt & Harmon, of Tacoma, W.H. Doolittle of Tacoma, and 
A. A. Hull of Chehalis, all residents of the State ofWashington [sic], and 
reputable practicing attorneys in said State, and the council having been 
,regularly called to order the following persons were found to be present: 

Name Address Occupation 
(Quinault Ex. 5:1912-32A). 

In other words, the! list of 213 persons consisted simply of those who were present -- it was not 
a list of Cowlitz Indi:ans as such, nor a membership list of the CTO. As can be seen from the 
addresses of those who attended, it clearly had not become even a meeting of "Cowlitz River" 
Indians . 

. The 1912 list was distinguished from the 1910 signers in that it contained the names of27 
people who were cl<:finitely associated with the Yakima Reservation (i.e., who were located by 
the BIA on Yakima c:ensus; were Yakima allottees; or were later signers of the circa 
1921 Yakima Cowlitz petition) and many more people who lived in the Yakima area. This 
beginning interest Clr involvement of Yakima in the issue of the Cowlitz claim would lead to a 
clear split in 1915 (sc:e below), and to the formation of a Yakima Cowlitz claims organization 
which still exists, and which is not the petitioner for Federal acknowledgment. 

The BIA identific:d 11 more of those adults present at the 1912 meeting (including some with 
identified Cowlit~ ancestry) as enrolled or allotted at Chehalis, Nisqually, or Puyallup. Those 
with Cowlitz ancesll)' may be assumed to have attended because of a potential interest in the 
claim, but this is lOot the case for those attendees without Cowlitz ancestry. At least five 
additional men (G:()I'ge Jack, James Julius, Peter Kalama, John Longfred, and William Kaygar) 
were Chehalis, N:i!;ql.llally, or Puyallup, but were spouses of women with identified Cowlitz 
ancestry. Several other Chehalis Indians were present -- for example, the children and 
stepchildren of Lucy Jack. 139 Of those attending the 1912 meeting, 77 would be listed in 1919 
by Roblin as unenroUed Cowlitz Indians (Roblin 1919a); 19 more were from Roblin Roll 
Cowlitz families Ibut not themselves listed by Roblin. 

In the fall of 1913, lthe legal finn with whom the Cowlitz had contracted in 1910 no longer 

139Some Iigh::is thrown upon the nature of their attendance by Peter Kalama's separate listing of some 
people who were knelwlll Cowlitz descendants, but not valid 191 S petition signers because they were enrolled or 
allotted elsewhere. His list in this category included Mary Longfred, Margaret lyall, Lucy Jack, and his own wife 
(Kalama to Sells 1113119116 [II]; Quinault Ex. 6: 1916-3). Kalama's distinction makes it clear that the eTO was not 
simply a descendancy olrganization. 

143 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement CTI-V001-D007 Page 179 of 243 



represented the case (Kalama to Sells 111311916 [1]; Quinault Ex. 6:1916·3). By 1916: there 
was a clear split: 

Then I was intructed [sic] by these Indians that I am representing to contest any 
claim of th(: upper and lower Cowlitz Indians, that had relinquished [sic] their 
rights from thc~ Cowlitz tribe and were adopted in various reservations and were 
given allotments, annuities and protection from the government, in various 
ways. 

Therefore your honor ... ,all I want is justice. I am protecting the 
interest of the government, as well as the interest of unallotted Cowlitz Indians, 
that never r,!I::e:ived no allotments, nor any assistance, from the government. 

These Indians that were adopted, are enrolled and known as a tribe of the 
reservation where they are located now. Therefore I think I am save [sic] to say, 
that they can not come in, in the claim of the unallotted Cowlitz Indians, that 
remained on the Cowlitz country (Kalama to Sells 1/13/1916 [1]; Quinault Ex. 
6:1916-3). 

The submitted copy of Peter Kalama's 1915 petition (Quinault Ex. 5:1915-7) contained only 80 
names and was probably, based on comparison to his 1916 comment on this petition (Quinault 
Ex. 6: 1916·3), whi (:h contained a total of 189 names, incomplete. The BIA, therefore, has 
compared the 1915 petition presented by Frank Iyall and George Q. Jack, of the Yakima 
allottees, containin.g 185 names (Quinault Ex. 5:1915·9), to Peter Kalama's 1916 commentary 
on his 1915 petition (Quinault Ex. 6:1916-3).'40 There was almost no overlap between lyall's 
1915 list and Kalamu's 1916 list -- only 12 naines from three families, all allotted at Yakima.!4! 

The data thus indic:,ltes that the Cowlitz tribal entity was not simply a "claims organization" 
that was open to "aU Cowlitz descendants," but rather that there was internal political activity 
which indicated that the members of the Cowlitz tribe, as such, distinguished themselves from 

!4Oyt seems probable that these two lists, or perhaps the Iyalliist only, constitute the item referred to by 
Roblin in 1919 as: "TI11~ present representatives of this tribe are active in the work of the Northwestern Federation 
of American Indians, lIl.dl tlttey have prepared lists of members, one of which was forwarded to your office, I am 
infonned, by the late Dr. McChesney, Supervisor. I know from my own knowledge of the Yakima allotment 
schedules that this list c:mtains the names of many Yakima allottees" (Roblin 1919a; CIT Pet. Ex. A-9S9; see CIT 
PF 1997, HTR34-3S). 

141Alexander .Eyle, Helen C. Eyle, Lena Eyle, Maggie M. Eyle, Annie (Northover) Guyette, Eddie Joseph 
Mespiie, Emma Sadie O-l,orthover) Mesplie, Arthur Northover, David Northover, Frances (Katell) Northover, Joseph 
Northover, Sam Williams: (BAR. Historian's File). 
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Cowlitz Indians enrolled elsewhere who wished to participate in the claims activity that the 
Cowlitz chiefs had initiated. There was controversy about the nature of the CTO and how it 
should reflect the Cowlitz tribe itself. 

In 1915, the Cowlitz Tribal Organization held a series of meetings to discuss the claims 
proposals (see CIT PF 1997, HTR 115-116). On September 15, 1915, a committee to approve 
Cowlitz genealogy was chosen, consisting of Sam Williams of The Dalles, Oregon; Charles 
Pete of Castle RlOck, Mrs. Mary Longfred of Roy, Mrs. Annie Hiten of Tenino, and Mrs. 
Frances Northov€:r of Wapato (Chehalis Bee-Nugget 9/17/1915; see CIT PF 1.997, HTR, , 
116).142 Of the persons approved as Cowlitz by this committee,143 189 signed the petitioq 
presented by Pete~r Kalama. However, his 1916 commentary stated that he had found thai 43 of 
these Cowlitz-d€!:;c:ended signers were enrolled or allotted, so their names were to be removed 
(Kalama to Sells 1113/1916 [10]; Quinault Ex. 6:1916-3). Of the 146 remaining names, at least 
three more were allotted or married to allottees, while 23 were children of allottees and there is 
no record of their having been CTO members. Of the 120 signers from non-allotted families, 
76 were themsel\'e~s on the Roblin Roll in 1919 while 23 more were identified as belonging to 
Roblin Roll families. The remaining names l44 could not be identified from material in the 
record and have IlO identified descendants in the petitioner (BAR, Historian's File). To some 
extent at least, Kallama was distinguishing persons with a potential interest in the claim based 
purely on descent, from persons who were specifically identified as Cowlitz Indians in the 
sense of belongifl~: to the Cowlitz tribe. His distinction between the two categories was clear, 
but in regard to individuals, he had only incomplete data, see next paragraph. 

By January 1916, Kalama commented that not only were the 43 names that he had taken off his 
petition allottees, but also "many more at Yakima that I was not able to get their names as Mr. 

1420fthese, Frances (Katell) Northover and Sam Williams were allotted at Yakima; Mary Longfred and 
Anne Hiten (in right of their fonner or current husbands) at NisquaUy; only Charles Pete was unallotted. 

143Kalama nllmed only Mrs. Mary Longfred, Mrs. Ann Hyton and Mrs. Frances Northover (Kalama to 
Sells 1/13/1916 [to:; Quinault Ex. 6:1913-3). 

144 Alice C:e:cill~, Dawson Cultee, Noble F. Cultee, Bethry George, Cecilia Henry, Marie Henry, Francis 
James, Lizabeth John, Willie [John? - no last name listed], Nellie M. Johnson, Willie Kane, Mrs, Flora Leroy, 
Me Lissie Moxley, 5tmley Petoie, Mary Rice, Musey Simmons, Amos Smith, Laura L. Smith, Maggie Smith, Kate 
Williams. 

Dawson Cultee and Noble F. Cultee appeared on both the Nisqually and Chehalis censuses in the later 19111 

century: their Ni5'11l211ly mother was remarried, as Jennie Benn, on Chehalis (see for example NARS M-595 Reel 
408. Chehalis CenslIs, 1894). "Cecilia Henry" may have been Cowlitz, the wife of Henry Spehaken, using her 
husband's given mllneas a surname; "Marie Henry" may also have been Cowlitz, the wife of Henry Cheholtz. Flora 
Leroy and Mary Rjcl: may have been members of the Ross family at Nisqual\y; similarly, McLissie Moxley may 
have been Elizabeth M10xlie on Chehalis or Blissy Moxley on Nisqually (NARS M-S9S Reel 408, NisquaUy Census 
1894), but the available: data was not sufficient to be certain (BAR, Historian's files). 
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Iyall refused to fl.l1nish me the list of those he is representing that were adopted at Yakima 
reservation" (Kalama to Sells 1/1311916 [11]; Quinault Ex. 6: 1916-3). The names on the 1915 
lyall/Jack petition were not approved by the same committee that had been named to certify 
Cowlitz genealogy at the 1915 meeting in Chehalis. Rather. the committee which approved 
this list was entin~ly different and consisted only ofYakirna reservation residents: 

, We the undersigned, 
Lincoln White -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 67 -- years of age. 
Mary Ca.~c~ --. -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -80--" "" 
Julia Henry -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 76--" "" 
Margarettc: Jyall -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -60--" "" 
John Lumle:y -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -82-" "" 
Members ofthe Cowlitze Tribe ofIndians residing upon the Yakima Indian 
Reservation, State of Washington, at a meeting held at White Swan, State of 
Washington, October 12, 1915, being appointed by the members of the Cowlitze 
Tribe of Indians residing upon the Yakima Indian Reservation, to act as a 
committee to pass upon the names of legal members of the Cowlitze Tribe of 
Indians, whiich are written below as follows (Quinault Ex. 5:1915-9 [5]). 

Of this committee, Ilhe BIA could identify only one, Lincoln White, as descending from the 
Cowlitz Indians who resided in the Cowlitz River Valley during the second half of the 19th 

century: he was at brother of Frank Wannassay's wife, Annie White. Margaret IyaU was a 
Nisqually, widow '::lfthe Cowlitz Jyall Wahawa The Cowlitz ties of the other three committee 
members could nm b4~ documented on the basis of material in the record. The majority of 
persons on this list did not consist of ancestors of the CIT petitioner: the CIT has some 
members who descend from the Farron, lyall, and Mesplie families listed. Of the 186 persons 
on lyall's list, only lhree (Annie (Reed) Farron and two of her sons) appeared on the Roblin 
Roll as unenrolled Cowlitz. This evidence that the great majority of the Yakima Cowlitz 
allottees on lyall's :!is1 of 1915 are not ancestral to the petitioner, further documents that the 
CTO was not a descendancy/claims group, but was a tribe. 

J.F. Spencer's 1915/1917 list of 445 persons who contributed money to support Frank lyall's 
work to pass legisintion enabling a Cowlitz claim (Quinault Ex. 10:NSE1917-2) may be a 
version of a list, "De:scendants of the Cowlitz Tribe of Indians," utilized for the proposed 
finding (Spencer 19117; see CIT PF 1997, HTR 35), but time constraints prevented a name-by­
name comparison. It was not congruent with any other list -- not even with lyall's 1915 list nor 
with the circa 1921 list of Yakima Cowlitz signers (CIT Pet Enrollment Fonns and Ancestry 
Charts; see CIT PF 1997, HTR 36, 36nI8). It contained: 

60 names (of 213) of persons who had attended the 1912 meeting 
80 names (of 189) that had appeared on lyall's 1915 list 
79 names «(If] 85) that had appeared on Kalama's 1916 list 
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91 names which would appear as unenrolled Cowlitz on the 1919 Roblin Roll 
59 names which would appear on the circa 1921 list of Yakima Cowlitz signers 
212 names which appeared on none of the above 

Some 1915117 cor.tributors who had no other identified participation in this period were from 
persons with Cowlitz ancestry enrolled on other reservations, such as the Mounts family at 
Quinault. Many contributors, however, had no identifiable historical Cowlitz connection, nor 
did they appear on any later available lists, even of the "Yakima Cowlitz" as such. The list 
appeared to be a lislt of contributions to a project rather than a list of members of an 
organization, even though Spencer's letter referred to "people paying dues" (Spencer 1917). 

b. Evidence from I~xternal Descriptions. 1910-1920 (Quinault Revised Memorandum: 1998, 
41-44; Quinault ~.1:e:morandum 1997,28-29). 

1. Quinault's Posidon. Quinault stated: 

... the proposed findings state that from 1904 through 19341 .. ' the evidence 
demonstr~lles a smooth shifting of political leadership from government 
appointed ehiefs to elected leadership. While there were individuals identified 
as Cowlit~ leaders during this period 146 there is no probative evidence that 
indicates that these individuals exercised political influence or authority over 
significant matters of concern broadly to the Cowlitz other than claims-related 
issues,I47 or that there was a single amalgamated social community of Cowlitz in 
which such political influence could be exercised. See NRA and discussion 
above (Qu:.nault Revised Memorandum 1998, 41; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 

14'Quinault"!, topical sentences were in some cases broader than this specific time period, e.g., "There is no 
Probative Evidence that Leaders of the Cowlitz Claims Group Exercised Political Influence or Authority over the 
Group Between 1904 and 1950 on Significant Non-Claims Related Matters" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 
41; Quinault Memor:a.rldlJlUl 1997, 28). 

146"Actions taken by external authorities concerning the Cowlitz and their leaders could be significant 
evidence of tribal politklll processes, if there is evidence that these authorities regarded the Cowlitz leaders as 
generally exercising ~o(),liltical authority or that they regarded the Cowlitz as a political entity .... BlA contacts with 
the organization were I argely claims connected ... " (N icklason 1997, 104). 

147"Durlng the: years between 1904 and 1920, there is nothing in the records to show leaders exercising 
political influence OVe!r the wide breadth of the group's membership. In addition, there is no evidence of the 
existence ofbi-Iatera.l political relationships. In addition, there is no evidence of dispute resolution, use of influence 
to correct behavior, c)J"allocate resources. Also, there is no evidence in the record describing how the leaders 
communicated with the: members, or how the leaders were influenced by public opinion and influential groups or 
individuals within the organization. Furthermore, there is no imponant evidence showing how tommunity efforts 
were mobilized and t;o)llsensuses developed" (Nicklason 1997, 104). 
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28). [footnotes added from Quinault's submissions] 

Quinault argued thelt in the years between 1912 and 1920, the BIA regarded the CTO as only a 
claims organization: 

In the 1918 Armual Report of the Cushman Trades School local Bureau officials 
reported: "M[embers of the Cowlitz and Clallam I •• tribes scattered among the 
whites on the public domain maintain a business organization which meets 
periodically at Tacoma to discuss the ways and means for obtaining recognition , 
in the way of lands or money from the U.S. Government. So far as known, this 
organizatior:, or organizations, have no official recognition and exert little 
influence e:)(cept among the land hungry" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 
1998,18; Qt:.inault Memorandum 1997, 12; citing CIT Pet. A-623). [footnote 
added] 

ii. BIA Analy~is. I n this section, Quinault once more, in accordance with its argument that the 
CIT petition should not have proceeded under the provisions of 83 .8, presents an argument 
based on the absence of showing of historical community in the early 20th century. The 
remainder of the QI.:inault statements derive from this basic premise. In the proposed finding, 
the AS-IA considen:d the nature of Cowlitz leadership in the period from 1912 onward and 
concluded that the evidence for political leadership and a bilateral political relationship was 
sufficient to demonstrate that the petitioner met criterion 83.7(c) during the period from 1912-
1939, including this specific period from 1912-1920. 

The additional materials submitted by Quinault, particularly the 1915 letter from Peter Kalama 
to COlA Sells (see above) substantiate further that during this period the elected leaders were, 
in fact, receiving direction from the tribe's members as to how to proceed, and were acting in 
accord with those dirlec:tions. The selection quoted by Quinault from the head of the Cushman 
School (citing to a document submitted in the CIT petition exhibits) was accurate in stating that 
the eTC at this time held no official recognition by the Federal government. It contained no 
data to indicate how the writer had reached the conclusion that its officers had little influence 
among the tribe's members and thus carries little weight on this point. 

c. Descriptions oflbe CTa in Connection with 1920's and early 1930's Legislative Initiatives. 

i. Quinault's Position. Quinault stated that statements made in 1920 at bearings before the 
House Committee Oil Indian Affairs demonstrated "how the Cowlitz were perceived by 
members ofCongre:~;s I:md by Frank lyall," described by Quinault as "one of the Cowlitz Tribal 
Organization'S leade:rs" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 19). Quinault also presented a 

14'The Clallam nibe has received Federal acknowledgment through 25 CFR Part 83. 
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discussion of Frank lyall's 1920 testimony before the House Comminee on Indian Affairs in 
which he asked thallhe Cowlitz not be included in an omnibus claims bill because they can 
afford to hire thelll' 0".'l1 anorneys, etc., which included the statements that, "[w]e have a very 
intelligent people: among the Cowlitz tribe," and "most of them [Cowlitz] you can not 
distinguish from wlh.ite men and women." (Quinault Revised Memorandwn 1998, 19). One 
congressman, "conduded that because they were business people, fanners, and merchants they 
wanted their own opportunity to take their claim before the Court of Claims," while another 
"described the Cowlitz Indians as an educated and advanced people who operated 
independently of the government" (Quinault Revised Memorandwn 1998, 19). 

Quinault cited a sl!Jies of external descriptions of the Cowlitz in the 1920's in cormection With 
the claims initiativc:,1149 noting that in 1921, "Secretary of the Interior Fall informed Congress 
that the Department's records indicated that as early as 1895 the Cowlitz had become scattered, 
that they hardly fc.rmed a distinct class, and that they 'are without any tribal organization ... 
and have been mostly absorbed into the body politic.' NRA 1921-9" (Quinault Revised 
Memorandum 1998,20; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 12-13),150 while in 1922, 
"Representative Jolhnson of Washington was asked if the Cowlitz had a tribal organization. He 
responded; 'They maintain an organization of some kind, but I doubt if you would call it a 
tribal organization. It is a society.' 1922-8" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,20; 
Quinault Memorandum 1997, 13). Quinault referred to further statements made by Secretary 
of the Interior Work from 1924 through 1927151 to the effect that "the Cowlitz lacked any tribal 
organization and that they had been so thoroughly assimilated that they hardly formed a distinct 
class' (Quinault Re:vised Memorandum 1998,20; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 13; citing 
NRA 1924-1, 1924-12, 1924-35, 1927-5, CIT PF 1997 HTR., 126). Quinault concluded this 
series of descriptions with one made by COlA John Collier in 1933 (Quinault Revised 
Memorandum 1998,20-21; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 13; citing CIT PF 1997, HTR. 131; 
NRA 1933-13). Further, the report submitted by Quinault stated in numerous places that the 
fact that the Cowlitz were not organized under IRA by the Federal Government indicated that 
the eTO "existed for the purpose of pursuing a land claim" (Nicklason 1998, 165). 

149"[T]he overwhelming number of documents in the record show that external contacts with the 
organization. or direct ac:tions taken concerning it, were overwhelmingly claims connected and that the group 
existed for the pursuit of claims rather than self goven'unent.. .. correspondence about the Cowlitz claim came from 
Cowlitz leaders, C01~liit2: individuals. local residents, newspapers, other Indian tribes. attorneys. agency 
superintendents. the CI)mmissioner oflndian Affairs, the Secretary of the Interior as well as members of the United 
States Congress" (Nic:~:bISOD 1997, 147). 

1SOThe Ssec:l'eatry in 1921 was relying on a direct excerpt from the 1895 COlA Report, considered above in 
its chronological conte,xt. There is no indication that Fall was in possession ofadditional or independent 
corroborative evidelll:(~. 

'" Again apPllrcmtly based solely on the 1895 COlA Report. 
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11. CIT Comment. CIT stated: 

The Quinault: brief quotes tribal claims attorneys as denying the existence of a 
tribal entity as they prosecuted their case both administratively and judicially. 
However, the~ fact of tribal existence was irrelevant to their actions since the 
"taking" of land was from the historic tribe and no modem tribal entity was 
essential to the:ir ability to pursue their case. Moreover, many attorneys were 
ignorant of~ 9f even unconcerned with, the current tribal existence and had little 
reason to defi~nd the continued existence of a political entity, 

The comments of lawyers and politicians do not prove or disprove the 
fact of tribaJ ,~xistence for any tribe (CIT Response 1998, 7). [emphasis in 
original] 

lll. BIA Analysis. Neither intelligence and education nor working as businessmen, farmers, or 
merchants, either i:n the past or in the present, are evidence of such complete assimilation so as 
to preclude Federal a.cknowledgment under 25 CFR Part 83. The descriptions cited by 
Quinault may also h(lve contained a certain element of hyperbole, given that Quinault also 
quoted a letter written in 1934 by the president of the CTO "noting that the 'Cowlitz Tribe' had 
once been powerful but had lost their lands and a ' ... great many are old helpless and are 
diing [sic] off in isolation and misery.' NRA 1934-20" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 
21). 

The descriptions in the: historical record, however, may not be dismissed as cavalierly as CIT 
advocates. Rather, the:y must be evaluated carefully in the historical context. The precise 
statements made must be evaluated in context. For example, COlA John Collier's statement, 
as quoted by QuinauAt, that, "[t]here are, of course, a number ofIndians of Cowlitz descent in 
that part of the courtf)', but they live scattered about from place to place and have no 
reservation under govc:rnrnent control," (Quinault Memorandum 1997, 13; citing NRA 1933-
13) was a literally a:l:urate description of the situation. The statement occurred in a letter 
written by Collier to Lewis LaytonlS2 of Tacoma, Washington, 

who had w(lnted for some time to enroll his family with the "Cowlitz tribe of 
Indians,"[sic] Commissioner Collier stated that: "No enrollments are now 
being made with the remnants of the Cowlitz tribe which in fact, is no longer in 
existence as a c:ommunal entity." He added: There are, of course a number of 
Indians of Cowlitz descent in that part of the country, but they live scattered 
about from pla(;e to place and have no reservation under government control." 

IS2Layton was Ii'om Oregon. Later, in the 1940's and 1950's, he served as head of the Steilacoom 
organization headquarterl~d in Pierce County, Washington. 
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[1933-13] (Nicklason 1998, 55).\S3 

The statement, as sllIch, was in the context of government jurisdiction over property and does 
not permit such s'~eeping further inferences as made in the Nicklason Research Associates 
report: "It is clear that Commissioner Collier understood that the 'Cowlitz Tribe' was not a 
communal entity but a scattered remnant composed of Cowlitz descendants" (Nicklason 1998, 
155), pcpticularly without the full content of the incoming letter to which Collier was replying. 

It is not surprising (hat, "there is no evidence that the central offices of the Office of Indian 
Affairs or the DepiUtment of the Interior ever discussed organizing Cowlitz under the Indian 
Reorganization Act" or that the Federal Government never "considered the 'Cowlitz Tribe' to 
be eligible for the ~"eIlefits of the Indian Reorganization Act" (Nicklason 1998, 163; see also 
Nicklason 1998, 254··255). Reorganization under § 16 of the IRA applied only to Indian tribes 
with a land base. An absence of IRA reorganization efforts does not constitute negative 
evidence of the ex:.stemce of a tribal entity outside of the reservation context and does not 
preclude a positive: fi:nding under 25 CFR Part 83.154 

In addition, there ,lIe references to the Cowlitz tribe as having a tribal organization in 1928, see 
discussion above concerning Halbert. And, as made clear in Roblin's testimony before the 
district court in !:b~!2!:rt, and in the district court and Supreme Court decisions, allotments on 
the Quinault reservation were made to "tribal members," not just persons of Indian ancestry. 
The testimony in !!~bert is significant in that it specifically addresses "membership in a tribe" 
for purposes of allotment. 

d. Nature of the CJ~O in the 1920's and 1930's Based on Other External Records. 

1. Quinault's Positio:n: The Nicklason Research Associates report argued that: 

First, bet\yeell 1920 and 1929, none of the BAR record non-claims docwnents 
show the existence of a political "Cowlitz tribe" because they were all written to 
individualH. In addition, these documents do not show John Ike as a "Cowlitz" 
tribal politkalleader. Since he was the leader of the Cowlitz claims group and a 
long time rc:sident of the area, John Ike would have been familiar with where 
people livc~d. Therefore, it made sense that Superintendent Sams would ask Ike 

m For fu1l1ext c)fthe letter, resubmitting a document that was in the record at the time of the proposed 
rmding see Quinault E:,,-. 7: 1933-13. It acknowledged receipt of Laytons letter of October 5, 1933 "making 
application for enrolml~nt with the Cowlitz tribe of Indians; and stating that several of your relatives would like to be 
enrolled therewith" (Cc)lllicr to Layton 10125/(933). 

IS4For example, there was no evidence in the record that the Federal Government ever considered the 
Mohegan Tribe ofCc,DiIlc:cticut for organization under the IRA. 

151 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement CTI-V001-D007 Page 187 of 243 



to help locate school age children and heirs in probate matters ... Only two of . 
these letters involved another matter -- problems with the Gam[e] wardens over 
fishing in the Cowlitz River (Nicklason 1998, 175). 

The Nicklason Re~se~arch Associates report interpreted the limited presence of documentation in 
the BIA files for this period as indicating that CIT members were not relying on their leaders: 

The fact that individual Cowlitz members wrote the Western Washington 
Agency, th: Portland Area Office, the Bureau of Indian Affairs in Washington, 
D.C., Congressional Representatives, the President of the United States, and 
others concerning the status of their claims case, and not the group's leaders, 
shows a lack of centralized authority and leadership, as well as a lack of bi­
lateral politicaJ relationships" (Nicklason 1997, 200-201). 

ii. BIA Analysis. Correspondence from the BIA with individual members of a tribe or 
concerning indivi<b.al members of a tribe is not evidence that the tribe does not exist. See the 
next section for furthc:r discussion of other activities. 

e. Nature of the CIP in the 1920's and 1930's Based on Internal Records. 

i. Quinault's Position. The historical report submitted by Quinault also stated that in addition 
to the external des,:::rilptions discussed above, internal CTO records indicated that it was solely 
concerned with claims, ISS and argued that the minutes of CTO meetings were not good 
evidence for the exi ste~nce of a Cowlitz tribal entity in the 1920's and 1930's, 1S6 because: "A 
limited voluntary organization such as a claims group does not exercise political influence and 

ISS"Except for claims, the record contains no adequate description of other political processes between 
1921-1949 .. .'while leaders are named, they are only involved in the limited activity of the pursuit ofland claims. 
The Cowlitz group had no other significant political issues .... no evidence of leaders with other agendas" 
(Nicklason 1997, 145). 

IS6lri regard to 1921-1949, the Nicklason Research Associates report wrote somewhat inconsistently: 
"Meeting minutes, to th: extent that they exist (the record, refers [sic] to only eight meetings), often do not report 
attendance numbers. tn ~Lddition, attendance lists do not exist for any of those meetings ... The same is true for 
meetings that are mentioned in documents as having been held, but for which no other record exists" (Nicklason 
1997, 144). 

"The evidence irl the record describing group meetings during this period (there is evidence of only eight 
meetings), mostly describe~i administrative housekeeping (i,e, [sic] roll calls, election of officers, setting meeting 
dates), or the group's claims. While some meeting minutes report attendance figures, the minutes are not 
accompanied by attendance lists. In addition, where no meeting minutes, or other external or internal descriptions 
of a meeting exist in tbe rec:ord, there is no way to determine what issues were discussed" (Nicklason 1997, 148). 

For more extensi:vl~ discussion of the use of eTO minutes, see section IV.E.2.c. above. 

152 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement CTI-V001-D007 Page 188 of 243 



authority over its membership" (Nicklason 1997, 149).157 The report stated that: "For the years 
between 1921 anc, 1949, there is no evidence of leaders with other agendas" (Nicklason 1997, 
145), and "Betwc!l:n 1935 and 1949, there are no internal docwnents in the record that were 
generated by the group ... only four references to, or letters generated by Cowlitz individuals. 
These letters dealt with matters relating to the claims and wardship status" (Nicklason 1997, 
149). 

The Nicklason report also stated, in connection with internal political processes from 1921 
through 1949: "Most significant, in terms of social commwrity, is the fact that Cowlitz 
membership, during this period, is not even defined. For example, no official roll exists in the 
record" (Nicklason 1997,145; see also Nicklason 1998, 164), and asserted that: "Discussion 
concerning enrollment, to the extent that it was an issue between 1921 and 1949, is discussed 
in the record only as a means to determine individuals eligible to participate in a Cowlitz claim 
award" (Nicklaso,tl 1997, 145). 

Quinault stated: 

An isolated or occasional action like the adoption of a resolution protesting state 
regulation of individual Cowlitz fishing activities is not sufficient to establish 
the substuntially continuous existence of political leaders for the period 1904 to 

157 Again for this period, much of the Nicklason Research Associates report's argument was based on the 
lack of discussion of a historical social community in the proposed fmding, which is not required for petitioners 
proceeding under 83.8, c:.g., "There is no evidence that most of the peripheral individuals maintained social ties and 
interacted with a sodal c:ore, an essential requirement to show social community" (Nicklason 1997, 145), or: 
"Furthermore, there is nC) significant evidence that any socialization occurred outside the context of claims 
discussions. For example, there is no evidence that social gatherings involving significant numbers of the 
membership and signijfic:ant numbers of kinship lines took place before or after any claims meetings" (Nicklason 
1997, 144-145). 

However, the Nickhl!iCm Research Associates report's statements were also broader and encompassed a discussion 
of evidence for critericm 83.7(c): 

Also importilllt, there is no evidence describing how the leaders communicated with the members, 
or how the lellders were influenced by public opinion and influential groups or individuals within 
the Cowli,"~ group. There is no important evidence showing how community efforts were 
mobilized ilnd 4)r [sic] consensuses developed because no community existed (Nicklason 1997, 
146). 

Evidence existing in the record for the years between 1921-1949, shows a lack of communication 
between the gr()up and its leaders. For example, Cowlitz inquiries about the progress of the claim 
were not addressed to the group leadership but to the Taholah Superintendent the Commissioner 
of Indian AI'fillurs, the Secretary of the Interior and others in the government There is no evidence 
of the existence: ofbi-lateral political relationships during this period (Nicklason 1997, 147-148). 
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I 

1950 (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,43; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 
29). 

According to th(~ Quinault comments, subsistence fishing was not a life-style issue for the 
group; only a monet.ary compensation issue: 

As to hwlting and fishing rights, the record contains only isolated discussions 
concerning h.unting and fishing rights. In addition, the issue almost exclusively" 
involved individuals or was clearly tied to the group's claim. For example, \ 
evidence in the record between 1921-1949 shows that the group's leadership 
sought, \\~thin its land claim, monetary compensation for the value of lost 
hunting and l1shing rights. While a 1934 petition signed by sixty-three members 
of the 'Up::l,er and Lower Cowlitz Tribes," asked for a law protecting fishing 
rights in the aboriginal area, the fishing activities described were individual in 
nature and nothing resulting from the submission of the petition. Also, during 
the years between 1921-1949, the record shows few people living in the Cowlitz 
river valley and fishing in the Cowlitz River. In addition, the evidence clearly 
shows that group was widely scattered and that most lived away from the 
Cowlitz River. The Agency superintendent, the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 
and congrl:.;sional representatives understood, or were informed of this fact 
(Nicklason 1997, 146; see also discussion of Thelma Adamson (Quinault 
Revised Memorandum 1998, 21 ». 

ii. BIA Analysis. Quinault seems to imply that undertaking claims activities of any sort is 
negative evidence that a petitioner was a tribe. Other petitioners recognized under 25 CFR Part 
83 have prosecuted daims, for example, the Mohegan. Many federally acknowledged tribes 
also maintain claims organizations. Although many claims organizations are not tribes. in the 
case of the Cowlit~ during this period, the AS-IA found that claims activities were just one part 
of a larger list of ac tivities undertaken by the Cowlitz, some of which were non-claims related. 

There can be no qu.c::s:tion that the Nicklason Research Associates overstated the issue in stating 
that "for the years between 1921 and 1949, there is no evidence of leaders with other agendas" 
than claims (Nicklasol1l 1997, 145). The exhibits in the Quinault submission, while external 
documents rather thm CTO-generated documents, contributed to the record a substantial 
amount of new infoJtnation concerning leaders and leadership activity in the context of fishing 
rights during the lat(:t' ] 920's which confirmed recollections that Judith Irwin collected (Eyle 
1975) to the effect t}~lt the Upper Cowlitz were holding meetings in the 1920's in addition to 
the annual CTO gatbe:ri.ngs: 

"Cowlitz River Indians Elect New Officers." Lewis Castona of Cinabar was 
elected presidemt of the Cowlitz Indian tribe at their annual meeting held at the 
home of Chief John Ike at Harmony. Earn Eyley [sic] of Nesika was chosen 
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vice president; Peter Thomas of route 2, Chehalis, secretary-treasurer. Another 
meeting wllllbe held July 15. This organization is composed of Cowlitz Indian~ 
living in the: Cowlitz river valley (Cowlitz County Advocate, 30 June 1927 
(Castle Rock, WA), Vol. XLL, NO.4; Quinault Ex. 7: 1927-30). 

"'Indians Will Protest - State Imposes Fishing Laws that Chafe Cowlitz 
Tribe." Cht:halis, Wash.-A meeting has been called to be held in Chehalis 
October 31 of members of the Upper Cowlitz Indian tribe of which John Ike is. 
chief. PUl1'OSe of the gathering is to fonnulate an organized protest against the 
hunting al1j fishing regulations that have been imposed on the Indians as being 
contrary to agreements made originally with them by Governor Stevens in the 
early days. 

TIle: Indians are chafing under the license and license fee restriction. 
They feel that by previous right of possession the regulations are not fair to 
them. Le\.vis Castoma ofCinnebar is president of the coun~il, Sam Eyley of 
Nesika vie:':··president, Peter Thomas of route 2, Chehalis, secretary (Cowlitz 
County Advocate (Castle Rock, W A), Vol. XLI, October 20, 1927; Quinault Ex. 
7: 1927-44~. 

These reports show that the Upper Cowlitz meetings were being held in coordination with John 
Ike, the president of the CTO. They also demonstrate that the 1934 fishing rights petition by 
the CTO (CIT Pet. 1987, Ex. A-551; resubmitted as Quinault Ex. 7: 1934-15) discussed in the 
proposed finding (CIT PF 1997, HTR 139-140)was (1) not something new; (2) not just an 
individual initiative by Frank Wannassay of Kelso, who was a Lower Cowlitz Indian living at 
the mouth of the Cowlitz River; and (3) may indicate that other groups within the CTO 
organization wer(: responding to concerns of the Upper Cowlitz subsistence fishers. 

Some activities conce:ming fishing rights during this time were not properly characterized by 
the Quinault. The fac;;t that the 1934 petition was signed by both Upper and Lower Cowlitz and 
protested fishing r':gulations by the State of Washington demonstrates that those who signed 
felt a personal interest in this subsistence issue and had joined with other tribal members to 
voice their opposition to the state regulations. The fact that the petition was not responded to 158 

is completely unrelat,ed to the fact that Upper and Lower Cowlitz made a joint effort to voice 
their opinion on an issue of immediate importance to them. Unlike during later periods, when 
the Cowlitz reque:~:ted monetary compensation, the earlier subsistence rights activities appear, 
on the basis of QUlIlault's own exhibits from 1927 and 1928 which provide a context for the 
1934 petition, to havc~ been of immediate importance to those involved. They were not 

Isa"While a 1934 petition signed by sixty-three members of the 'Upper and Lower Cowlitz Tribes,' asked 
for a law protecting fhhing rights in the aboriginal area, the fishing activities described were individual in nature 
and nothing resulted from the submission of the petition" (Nicklason 1997, 146). 
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requesting monetary compensation for rights which had been lost generations before and had 
linle importance to peoples' everyday life. They were 'requesting a change in fishing 
regulations that affc~c:tt:d their use of the resources at that time. This was confirmed by another 
Quinault exhibit, a letter from the superintendent of the Tenino, Washington, public schools, 
District No. 203, to the Honorable Albert Johnson, Congressman: 

Sorry to bother you with this petty matter, but 1 know no one else to 
whom to app4:a1. 

Brielly" one of our old friends of the Cowlitz tribe has been in 
difficulties over netting salmon in the Cowlitz river ... Old Sam Eyley. 

They had him in jail in Chehalis awhile but have now turned him loose. 
Old Sam is one of five or six of those old Indians who have never 

learned any better than that it is necessary to have salmon in order to live, and I 
doubt whether they will live long enough to learn better from the whites .... and I 
doubt whether they should ever learn better! 

Old Sam has been netting salmon in the Cowlitz for nearly ninety years 
(He says). ,AJlyway, it[']s a long time. 

I just want to make an appeal for a few of these old fast dying old timers. 
The injustice' of the white man's law in this case. Even if they have no treaty 
rights on that particular. (1 wonder if they have). 

The best we =:an do to preserve the rights of the Indians, will avail little 
against some of the destructive methods of our handling the Indian question. 

Howc:ve:r, I wonder whether anything could be done to protect these half 
dozen old Indians in their tribal rights of fishing on the Cowlitz- not for selling 
but for their own use .... (Martin to Johnson 4/4/1928; Quinault Ex. 7: 1928-
16; citing RG75, Taholah 1351-28-115). 

Johnson forwarded bis letter to the COlA (Johnson to Burke 4/9/1928; Quinault Ex. 7: 1928-
16), receiving a resp.,:nse to the effect that the Cowlitz River did not flow through or border 
upon any reservatio:o., but that: 

There are only at few Indians living in the Cowlitz country and in so far as their 
rights to fish ill the Cowlitz River are concerned, they are in the same position 
as the white pc~ople, with the exception that they are permitted to take fish for 
their own use at any time they so desire. The Superintendent of their agency 
was instrumc~:~tal in securing this right for them and other Indians living off the 
reservation aft4:r making several appeals to the State board of Game and Fish 
Commissioners, and there is an understanding between the Board and the 
Superintenden1t that the outside Indians will be pennitted to take fish for their 
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ov.n use, but are required to abide by the laws of the State in regard to the open 
and closed seasons in so far as selling fish is concerned (Burke to Johnson 
4/1711928; Quinault Ex. 7:1928-17) 

The lack of an "ofJicial roll" is also a false issue. No petitioner acknowledged through the 
25 CFR Part 83 rt:g1i.llations has had an "official roll" in the sense of a BIA-approved roll, and 
most did not main1ain well-structured membership lists. During the 1920's, the BIA was 
considering the issue of Cowlitz membership only in the context of the possible need to prepare 
a claims roll if legislaltion authorizing the Cowlitz claim succeeded: "Should the claims of 
these Indians be rd;~rred to the Court of Claims, or any other method of settlement be decided 
upon later, it will probably be necessary to make a roll of this tribe to determine the persons 
entitled to participate in any moneys found to be due them from the United States" (B'urke to 
Johnson 5/1/1929; Quinault Ex. 7: 1929_6).159 

Additionally, many atcknowledged tribes had have irregular procedures for maintaining rolls 
until recently. In the late 1940's, Yakima. for example, purged their rolls, excluding 
descendants of a rrJ:mber of Cowlitz (among other tribal origin) families who had been allotted 
there. This removal of some Cowlitz from the Yakima roll is unimportant except in so far as it 
indicates that Yakima's rolls were in a state of flux as late as the early 1950's. The existence of 
fluctuations and in'e:gularities on rolls has characterized many other tribes as well. Even today, 
some tribes are undear about what their "official" roll is and a few have been and are even 
involved in litigati::m to clear up discrepancies and disagreements. 

Throughout this portion of its comments, Quinault insists that the proposed finding should 
have made a show.ng of historical community even though under the 83.8 regulations, none 
was required. Then, because the technical reports and Summary under the Criteria did not deal 
with historical conununity, Quinault concludes that there was none, which, it argues, would 
make political infl111~nce or authority impossible. This i~ a process of circular reasoning. 

f. The eTO fromJIle Later 1930's through 1950. 

1. Quinault's Position. Quinault stated: "From the Later 19305 until 1950, There Is No 

159In so far ~I!; thiis correspondence addressed the nature of such a roll, it focused upon dual enrollment. 
The COlA stated: 

Should the Ct)wlitz Indians obtain a jurisdictional act and have their claims adjudicated by the 
Court of Cia ill IS none of those who are of the blood of that tribe will be pennitted to assume tribal 
membership now with the Cowlitz Indians if they have become affiliated with some other tribe 
and receive ttibal benefits therewith. Nor will anyone be pennitted to go into the Cowlitz Tribe 
unless the tribe: approves an application to have the Secretary grant authority for them to 
participate (lBurke to McCoy 5/3/1929; Quinault Ex. 7:1929-8). 
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Evidence of Activiry by the Cowlitz Group" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 21). The 
Revised Memorandum argued that "as the proposed findings concede '60 there is no evidence of 
political activity between 1939 and 1950" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,43; Quinault 
Memorandwn 1997, 29). (footnote added] 

The comments also criticized the BIA's discussion concerning the loss of certain important 
Cowlitz papers which had long been held by the descendants of Cowlitz attorney and member 
James E. Sareault, !;tating: "The unavailability of papers that may be in the possession of the 
Sareault family does not explain the absence of docwnentary evidence during this period in 
government files or other external sources" (Quinault Memorandum 1997, 29n 16). 

The report submitte:cI by Quinault referenced a newspaper notice by James Sareault dated May 
31, 1940, calling a Cowlitz annual meeting (Nicklason 1998, 165). It also mentioned a 1942 
letter written by Sat(:ault (Nicklason 198, 166). 

ii. BIA Analysis. Because the Cowlitz are being evaluated under the provisions of § 83.8, the 
BIA did not fully (!valuate their historical community and is not required to do so. Any 
discussion concerning community before the present made in the technical reports for the 
proposed finding was included to provide context and perspective. The proposed finding'S 
statements concerning the cn political organization indicated that the evidence reflected an 
apparent low ebb ill ;activity during the 1940's. However, there were indications that some of 
the leaders were me:eting during this period. For example, on December 2, 1946, Clifford 
Wilson wrote a lettl:r requesting infonnation on the settlement bill, and he received a response 
from the Taholah S upl::rintendent dated January 31, 1947. Marjorie Okfen Croft recently wrote 
a letter detailing spc:d:fic events in 1947 (CIT Response 1998). Mrs. Croft remembers 1947 
well because it wa'S thl:: same year she married her husband Frank Smith. She says that M. L. 
Forrest, Maude Snyder, and Robert Peterson were involved in meetings in 1947, held at 
Chehalis and at Maude:: Snyder's home. 161 This new infonnation corroborates other copies of 
correspondence bet .... reen Cowlitz individuals and the president of the organization in the mid-
1940's which was referenced in the Proposed Finding. (CIT PF 1997, Summ Crit. 38) By May 
13, 1950,200 people: met and elected Forrest president of the "Cowlitz Tribe."162 As 
mentioned in the HTR, a newspaper article indicated that this meeting was the first one held 

1600yne word "c:cln,cede" implies that the proposed fmding was admitting error in response to criticism, and 
possibly implies that th,~ proposed fmding was admitting to some fonn of wrong -doing. The proposed fmding did 
not "concede" any point, but made a straightforward statement concerning the evidence that had been found in the 
record. 

161 Letter from Marjorie Okfen Croft, dated Jan I, 1998 to BIA. Submitted with Cowlitz Response. 

162 Minutes c.f the: CTI meeting of 5/13/1950, Maude Snyder, Secretary Treasurer, May 13, 1950. 
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since 1941. 163 

The lack of annual mt~etings doesn't necessarily mean that the group did not continue to 
socialize in other ways, as indicated in the evidence that did survive and is now in the Cowlitz 
record. The Propost:d Finding Summary also makes the important point that the individuals 
involved in the CcrNiitz organization before 1941 and those involved afterward were the same 
individuals: 

The leaders who initiated the 1950 Cowlitz reorganization effort were the same 
as those who had held office at the time the prior organization ceased to hold 
regular mee~tings, and to whom individual Cowlitz directed correspondence as 
tribal officers during the interval when no meetings were held. Newspaper 
coverage of l:he 1950 meeting stated that the newly elected president and vice­
president had "'traded the positions they had held since 1941." The minutes of 
the post-l 9:50 CTI also referred to the participation of many non-officers who 
had been m:Inc~d in the organizational minutes from the 1930's. lbis 
information lis evidence of continued leadership, whose activities during the 
1950's were discussed in the paragraphs above. (CIT PF 1997, Surnm Crit, 38) 

In addition, the 1azW: number of individuals attending the first meeting reasonably supports a 
finding that a level of interest and some contact among members was maintained by many, 
even when meetings were not held. Quinault presented no data concerning whether the group 
had dispersed more Ithan had been its traditional residential pattern or where they lived. It is 
not clear where people were living at this time. It would not be surprising to find that they had 
migrated during wwn to work in war industries. However, since they are proceeding under 
83.8, the provision fol' previously recognized tribes, historical community need not be 
demonstrated, and :"etitioner met 83.7(c) as modified by 83.8. 

The BIA researche!J's have written more than 30 acknowledgment findings. The history of 
unrecognized groups indicates that generally the 1940's are the least documented decade for 
petitioners. The hi:;to:ricaJ context indicates that during WWII few petitioners were able to 
bring together the resources needed to pursue their tribal interests. Gas rationing made travel 
difficult and many <)fthe petitioners' members migrated to growing urban areas such as New 
Orleans, San Fran(;:is:co, Brooklyn and Seattle in order to participate in war industries located in 
those cities. Not only is documentation rare during this decade, but also activity was at a low 
ebb among many pt::ltitioners. The regulations pennit these historical situations to be taken into 
account, 25 CFR § 83.6(e). Some unrecognized groups never recovered; while others, like the 

163 Newspaper Article, (clipped without paper identified), May IS, 1950. 
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Cowlitz, were able to revive what social and political organization continued to exist. 164 

F. Nature of the Cl)wlitz Tribe of Indians (CTI) 1950-1973 as Predecessor Organization 
of the Cowlitz Indi:1D Tribe (CIT). 

1. The l'lf,ature of tht~ eTl. 

a. Quinault's Posit~2.I{l. Quinault stated: "The Existence of Leaders Exercising Political 
Influence Between 1950 and 1974 Must Be Considered in the Context of the Nature of the 
Cowlitz Organization" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 45; Quinault Memorandum 
1997,31). 

By the "context OftJlC~ nature of the group," Quinault was referring to its position that the CIT, 
like the CTO, was oa.ly a claims organization. The Nicklason Research Associates historical 
report submitted by Quinault asserted that, based on the 1950 constitution, the CTO was a 
claims organization., Ui5 was perceived as a claims organization,l66 and was the continuation of 

I64The Mohegan ofCoMecticut and the Snoqualmie of western Washington are good example of 
petitioners with a low ebb Url documentation and activities occurring during the 1940's. Both tribes have since been 
recognized through the 25 CFR Part 83 regulations. 

16S"[T]be overwhelmmg number of documents in the record show that external contacts with the 
organization, or actions ~ikl:n mvolving the group, were overwhelmmgly claims cOMected. The record shows that 
external authorities unde:rstlxxi that the Cowlitz group existed for the pursuit of claims and not self government" 
(Nick1ason 1997, 198). 

"As there is no evidence of social community, there can be no existence of political influence and 
authority" (Nicklason 1997" 199). 

"This lack of politiicalleadership is clearly shown in the renegotiation History of the Cowlitz attorney 
contract during the dec;!jl: Clfthe 1960's. For example, for a period of five years, no one m the group took direct 
action on the only issue: orreal Historical importance to the group" (Nicklason 1997,201). 

"A limited, vOllllltuy organization such as a claims group does not exercise political influence and 
authority over its meml)l:rship" (Nicklason 1997,201). 

"Evidence exi:S1:Ul@; m the record for the years between 1950-1973, shows a lack of communication between 
the group and its leaders. For example, Cowlitz mquiries about the progress of the claim were not addressed to the 
group leadership but to Ihe Taholah Superintendent the Commissioner of Indian AffaiJrs, the Secretary of the Interior 
and others m the Federal GI)vemment. Also, there is no evidence of the existence ofbi-Iateral political relationships 
during this period" (Nic:lda!lOn 1997, 200). 

166 "During the:;c: later years, the Federal government including the Agency superintendent, the 
Commissioner of Indian aflairs, the Solicitor's Office of the Department oflnterior, the Office of the Secretary of 
the Interior, the United Stat,es Congress, Newspapers, the Cowlitz claims attorney, as well as the Cowlitz group 
itself, did not define the: Cowlitz Tribe as a sociaUpolitical tribal entity. For example, the group was referred to in a 
variety of ways including a society, a voluntary organization, an unorganized descendance group and a [sic] 
organization that pursue·j daims. Others concluded that it was not a community successor tribe" (Nicklason 1997, 
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an earlier Cowlitz c:laims organization. 167 The report submitted by Quinault stated that, "[t]he 
new claims organ:2:ation history began on April 20, 1950, when the Portland Area Office 
received a letter from a Mrs. E. R. Goulter stating that her husband and son were Cowlitz 
descendants" (Nic klason 1998, 183).168 Quinault stated: 

The prop()s,~d findings note that the annual meetings remained the "primary 
, political center" of the group during this period. Again, the extant minutes and 
reports of thOlse meetings provide the best evidence of the nature of the group's 
political al:tivities which are largely, if not exclusively limited to claims related 
issues. Again., there is simply no evidence that the group's leaders exercised 
political influence broadly across the group on nonc1aims matters (Quinault 
Memorandum 1997, 32; no citation to CIT PF 1997). 

b. BIA Analysis. 'The fonnal organization established in 1950 was to pursue an ICC claim 
(CIT PF 1997, HTR 142), and did pursue an ICC claim. Many recognized tribes, including 
Quinault, pursued daims during the 1950's (s.ee CIT PF 1997, HTR 144). This did not per se 
make the Cowlitz tribe just a claims organization. Again, Quinault disagrees with the weight 
given by the Assi:;1,ant Secretary to other tribal issues indicating political activity between 
1953-1974, including fishing rights, cemeteries, litigation and enrollments. See discussion 
below, "5. Evidence Concerning Non-Claims Activities, 1950-1974." 

2. The existenCE' o/Community in the CTI, 1950-1974. 

a. Quinault's po.§iilim. Quinault asserted, based on the Nicklason Research Associates 
historical reports tha.t it submitted (Nicklason 1997, Nicklason 1998),169 that there was no 

197). 

167"Some (If the individuals involved in the reorganization of the Cowlitz group in 1950 were active in the 
earlier Cow.1itz orgar. i;~tion before it ceased meeting. SUCPF at 38. The proposed fmdings treat both the 
reorganized group arldl ilts leadership as a continuation of the earlier group. Thus it is fair to infer that the 
description of the nature: of the group reflects not only the nature of the group while the constitution and bylaws 
remained in effect bc::twc~en 1950 and 1974, but also reflects the prior character of the group" (Quinault 
Memorandum 1997, 31). 

161 This was presumably the wife of Edwin Goulter (Roblin Roll, p. 13), whose mother was Maggie 
Cloquette, b.c. 1874 (Roblin Roll p. 13), 3/8 Cowlitz, 1919 res. Oysterville, Washington (Roblin 1919, 13), though 
the Nicklason Research Associates report elsewhere gave the surname as Coulter (Nicklason 1998, 183-184). 

169"The evidc:nce in the record between 1950 and 1973, describing group meetings, mostly describes 
administrative housekec:ping (i.e., roll calls, election of officers, setting meeting dates), or claims. In addition, were 
no meeting minutes, or ,other external or internal descriptions of meetings exist in the record, there is no way to 
determine what issue:s were discussed" (Nicklason 1997, 200). 

"Except for t:illimS, the record contains no descriptions of other Cowlitz political processes between 1950-
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social communityJ7O .. vithin which the leaders of this period could assert political authority or 
influence,171 and argued: 

The fact that this group [the CTI] may have had a series of individuals identified 
as leaders i:i of no more significance that [sic] the fact that other voluntary tribal 
claims organi7..ations, the Sierra Club, or any other voluntary organization has 
had a series of individuals identified as leaders (Quinault Revised Memorandum 
1998, 39; see also Quinault Memorandum 1997, 26). 

Quinault also refem:d to the lack of an "official roll" for the period 1950-1973 112 and I 
emphasized that documents for this period provided little infonnation concerning attendance 173 

and provided no indication that socialization occurred "outside the context of claims 
discussions" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 24). \74 

1972. For example, while leaders are named, they are only involved in the limited activity of pursuit of claims. The 
group had no other siY,nifi,:ant political issues or leaders with other agendas. Therefore leadership continuity during 
this period was only tied tC) claims" (Nicklason 1997, 198). 

170 Again, the ,)verwheIming weight of the evidence for this period demonstrates a lack of social 
community for the group cIS a whole in which leaders might exercise political influence beyond the group's primary 
stated purpose, the pur.;\JIit of claims (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 45; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 31). 

171 "[T]here is n,othing in the record to show that leaders exercised political influence over the whole 
membership or significllJllt numbers of the membership and kinship lines. For example, there is no evidence in the 
record of dispute resoMion, use of influence to correct behavior, or the allocation of resources within a community . 
. . . there is no evident:c: describing how the leaders communicated with the membership, or how leaders were 
influenced by public opi;lli'on and influential groups or individuals within the Cowlitz group ... no important 
evidence showing how community efforts were mobilized and consensuses developed because no social or political 
community existed" G-li<:klason 1997, 198). 

172Most significant, m terms of social community, is the fact that the Cowlitz group's membership between 
1950 and 1973, is not eVel11 defmed. For example, no official roll exists i;n the record. A community cannot be 
described if there is nCI infc)rmation specifically defmmg the individuals who made up the community (Nicklason 
1997,197). 

173Meeting mi::lutles, to the extent that they exist often do not report attendance numbers. In addition, 
attendance lists do not mdst for any of the meetmgs that are documented in the record. As a result, it is impossible 
to determine who atterlClr.d these meetmgs and whether or not they represented a significant number of the group's 
total membership and kinship lines. The same is true for those meetmgs mentioned in documents as havmg been 
held, but for which no other record exists. In addition, where no meetmg minutes, or other internal or external 
descriptions of a meetiIl8 exist in the record, there is no way to determine the issues that were discussed (NicklClSon 
1997,196; see also (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,25). 

174"F. Therei! 110' significant evidence that any socialization occurred outside the context of claws 
discussions. For exam~le, there is no evidence that social gathermgs mvolving significant numbers of the 
membership took placc: before or after the meetmgs" (NicklClSon 1997, 196-197). [see 1974 statements by Don 
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b. BIA Analvsis. Analytically, the approach that Quinault took to the events of this period was 
to assert that there was no community and that therefore there could be no political authority or 
influence. Becaus.e: Quinault denied the eligibility of the petitioner to proceed under the 
provisions of 83.8, the comments assumed that the petitioner and the BIA reports were subject 
to a prerequisite of showing community at a date where none is required to be shown under the 
regulations. 

If by "official roll" Quinault means one approved by the BIA, several other groups wi~ 
positive final detl!nninations for acknowledgment under 25 CFR Part 83 have not had such 
rolls (see discussion. ~bov~, wher~ Quinau~t raised the same is~ue at an earlier date). In .T¥ CTI 
did have several malhng lIsts which were m the record at the time of the proposed findmg 
(which were discuss~~d in the PF GTR at considerable length), and Quinault has placed 
additional lists in the record for the final determination (see section VI). 

The persons on t11<: lists compiled by the CTI between 1952 and 1973, the extreme dates of the 
various lists, mayor may not have been members of the tribal entity. Some of the available 
lists were simply mailing lists rather than membership lists, and there is no reason to preswne 
that they were cOl11plete rosters. None of them included, for example, the name and address of 
the cn secretary, Maude (Wannassay) Snyder, preswnably because she did not mail items to 
herself. During this period the cn was pursuing claims activity, and at least two of the lists 
appear to have be:en prepared in anticipation of the claims award (see discussion in section VI). 
The proposed ICC se:ttlement was to descendants of the Cowlitz Indians as the tribe had been 
constituted in 1855 (later modified to 1863),176 not for the members of the tribe as it existed as 

Cloquet and Susan Pratt]. 

17SThis may be ,another aspect of Quinault'S overriding assumption that no tribe that has not been 
organized along the palttc:m of reservation tribes can make a showing of acknowledgability. Some of those tribes 
which did have a reser(ation and were subsequently organized under the IRA in 1934 have certain characteristics 
that are considered ne,vv to be "tribal" such as "official rolls." But they did not have many of these characteristics 
before their organization under the IRA. The 25 CFR Part 83 regulations do not require that petitioners have 
maintained these kinds of attributes, such as official rolls and a land base, common in recognized tribes. The 
regulations were specifically designed to allow those tribes which have not benefitted from certain Government 
Indian policies such as the IRA, to be acknowledged if they have maintained significant levels of social connection 
among their members IUld political authority over their members. 

1 76Finalizatiorl ()fthe ICC case occupied four years. On June 25, 1969, the ICC awarded the Cowlitz a 
settlement, based on 'l ttalKing date of March 3, 1855 (21 Ind. Cl. Comm. 143; CIT Pet. Ex. A-I 044 - A-I 045). The 
Cowlitz sought and Oil December 10, 1969, obtained a rehearing on the issue of the effective date of taking. On 
June 23, 1971, the ICC i!iSUed the opinion on rehearing, establishing the effective date of taking as March 20, 1863 
(25 Ind. Cl. Cornm. 442; CIT Pet Ex. A-IOS4XCIT PF 1997, HTR 152). 
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a socio/political err:ity in 1973.177 

The lack of a certi fle:d membership list, which would not have been an ·'official roll" if the CTI 
itself had prepared and maintained it, became a problem when the Cowlitz had to vote whether 
to accept the ICC judgment award in 1973. Voter eligibility, which expanded to include 
enrollment eligibility, became a major 'issue (see below). 

3. The 1950 eTI Constitution and Bylaws. 

a. Quinault's Posium. Quinault asserted that the proposed finding did not sufficiently take 
into account the natun~ of the 1950 CTI constitution: 

In 1950 aftler a:n extended period of inactivity the Cowlitz group "reorganized" 
and adopted a written constitution and bylaws. Significantly, the constitution 
and bylaws formally describe the nature of this group. Equally significant, the 
proposed fir-dings and technical reports all but ignore the group's own 
description of its nature (Quinault Memorandum 1997, 31). 

Quinault quoted a d:sc:ription of the formation of the 1950 constitution and bylaws by a lawyer 
representing the CO',J,'litz in 1973: "Many of the Cowlitz Indians did get together and form a 
voluntary unincorporated organization and in 1950 they adopted a Constitution and By-Laws 
for such an organization" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 23; citing NRA 1973-7 15 6), 
adding that, "[t]he attorney, who had been active in representing Indian groups, undoubtedly 
knew the difference between an Indian tribe and a voluntary unincorporated organization when 
he described his client to the I.c.c." (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,23; Quinault 
Memorandum 1997, 15). 

Quinault quotes Artic:le 1, §2 of the 1950 Constitution concerning the "objectives of the 
organization" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,21; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 14, 
31),178 and provides fiJIther description of the 1950 Constitution (Quinault Revised 

I71Cr. Roy Wi~iCln's rather pragmatic statement about the distinction between the cn membership and the 
upcoming claims roll, 11i2i1lIlC:ly: "We've no way of knowing the roll we've got today will be anywhere near what that 
roll is because we do nol know what the terms are going to be on that roll. Congress is going to have a word to say 
in this as to whether or not we go by descendency or blood quantum ... is no way in this world any Cowlitz could 
design the roll today. 111C: clnly way it could be done is after we receive the determination and the delineation as to 
what the roll is going to, :I)nsist of" (Wilson 4/10/1973; Quinault Ex. 1973-7, 110-111). He had further discussion 
of tribal intermarriage ar.,d\ that given the 1863 date, the CTI had felt obliged to send notices as widely as possible to 
Cowlitz descendants, no matter where enrolled (Wilson 4/1011973; Quinault Ex. 1973-7, 111-112). 

I7I"The 1950 O)wlitz constitution described the Cowlitz group as a voluntary claims organization of lineal 
Cowlitz descendants. Nowhere in the document is there evidence that a bi-lateral political relationship was intended 
or that the group's leaders were expected to exert significant political influence and authority. The 1950 Cowlitz 
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Memorandum 1998, 22; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 31). 

Section 7 of the By laws to the 1950 constitution to the effect that "the principal interest of the 
Tribe at this time is the pressing of its claim against the United States Government" (Quinault 
Revised Memorandum 1998,22; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 15; citing A-lOI8-1022; 
Quinault Memorandum 1997, 31). 

, 
The "Cowlitz Tribe of Indians" self-characterization is fully consistent with 
prior descr:iptions of it as a voluntary association fonned for the purpose of 
pursuing ciclims on behalf of scattered Cowlitz descendants (Quinault 
Memorandun 1997, 14). 

b. BIA Analysis. "lu: PF did not "all but ignore" the contents of the 1950 CTI constitution 
(see CIT PF 1997, HTR 141-147; GTR under governing documents). The incorporators of the 
CTI were not forming a tribe. The Cowlitz tribe was fonning the CT!, an implement intended 
primarily for a fairly specific tribal purpose.l79 

While Quinault quoted the CTI lawyer's description of the CTI, they did not analyze it in light 
of the contemporary 1951 description by BIA Superintendent Bitney, in which he indicated that 
while the Cowlitz wl:re eligible to submit an ICC claim, there was more to its existence than 
being a claims grOt.p, even though it was not federally acknowledged: 

... the group has always and still do maintain their tribal organization for the 
mutual welfar(~ of its members, holding semi-annual and annual gatherings 
where problems of the tribe are discussed. .. While this tribe is landless and 
without OfIic:iial recognition of its tribal status, it nevertheless is, and has been 
an existing :Uld identifiable group within the meaning of the Act of August 13, 
1946, supra (sc~e CIT PF 1997, HTR 145; CIT P~t. Ex. A-1449, Bitney 1951). 

4. External Descriptions of the CT!. 

a. Quinault's Posi!Ulll. Quinault stated: 

In 1959 the Portland Area Assistant Solicitor for Indian legal Activities 
commenting on the government's obligations to Indian tribes noted that the 

Constitution was a stat:mcmt by the Cowlitz group that it perceived itself as a claims organization composed of 
lineal descendants" (N.cklason 1997,201). 

179The regulation.s state specifically: "The fact that a group that meets the criteria in 83.7 (a) through (g) 
has recently incorporated ,or otherwise fonnalized its existing autonomous political process will be viewed as a 
change in fonn and h,m: no bearing on the Assistant Secretary's final decision" (25 CFR 83.2(c». 
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Cowlitz Indians were, "no longer a separate tribal entity." NRA 1959-4 
(Quinault Rt~vised Memorandum 1998, 22; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 15). 

A few year:; later [1962] the government's view of the Cowlitz group remained 
unchanged. The BIA Chief of the Division of Tribal' Operations wrote; "The 
Cowlitz Tribe has no status as a federally recognized tribal band and a majority 
of the tribal members, therefore, are not eligible for Bureau Services. This tribe 
became act ve after the passage of the Indian Claims Commission Act in 1946, 
and a group of Indians believed to be the descendants of the Cowlitz Tribe as it 
was aboriginally constituted are recognized as the petitioners in docket 
numbered 218.' NRA 1962-2" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1988,22; 
Quinault Memorandum 1997, 15). 

b. BIA Analysis. 1n the 1997 Memorandum, Quinault placed this material under its argument 
that the 1950 CTI was just a claims group. However, the specific statements that Quinault 
made here seem to apply to a different issue: namely, whether there was previous 
unambiguous Fedt!ral acknowledgment of the Cowlitz tribe as of the termination era. 

These BIA descriptions quoted by Quinault were not meant to go to the issue of "tribal entity" 
as defined in 25 CFR Part 83. Rather, they were statements made in the context of the ICC 
Docket 218 claim, indicating that the Cowlitz tribe did not, at the dates they were written, have 
the legal status of being federally acknowledged. While they would constitute negative 
evidence as to the issue of federal acknowledgment as of 1959 and 1962, they do not provide 
directly applicable evidence under 83.7(a), 83.7(b), and 83.7(c) as such. 

5. Evidence ConcE!ming Non-Claims Activities, 1950-1974. 

a. Quinault's Positjg~. Quinault argued that the record showed only claims-related activity 
during the quarter-,eennuy from 1950 through 1974,110 whether the issue was protection of 

180"Between 1 S'SO and 1973, internal documents generated by the group and external documents describing 
it, overwhelmingly char:lC:teriu the Cowlitz as a claims group not engaged in self-government The only conflict 
resolution illustrated in the record related to claims" (Nicklason 1997,200). 
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fishinl2 and cemeteries,181 or litigation, or enrollment. 182 Quinault argued that the former two 
were i~terrelated. ][n connection with the 1955 lawsuit, Quinault contended that the Cowlitz 
were seeking mor.etary compensation rather than subsistence rights and therefore it was a 
claims case and nl)~t a community supported action (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 34). 

b. CIT Commen! CIT asserted that, "The action in the 1950s concerning grave site protection 
was a prelude of some 45 years of spirited efforts by the Cowlitz Tribe to protect aboriginal and 
post-aboriginal buriaJ grounds, villages and spiritual sites" (CIT Response 1998, 14) .. 
"Contrary to Quir.aluit argwnents, such efforts are strong evidence of tribal activity. for they 
demonstrate the c')mmunity concern for preservation of the tribal cultural heritage" (CIT ' 
Response 1998, 14-15). I 

c. BIA Analysis. Quinault argued that the 1955 lawsuit against the City of Tacoma was 
"consistent with hie claims focus of the Cowlitz petitioner through the 1950s. The available 
evidence indicatt::; that the suit sought monetary compensation, rather than protection of 
ongoing fisheries of interest to the Cowlitz general membership" and therefore "does not 
provide evidence of social community" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 34; Quinault 
Memorandum 1997,23), and, on the other hand, that 1955 lawsuit fell outside the time frame 
for modem comrnumity and therefore should not have been considered (Quinault Revised 
Memorandum 1998, 34). 

For petitioners pmce:eding under the provisions of 83.8(d)(2), there is no obligation to analyze 
community histori(;aHy. This has been addressed at length elsewhere in the technical report. 
The burial sites direc:tly affected by the dams in question had been primarily used by the Upper 
Cowlitz. Although the leadership of the CTI at this time was primarily from the Lower 
Cowlitz and Cowliu: metis subgroups, the organization nonetheless proved responsive to the 
concerns of its mc:rnibers, and such prominent Upper Cowlitz as Mary Kiona and Sarah 
Castama testified in connection with the case. Its efforts obtained the relocation of the graves 
from a number of thc:= sites - a result quite different from a simple request for financial 
compensation. 

\81 "The evic:enc:e in the record indicates that few individuals remained in the Cowlitz valley or fished in the 
Cowlitz River. The issue almost exclusively involved individuals or was clearly a claims issue. For example, 
evidence in the record about the group's 1955 suit against the City of Tacoma, and attempts to resurrect it again in 
1964, indicated that th·e Cowlitz were not interested in stopping construction of the Cowlitz River dams to protect 
their fishing rights and f:iU11ily cemeteries. Instead they sued the City of Tacoma for $80,000,000 to compensate 
them or the loss of fbhing rights and Indian cemeteries" (Nicklason 1997, 198) 

182"Discussionconceming enrollment, to the extent that it was an issue between 1950 and 1972, is 
discussed in the record! clnly as a means to detennine who would be eligible to participate in any claim award" 
(Nicklason 1997, 19f:). 
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From the perspective of criterion 83.7(c), the lawsuit against the City of Tacoma was initiated 
by a decision of thc~ Cowlitz tribe as a whole at an annual meeting, was regularly reported upon, 
and involved testimony by a number of tribal members. That it was formulated as a suit for 
compensation, or damages, does not negate the information contained in the litigation files that 
it showed bilateral efforts on the part of the group's leadership and members and is a form of 
evidenc~ in 83.7(c). 

The major alteration in enrollment practices between the CTI and the CIT occurred in 1973-
1974, as a conseq\ll:nc:e of a dispute over the terms for accepting the ICC judgment award on 
the Cowlitz claim. The technical report to the proposed finding discussed this issue 
comparatively brie::1y:: 

On March 3, 1973, the CTI held a special meeting to consider the proposed ICC 
settlement. It was chaired by Roy I. Wilson who, as vice-president, had served 
as executive: oJfficer since the death of Clifford Wilson the preceding September. 
The overall vote was 172 in favor of accepting the settlement and 36 opposed 
(Irwin 1995. 221 ; [see also Quinault Ex. 9: 1973-7, 9, 11 D. Among the 
opponents, however, were influential members of the group, including Donald 
Cloquet and John Barnett, which would lead to the formation of the short-lived 
"Sovereign Cowlitz Nation" (SCN) (see below) (CIT PF 1997, HTR 152). 

This meeting was heIdi March 3, 1973, 11:00 a.m., Cowlitz Grange Hall, Toledo, Washington 
(Quinault Ex. 9: 1973-7, 15). The CIT executive committee was Roy I. Wilson. Chairman; 
Evelyn Bashor, Secretary; Archie Eill [Iyall], Roy King, Tanna Beebe; one member was 
deceased (Wilson 411 0/1973; Quinault Ex. 9: 1973-7, 16). The officers did not present a united 
front in favor of one: side of the argument, because Tanna Beebe, the Vice-Chairman, was 
opposed to accepting the proposed terms of the settlement (Quinault Ex. 9: 1973-7, 20-21, 30-
31), as was Joe CI()t~uc:t, Chainnan of the Tribal Council, who was appointed as one of the 
vote-counters (Quir.ault Ex. 9: 1973-7, 22). The proposed finding summarized: 

In March 13, [sic], 1973, "250-275 people were in attendance and 208 voted" to 
approve the Indian Claims Commission settlement. 113 On July 1, 1973, 
Congress appr()priated funds, and in October 19, 1973, Congress passed the 
Judgment FIUlcls Act CPL 93·134) to authorize fund disbursement through the 
BIA. Within Ic~s than a year there were problems (CIT PF 1997, ATR 89). 

I 83Repon on Cowlitz Tribal Meeting - Proposed Compromise Settlement. Enclosure 7, "Resolution of 
Cowlitz membership approving the compromise settlement, signed by the Chainnan, witnessed by the Secretary, 
and signatures cenified by Agency Tribal Operations Officer (Enrollment). 8. Minutes of membership meeting 
signed by the Cowlitz Chainnan, Roy I. Wilson, and witnessed by the Cowlitz Secretary, Evelyn Bashor .... " 
(Superintendent to Area Director, Ponland 3/6/1973; Quinault Ex. 9: 1973-6). Quinault Ex. 9: did not have copies 
of these enclosures. 
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[footnote addled] 

The CTI attorney.ater stated at the ICC hearing that: 

Objection · ... 'as made that only members of the existing Cowlitz organization 
should have been pennitted to attend the meeting and vote on the proposed 
settlement. 

It was explained that, as a matter of fairness and law, and in order to 
confonn tc :the procedures established by the commission, it was considered 
appropriate: and advisable to give notice to all Cowlitz Indians and to permit all 
persons present at the meeting who claimed to be descendants of Cowlitz 
Indians to vote. 

TIll: gleneral meeting continued for several hours. No challenge was 
made as to thle eligibility of any particular person to cast a vote (Weissbrodt 
411011973; Quinault Ex. 9:1973-7,10). 

However, in spite of Weissbrodt's statement that no one challenged the right of any specific 
attendee to vote, rJlt~ en members who opposed accepting the settlement terms immediately 
took assertive action. l84 Donald John Cloquet, as leader of the dissenting group, wrote to the 
ICC chainnan that: "Due to the cloud of confusion arising from the outcome of to days [sic] 
meeting, we the I.lJlde:rsigned members of the Cowlitz Indian tribe do hereby declare the 
meeting null and void, ... We declare the March 3, 1973 meeting of the Cowlitz Tribe of 
Indians illegal for the: following reasons: .... " (Cloquet to Kuykendall [sic] 3/511973; Quinault 
Ex. 9: 1973-3). Quinault submitted a list of the signers of this objection (Quinault Ex. 9:1973-
3). Slightly over a month later, April 6, 1973, a meeting was held at Donald J. Cloquet's house 
for the purpose of fonning a Cowlitz organization in opposition to the cn leadership. The 
attendance list foJ:' this group consisted of 26 persons, including Cloquet himself signing on 
behalf of his six rr.inc)r daughters (Quinault Ex. 9: 1973-7; ICC Hearing 411 0/1973, Exhibit S-
14). Four days la.ter, at the ICC hearing, he described the April 6, 1973, meeting at his house as 
a "tribal general me:eting" (Cloquet 4/10/1973; Q1.!inault Ex. 9: 1973-7, 50). The proposed 
finding stated: 

The group's energetic letter-writing and petition campaign to the ICC and BIA 

JUIIThe merr.bership of the CIT did not vote unanimously to accept the ICC compromise settlement 
(Fitzpatrick 1986, 85). III the view of Joseph Cloquet and John Barnett, people were permitted to vote at the April 
18, 1973, [sic] meeting who did not have the right to vote (Fitzpatrick 1986, 101). In 1973, one group of opponents 
fonned the Sovereiglll Co,wlitz Nation, a splinter group (Fitzpatrick 1986, 101). The resolution objecting to the 
settlement was signed by 46 persons (CIT Pet. 1975)" (CIT PF 1997, HTR 155). 

169 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement CTI-V001-D007 Page 205 of 243 



concerning Docket 218 distribution 18S was for a time a contributing factor to th~ 
delay in dimributing the award, as were the protests of the Yakima Cowlitz. 
However, the SCN was much less long-lived than the Yakima Cowlitz. It went 
out of existence in late 1974, with its members reabsorbed into the CIT (Irwin 
1995, 227)(CIT PF 1997, HTR 155). 

One contributory cause of the dispute was the undefined nature of voter eligibility (see also 
Section VI of this re:port). Donald Cloquet, the head of the Sovereign Cowlitz, "gave the [CTI] 
membership as 238 (Irwin 1995,222). By contrast, his brother, Joseph Cloquet, gave the: CIT 
[CII] membership at the time as 1,801" (Irwin 1995,222).186 According to one historian pf the 
Cowlitz: 

In addition to the payment being too small, some members objected to the fact 
that the BIA called this meeting, not the CIT. They also objected to the BIA's 
allowing at:e:ndance by those whom today's petitioner did not consider actively 
participating members. As John Barnett explained. 

At that meeting on the approval I might add there was no roll 
taken, no membership cards shown. I mean YOU [i.e., the BIA 
res,ea:rcher] could have walked in there, and voted to accept our 
compromise settlement. And that was one of the complaints we 
had, at the District Court in Tacoma There was no record of 
who voted. It was just a hand vote. No sign-in sheets. Nothing. 
(John Barnett, BIA Interview 8/4/1995) (CIT PF 1997, ATR 89). 

The uproar led to a special hearing held April 10, 1973, before ICC Commissioner Jerome K. 
Kuykendall (Quinault Ex. 9: 1973-7).111 The provision was that the counsel "for the Plaintiff 
tribe" presented the I~vidence concerning what happened at the meeting recently where a vote 

IUSee, for example: April 28, 1974. Plan for Use or Distribution of Indian Judgement Funds Pursuant TO 
Pan 60 to 25 CFR (Public Law 93-134; 87 Stat. 466, 467, 468). Funds Arising from Docket No. 218. Approved by 
the Council of Chiefs, SOVEREIGN COWLITZ TRIBE (BIA Claims File, Docket No. 218 # I). 

186"The associilticln has kept only a loose membership roll accepting anyone who appeared to have a claim 
to being a descendant fj'elmI the aboriginal Cowlitz ... Mr. [Joseph] Cloquet asserted at the hearing yesterday that 
there were 1,801 Cowlie: Indians, but his brother, Don Cloquet of Tacoma, testified that the association's 
membership roll has o:nly 278 names" (Coast Indians Reconsider U.S. Offer, The New York Times, Monday. April 
9, 1973; Quinault Ex. '9: 1973-9; newspaper article giving the date of the controversial meeting as March 30 rather 
than March 3, 1973). 

187Plaintifi's '~ioH:sses: Roy I. Wilson, Evelyn Bashor, Donald John Cloquet, Robert J. Ryser. John R. 
Barnett, Rudolph Ryser, Joseph E. Cloquet, Wow-Dea. Eleanor Monahan, Vera E. Andrews, Roy Wilson, John 
Cloquet. 
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was taken on the: proposed settlement, while the counsel for the government was present and 
penni ned to cros:;·,examine some of the witnesses" (Kuykendall 4/10/1999; Quinault Ex. 
9:1973-7,3). It w;as in the context of this hearing that the CTI council made the statements 
considered very important by Quinault that: "Many of the Cowlitz Indians did get together and 
fonn a voluntary unincorporated organization and in 1950 they adopted a Constitution and By­
Laws for such organization. The Constitution and By-Laws were never approved by the 
Bureau ofIndian Aflairs" (Weissbrodt 4/10/1973; Quinault Ex. 9:1973-7, 6) (see discussion of 
the 1950 CTI cOI1.stitution, above) and "No complete roll of all the members and desc~ndants of 
members of the C()wlitz Tribe has ever been prepared and no roll has ever been approved'by 
the Bureau of Indian Affairs" (Weissbrodt 4/1011973; Quinault Ex. 9: 1973-7, 7).188 '\ 
Weissbrodt, upon behalf of the CTI leadership, argued that meeting attendance and voting upon 
the claims settlemt~nt could not properly be limited to current tribal members: 

In connection with the holding of the general meeting to consider and vote upon 
the propo::;c:dl settlement, it was considered to be appropriate and necessary, and 
in confonnity with the Commission's procedures, to give notice, so far as 
feasible, to a.llliving descendants of Cowlitz Indians, and not solely to those 
who had joined the organization, or not merely to the members of said 
organization who had paid their dues and were in good standing (Weissbrodt 
4/101197:,; Quinault Ex. 9:1973-7, 7_8).119 

Weisbrodt explained the procedure as follows: 

1 88"Becausc: ()fthe dispersion of Cowlitz Indians and descendants to various communities in the State of 
Washington and Oregon and other states, it is believed that there are an appreciable number of descendants of 
Cowlitz Indians whc have not joined the said existing Cowlitz organization or have not maintained themselves in 
good standing with that organization" (Weissbrodt 4/10/1973; Quinault Ex. 9:1973-7,7). 

l8900nald J. Cloquet, indicating that he did not agree with the procedure adopted: "What I have here 
(indicating) is a membership card showing that I'm a bona fide member of the Cowlitz Tribe, Roll No. 128. When I 
arrived at the prairi,e Hall on March 3, 1973, no one of any authority or otherwise asked me to show my membership 
card prior to the mc:c:tiing, and I thought at that time it' was quite peculiar that such a meeting of this importance 
which was held on MllI'Ich 3, 1973, - the importance of it, 1 felt certain that I'd be asked to show my membership 
card to some authoJiultive body or person. I was not even asked to show my card" (Cloquet 4/10/1973; Quinault 
Ex. 1973-7, 62-(3) .. 

Cf. Josepb Cloquet: "I feel that we should very definitely fIrm up our enrollment and that this meeting 
should be reschedulc:d, 1that all members, Cowlitz members who have proper identifIcation of being enrolled be 
cenified to vote and that we allow none other than Cowlitz members to participate" (Cloquet 4/10/1973; Quinault 
Ex. 1973-7, 97). 

Cf. Donald J, Cloquet: " ... somehow they arrived at some son of a vote by majority of Indians who were 
present at this meeting. regardless of whether they were Cowlitz Indians, Yakima Indians, QuinaUlt's, they could 
have been Makah's, Nisqually's, Snoqualmie. 1 would have been more than happy to have shown my membership 
card ifl'd only been 2LSlced, .... " (Cloquet 411011973; Quinault Ex. 1973-7,64). 
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First, a written notice, addressed to all Cowlitz Indians, concerning the 
time, place and purpose of the meeting, was mailed on Febuary 21, 1973, to 384 
persons. 1111~se 384 persons are Cowlitz Indians who were heads of households 
and adults on the membership list of the existing Cowlitz organization, and also 
all additionall persons shown on the records of the W~stern Washington Agency 
of the Bure:au of Indian Affairs who had inquired concerning the Cowlitz 
claims. 

Second, copies of the written notice were sent to some 19 newspapers 
and radio and T.V. stations with a request that the notice of the meeting be 
publicized and broadcast. 

TIllrd, the Western Washington Agency of the Bureau of Indian Affairs 
sent copies of the notice to various tribal offices and organizations and to 
various Indian agencies" (Weissbrodt 4/10/1973; Quinault Ex. 9: 1973-7, 8). 

The eTI secretary confirmed that she had done this: "1 sent out 384 notices. Of the 384, I had 
50 of them retwned to me with addresses unknown. They had moved and never notified me. 
So if anyone did not receive that notification, it was because I did not have their correct 
address" (Bashor 4/10/1973; Quinault Ex. 9: 1973-7,37).190 A result of the wide pUblicity 
given the meeting was that there were many attendees who were not participating members of 
the CTI: 

[Joseph Cloquet:] But I must state in all truthfulness that those people holding 
their hands up, whether voting for or against, I could not identify many, many of 
them, because: many of them, even through my association with the tribe 
throughout the years, I had never seen before. Some I had, some not. The 
number I dOIl't know, but there were many present that I did not recognize of 
having attendled a meeting before (Cloquet 411 0/1973; Quinault Ex. 1973-7,95). 

[Joseph Cloquet:] It has been previously stated by several others that there were 
many Indian people there. Indians of various tribes, ... any of these tribal Indian 
people could have been there at the meeting that day, and could have very easily 
voted on Cowlitz matters. This was a Cowlitz meeting. I am interested in the 
welfare as a Cowlitz member, and as a Cowlitz descendant I'm interested in the 
welfare ofth: Cowlitz tribe, today a landless tribe (Cloquet 4/1011973; Quinault 
Ex. 1973-7, 96). 

19ORobert R. Ryser made complaints about late notices: Mrs. Marie Salatino, a long-time member, had a 
notice mailed Feb. 21-, which did not arrive in time for her to make arrangements to attend; Mrs. MaJjorie Taylor's 
letter was addressed to Mrs. M. Rogers, her maiden name, she is a non-Indian; Albert E. McBridge [sic] Jr. of 
Olympia was not notifie(~ though he had previously receive notices [n.b. should be Albert E. McBride]; he and his 
sister pay dues but aren't notified (Quinault Ex. 9: 1973-7, 81-82). 
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There was not onl~' no "official roll" of the Cowlitz tribe, but there was not, at this time, any 
complete descendmcy or claims listing of all persons descended from the Cowlitz tribe as it 
existed at the define:d time of the taking in 1863, and who would have been eligible to 
participate in the ICC award under the proposed settlement terms: 

Because th~:re is no complete roll or any official roll of Cowlitz Indians, all 
persons attl~ncling the meeting who claimed on their honor to be descendants of 
'Cowlitz Indiians were permitted to vote. A total of 208 persons who attended 
the meeting voted. It is estimated that this number comprises close to one-half 
of all living adult persons who are descendants of members of the Cowlitz Tribe 
(Weissbrodt 4/10/1973; Quinault Ex. 9:1973-7, 8-9). 

At the hearing, Donald 1. Cloquet submitted a mailing list of persons claimed to be members of 
the Cowlitz Tribe (for discussion of the list as such, see below, section VI).191 ICC Chairman 
Kuykendall, questioning Donald 1. Cloquet, asked for a more precise description: 

CHAIRMAN KUYKENDALL: What is the exhibit? 
THE '~TNESS: This is a list of names and addresses that personally 

have in regards -- that are claimed to be members of the Cowlitz Tribe. 
CHAJRMAN KUYKENDALL: Do you know whether any of those 

names are among those to whom those notices were sent? 
TH~ \~TNESS: Yes. 
CHAJRMAN KUYKENDALL: All of them? 
TH:E '~TNESS: A few, in fact, I'm sure some of the Indians here today 

are includd in this list. 
CHAJRMAN KUYKENDALL: I mean notices of this meeting to which 

you now objel::t. Did any of them get notices of that meeting that are on that 
list? 

THE \VYTNESS: I'm assuming some did, yes. 
CHAJRMAN KUYKENDALL: You don't know? 
THE '~TNESS: I don't know. The only ones I've contacted were the 

Cowlitz Indians that are on this list and live in the immediate Tacoma area 
(Quinault E>c. 9: 1973-7, 51-52). 

As a result of the con'troversy over voter eligibility, the CIT in 1974 adopted a new constitution 
which much more: prc:cisely defmed membership standards. The proposed finding stated: 

191"Mailing U:;t = Cowlitz Tribe" submitted by Don Cloquet at April 10, 1973, ICC hearing before 
Chainnan Kuykendall. (Quinault Ex. 9: 1973-19; ICC Hearing 4/10/1973, Ex. S-I 5). Undated. Described by 
Cloquet as "a list of members who claim to be on the Cowlitz rolls of the Cowlitz tribe ofIndians in the State of 
Washington" ... "Thil' is a list of names and addresses that personally have in regards - that are claimed to be 
members of the Cowli:2: Tribe" (Cloquet 4/10/1973, Quinault Ex. 9:1973-7, 51). 
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The major fluc:tuation in the size and composition of the petitioner is the 
contrast between the CIT's pre-1973 and post-1974 membership rolls. At the 
June 2,1973, annual meeting, the CTI membership voted to exclude from 
receipt ofjt:.elgment fund awards those persons who had up to that time been 
CTr members, but who fell into the following categories: (1) persons previously 
allotted lan.d or receiving funds from other tribes; (2) persons currently enrolled 
elsewhere (these applied primarily to the "Yakima Cowlitz"); and (3) Cowlitz 
descendants with less than 1/16 blood quantum (because of provisions of Public 
Law 9358). 'These provisions were incorporated into the 1974 constitution, ... 
resulting in a significant change in the enrolled membership (CIT PF 1997, OTR \ 
39-40).192 

At the time, the BIA monitored the significance of the enrollment changes: 

A special m,:I:ting of the Cowlitz Executive Board and the Cowlitz Enrollment 
Comminee w'as held on October 13, 1973, with Chester J. Higman, BIA Tribal 
Operations Officer, Western Washington Office, Everett, Washington (Minutes 
October 13,. 1973; CIT Pet. Ex. A-1877 - A-1879) to clarify the meaning of the 
resolution p~Lc;s,ed on June 2. These issues were further discussed with Higman 
and with BlA Portland Office representative Paul Weston at the March 23, 
1974, meeting (Minutes March 23, 1974; CIT Pet. Ex. A-1880 - A-1883) (CIT 
PF 1997, GTR 40). 

The discussions associated with these developments indicate that the matter was not how to 
distribute the claims award, but an issue of tribal membership (Barnett and the Cloquets) as 
compared to simplc:: tribal descendancy (represented by the Chairman, Roy I. Wilson, and the 
legal counsel, Weissbrodt, who argued that the laner was mandated for claims purposes). This 
was clear from Joseph Cloquet's statement that he could not, in spite of his long history of 
tribal activity, identi~y many of the people who appeared and voted at the March 3, 1973, 
meeting. 

The support for the CIT's plan for the judgment award in Docket 218 may have been 
considerably weaker than claimed by the CIT tribal leadership in the mid 1970's. The 
Nicklason Research Associates report (Nicklason 1998, 241-242; citing Quinault Ex. NSE 
1975-5) mentioned te.stimony presented by Joseph Cloquet on April 17, 1975, and September 
26, 1975, in connectioIll with bills on distribution of the ICC award. While not discussing the 
testimony at length, the: report mentioned that Joseph Cloquet emphasized the importance of 

In A newspaper article described this meeting (Jack Wilkins, Cowlitz Indians Seek Cash Payment, Reject 
Land Bid. Tacoma New:; Tribune, 6/4/1973; Quinault Ex. 9: 1973-15). 
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the land set-aside (\i'ic:klason 1998, 242), "submitted a petition signed by 423 enrolled 
members of the 'Tribe' which he estimated to be almost the entire adult population oftlte 1,407 
members" and "also indicated that a recognition petition was submitted to the Department of 
the Interior on Sep1.ember 19, 1975 (Nicklason 1998,242; citing Quinault Ex. NSE 1975-6). 

The BIA research obtained a copy ofthe ICC petition as submitted by Joseph Cloquet from the 
BrA claims file on Docket 218 (Cloquet 9/26/1975). It was headed: "We, the following 
persons of Cowlitz descent, TOT ALL Y REJECT the plan for distribution of Cowlitz 
Judgement [sic] Funds submitted by the Secretary ofthe Interior, Nov. 4, 1974 ... " (ICC. 
Docket 218; dated. March 1975). Analysis did not verify Cloquet's assertion that it represented 
nearly all the adult population (Cloquet 9/26/1975). Seventy -three of the signers did not \ 
include a membership number with the signature, but most could be identified (13 of the 73 
had no membership numbers assigned on any Cowlitz membership list in the record; 17 now 
have "red cards"). The analysis indicated: 

423 signatures 
_-B duplicate signatures 
41:5 
_-~ active spouses (Mary Cloquet and Beulah Wilson) 
413 
~~. minors (under 18, born after March 1957) 
317 
:..Ji non-members (unidentifiable, names never appeared before or since) 
311 
:..H. red card holders (not eligible to vote under the 1974 constitution) 
283 actual adult signers (CIT members) 

Compared to the l\1.arch 1978 CIT membership list (see section VI. below), this indicates that at 
least 621 adult, voting members of CIT, after the introduction of the 1973174 membership 
eligibility changes, did not sign the March 1975 petition. Therefore, Joseph Cloquet was 
overstating the level of support for the CIT's proposed distribution plan. 

G. CIT 1974-1980. 

1. External Desc.r~'tions. 

a. Ouinault's Posi1.i[Qn. Quinault cited 1975 descriptions in connection with ICC Award 
(Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,24; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 16), specifically 
noting that in dis(:1.1:ssions about the distribution of the Cowlitz judgment funds, AS-IA John 
Kyl stated that the con had not been federally recognized and was not considered the successor 
to the aboriginal Cowlitz Tribe. According to the Quinault 1997 Memorandum: 
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Kyl continued by stating that the "Cowlitz Tribe of Indians" was "recognized for 
the purpOSI~ of prosecuting the Cowlitz claim against the United States." He 
further stated: ["]Because the Cowlitz is an unorganized, non-recognized 
descendaney group, there is no tribal entity through which the judgment funds 
can be programmed.["] (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 24; Quinault 
Memorandum 1997, 17).] 

Quinault, also cit~!d a 1973 Tacoma News Tribune article which reported on the annual meeting 
of the Cowlitz Tribal Organization, stating that the article noted that the group had voted to 
'''reorganize itself fi'om a mere association of persons with Cowlitz ancestry into a non-profit 
corporation.' NRA 1973-15" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,23; Quinault 
Memorandum 1997" 116). 

b. BIA Analysis. Quinault argues that the modem CIT is not tribal in nature. Quinault's 
arguments in response to the Department's proposed finding that the Cowlitz met the 
requirements for ccrrununity at present primarily consist of references to written descriptions of 
the group's legal Stiltus, made in connection with ICC Docket 218. Quinault did not interpret 
these descriptions il1 the context in which they were created or analyze and weigh them against 
other evidence such as the petitioner's meeting minutes, oral history interviews, and the many 
other documents currently in the record which provide sufficient evidence of community at 
present. Rather, Quinault isolated them from the corpus of the data and presented and 
interpreted them without explaining them within the larger context and history of the petitioner 
and ofIndian policy. 

The Kyl statements have significance in regard to whether or not the CIT had unambiguous 
previous Federal acknowledgment as of 1975, indicating clearly that it did not. Claims 
awarded to descent~mups which are not Federally recognized tribes, are awarded on am 
capita basis by law.. 'The Cowlitz have consistently refused to accept any per capita payments 
to date, preferring tCI wait until they are acknowledged in order to receive their judgment funds 
as a tribal award, at It~ast in part. As a tribal award, the funds would be used for programs, the 
acquisition of land or other tribal purposes in accordance with the law governing distribution of 
claims awards. 25 U.S.C.§ 1403(b)(S). Kyl's statement must be read in the context of this 
October 1973 law. Tht~ phrase "an unorganized, non-recognized descendancy group" referred 
to all claims organizations which were not Federal tribes at that time. Kyl's statement was not 
addressed to the que:Slion of tribal existence beyond the legal status of the organization vis-a-vis 
the Federal GovemmC!lllt and is not based on an evaluation of the socio-political character of the 
Cowlitz organization. lit merely means that the Cowlitz' official status was as an unrecognized 
tribe, at the time Kyl made the statement. Three years after Kyl made this statement, the 
acknowledgment pr·oce:ss was established in 1978 to deal with the Cowlitz and many other 
groups, some of which were also daims recipients, who were at that time requesting 
recognition as Federal tribes. 
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A newspaper art:icle such as the one from the Tacoma News-Tribune constitutes an external 
identification of a.n Indian entity under criterion 83. 7(a), but is generally not considered 
particularly good evidence for determining the tribal character of petitioners. This one, 
however, dovetaLs with what was going on with the Cowlitz in 1973 when they formalized 
their governing o::ganization by drafting and passing a new constitution. The discussion in the 
following section mls out the interpretation given to the events surrounding the acceptance of 
this Cowlitz con:stitution. 

2. The 1974 CIT Constitution. 

a. Quinault's Po~Hipn. Quinault quotes a passage from the 1974 CIT constitution's preamble 
which "create[s] IUldl adopt[s] the following constitution for the Cowlitz Indian Tribe for the 
purpose of creating a tribal government, establishing a tribal community organization, 
promoting the social and economic well-being of our people ... and advancing our mutual 
welfare" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998, 23), asking why the petitioner would "create" 
a tribal government "if they believed one already existed" (Quinault Revised Memorandum 
1998,23; Quinault Memorandum 1997, 16). 

b. BlA Analysis. Again Quinault questions the continuous existence of the Cowlitz Indian 
Tribe and argues~hat the petitioner is a recently created entity, which the government would be 
prohibited from J:I:cognizing. A sampling of the preambles to the constitutions of a number of 
federally acknowl e:dged tribes indicated similar general statements of purpose. 193 This 
argument takes tbe 1974 events out of context. 

Just as the 1934 bdian Reorganization Act (IRA) reorganized then existing tribes by 
providing a way fo·r tribes to create formal tribal governments by writing constitutions, many 
petitioning group:, have drafted constitutions in order to codify their governing processes, 
thereby changing from an informal, usually kin-based, mode of governance to a fonnal 
democratic one. In dealing with petitioners acknowledged under the regulations, we have 
found it common that the process of creating a constitution is often viewed and described as 
setting up a gove:mment, when in fact, a written constitution more correctly represents the 
formalization and de:mocratization of an existing government. 

193"We, th~ members of the Texas Band of Kickapoo ... do hereby organize as a Tribe separate and apart . 
. . for the well-being of the Band and its members, to direct and control our own affairs, to protect and develop our 
land and resources for olilrselves and our children, and to ensure the political integrity and cultural identity of the 
Band, .... " (http://thorpe.ow'edw'constitutionlkickapoo/index.html). 

"We the ml:In~=rs of the Red Cliff Band of Lake Superior Chippewa Indians ... in order to re-establish our 
tribal organization; . . ... '" (http://thorpe.ou.edw'constitutioniredlifti'CH1.html). 

"We, the nalive Wampanoag people of Aquinnah, ... Our tribal government shall ... promote the social 
and cultural well-being of our people" (http://thorpe.ou.edulconstitutionlwampanoagiindex.html). 
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The 1994 acknowledgment regulations accept that the mere fact that a group writes a ' 
constitution for th(~ first time or becomes formally organized or incorporated for legal reasons, 
does not indicate a prior absence of autonomous political authority. The regulations read at 
§ 83.3(c): 

(c) Associations, organizations, corporations or groups of any character that 
have been Hmned in recent times may not be acknowledged under these 
regulations The fact that a group that meets the criteria in §83. 7 (aJ through (g) 
has recentl;1 incorporated or otherwise formalized its existing autonomous 
political process will be viewed as a change inform and have no bearing on the 
Assistant St!cr,etary 's final decision. [emphasis added] 

3. CIT Comment Concerning CTO, CTJ, CIT, and Land Claims. CIT stated that the Cowlitz 
Tribe pursued land claims - as did many tribes, including Quinault (CIT Final Submission 
1 999, 40-41 (issue [X). 

See also the general comment concerning the nature of constitutional preambles above and the 
discussion of the 19501 cn constitution. 

a. CIT Position. C [T stated: 

The Quinau:t correctly notes that the Cowlitz Tribe pursued a land claim, but 
then argues that this is absolute proof that the tribe was nothing more than a 
claims organization. Many tribes -- including the Quinault -- pursued land 
claims, and :;uc:h was consistent with their status as successors in interest to 
historic tribe:s which lost their lands without receiving compensation. Pursuit of 
a land claim does not make Cowlitz exclusively a "claims organization" but 
rather is still one more indicator that the tribe was functioning as a tribe, just as 
was Quinault aJrld hundreds of other tribes (CIT Final Determination 1999,40-
41). 

b. BIA Analysis. In this response, the CIT neither introduced new evidence nor presented new 
interpretations of evidence already in the record. Analysis of the CIT assertions has already 
been incorporated, es:sc~ntially, into the BIA's analysis under sections IV.F.3. and IV.F.4. No 
fwther discussion is needed under this heading. 

H. CIT Internal Political Activity, 1980's and 1990's. 

1. Quinault's Position. Quinault'S arguments in this section pertained to the construction of a 
sweat lodge on CIT property (Quinault Memorandum 1997, 32; see also for the same topic, 
Quinault Memorandum 1997,23). Quinault argued that, " ... the lack ofa large land base is no 
excuse for the inabili~y of the group as a whole to control the use of the little land it does own" 
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(Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,46; Quinault Memorandum 1997,32). Quinault stated: 
• 

The actions of a self-selected faction of the petitioner in constructing 
improvements on group property and establishing rules for the use of the 
property without consultation with the group's 'leaders' or other authorization 
by the group as a whole, demonstrates a lack of broad social community and a 
lack ofpolitical influence and authority on behalf of the group and its leaders 
with respect to the group's small land base ... It is noteworthy that neither the 
group as a whole or its 'leadership' have been able to resolve this issue. SUCPF 
at 29. The: inability of the group as a whole to resolve differences over the use 
of the group's own property is not evidence of broad community or the 
existence ,:>f political influence within the overall group, but instead reflects a 
lack of stu:h qualities (Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998,35). For summary 
see (Quinault Memorandum 1997, 32). 

2. CIT Comment. The CIT commented that" ... the project was with knowledge and approval 
of the Cowlitz Tribal Council" ... "Some tribal members may have opposed the sweat lodge 
activity, but ... tll(: governing body never opposed it" (Barnett to Reckord 112/1998; see also 
CIT Response 1998, 16). 

3. BIA Analysis. Be:cause the BIA has analyzed this issue already under criterion 83.7(b), 
discussion here will be limited to what was not covered in the PF. The acknowledgment 
regulations do not lexpect unrecognized tribes to be able to exert the kind of authority over their 
members and resources that a recognized tribe or other legal jurisdictions exercise. 
Unrecognized tribe:s are without police forces and formal judicial systems, and they often find 
it difficult to enfon:e: actions. They rely on informal modes of political influence that include 
manipulation, gossip, behind the scenes maneuvering, influence, argumentation, cajoling, etc. 
While most politil:al systems also use these informal modes of political influence, formal 
systems with access to real force to implement decisions characterize most recognized tribes. 
Analysis of the swc:a.t lodge issue raised by Quin~ult illustrates the informal political processes 
used by Cowlitz to deal with conflicting interests and outright conflict and is a form of 
evidence under 8;,.7. 

The Quinault assert iliat the Cowlitz sweat lodge on the Cowlitz property was built without the 
knowledge of thc: council, which they say opposed it. There is no evidence in the record that 
the council oppos,:d the sweat lodge or that anyone other than Marsha Williams was not aware 
of its constructio.o at the time it was built. Even after the sweat lodge had been built, it was 
three years before it was discussed in a council meeting, indicating passive support, or at lease 
no direct antagonism. Even in the discussions about it, criticism was oblique, focusing on the 
lack of insurance .!lad the possibility that it was unsafe, rather than on the existence of the sweat 
lodge or its use. 111c:re is some reason to believe that the sweat lodge was only raised as an 
issue in council ~: ,a substitute for other highly inflammatory issues that involved eligibility of 
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certain individuab; tel serve on council. 

Finally, the Quinault state that the sweat bath issue has never been resolved. As stated below, 
it does appear resolved. Sweats are announced in the tribe's newsletter. Several council 
members not asso:iated with the "traditional" wing of the tribe have participated in sweats. 

The sweat lodge was built on the newly acquired tribal property in 1992 by a small group who 
want to' follow what they consider to be a traditional spiritual path.l94 CIT's comment is 
technically correct. Nothing in the record shows that the council as a governing body ever took 
an official position to oppose the building of the sweat lodge. However, the sweat lodge is a 
flashpoint for several controversial issues not only concerning the control of the group's 
resources, but also concerning the emphasis the tribe's governing body places on cultural and 
welfare activities. ])4~alings with the sweat lodge in the council has highlighted the cleft 
between the followc:rs of John Barnett, who focuses primarily on the business aspects of the 
tribe, and of anothelr segment, whose present leader appears to be Randy Cottonware, who 
would like the tribe to put more emphasis on spiritual, cultural and welfare issues. Who knew 
about the building elf the sweat lodge or if permission was sought and received is also not in 
evidence in the record. However, it was built when a power struggle was going on between 
John Barnett, the Cha.irman of the General Council, and Jerry Bouchard, the Chairman of the 
Tribal Council. Tll(: confusion caused by this struggle contributed to the claim by Marsha 
Williams in 1995 that she did not know the sweat lodge had been built. The PF pointed out 
that one of the underlying issues during this power struggle may have been disputes over 
blood-quanta of v;ariious individuals attached to Bouchard or to Barnett (CIT PF 1997, A TR 
114). 

However, the exist':JIl(:e of the sweat lodge on tribal land became controversial in 1995, even 
though today it is fLllly accepted as a group resource by the tribal council and most members of 
the tribe. How this acceptance came about, provides a case that reveals how the tribe deals 
with conflict. The sweat lodge, became a controv~rsial topic for the petitioner in the fall of 
1995, after Randy Cottonware, a long-time tribal council member who originally built the 
sweat lodge, began El 'l'mtten campaign that questioned the eligibility of some of John Barnett's 
supporters (from the majority point of view) to serve on the tribal council. This letter 
documents a simmC:riIlg feud between the petitioner's major political factions. Steve Barnett, a 
councilman who gene:rally votes with John Barnett and is his brother's son, was one of those 
council members \~hose eligibility to serve Cottonware had questioned. 

In a May 6, 1995, meeting, Steve Barnett raised the issue of insurance and liability for the 
sweat lodge since it is located on land owned by the petitioner. Others among Chairman John 
Barnett's closest supporters, such as General COWlcil Vice Chainnan Marsha Williams, 

194Holly Reckord's interview with Randy Cottonware on June 19, 1999. 
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expressed some ne~gative feelings about the sweat lodge, particularly "feelings of being left out, 
since she and others had not been advised of its being puilt." (Council Minutes, May 6, 1995). 
Next, the minute~; show that Greg Grove, who said that he had questioned certain people's 
eligibility to serve on council and apologized directly to those individuals for questioning their 
eligibility. After this apology, Michael Hubbs asked Greg to report on the "tribal sweat 
lodge.,,19s Finally, Roy Wilson, who for years had served as official spiritual leader to the 
council and recer..tly described himself as a mediator between the two sides (Holly Reckord 
interview with Roy Wilson June 16, 1999), suggested that a sweat be planned and announced 
for the annual meeting (CIT Council Minutes, May 6, 1995). The order of this tit-for-tat 
discussion intenveaves concessions from each side of two issues, the eligibility of certain 
individuals to serve on the council and the existence of the sweat lodge on tribal property. 

These documented c:vents represent only a small part of what occurred because most of the 
dealings with this :issue occurred in unofficial settings, in part because the dispute conerned 
individuals' blo{)d quanta. Interviews indicate that events occurred behind-the-scenes. For 
example, the proc:e:edings of the meeting appear staged, a fact confirmed in interviews. 
According to John Barnett's interviews, he prearranged that Greg Grove would resolve the 
festering conflict between Grove and his supporters and the council, at the May 1995 council 
meeting. 

One of the outcomes of this council discussion was to clarify publically that the council 
controlled the tribal property and could take credit for what occurred there. Council member 
Randy CottonwCll'e helped build the sweat lodge. The builders had consulted with some of the 
older, widely resp(:cted tribal members such as Ike Kinswa. It would have been difficult to 
question the right of these members to build the lodge, not because the tribal council had no 
control, but rathc:r bc~cause the council knows who is influential and who would be offended if 
the lodge had been dosed or its right to be built on the tribe's land had been publicly 
questioned. 

The tribe's politic:a} process flows with cross currents of political and social influence that 
occur both in and out of the tribal council. Although not involved in the original construction 
of the lodge, the tr:ibal council majority, including John Barnett, has clearly taken control of the 
structure since it was built. Through a series of public actions l96 the tribal control of it was 
solidified between 1992 and 1995. As was discussed in the PF, the May, 1995, Cowlitz 
Newsletter Yoo'yj~21!Y:b announced to the tribe at large that the sweat lodge was under the 
direction of Roy Wilson, even though according to one persons whose family participated in its 

19'John Bamc:tt had appointed Greg Grove, Randy Cottonware and Michael Hubbs to be apprentices to 
Roy Wilson. HoweveJr, religious differences have made this relationship impossible, as the P.F. discussed. 

196Individuals active in the tribal government who were interviewed by Holly Reckord recounted these 
events from their OW11 pc~rspective. 
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construction, Wilson was never present during its building: 

Spiritual apprentices Greg Grove, Randy Cottonware and Michael Hubbs, under 
the direction of tribal spiritual leader Roy Wilson, have erected the sweat lodge 
on our triba, land. They initiated the lodge with a sacred sweat, and the sweat 
lodge will be available at the event of the June meeting. (Yooyoolah 511995, 2). 

The sweat lodge is [lot the only issue where control and credit is debated by the same factions, 
who argued over the sweat lodge. For example, the elder's dinners begun in the 1990's were 
also controversial at one time. Many of the same self-described traditionalist wing of the tribe 
purposefully planm:c1 dinners for the elders and attempted to receive credit for them. The 
Barnett followers on the council flrst responded by disowning or expressing suspicion about 
the planned dinners. When the dinners were well attended, they took some of the credit by 
publicly congratulating those who did the hard work, etc., by announcing future dinners in the 
newsletter and by a:tending and participating themselves. 

Contrary to Quinault's comments, the sweat lodge case is critical to understanding a number of 
intersecting and controversial issues within the tribe, and puts in high relief the modem 
Cowlitz political sub-groupings and political processes. These events show that the leaders 
were forced to pay altf:ntion to minority views. They did not acting within a social or political 
vacuum. They are unable to take actions at will without paying attention to the general 
membership'S opinions. Although John Barnett controls the Executive Committee (the officers 
of the General council), he spends time dealing with the minority traditionalist position and 
others who are sympathetic to them. He engages his backers in the community and on the 
council to resolve c,::>nJOicts publicly. He utilizes the newsletter to reinforce council decisions. 
He places great emphasis on resolving conflicts before they make it impossible for his agenda 
to go forward. '97 He may alter his position, in this case supporting the sweat lodge as a 
community project, if he has to. He can not merely ignore the minority positions. The 
minority is vocal and! has a degree of power and specific knowledge about other members that 
gives them leverage. They, like Barnett, harness their backers to take positions on issues, to 
run for office, to wl:ieJ1ake activities they consider to be meaningful, and to lobby the tribal 
council. Finally, the issues they are dealing with are of immediate personal importance to 
members of the tribe. 

In the summer of 19991, the BIA anthropologist found that a new issue had become important to 
a number of tribal Jrlll:rnbers. This issue involved the tribe's official position to support the 
Quinault Allottee Association's (QAA) litigation against the Quinault Tribe in District Court. 

197During the 1992 power struggle between Barnen and Bouchard, the tribe lost its ANA funding. The 
council meetings were c:cln1tentious. Files were lost. The Secretary was fU'Cd. Tribal initiatives such as 
acknowledgment were put on hold until the tribe could reach a point to deal with things other than its own 
organization and who ~as in charge. 
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The Cowlitz Tribe has taken an official position to support the Quinault Allottee Association's 
litigation even thNlgh relatively few Cowlitz members are part of the QAA, and the QAA has 
members from s~~"(~ral tribes. 

The Quinault are an active interested party in the Cowlitz acknowledgment case before the 
BIA. They have already engaged the BIA in litigation concerning a Freedom of Information 
Act request on the: Cowlitz and Chinook acknowledgment cases, obtained an extension of time 
to the response period caused delay in the final determination on the Cowlitz. Further, they are 
threatening to apFeall the Department's decision if it is positive. 

A number of people who could be viewed as representing the traditionalist wing of the tribe 
questioned Bame!lt's (he is an allottee himself) vigorous linkage of the QAA litigation issue to 
the Cowlitz tribe :n general and his selection of the QAA attorney to represent the Cowlitz 
Tribe on other isnes such as acknowledgment. Others who had not been involved in the sweat 
lodge or elder's d:.nners also expressed concern because they believed that the allottee issue 
may be endangering the tribe's acknowledgment. 

An unsanctioned group (perhaps two groups) of individuals, not authorized by the governing 
body, have visitec. t,he Quinault's tribal offices to attempt to learn more about the motives 
behind the Quinault's opposition to Cowlitz acknowledgment and to determine if Quinault 
would drop the litigaltion if the tribe changed its official position on the Allottees' Association. 
This delegation went to Quinault without the participation or knowledge of John Barnett and 
others who suppO:1 the Allottees' litigation. The council members now know that these trips 
were made, but nothing in the evidence before the BIA indicates if any steps have been taken 
by the council to re:spond to these actions other than to discuss the litigation at length at the 
June Annual MeC!1:ing. 

Behind the scenes t:oalition building appears to be a typical mode of operating for the members 
afthis tribe. The leadership has generally been very strong and people interviewed believed 
that leaders have Ilsed genealogical knowledge against political adversaries so as to jeopardize 
their or their children's voting memberships. Those interviewed pointed to a specific case. (ef 
James to Barnett 7/20/1999; see discussion in Section VI of this report) In that case involving a 
group of cousins who share common ancestry, blood quanta have been evaluated to the 
disadvantage of a IlI1c!mher who was viewed as troublesome and to the advantage of members 
closely allied to p:'Dl'le in positions of power. 198 There are also allegations that nominating and 

191Because so many of the members have blood quanta of 1/8 or III 6th, even a small change in an 
ancestor's blood degree can have widespread repercussions (both in removing persons from eligibility or in 
qualifying a group of descendants for eligibility). To be on the council and to vote, a member must have 1I16th 
blood degree. The tltm:alt that a slight change could do away with one's own or one's children's voting rights, is 
enough to discourage blatant public criticism of the people wllo control enrollment. according to several informants 
who talked to the BIA anthropologist in 1999. Clearly, blood quantum allegations were mixed into the arguments 
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voting procedures have been rigged and that the counting of ballots has been dishonest. No 
evidence in the record would allow the BIA to determine the veracity of these allegations, and 
it's not necessary for acknowledgment purposes. However, the fear of retribution itself, 
according to individuals interviewed, drives some minority discontent undercover, as in the 
case of the secret visits to Quinault. Those being interviewed often requested that the tape 
recorders be turned .off when this issue was discussed. 

VI. PRIOR MEMBERSHIP LISTS, 1950-1978. 

A. Introduction. 1he proposed finding stated: "The past membership records of the 
petitioner are comparatively extensive, but not complete" (CIT PF 1997, GTR 33). At the time 
of the proposed find:ing, BIA researchers believed that they had obtained copies of all former 
membership lists known to the CIT council and officers (CIT PF 1997, GTR 33), and 
summarized: "Thf= past membership records of the petitioner are comparatively extensive, but 
not complete" (CIT PF 1997, GTR 34). The BIA researchers prepared a comprehensive data 
base which compart~d all data on all the existing lists from 1910 through the present. The lists 
were compared, regardless of the circumstances under which an individual list was prepared, 
ego whether prepar,ed for cliams purposes or membership purposes, etc. Because of the passage 
of some thirty years when these various lists were prepared during which natural deaths and 
births occurred and: explain some differences among the lists, continuity had to be analyzed in 
stages as the discussion below indicates. By working backwards from the petitioner's current 
membership, in stages, it was clear that the same core families had comprised the great 
majority of the tribal, as opposed to the claims, during this period. The following sections 
detail this analysis. 

B. The Record at tbe Time of tbe Proposed Finding and New Evidence in Quinault's 
Submissions. For thl: final determination, the Quinault submissions significantly 
supplemented the data available at the time of the proposed finding. l99 With the additional data 
provided by Quinault, lhe BIA has been able to distinguish between the elements on the various 
lists which represented the continuing membership of the Cowlitz tribal entity, the antecedent 
of the petitioner, and the listing of Cowlitz descendants who were merely interested in sharing 
in the claim. 

For the proposed finding, the BIA had available the following: 

about the sweat lodge and the role of traditionalists between 1992 to the present. 

199 The lists su~mined to BlA Special Agent Charles McChesney by Peter Kalama and Frank lyan in 
1915, and in turn transmitted by McChesney to the COlA, which were not available for the proposed fmding (CIT 
PF 1997, GTR 34.35), have been discussed above, section V.E.3.a.ii. 
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1952153 mailing list. In 1987, the petitioner submitted a "Cowlitz Tribe of 
Indians .. Mailing List" which was believed at that time to date to about 1945 
(CIT Pet. Ex. A-1961 - A-1985). Investigation by the BIA researcher on the 
basis of hternal evidence, with cooperation of the CIT office manager, was able 
to date the list more precisely to 1952/53. The purpose is unknown: it was 
perhaps a mailing list put together in connection with Docket 218, ICC Claims 
activity. The preparer is also unknown. One of the documents which assisted in 

, dating thl~ above list was a list of attendees at the Cowlitz Tribe of Indians 
annual meeting on June S, 1954 (CIT Pet. Ex. A-ll77 - A-1179) (CIT PF 1997, 
GTR 37-·38). 

This 1952/53 list contained 208 names. Of the 208 total, 15 could not be identified by the BIA 
researcher on the 1953/63 "Roll" submitted by Quinault and discussed below (Quinault Ex. 
9:U-31 ).200 Of those 15, however, nine did reappear on the 1973, 1978, 1983, 1986, 1994, . 
and/or 1998 Cowlitz lists. 

Concerning the nc:xt set of Cowlitz membership records, the proposed finding stated: 

The officiul membership records, maintained in a "ledger" which recorded the 
receipt of dues from at least the 1930's through the 1960's (possibly from ca. 
1912-ca. 1973), were apparently destroyed in a fire at the house of one of the 
secretaries of the tribal organization, although she maintained that she had 
transferred the ledger properly to her successor (Hill 1986). In 1956, the tribal 
organiza.tion issued membership cards to all members, signed by tribal secretary 
(Tribal Minutes, CIT Pet. Ex. A-1183 - A-I 184); see also statement ofEmrna 
Mesplie" 24 June 1986; BIA Claims File, Docket 218, #2}.20\ There is no extant 
list of the :individuals to whom these cards were issued, but some people still 
have their originals (CIT PF 1997, OTR 35). [footnote in original] 

While the ledger mentioned in the above paragraph has not been located, Quinault found in the 
ICC records a "Cowlitz Tribe oflndians Roll" compiled by Jacqueline Hill.202 It was undated, 
noted by the Quinault researcher at the top as "1950's" (Quinault Ex. 9:U-31). The date at 

200Since the!;e lists do not contain maiden names of married women or a tracking for prior names of 
remarried widows and divorcees, the tracking has not been complete. 

20\"ln 1956, they gave us enrollment cards and all the Northover family received their cards. My 
enrollment card No. is 783, and 1 received it on May 3, 1956. It is signed by Jackie Hill, the secretary and treasurer" 
(Statement of Emm;l Miesplie, 24 June 1986; BlA Claims File, Docket 218, #2). 

202 This photClcopy was of pages from a three-ring binder, with the photocopy indicating that the paper of 
the original was linc:dl nlotebook paper, with the edges somewhat wrinkled and bent. 
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which it was compiJe:d can be defined with considerably more precision. The officers listed on 
the cover page are Manuel L. Forrest as chairman, James Elias Sareault as vice-chairman, and 
Jacqueline Hill as se':n~tary. Jacqueline Hill was elected as secretary of the cn in June 1953; 
Manuel L. Forrest left the chairmanship in June 1960. The starting date, therefore, must have 
been between 1953 and 1960. The membership number assigned on this roll corresponded to 
the 1956 membership card mentioned by Emma Mesplie (see footnote above); the numbers on 
this list also corresponded to the names on several other photocopies of old membership cards 
dated 1957 submitte:cl as part of the record by various CIT members. Since the last page . 
assigned memberslnp numbers to two children born in December of 1963, the BIA estimates 
the ending date this List was compiled in the existing format as late 1963 or early 1964. THe 
BIA researcher added :a column for this list to the existing Cowlitz historical membership 
database. After elimination of duplicate entries, it contained 1,155 names. 

The next list, chronollogically, was available at the time of the proposed finding: 

1966/69 list. Also included in the 1987 petition was a typed, undated list (CIT 
Pet. Ex. A-1986 - A-21 16). The list was roughly alphabetical, with children 
listed under the: name of the parent as well as, sometimes, independently. For 
the surname::, beginning with "A" and "B", this list contained handwritten notes 
sorting out ~e:rsons who were no longer qualified for membership after the 1974 
constitutional c:hanges. During the field work conducted by the BIA researcher 
in July 1995, with assistance of the CIT office manager, it was determined that 
this list was from records maintained by Mary Cloquet when she served as 
business ma.::lager for the Cowlitz Tribe oflndians. Internal evidence indicated 
that it must b.: dated between late 1966 and early 1969 (CIT Membership List 
1966/69, B.~J~ Files) (see CIT Pet. 1983 and CIT Pet. 1987) (CIT PF 1997, GTR 
38). 

After the eliminati() n of duplicate entries, the 1966/69 list contained 1,673 names. 

Quinault submitted ill evidence a "Cowlitz Mailing List" submitted to the ICC by Donald John 
Cloquet at a hearin@. he:ld April 10, 1973 (Quinault Ex. 9: 1973-19). There was no information 
on the face of this list which indicated when it was compiled, by whom, or for what purpose. 
This list contained 272 names after the exclusion of duplicates. 

The next list, which w:as available for use in the proposed finding, was compiled after the 
constitutional mem.hc~rship changes of 1973/1974: 

1978 membership list. Additionally, during the field work undertaken in July 
1995, forme:r CIT chainnan Roy I. Wilson furnished the BIA researcher with a 
typed list of "Cowlitz Enrollment" dated July 1978. This alphabetical list 
contained na.mc:s and addresses, with numerous handwritten corrections, but no 
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genealogica.l information. Numerous addresses were missing (CIT Membership 
List 1978, B}~ Files) (CIT PF 1997, GTR 38). 

C. Analysis. As all of the lists are to some extent interrelated, there is overlap between the 
following two analylical sections which focus on the relationship of the Quinault submissions 
to the data in the record for the proposed finding. The material is of limited use for analysis of 
membership continuity, simply because the beginning date of 1953 is now 46 years old, while 
even the 1973 dati: is 26 years old. As a consequence, a substantial portion of the membership 
changes will hav,: resulted not from the 1973174 eligibility changes, but rather from n~tural 
attrition and accretilon (deaths and births). I 

1. 195311963 "Roll" Compiled by Jacqueline Hill. This appears to be a list of personS who 
had paid dues to tbe CTI. 

Of the 1,155 total names on this list, 34 currently hold CIT "Red Cards." It may be presumed 
that these individuals were removed from voting membership as a result of the 1973/1974 
provision for a min~mum 1116 blood quantum. The BlA was unable to determine a family line 
for only five ofthesc:~ 33 "Red Card" holders, the remainder of whom are of me tis ancestry. 

Overall, there were: 330 of the 1,155 total names for whom the BlA could not determine an 
ancestral line on the basis of evidence in the record.203 Fourteen of the 330 were documented 
as Yakima COWli12:, while the remainder shared surnames with known Yakima Cowlitz. Of the 
330 names with unidentified ancestry, 30 had been on the 1952/53 Cowlitz mailing list; 27 
would appear on lhe 1966/69 Cowlitz mailing list. However, only three "urudentified ancestry" 
persons appeared Qin all three lists (1952/53,1953/63, and 1966/69). 

Additionally, several specifically Yakima Cowlitz ancestra11ines had numerous members on 
this list (Katell, 43 persons; Umtuch, 21 persons). Of the Katell descendants, three had been 
listed on the 1952/53 Cowlitz mailing list; 27 would appear on the 1966/69 list; only two were 
on all three of the lists. Of the Umtuch descendants, two had been listed on the 1952/53 
Cowlitz mailing list;, 19 would appear on the 1966/69 list; only one appeared on all three lists. 
One woman whel lilsted the Dick ancestral line appeared on all three lists. 

A number of Upper Cowlitz (Taitnapam) ancestral lines were still represented on this list who 
do not continue to h.ave representation in the CIT as of 1999 (Castama (1), Eyle (13), Peter (2), 
Saterlick (7), Spearchachen (2». These families had received Yakima allotments and were 
presumably removed from the CIT membership lists after 1973. The single member of the 
Castama family :appeared on neither the 1952/53 nor 1966/69 lists. Of the Eyles, five appeared 

203The BlA did not receive membership lists of or genealogical infonnation for members of the "Yakima 
Cowlitz" organizatkHl for preparation of the· proposed finding or fmal detennination. 
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on the 1952/53 list, nine on the 1966/69 list; one on all three lists. The two members of the 
Peter family were OIl neither 1952/53 nor on 1966/69; one Saterlick was on all three lists, while 
five more reappear\~d in 1966/69; one of the Spearchachen was on the 1952/53 mailing list, but 
neither reappeared in 1966/69.204 

These calculations indicate that of the dues-paying membership of the eTO between 1953 and 
1963, the Yakima Cowlitz in the broadest definition, including those families allotted at 
Yakim~ but still residing in the Cowlitz River valley, were about 420, or 36 percent. 

There were two ancestral families on the 1953/63 "Roll" which were not Cowlitz (Cluchie, 
with four members, and Flett, with 22 members). Descendants of these family lines are not 
now eligible for CIT membership.20s 

The remainder of the ancestral lines on the 1953/1963 membership list, representing just under 
two-thirds of the CTO membership, continue to have descendants in the current CIT 
membership. While: cc:rtain sub-lines of these ancestral families have lost eligibility as a result 
of the blood quantwn requirements, other descendants of the qualifying ancestor continue to 
meet CIT eligibility s:umdards. 

2. 1973 Mailing List. At the time of the "Sovereign Cowlitz" organization's objection to the 
vote on the ICC sett:.e~ment taken at the March 3, 1973 meeting (see discussion above), the 
membership of the en, as given by Donald John Cloquet (who submitted the 1973 mailing list 
as being people who "claimed" to be Cowlitz) and Joseph Cloquet (about 1,801), varied 
widely. Analysis ofthc~ lists confirmed the analysis in the proposed finding206 which concluded 
that the 1966/69 list inc:luded a substantial number of Cowlitz descendants who were not 
members of the Cowlitz Tribe: 

2~e data in the record did not permit a determination of how many of the individuals listed in 1953/63 
had died prior to compilatioll of the 1966/69 mailing list. 

20SWhile most Fle:tt descendants were removed from the membership list in 1973, for some reason two 
Flett descendants continue to hold CIT green cards. The BIA has brought this to the attention of the CIT officers, 
council, and enrollment committee. 

206"00 the basis of comparison of data, it appears that this 1966/69 list had been compiled from the 
individual information fOll1lls and ancestry charts submitted to the CIT in the late 1960's for persons who wished to 
participate in the pending ICC judgment award to the Cowlitz Indians (see CIT Pet. 1983 and CIT Pet. 1987)" (CIT 
PF 1997, GTR 38). 
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1966/69: 
Persons never on any prior or subsequent Cowlitz 

membership list: 686 
Persons who had appeared also on the 1952/53 or 

19; 3/63 lists, but not on post-1973 lists 202 
Persons li~;ted for the first time in 1966/69 who also 

app.~ar on post-1973 Cowlitz lists 426 
'Persons appearing in 1966/69, on prior lists, and on 

po:;t-19731ists 359 
Total 1,673 

1973: 
Persons on nleither the two prior nor subsequent 

Cowlitz membership list: 45 
Persons on at least one of the 53/63 or 66/69 lists, 

but not on subsequent lists: 94 
(of these 94, 31 were on 53/63 but not 66/69) 

Persons appearing for the first time in 1973 and again 
on subsequent lists: 16 

Persons a~lpearing both on prior and subsequent 
Cowlitz membership lists: .l.!l 

Touu 272 

By adding the 1966/69 toUU of 1,673 with: 
45 first-but-not-again in 1973 
16 first-and-continuing in 1973 

__ 3_1 previous members not on 1966/69 

The Cowlitz lists III 1973 would become 1,765. Allowing for the possibility that some persons 
had been added to the 1966/69 list in the ensuing .four years whose names were not on the 
mailing list submitlted by Donald John Cloquet, and for possible natural attrition through 
deaths, the number of names on the Cowlitz claims list in 1973 would approximate the 1,801 
mentioned by Josc!ph Cloquet at the ICC hearing (Quinault Ex. 9: 1973-7). The members of the 
Cowlitz Tribe, the' pc!titioning entity, were included on these claims lists, but there were also 
many names on t~,e:s.: claims lists of persons who would have been eligible to share in an 
award, but who d.o not appear to have been part of the tribal entity. 

VII. CIT MEMBERSHIP CHANGES, 1994-1999. 

A. Introduction: Summary of CIT Membership at the Time of the Proposed Finding 
(1994 Membership List). The 1994 CIT membership list submitted to the BIA contained 
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1,410 entries. err described it as including all persons recognized as voting members '("Green 
Card,,207 members), plus all persons under age 18 who would be qualified as voting members 
when they reached age 18. It provided the name of each member. For the great majority of 
members, it incluci€:d the maiden name for women; the mailing address, and the date of birth 
(CIT PF 1997, GTR 33). After analysis which removed duplicate listings/os deceased 
members, etc., the BIA determined the actual number of CIT "Green Card" members in 1994 
to have been 1,314. 

B. 1998 CIT Membership List. CIT submitted a revised membership list as of January' 1, 
1999, properly certifi.ed by the CIT council, received by the BIA on January 7, 1999. Thi~ list 
was not accompanic:c1 by copies of the applications, ancestry charts, or documentation for the 
new members. The BIA researcher obtained copies of all applications and ancestry charts for 
the new members ,md samples of the backup documentation during the site visit, June 24 and 
25, 1999. 

C. 1999 CIT Membership Revisions. During the site visit, CIT submitted additional updates 
to the membership list through May 1999 (CIT Green Card Updates May 1999). These updates 
were provided by the CIT office and were not certified by the council. Most consisted of items 
such as address changes, but included notification of several additional deaths. The CIT 
membership list, a.:; of May 1999, used by the BIA for this final determination, contained 
entries for 1,536 "'Gn:en Card" members.209 As a result of questions posed by the BIA after the 
1999 site visit, CIT rc:classified 54 of those "Green Card" members as "Red Card" members 
(see discussion below, subsection D.3.b.), resulting in a current total for the final determination 
of 1,482 "Green Card" members. The "Green Card" eligibility of about five of these remains 
unresolved. 

207"Green car·j"· members are those with voting rights under the 1993 constitution or, in the case of minors, 
those who will be elig,ible to vote under the 1993 constitution upon reaching the age of 18 years (CIT PF 1997, OTR 
29). 

2°'The majority ()fthese were for women carried under both a current married name and/or a maiden or 
prior married name. A few were for individuals who had been issued replacement cards under a neW number, but 
whose prior number had. nlot been deleted from the CIT computer. 

209 There may still still be some duplicate entries on this list: since the 1950's, different CIT secretaries 
have issued membersh:.p cards with several different number sequences. The resultant inconsistencies have not yet 
been completely recolldled by the BlA. 

As of May )4N9, the CIT also had 652 "Red Card" members, persons of documented Cowlitz descent who 
do not meet the )116 C::nvlitz blood quantum membership requirement set out in the )993 CIT constitution (CIT 
Red Card Members @(sicjS-17-99, as modified by BIA analysis to eliminate those persons now holding "Green 
Cards"). The CIT does not issue "Red Cards" to persons of Cowlitz descent enrolled in other tribes. The BlA has 
no basis on which to estimate the percentage of Cowlitz descendants at less than 1/16 blood quantum who have 
applied for "Red Cards." 
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D. Major Changes Between the 1994 and 1998 Revised Membership Lists. For the final 
detennination, the BIA researcher converted the Cowlitz "Historical Membership" database 
that had been creatt:dl in DataPerfect under DOS for the proposed finding into a Microsoft 
Access database.:Z' 0 The BIA researcher added new columns which showed address changes 
since 1994 and pennitted sorting to show additions to and removals from the membership list 
as it had existed in 1994. 

1. Removals. 

a. Number Dropp~g .. The preliminary analysis by the BIA researcher indicated 91 persons who 
had been on the 1994 membership list who were no longer on the 1998 membership list. The 
BIA faxed a copy of the list containing these names to CIT in April 1999. The BIA's 
preliminary analy:;is indicated that there was no pattern to the removals (they consisted of a 
random sampling alcross CIT family lines), and that most of the persons removed were 
elderly. 211 

b. Reasons for R~mpval. During the site visit, June 24 and 25, 1999, CIT provided 
information that showed the following explanations for the differences between the 1994 and 
1998 membership lists: one erroneous entry (two persons combined into one, so that the name 
did not match to (!lther); six invalid membership numbers (duplicate entries: these persons 
were on the 1998 list, but under other numbers), four persons removed because of enrollment 
in other tribes (thr,:,: Quinault; one Chinook); three persons, no known reasons. The remaining 
77 persons removed from the 1998 membership list were deceased. 

After examination of the changes through May 1999 and elimination of one more invalid 
membership nwnber, the BIA concluded that 93 members had actually been removed from the 
CIT list between 1994 and May 1999. This included a total of: two persons enrolled at 
Chinook; three p(:rsons enrolled at Quinault; 86 persons identified as deceased. There were 
two persons remaining, sisters born in the 1970's, for whom the enrollment files in the CIT 
office provided no (:}j:planation for the removal from the 1998 list. 

c. Conclusion. 111e: removals from the list overwhelmingly reflected nonnal enrollment 

21o,ne "Historical Membership" database included not only current members as of 1994, but all persons 
who had appeared on prit)r CIT membership lists as well, permitting a tracking of consistency across time. In 1999, 
the BlA researcher relained all 1994 data fields but added numerous additional fields for purposes of analysis. 

211 Starting with the 10· person on the first page of the BIA's April 1999 computer printout of those no 
longer on the list, the: OJirth dates were 1912, 1927, 1926,1903,1916,1909,1916,1935,1929,1916. Starting with 
the 10111 person on the sl:cond page, the birth dates were 1939,1919, 1898, 1947, 1903, 1951, 1932, 1965,1915, 
1973. Of the total of 91 l>ersons who had been CIT members in 1994 but were not on the 1998 list, only 18 were 
under age 50 (born since 1948) in 1998. 
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record-keeping proc;c:sses and raised no significant questions. The CIT should review the 
remaining two anomalous cases and determine their actual status. ' 

2. Additions. The 31A's preliminary analysis of the 1998 CIT membership list indicated that 
CIT had added 213 "'Green Card" members since the 1994 membership list. The BIA faxed a 
copy of this list to CIT in April 1999, and a BIA researcher made a site visit on June 24 and 25, 
1999, to examine e~Hc:h of these enrollment files and verify the data. During the site visit, the 
BIA researcher had obtained copies of the application forms, the ancestry charts, and in some 
cases the documenu~ion contained in the files. After the site visit, BIA analysis indicated ·that 
CIT had added a total of 222 "Green Card" members from 1994 through May 1999. 

a. Analvsis. The BIA analyzed the data concerning the new CIT "Green Card" members to 
determine whether CIT was simply admitting more persons from existing family lines, whether 
it was accepting any nc~w qualifying ancestral lines that had not been accepted as of Cowlitz 
descent at the time of the proposed finding, and whether there were any significant changes in 
family line proporti,)ns. 

b. Conclusions. All of the new "Green Card" members descended from existing family lines 
that had been acceple:d as Cowlitz by the petitioner at the time of the proposed finding in 1994. 
However, there was cl significant change in proportion: between 1994 and 1996, CIT admitted 
to membership 58 persons who descended from Elizabeth (LeGarde) Byrd, a daughter of Mary 
(Cottonoire) LeGaI'd~~ Burston. Elizabeth (LeGarde) Byrd had married a man from Pierce 
County, Washington. The majority of her descendants had resided in Pierce County since the 
1870's. The Roblin Roll had computed Elizabeth (LeGarde) Byrd's Cowlitz ancestry at 3/8 
(Roblin Roll 1919, ~;). The admission of such a large number of her distant descendants 
indicated a possible problem with the CIT's application of its membership requirements since 
the proposed fmding. This issue is discussed in detail below in subsection 3b. 

3. Adherence to A1c?'7rbership Eligibility as Established in the CIT Governing Documents. The 
genealogical technical :report to the proposed finding stated that: "The membership 
requirements contaim:d. in the constitution are, in fact, enforced" (CIT PF 1997, GTR 28). As 
of 1999, based on ar..aJysis of new admissions, it is no longer clear that CIT is consistently 
enforcing its constitut.ional requirements for "Green Card" membership. 

a. Admissions Procc~hm. 212 The CIT requires that applicants for membership must complete 
and sign an applica6on, have it notarized, and submit a processing fee. It is not clear whether, 
in the case of minors, CIr requires that the application be signed by the custodial parent: in 
some cases, it appeare!d that the application was signed by the Cowlitz parent, even when that 
parent was not custodial. The application is reviewed by the CIT enrollment committee, which 

212See also CIT F'F 1997, GTR 28-32. 
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brings recommenda1:ions to the CrT council.2\) The council approves the applicants by vote; 
the record did not indicate that the council closely scrutinizes the committee's 
recommendations. 

b. Computation oU2owlitz Blood Quantum in Accordance with the Provisions of the CIT 
Constitution.214 A:; of 1994, CIT membership eligibility was based on a computation of 
Cowlitz blood quantum. In the majority of cases, this blood quantum was reckoned on the 
basis of the Roblir. Roll, although occasionally CIT used other documents in the absence of a 
Roblin Roll listing. The BIA has received no notification from CIT that the 1993 CIT' 
constitution's requirement of a 1/16 Cowlitz blood quantum to be eligible for "Green Card" 
membership has b:I:n amended. I 

Between 1994 and. 1999, the CIT enrollment committee has begun to accept an applicant's total 
Indian blood quantum, if the applicant demonstrated any Cowlitz ancestry at all, as contributing 
toward membership eligibility. In some but not all cases, the non-Cowlitz blood quantum 
claimed was accompanied by actual documentation in the enrollment file. Documentation was 
most commonly pn:sent in instances where the non-Cowlitz ancestry was shown on charts 
prepared by enrollmcmt offices at the Yakama Agency, Quinault Nation, Warm Springs, etc. 
The acceptance of non-Cowlitz Indian blood quantum has resulted in the admission, between 
1994 and 1999, of approximately 90 "Green Card" members who do not appear to meet the 
petitioner's own m,ernbership eligibility standards. Additionally, the blood quantum of several 
new members whl) did meet the minimum eligibility standard of 1/16 was calculated as much 
higher than the actual Cowlitz blood quantum. If these errors remain uncorrected, they would 
significantly impc.c:t the eligibility of these persons' descendants for membership in subsequent 
generations. 

After examination of the CIT enrollment files, the BIA provided a detailed letter to the CIT 
discussing this general issue (James to Barnett 7/2011999,2-4) and its applicability to specific 
admissions cases from 1994 through 1999 (James to Barnett 7/20/1999, 4-10). The CIT 

213During the site visit, June 24 and 25, 1999, the BIA researcher obtained copies of the material submitted 
by the enrollment clormTlittee to the council for action since 1996. 

214Membel"l;hip eligibility requirements are an aspect of tribal sovereignty and are set by individual tribes. 
The Federal Govenunent, specifically the BlA, does not impose any blood quantum requirement. Federally 
acknowledged tribes rec:kon eligibility for membership in a wide variety of ways: some set a relatively high blood 
quantum, while orne!'!. establish a low one; some count only tribal blood quantum; some utilize a combination of 
specifically tribal and tCltal Indian blood quantum; others reckon membership eligibility strictly according to 
descent 

As a legal rn:atlter, however, tribes are obligated to adhere to the eligibility standards which they have 
themselves adopted. Changes in eligibility require amendment of the constitution andlor enrollment ordinance. 
Inconsistency in the application of eligibility standards leaves a tribe open to serious membership disputes and to 
lawsuits and raises i i!;UleS under the Indian Civil Rights Act. 
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responded with Cowlitz Indian Tribe Resolution 99-?, passed August 5, 1999, by a vote of 14 
For and 0 Against, stating: 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Cowlitz Tribal Council hereby 
amends i.h(~ blood quantums of the individuals named on the attached list to 
confonn to! the membership criteria specified in our petition for federal 
acknowle :igment. 

AND BE IT FURTHER RESOL VEO that the Cowlitz Tribal Council submits 
the revised blood quantum listings to the Bureau of Indian Affairs as part of our 
petition fer federal acknowledgement (CIT Resolution 99':5, 8/5/1999). 

While the attacht!d listing in some cases indicated specifically that the revisions required an 
alteration from holding a "green card" to holding a "red card" (CIT Blood Quantum Revisions 
1999, [1],4 individuals recalculated at 1132,2 individuals recalculated at 5/128), the other 
pages figured the Jlood quantum as less than the minimum,21S but did not indicate any change 
from "green card'" to "red card" status (CIT Blood Quantum Revisions 1999, [1],2 individuals 
recalculated at 3/64; CIT Blood Quantum Revisions 1999, (2]. 28 individuals recalculated at 
51128,8 individuals recalculated at 5/256; CIT Blood Quantum Revisions 1999, [3],4 
individuals recalculated at 1/32). Two individuals on the attachment were listed as having 
insufficient information (CIT Blood Quantum Revisions 1999, [l ]). This was supplemented by 
a letter recalculating blood quantums for 16 additional individuals on September 28, 1999 
(Hubbs to Fleming 9/2811999). Of these, three already held red cards, so only 13 called for 
reclassifications. l11e' petitioner corrected all questionable instances identified by the BIA. The 
BIA will make available to the petitioner a copy of the final corrected list for post­
acknowledgment organizational purposes. 

c. Adoptions. The BIA found no evidence of adoption of family lines into the CIT. The 
adoption records cC'I1tained in the enrollment files pertained to persons born into Cowlitz 
family lines who hii.d themselves been adopted as children. either by relatives or by unrelated 
families. Therefore, adoption was not an issue requiring analysis for this petition. 

E. Dual Enrollmcllt. The CIT constitution prohibits dual enrollment, whether with a 
federally recognized tribe or with a non-federally recognized Indian group (see CIT PF 1997, 

m A minimum blood quantum of 1/16 Cowlitz equates. with larger fractions. as 2132, 4/64, 8/128, etc. 
The BIA notes here that the blood quantum is not a requirement imposed by the BIA nor is it required for 

Federal acknowledgment 'Ibe issue under consideration was whether the petitioner was conforming to the 
provisions of its own cOluititution. 

The chairman of the CIT Enrollment Committee wrote fonnally to the BAR chief stating that the mistaken 
calculations were the result of statements made to him by a BIA staff member during preparation of the proposed 
fmding (Hubbs to Fleming U/3/1999). 
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GTR 32-33). Belw~:en 1994 and 1999, only five persons were removed from the CIT 
membership list bt:cause of dual enroilment, two with Chinook and three with Quinault (see 
above). 

A significant numbe:r of persons admitted to CIT "Green Card" membership between 1994 and 
1999 were forrnc!::ly included on membership lists of the Steilacoom petitioner for Federal 
acknowledgment ~Vhile some of these persons had relinquishments of Steilacoom 
membership in their CIT enrollment files, this was not the case for all of them. The BIA has 
brought this issue: to. the CIT's attention (James to Barnett 7/20/1999, 4). 

The BIA has not identified any current instances of Cowlitz dual enrollment with the Quinault 
Indian Nation. On April 11, 1996, Quinault submitted to the BIA 276 request forms asking 
whether the signc:r was on either the Cowlitz or the Chinook membership lists submitted to the 
BIA (including two duplicate requests and three requests from persons who marked that they 
were not enrolled at Quinault, for an effective total of271 requests). No one who requested a 
report was on the CIT membership list. The BIA notified Quinault of this result (Reckord to 
Capoeman-Ball~:r 10/3/1996). 

F. Condition of CIT Membership Records. 

1. Summary of Comments in the P F GTR.. In the genealogical technical report to the proposed 
finding, the BIA jiscussed the CIT's need for complete documentation in enrollment files and 
for consistency in vl:rification of Cowlitz ancestry216 (CIT PF 1997, GTR 30) in addition to the 
need for consistc!J1lcy in computation of blood quantum (see discussion at CIT PF 1997, GTR 
31-32). 

2. CIT Response to P F Recommendations. 

a. Birth CertificH~!. Since the proposed finding was issued, the CIT has instituted a 
requirement that a state-certified long-form birth certificate be submitted with new 
applications. The CIT has also requested by announcement at annual meetings (personal 

216While the cc)mputerized CIT membership list contaJOs, for each member. a notation as to the qualifying 
ancestor (most comr.:1IJDlly a Roblin Roll listing), the CIT is not consistent in reckoning this: sometimes a 
grandparent is listed; :sometimes a great-grandparent. Sometimes when eligibility is reckoned through a female line, 
the woman's maider..llame is listed; in other cases her married name. Additionally, the spelling of the name of the 
qualifying ancestor \fiLlies so widely in the CIT records (e.g. Scaneewa, Saneewah, Ska-dah-wah) that this field 
cannot be used to make a computer sort. 

In order tOlllake the estimates of descent through various family lines in the proposed fmding. the BIA 
researcher had to m2.ke an independent verification of the qualifying ancestry for each individual CIT member. The 
need for precision is pll.l1icularly urgent in cases where several modem families bearing the same surname (perhaps 
a common one, such lIS Smith or Johnson) trace to different qualifying Cowlitz ancestors. 
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communication, Bame~tt and Morris to DeMaree, 6/23/1999) and in the newsletter (Yoo¥oolah 
1 (19) May 1999. 2) that already-enrolled members submit birth certificates. The response to 
these requests has been minimal. CIT has checked each enrollment folder and produced a 
computerized list of 1those lacking a birth certificate (CIT Green Card Members 5-17-99). The 
petitioner is beginning the process of sending postcards to the members whose birth certificates 
are not on file.217 

b. Verification of J~J1~estry. Examination of the enrollment folders by CIT office staff in fhe 
spring of 1999 indica_t~:d that all but three folders contained an ancestry chart (CIT Green Card 
Members 5/17/99). However, the BIA researcher noted that many of these charts were not 
fully filled out to the: qualifying ancestor. 218 Additionally, the majority of CIT enrollment files 
do not contain copit-s of the documentation from the applicant to the claimed Cowlitz ancestor, 
or even cross-referc:n.ee:s from the applicant's file to that of a parent or grandparent where the 
complete docwnenltation is located. 

This absence of a rc!quirement for full docwnentation has resulted in at least one instance when 
a family (a woman, her children, and her grandchildren) was admitted to CIT membership 
between 1994 and ]999 on the basis of the woman's step-grandfather being claimed as her 
natural grandfather. In the same case, the ancestry chart submitted by the eldest applicant was 
not consistent with the ancestry charts submitted by her children and grandchildren. The 
enrollment files did not indicate that the CIT membership committee either noted the 
discrepancy or atternptc:d to reconcile it. Additionally, this family's two actual lines of 
documentable Cowlitz ancestry were neither shown on the applicants' ancestry charts nor 
identified by the CIT enrollment committee during the evaluation process, even though both of 
the two actual lines have been used as qualifying Cowlitz ancestry by other CIT members. 

c. Return of Files S1Q,l~:n in 1992. Since 1994, all but 16 of the membership files (manila 
folders) removed from the CIT office in 1992 have been returned. CIT provided the BIA 
researcher with a list of the 16 "still missing" files (CIT, Missing Files returned 2/15/96, "still 
missing" highlighted Itn yellow). 

3. Current Situation; 

2J'Sixteen ofthc:se files contained some fonn of birth record other than a birth certificate (e.g. hospital 
record, baptismal record!. alffidavit for Social Security) (CIT Green Card Members@ 5-17-99). 

2J'The CIT office manager stated that full ancestral chart infonnation is maintained, but is located on the 
personal computer of the chllinnan of the enrollment committee rather than in the CIT office (personal 
communication. Morris t.) DeMaree, June 24, 1999). The BIA has recommended that printouts of the complete 
charts be placed in each e nrc,llment file. and that the CIT office receive regularly updated backups containing the 
computerized genealogkll infonnation (James to Barnett 7120/1999, 1-2). 
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It is highly recommended that the CIT focus on improving various aspects of their membership 
procedures before their acknowledgment becomes effective. For example, the CIT council is 
advised to formally determine which documents (possibilities would include the Roblin Roll~ 
1900 and 1910 F eceral census, Special Indian Population Schedules; agency records; 
reservation census, l~tC.) the enrollment committee may use to compute blood quantum for 
membership eligibility (James to Barnett 7/20/1999, 3-4) in the future. 

The membership i-ist, itself, as of June 1999, is accurate. However, the CIT individual 
enrollment files arc~ not sufficiently complete and documented for the BIA to use them' 
efficiently as a basis for establishing the official, post-acknowledgment base roll. In spite' of 
the efforts of the CrT officers and council to persuade members to submit such documentdtion 
as certified birth c:c:Itificates, many files remain incomplete. 
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List of Sources 

Final Determination, Cowlitz Indian Tribe 

Adamson, Thelma, ed. 
1934 Folk-;gtles of the Coast Salish. Memoirs of the American Folk-Lore Society 27. New 

York: G.E. Techert & Co. (Reprint New York: Kraus Reprint, 1969] 

Barnett, John R. See: Cowlitz Indian Tribe. 

Black, Henry Campbc:J1, Joseph R. Nolan, and M.J. Connolly 
1983 Black's Law dictionary; DefinitiOns of the Terms and Phrases of American and English 

Jurisp"l~dence, Ancient and Modern. Abridged Fifth Edition. St. Paul, MN: West 
Publis:ling Co. 

Branch of Acknowled~;rnc:nt and Research (BAR). See: United States. Department of the Interior. 
Bureau of Indian Affairs. Branch of Acknowledgment and Research. 

Bureau ofIndian Affairs. See. United States. Department of the Interior. Bureau ofIndian Affairs. 

Collier, John 
1933 Letter from COlA John Collier to Lewis Layton, Tacoma, Washington. October 25, 

1933. NARA RG75, 4528 1-1 933-Colville-File No. 053. 

Cowlitz Indian Tribe (cited as CIT)l 
1952/53 Mailing List. 

1953-
1963 

1966/69 

5/7/1968 

1973 

Roll, Compiled by Jacqueline Hill. ICC, Docket 218 Files (Quinault Ex.). 

Membc:rshiplMailing List, Compiled by Mary Cloquet (BAR Files). 

Letter, Weissbrodt & Weissbrodt, to Robert J. McNichols, Esq. Wannassay Papers 
(BAR Hies). 

Mailing List, Submitted by Donald J. Cloquet. ICC, Docket 218 Files (Quinault Ex.). 

J As a convenience: for the user, the full contents of each petition submission are listed, though not every 
item has been cited in th is technical report. 
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Cowlitz Indian Tribe, continued 

1975a 

1975b 

1978 

1982 

1987 

Cowl:tz Petition (pre-establishment of the Federal Acknowledgment Process). 
Binder 1: Letter, Frank S. La Fontaine, Attorney for the Cowlitz Tribe oflndians, to Mr. 

Morris Thompson, 
Commissioner oflndian Affairs, Sept. 19, 1975, submitting petition for Federal 
recognition as an Indian tribe; letter, same sender and date, to Kent Frizzell, 
Acting Secretary of the. Interior; 
Letter, Reid Peyton Chambers, Associate Solicitor, Division ofIndian Affairs, to 

Mr. Frank S. LaFontaine, Attorney for the Cowlitz Tribe of Indians, Oct. 
1, 1975; 

Petition, dated September 22, 1975. 
Binder 2: Additional appendices. 

Petiticn. Concerning Proposed Judgment Award, Submitted by Joseph Cloquet. 
Septernbc:r 26, 1975. From ICC, Docket 218 Files. 

Membership List, Roy I. Wilson Papers (BAR Files). 

Acknowll~dgment Petition, Cowlitz Indian Tribe (submitted 1983): 
Book Onc~. Narrative. 
Book TWID. Appendix Numbers 1 - 200 
Book ~n1fee. Appendix Numbers 201 - 400 
Book F()ur. Appendix Numbers 401·600 
Book Fivle. Appendix Numbers 601 - 800 
Book Six. Appendix Numbers 801 - 1000 
Book Sf:ven. Appendix Numbers 1001 - 1043 
Book Eight-Book Fifteen. Enrollment Fonns and Ancestry Charts of358 Members of 

the Cowlitz Indian Tribe as of November 1, 1981. 

Petitioll submission letter dated January 20, 1987, from Joe Cloquet, Chainnan, 
Tlribal Council, to Mr. John Shepard, Director, BAR 

Letter dated February 10, 1987, from Dennis J. Whittlesey of Keck, Mahin & Cate to 
Bud Shapard, BAR, re: Cowlitz Indian Tribe - Petition for Acknowledgment. 

1987 Cowlitz Indian Tribe Petition. 
Vol. 1. Narrative 
Vol. 2. Narrative 1 - 200 [exhibits] 
Vol. 3. Narrative 201 - 400 [exhibits] 
Vol. 4. Narrative 400 - 600 [exhibits] 
Vol. 5. Narrative 601 - 700 [exhibits] 
Vol. 6. Narrative 800-1000 [exhibits] 
Vol. 7. Narrative 1001 - 1200 [exhibits] 
Vol. 8.. Narrative 1201 - 1400 [exhibits] 
Vol. 9.. Narrative 1401 - 1600 [exhibits] 
Vol. 10. Narrative 1601 - 1800 [exhibits] 
Vol. 11. Narrative 1801 - 2000 [exhibits] 
Vol. 12. Narrative 2001 - 2142 Plus Resubmitted Appendices [exhibits] 
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Cowlitz Indian Tribe, continued 

Appendices (24 vols): "Enrollment Forms and Ancestry Charts of 1336 members of the 
Cowlitz Indian Tribe as of January 1, 1987" 
Vol. 1. Cowlitz Enrollment (Revised) October 1986 

Roblins Roll 1919, Cowlitz and Yakima Cowlitz 
Yakima Cowlitz Signers of Petition 

Vols.2-24. Individual applications and charts, 2/A; 31B; 4/C; 5ID; 61E; 71F; 
8/G; 91H; 1011; II/J; 121K; l31L; 141M; 151Mc; 161N; 17/0; 181P; 191R; 
20/S; 21rr; 22N; 23/W; 24fXYZ. 

1994 Supplmnentary Petition Materials. Folders dated January 29, 1994. 
Cover p;age: Cowlitz Indian Tribe. Index of Supplementary Cowlitz Petition Materials 

Approved for Submission to BAR by Cowlitz Tribal Council January 29, J 994 
New Se.:;tion for Petition. Authorization for Submission of Petition for Federal 

Acknowledgment by the Cowlitz Indian Tribe; 
Beckham, The Modem Cowlitz Community: Measures of Tribal Continuity and Identity 

(1991); 
Beckham, Criterion 83.7(b) The Modem Cowlitz Community (February 5, 1994); 
Padcbd~, Maria A., Blood Ouantum Report for the Cowlitz Tribal Enrollment (January 

29, 1994); 
Padcbck, Enrollment Data for the Cowlitz Green Card Members (January 29, 1994); 
Cowlitz Petition Supplemental Bibliography Appendices 2142-3266 [alphabetical 

listing]; 
Appendices A-2142 to A-2302. Cowlitz Petition Supplemental Bibliography; 
Appendices A- 2303 to A-2491. Cowlitz Petition Supplemental Bibliography. 

1989 Affidavits; 
Appendices A-2492 to A-266 1. Cowlitz Petition Supplemental Bibliography. 

Tribal Council Lists 1985-1994; Tribal Council Minutes 1987-1993; 
Appendix A-2662 to A-2669. Constitution of the Cowlitz Indian Tribe; 
Appendix A-2670 to A-2676. By-Laws of the Cowlitz Indian Tribe; 
Appendices A-2677 to A-2758. Cowlitz Petition Supplemental Bibliography; 

Appendix A-2759 to A-2814. Beckham, Fishing Rights of the Cowlitz Indian 
Tribe: the Historical and Legal Background (1987); 

Appendix A-2815 to A-2893. Roe, Cowlitz Modem Community Study 2: 
General Tribal Membership (1992); 

Appendix A-2894 to A-291 O. Extract from Smithsonian Institution Handbook of 
North American Indians Vol. 7, Northwest Coast (1990); 

Appendix A-291 1 to A-2912. Extract from Munnick, Priest's Progress (n.d.); 
Appendix A-29B to A-2920. Extract from Whisler, Shepherd of the Cowlitz 

(n.d.); 
Appendix A-292 1 to A-2937. Wilson, Historical Overview of the Cowlitz Tribe; 
Appendix A-2938 to A-2963. Beckham, Ethnogeography of the Cowlitz Indian 

Tribe: Place Names as a Measure of Community and Residency in a 
Homeland from Time Immemorial (1992); 

Appendix A-2964 to A-2969. Roe, Cowlitz Indians-typescript, apparently from 
Native America in the Twentieth Century: An Encyclopedia; 
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Cowlitz Indian Tribe, continued 

8/811997 

1129/1998 

1998 

Appendix A-2970 to A-3021. Roe, Tribal Identity and Continuity in the Cowlitz 
Modern Community Study I: Cowlitz Tribal Leadership (1991); 

Appendix A-3022 to A-3049. Paddock, Residency Report for the Cowlitz Tribal 
Enrollment (January 29, 1994); 

Appendix A-3050-3051. Newspaper clipping: Reed, "Wolves and Wyoming," 
Lander Wyoming State Journal; 

AlPpendix A-30S2 to A-3266. Fitzpatrick, We are Cowlitz. Traditional and 
Emergent Ethnicity (1986); 

1994 Cowlitz Roll Sorted by Place of Residency. 

Letter, J()hn R. Barnett to Holly Reckord, BAR. 

Letter, John R. Barnett to Holly Reckord, BAR. 

CIT Re!;ponse to Third Party Comments. Received by BIA January 12, 1998. 
Cowlitz Rc:sponse to Quinault Opposition to Proposed Determination [Dennis 

Whittlesey] (cited as CIT Response 1998). 
Documc:nts submitted in conjunction with Cowlitz Petition for Federal Acknowledgment. 

Materials from Files of James B. Sareault Produced December 1997. 
Evelyn Byrnes Collection Produced January 1998. 
Letter, Barnett to Reckord, WI998. 
Minutes of meetings years of: 1950,1951,1952,1953,1954,1955,1956,1957. 
Cowlitz Tribal Files Produced January 1998. 
File Materials of Randy Bouchard Produced January 1998; 

Ethnography and Ethnohistory of the White Pass Area. Draft Report. 
Prepared for: White Pass Co. Inc. Yakima, Washington. 
Prepared by: Randy Bouchard and Mark Cox, British Columbia 
Indian Language Project, Victoria, British Columbia, Canada. 
November 21 A, 1997. 

Letter, Bouchard to Morris, 9/10/1997. 
Partial transcript made of a tape recording of Herb Taylor's Nov.-Dec. 

1955 ethnographic interview of Taidnaparn Indians. 
Papers for the 32nd International Conference on Salish and Neighboring 

Languages. Port Angeles, Washington, August 7-9, 1997. 
Mi!;cellaneous Materials. 
Cowlitz Letters and Affidavits Produced in 1997. 
Materials from Lenore Monohan Produced January 1998. 
Phc1tographs Produced January 1998. 
Historic Affidavits. 
l1iles from ICC Docket No. 218 Cowlitz Land Claims Case. 
Cowlitz Land Records. 
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Cowlitz Indian Tribe, c01l1tinued 

1999 

1/7/19990 

211111999 

5/17/1999 

7/20/1999 

7/29/1999 

8/3/1999 

8/5/1999 

9/28/1999 

Cowlitz Indian Tribe's Final Submission in Support of Petition for Federal 
Ackn:Jwledgment: Discussion Responding to the Final Opposition Filed by the Quinault 
Indial1 Tribe. Dennis J. Whittlesey, Jackson & Kelly, PLLC, 2401 Pennsylvania Avenue, 
N. W. - Suite 400, Washington, D.C. 20037 and Stephen Dow Beckham, Ph.D., 1389 S. 
W. Hood View Lane, Lake Oswego, Oregon 97034 (cited as CIT Final Submission 
1999). 

CIT Omified 1998 Membership List (date received by the BIA). 

Letter, Dennis Whittlesey to R. Lee Fleming, BAR. 

CIT Rled Card Members@5-17-99. 

Letter, Jim James, Acting Director, Office of Tribal Services, BIA, to John R. Barnett. 

Letter, John R. Barnett to Lee Fleming, BAR. 

Letter,. Michael J. Hubbs to Lee Fleming, BAR. 

Cowlitz Indian Tribe Resolution 99-5 (with three-page attachment, CIT Blood Quantum 
Revi!;i01l1s 1999). 

Letter, Michael J. Hubbs, Enrollment Committee Chair, to Lee Fleming, BAR. 

Cowlitz On-the-Reccrd 
1998 . Transcript, On-the-Record Meeting Concerning the Proposed Finding Cowlitz Indian 

Tribe:, Monday, November 23, 1998. 

Executive Orders 
1975 Exefllitive Orders Relating to Indian Reservations from May 14. 1855 to July 1. 1912. 

Wilnington, DE: Scholarly Resources, Inc .. 

Fitzpatrick, Darleen Ann 
1986 We lU'e Cowlitz: Traditional and Emergent Ethnicity. Ph.D. dissertation, Department of 

Anthropology, University of Washington, Seattle. 

2/51l999 Lettt~r to R. Lee Fleming, BAR. 

Halbert et al. v. Unhed States 
1928 District Court Decision. 

1929 Appeals Court Decision. 

1931 Sup;~(:me Court Decision. 
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Indian Claims Commission (cited as ICC). 
1952- Docket 218. Cowlitz. NARA Regional Archives, Seattle, Washington. 
1975 Miscel12.nel:)us Files. 

1975 Petition submitted by Joseph Cloquet, September 26, 1975. BIA Claims Files, 
Washington, DC. 

McChesney, Charles E. See also: United States. House of Representatives. 
4/20/1910 Letterte,COIA(CITPet.1987,A-114). 

1915 Letter te' COlA (Quinault Ex. 5-1915-7). 

McNeill, Ruby Simonson, nnd Arlene Lyden, comps. 
1978 Lewis <:Qunty. Washington Newspaper Abstracts. 5 vols. Spokane, WA: Private IX 

printed. 

Milroy, R.H. See: Unitl:d States. Department of the Interior. Bureau ofIndian Affairs. 

Nicklason Research Ass·)<ciates 
1997 Nicklasoll Research Associates Historical Report concerning Proposed Finding, Cowlitz 

Indian Tribe, November 1997. 

1998 NicklasoJ1 Research Associates Historical Report Concerning Proposed Finding Cowlitz 
Indian Tribe. December 1998. 

Quinault Adoptions. Sel:: United States. National Archives and Records Service, Record Group 75 
Microfilm Serie) M-1344. Report and Files of Special Agent Charles Roblin on Quinault 
Adoptions. . 

Quinault Indian Nation:1 

4/211996 Letter, Pe:a:rl Capoeman-Baller, to Director, Office of Administration, BIA. 

1997 Quinault's First Response to the CIT proposed finding. Received by BIA November 19, 
1997. 
Letter, Rilchard Reich to Kevin Gover, November 17,1997 (cited as Reich to Gover 

11/17/1997). 
Affidavit of Prejudice, November 14, 1997 (cited as Quinault Affidavit of Prejudice 

. 1997). 
Quinault Nation's Memorandum in Opposition to Proposed Detennination, November 

16,. ]997 (cited as Quinault Memorandum 1997). 
Nickla<)l)J[l Research Associates Historical Report concerning Proposed Finding, Cowlitz 

Indian Tribe, November 1997 (cited as Nicklason 1997). 

-------------------------
2For the convenience: of the user, the full contents of the submissions are listed, although not every item has 

been cited in the technical rc:port. 
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Quinault Indian Nation, continued 

List of Sources Accompanying Nicklason Research Associates' Historical Report 
Concerning Proposed Funding [sic] Cowlitz Indian Tribe - November 19?7. 

111l2/1998a Letter, Richard Reich to Kevin Gover, AS-lA, and R. Lee Fleming, Chief, BAR. 

llll2/l998b Quina1llt Proposed Agenda, On-the-Record Meeting. 

1211211998 Letter, Richard Reich to Kevin Gover, AS-IA. 

1998 QuinlllJJlt's Second Response to CIT proposed finding. Received by BIA December, 14, 
1998. 
BefoT(: lthe Bureau ofIndian Affairs, United States Department of the Interior. In tqe 

Matter of the Proposed Determ ination for Federal Acknowledgment of the 
Cowlitz Indian Tribe. Quinault Nation's Revised Memorandum in Opposition to 
Proposed Determination (cited as Quinault Revised Memorandum 1998). 

Letter, Mark Leutbecker to Kevin Gover, AS-lA, 12/1211998. 
Nickhlsolll Research Associates Historical Report Concerning Proposed Finding Cowlitz 

Indian Tribe. December 1998. Cited as Nicklason 1998. 
Letter, Mark Leutbecker to R. Lee Flem ing, 12/15/1998: Errata to historical report, 

enclosing a copy of page 178 and noting that the printing of pages 179 and 180 
was reversed. 

Exhibits to Historical Report. Eleven volumes. 
Volume 1. 1822-1 through 1854-4. 
Volume 2. 1854-5 through 1856-43. 
Volume 3. 1857-2 through 1864-1. 
Volume 4. 1865-1 through 1909-26. 
Volume 5. 1910-2 through 1915-12. 
Volume 6. 1916-1 through 1926-18. 
Volume 7. 1927-1 through 1948-3. 
Volume 8. 1950-2 through 1959-4. 
Volume 9. 1960-4 through U-21. 
Volume 10. NSE 1853-1 through NSE 1926-14. 
Volume 11. NSE 1927-1 through NSE 1986-1. 

Quinault Indian Nation v. Gover 
9/11/1998 Fedc:ral Defendants' Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Opposition to Plaintiff's 

Motion for Summar Judgment and in Support of Federal Defendants' Cross-Motion for 
Summary Judgment. 

9/29/1998 Stipuluted Order, No. C97-562SRJB (W.O. Wash). September 29, 1998. 

Reich, Richard. See 'j/rider Quinault Indian Nation. 

7 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement CTI-V001-D007 Page 240 of 243 



Roblin, Charles. See abo: Quinault Adoptions. 
1919a Schedule of Un enrolled Indians (Western Washington). NARA, RG75, Records of the 

Bureau of Indian Affairs, M-1343. (Referred to as Roblin Roll). 

113111919 Letter to COlA incorporating Report on Quinaielt Adoptions, December 1918. January 
31. BlA, Taholah Agency, 5329-10. (BAR Files). 

St. Germain, Mary Ann. 
1925 State':; oldest living daughter ... gives thrilling light on history. By Frances Stone. 

Tacorn~ Daily News, n.d. 

United·States. Departnl,:nt of the Interior. 
4/19/1922 Letter, Ac:ting Secretary E.C. Finney to Hon. Selden P. Spencer, Chairman, Committee 

on Indian Affairs, United States Senate (BAR Files). 

2/411929 Letter" Assistant Secretary E.C. Finney, to Attorney General. 

United States. Departmfmt of the Interior. Bureau of Indian Affairs. 
6/811894 Letter, Fnmk C. Armstrong, Acting COlA, to D.R. Losey, Kelso, Cowlitz County, 

Washington. Wannassay Papers (BAR Files). 

11/16/1951 Letter, COlA D. S. Myerto Hon. Russell V. Mack (BAR Files). 

6/15/1983 Letter, ;:::-ri1tz to Cloquet (00 letter). 

19.21.1988 Letter, Ha.;~el Elbert, Director, Office of Tribal Services, BIA, to John Barnett, CIT (2nd 
00 lett,:r)., 

1994 Final [),~tennination, Mohegan Indians of Connecticut. 

5/3/1995 Letter, George Roth, BAR, to John Barnett, CIT. 

1996 Final D'~lennination, Ramapough Mountain Indians. Summary Under the Criteria. 

1996 Proposed Finding, Duwamish Tribal O(ganization. 

1997 Proposed Finding, Cowlitz Indian Tribe 
Federal Register Notice (62 FR 39, 8983-8985). 
Summary Under the Criteria (cited as CIT PF 1997, Summ. Crit .. 
A.nthropological Technical Report (cited as CIT PF 1997, A TR). 
(jrenealogical Technical Report (cited as CIT PF 1997, GTR). 
Historical Technical Report (cited as CIT PF 1997, HTR). 

8/1811997 Letter, Ada Deer, AS-lA, to Pearl Capoeman-Baller, Quinault. 
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United States. DepELTtment of the Interior. Bureau ofIndian Affairs, continued 

9/1997 

611611998 

Offciall Guidelines to the Federal Acknowledgment Regulation 25 CFR 83 (BAR). 

Letler, Deborah Maddox, Director, Office of Tribal Services, BIA, to John R. Barnett, 
CIT. 

11/19/1998a Letler, George Roth, Acting Chief, BAR, to Richard Reich, Quinault Indian Nation. 

lI11911998b BIA Agenda, On-the-Record Meeting. 

2/19/1999 

311911999 

7/20/1999 

10/1999 

Memolrandum, Deborah Maddox, Director, Office of Tribal Services, BIA, to Kevin 
Go\'c:r, AS-IA. 

Let1er, Deborah Maddox, Director, Office of Tribal Services, BIA, to John R. Barnett, 
CIT. 
Letter, Jim James, Acting Director, Office of Tribal Services, BIA, to John R. Barnett, 
CIT. 

Cowlitz GTKY File (BAR). 

United States. DepELrtment of the Interior. Bureau ofIndian Affairs. National Archives and Records 
Service, R~:(;ord Group (RG) 75. 

1838- Documents Relating to the Negotiation of Ratified and Unratified Treaties with 
1863 Various Indian Tribes, 1801-1869. (NARA T-494, Rolls 4,5,8). 

1856-
18?? 

117/1878 

1878 

1878-
1879 

1880 

1910-
1912 

3/26/1912 

1917-
1919 

Documents Pertaining to the Western Washington Agency. NARA M-S. 
Reels 6, 16. 

Mil,()y, R.H. Letter to COlA. 

Milroy, R.H. Census of Off-Reservation Indians, Puyallup, Nisqually, &c. Agency, 
Olympia, Washington Territory, May 31st, 1878. NARA M-234. 

Let1ers Received by the Office oflndian Affairs, 1 824-1880. Washington Suptdcy. 
NARA M-234, Reels 907,915,918 

Milroy, R.H. Census of Off-Reservation Indians [get cite]. 

Yakima Enrollment Committee. Affidavits, applications, and actions. 
(Quinault Ex. 5). 

Lette:r, Assistant COlA Hauke to H.H. Johnson, Superintendent, Cushman Indian School 
(Qu ililault Ex. 5: 1912-21). 

Roblin Roll and Affidavits, NARA M-1343. 6 Rolls. 
[Sdl(=dlule of Un enrolled Indians in Western Washington] (referred to as Roblin Roll and 
Roblin Enrollment Applications). 
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United States. Department of the Interior. Bureau oflndian Affairs. National Archives and Records 
Service, Record Group fIt G) 75, continued 

1914-
1918 

2/28/1950 

Roblin 7ile on Quinault Adoptions, NARA M-1344. 5 Rolls. 
(hereafter I:ited as Quinault Adoptions). 

Letter, Fleming to COlA. 

United States. Bureau of Indian Affairs (author). 
1860- Report!ioQf the Commissioners. 
1898 

United States. Bureau ()fthe Census. National Archives and Records Service, RG 29. ' 
1850a 1850 U.:), Census, Lewis County, Oregon Territory; Population Schedules. NARA. M-

432, Roll 742. 

1860a 

1870a 

1870b 

1880a 

1880b 

1900a 

1900b 

1860 U.S. Census, Lewis County, Washington; Population Schedules. NARA M-653, 
Roll 1398. 

1870 u..s. Census, Lewis County, Washington; Population Schedules. NARA M-593, 
Roll 1683. 

1870 U.S. Census, Cowlitz County, Washington; Population Schedules. NARA M-593, 
Roll 1681. 

1880 U.S:. Census, Lewis County, Washington; Population Schedules. NARA T-9, Roll 
1397. 

1880 U.S. Census, Cowlitz County, Washington; Population Schedules. NARA T-9, 
Roll 1396. 

1900 U.S. Census, Lewis County, Washington; Population Schedules and Indian 
Populatic,n Schedules.NARA T-623, Rolls 1746 and 1747. 

1900 U.S. Census, Cowlitz County, Washington; Population Schedules and Indian 
Population Schedules. NARA T-623, Roll 1742. 

United States. Congress,. HI)use of Representatives. 
1906 Rolls of~&rtain Indian Tribes in Oregon and Washington [compiled by Charles E. 

McChesney]. United States. House of Representatives. 59th Congress. 2nd Session, 
Docume:nt No. 133. U.S. Serial Set Vol. 5151. Washington, DC: Government Printing 
Office. 

United States. General L"Lfld Office. National Archives and Records Service, RG 49. 
1851- Oregon and Washington Donation Land Files 1851-1903. 
1903 NARA M-:~15, Rolls 93-108. 

United States. Supreme COoUJrt 

1931 Halburt v. U.S. Docket Nos. 141-154, (283 U.S. 753) Excerpts of Transcripts of Records 
and File Copies of Briefs. 

Whittlesey, Dennis. See undl:r Cowlitz Indian Tribe. 
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